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“No man ever left behind him a
character more venerated than G.
Wythe. his virtue was of the purest
tint; his integrity inflexible, and
his justioe exact; of warm patriotism,
and, devoted as he was to liberty, and
the natural and equal rights of men,
he might truly be called the Cato of
hls country, without the avarice of the
Roman; for a more disinterested person
never lived.

e .

~ Thomas Jefferson{
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PREFACE

The story of the resesrchh by Which‘é'historical study
}<was pursued and produced i1s often more captivating thsn the
writtenuproduct of the invéstigatioh. It might perhaps be
deemed so of this treatlse, - wane'i to relste step by step
whalf the recollections of the more pleasant; humorous, acci-
dental, and mirsculous eplsodes which I have experienced in
' thig effort to dlscover and plece together the events of the
first fifty years in the 1life of George Vvthe (1?26-1806).
This diseertatlon had a remote and unwitting origin six
full years ago. In the soring of 1931 Mr, Frank L. Jones, of
- New York City, Vice~President of the Ecultable Life Assurance

_ Boclety, sponsored among Hampden-Sydney College students en

R . essay contest on Wythe. During the course of prepsring gor

that competitlion a rather puer11e paper, vhich contained not 
a single origlnal fact or thought, it occurred to me that
George Wythe had as good a claim as any of his contemmora-
ries in the golden age of Virginla lesdershiv to the title

of the "Forgotten Man", That ides — 1tself little more |
original than the research vhich wos ité gpawning~ground _—
has undergone no materlisl smendment desvite its more recent
subjectlion to critical comvarstive exsmination. I still be-
lieve the thought centered uponﬁthhe by his score of bio¥
gravhical homilists and by the public to be far from commen~’ﬁ

suraté with the nobility of his charscter and the value of



" his contributions to Americdn institutions.

. The resesrch regulrements for a master's degree and the
‘wi}lingness of my history professorslat Emory-ﬁniversity to
sanétion a more thorough exploration of the subqect,whloh head
becoine my primery intellectual Iinterest combined to nromotel
snother excursion in the VWythe fleld. The tangible result
was a thesils on portions of Wythe's influence as an educator,
vritten in the spring of 1933 under the descriotive title |
"George Wythe, America's Flrast Law Frofessor and the Tescher
of Jefferson, Mershsll, and Clavy'., Since that study Wythe
has never reslly been relegated to the back of my mind,
though other academic hurdles and verlous emvloyments which
vere professionally and financially welcome necesgsarily
forestalXed undivided attention to him during all but ebout
‘ten months of the past four years..

\ Iy original intentlon for the present purvose was to
review the entire elghty years of George Tythe's life, and
the research was planned énd carried out accordingly. When
1% had been practically,compieted, however, 1t became évident |
~ that I would suffer from a complaint rere among students of
Wythe - a superabundesnce of materials. I had accumulated
more information then I could report satisfactorily vithin
the allotted time. The alternative of condensation seened as
inedvisable and valueless as 1t Vas unsettractive. Faced,
therefore, with an insurmountable impassgse vhich was at once.
my despelr and my Joy, I determined to meke this treatise -

only an unfinished blograohy.



It 1s, therefore, a portrayal of the first fifty yesrs in
/the career of CGeorge Wythe., Within that scope the story ls-
virtuslly all-inclusive. I am sware of having deliberately
" omitted only one aVailablé faotlof that perlod about him./‘
I have gathered in scattered places a surprisingly large
collection of his correspondence snd private papers,
- eggregating somevhat more then eighty items, Every one of
these which concerns his helf century of alleglance to Englanc -
ls herein reproduced, an overwhelmihg ma jority of them for |
the first time. Nevertheless, desvite the new lights which
‘they throw uvon the man, I have found myself so dependent
upon the testlimony of other witnesses that Wiythe 18 to be
seen ih these veges more as he seemed to others than as he
~appeared to himself. ‘ ’
The complete biography remains something less than helf-
told. By messurement in bulk, spproximately forty per cent’
of my notes have been utllized. MNore information is at hand
‘to deplct Wythe's career as o progressive American republican
in his last thirty years then can be mustered to chronicle
his role as & loyal Briton in the half century ending in
1775; and, as one ™ould naturally suppose, the events of the
latter half of his six decades in the public eye exceed in
slgnificance those of the esrlier half, The crowning aspects'
of his services reached thelr climaxes after 1775. At that
date he stood uoon the threshold of his highest attalnments )
in volitlcs and statecraft; his deve}opment a8 & ploneering

teacher Was yet to resch 1t8 zenith in his law classes at



’.William and Mary College; and hls long Judiclal dutles nad
‘not eveﬁ begun., In only one respeét is this gtudy not merely
partial. Wythe's entlre experience as an attorney at law
falls within my chronolorlcel boundaries.

| I hove at some indefinite time in the future, i unpre-
dictablé ¢ircumetonces vermit, to revlise this vresentation
“of the morn of Wythe's life snd to continue the harrstive
through his noon and tvilight. | |

Someone has remarked wittily that the oreface affords an

author\%he opportunity to vrite the first book review of his
Wofk. I do not wish to avell myself of thie orerogative on
a. comprehensgive scale., dovever, I dp think 1t nertinent to
observe thet I believe the chlef merit of this studv is its
thoroughnegs in refuting the inesccéuracles and misinterprefa~
tions of others and in presenting a much more detaileq
account than they. For the salre of comparison it may be
}mentioned that the longest preylous blogrephy Qf Wythe
devoted only eleven:orinted nages po‘this portion of his
1ifé. Iy ebsorption in nroblems of arrangéméntvana criticlsm
serves, to some extent, as 1ts o'n avology for the uneven
readability of my vrilting; literary goesls in a dissertation
end in a published Life are naturally’and necesgsarily
different. |
| The first two divisions of my‘bibliography list materials
~of value in probing the whole of|Wythe's 1ife;hits-remaining
sectlons are s catalogue of only those sources vhich vere ?

used in the present connectlon.



Acknovledgments to those “ho have signally alded me 1n
one vay or snother are oromoted by sincere gratitudé. Forﬂ
the benefits of discussion end encoursgenent I am indebted
particularly to four of the six living authors of oublished
biogravhicel sketches of Wythe: Dr. S; C. Mitchell, Professor
of Historv in the Unlversity of Richmond; Dr. D. R. Anderson,
President of Wesleyan College; Dr. Theodore S. Cox, Desn of
the Marshall-Wythe School of Government and Citizenshiv in
Willlem end Msry College; ond Hr. Allan D. Jones, of the |
Neprrt'News bar. Mr. Oscar L. Shemmake, of the Riclmond
bar, vho has delved deenly in Wythe lore without oublishing
his findings, gave me simllarly the advantages of his
conversation. I am indebted to Irs. George Bryan, of
Richmond, for a cony of the address mede by her husband at
the cornerstone ceremonies of the Wythe school building in
that city, Dr. W. A, R. Goodwin, rector of the Bruton Parlsh
Church in Willlemsburg, fether of the restoration first of
the Wythe ﬁouse there, then of 11 Willismsburg, was an
invaluable oounéelor; I'rs. George P. Coleman, of W.ilfl.iefa’ms“-~
burg, graclously geve me access to her extensive manuscripte
of the Tucker familv, Mr. David J. Mays, of the Richmond |
bar, shared with me g fer items from his large collection of .
materials on Edmund Pendleton and John Tsylor of Caroline.
Anong custodians of public devositorfes I am obligated for
verlous favors esveclally to lMrs. Helen Bullock, Archivist,
Department of Resesarch and Education, Colonisl "illiemsburg,

Inc.; Dr. E. G. Swem, Librarien of Willlam snd Mary College; '

¥



Dr. Julian P. Boyd, of the Pennsylvania Historlcal Soclety;
¥r. Wilmer L. Hall, Librarian of the Virginia State Library;
Dr. Max Farrand, Director of Research, Henry E. Huntington
Library and Art Gallery; and !'r. Harry Clemons, Librarian of
the University of Virginis; The Rosenbach Co., through

Dr., A. S. W, Rosenbsch in the New York office and Mr. Percy
E. Lawler in 1ts Philadelphla office, permitted me to
transcribe the Wythe letters end documents in its possession;
and thejThomas F. Madigan Co., through Mrs. Madigan in the
Neerork office, granted leave to refer to one of 1its
documents which contalned Wythe's autograph. Dr. W. A,
Montgomery, Professor of Letin in the Unlversity of Virgin;a,
rendered help in the translation of the non-legal Latin
quotatlons. To Mr. Frank L. Joneg, Prof. Freeman H. Hart,

of Hampden-Sydne)¥ College, and Mr. John L. Bruner, of the

Richmond Newg Leader, I have been congtantly grateful in my
work on Wythe for an interest which six yearé has not
decreased., Finally, I have many reasons to value the
océasional guldance of Dr. T. P. Abernethy, under vhose
direction I have made thils study. To 1t esch of these
friends has madé some unlaue‘and aporeciated contribution.

W. Edwin Hemphill



Chapter I

CRIGINS OF A CITARACTIRy ARISTOCRATIC AND
INTELIECTUAL HERITAGES

Seventeenth Century Kecouphtan |

o~

Some six or eight miles from the birithplace of George
Wythe there 6ccurred. on the last day of April, in the year
1607 the first peaceful meeting between aboriginal.inh«bi~
tants of North Awmerica and pérm&nent gettlers of the race.
which gradually dispossessed theun.

Anchors were dropped that day from the Sarah Constant,

the Goodspeed, and the Discovery, in waters which their pas-
gengers named,'with grateful and picturesque aptness, Cepe
Comfort. Captain John Smith, Captein George Percy, and their
fellows of the exploring party which was sent ashore were
conducted a eghort distance inland and given a friendly recep-
tion in ah Indian village of eighteen wigwams known as Ke-
coughtan, meaning "great town". Perhaps this name was not as
paradoxical as it seems, for legend has it that the populous
Kecoughtans had heen all but exterminated notumany years be-
fore the arrival of the "palefaces" by soime of the more west-v
ern tribes of the Powhatan Confederacy, who misunderstood a
prophecy that their conquerors would come frow the east and
took precautions with characteristic directness to eliminate
the most eastern ienace which they could find.

The search for & suitable location for the proposed IEng«

lish colony, it would seem to those who were not handicapped
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by the s&ttlers® inability to foresee the future, might well
have ended at Kecoughtan's "Strawberry Bank", the fertile
area adjoining Capé Comfort, between Hampton River and Mill
Creek, whose few amicable natives found i1t quite easy to se-
cure wild and domestic foods in bountiful quantities from
nearby corn fields, forests, and waters. However,'probably
in fear of hostile ralds by Spanish vessels (a threat which
never materialized), the expedition pressed up the James
River to an unhealthy and unproductive morass which it mamed

'Jamestown. an island affording little bettér protection from
Spaniards and Indians to counterbalance the great advantage
of Kecoughtan as a salubrious and fruitful site. Thus during
the next three years Kecoughtan served the\cause of British“

‘colonization chiefly as & 3lace at which Captain John Smith
and others travelling to and fro in the James could stop oOver
for lodging and feasting. During the summer of 1610‘the
Kecoughtans were driven away forever from the locality in
mysterious reprisal for the murder of a white man by members
of another tribe, and some of the colonists moved in from
later depopulated Jamestown -=— on which fact the present city
of Hampton bases its claim to be the oldest continuous English-
speaking settlement in the New World.t

When in 1619 the western hemisphere's first legislative

assembly convened, Kecoughtan was the only plantation in

\

le Lyon G. Tyler, Higtory of Hampton and Elizabeth City
County, Virginia, 6-17; Narion L. otarkey, The First
Plantation: a History of Hampton and Elizabetin Clty
County, VlrFlnl&, 1607-1887, 7-9.
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Virginia which still retained its pagan and lacked a British

name. Some of its people, adcording to an 0ld chronicle, "in
pious frame of mind, took. a spite at Kecoughtan name and said
& name so heathen should not be for o people so pious as
weeess® Thus the first General Assembly made this the subject
of the sixth petition which it sent back to England; in the
words of the c¢hronicler, "they made their grudges to old King

Jomes, and go the King & new name found,, for this fine section

and all nround".l In honor of Princess Elizabeth, daughter of

Jomes I, rather than of the late Queen Elizabeth, the eastern
end of the peninsuln between the James and York rivers was

henceforth known os Elizabeth City, while the former "great

~town" of the Kecoughtans and its neighboring waters derived.

later from Henry Wriothesley, Earl of Southampton, the names
Hempton, Hampton River, and Hompton Rords.® But "Kecoughtan"
survived in local usage and various misspeilings for at least-,
o century, end even as late as 1700 this reminder of a pre=-
British era crept oécasionally into the official p&pers-3

In the original division of the colony into shires or

counties Elizabeth City was recognized as one of Virgihi&v%;

-

PR A

2, Princess Elizabeth (d. 1662) wns Quecen of Bohemia, had
married an Elector of Palatine, and became the mrterncl
grandmother of the -Elector of Hanover who succeeded in the
next century to the IEnglish throne as George I: Charles M.
Long, Virginia County Namess Two Hundred and Seventy Years
of Virginia History, 32-34. The Earl of Southompton was
President of the Virginia Compwny of London, 1620-1625-
Tyler, History of Hampton, 14.

3. Jacob Heffelfinger, Kccoughtan 014 and New, or Threc
Hundred Years of Elizobeth City Parish, 9. v

[
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eight governmental units. As if it had not already sufficient
claims to priority, during thé following year, 1654/5,1 Ben~
Jamin Syms endowed the first educationnl institution in the
New World, ond in 1638 Thomas Enton in a‘somewhat simiiar
benefaction surpnssed Syms' philanthropy. Through the Syms
Free School and the Eaton Charity School, whose doorsﬂweré
YOpen for many & decade, Elizobeth City antedated slightly the
notable legacy of John Horvard.?

The stendy influx of immigrante into the county ine
creased its populotion before the close of the seventeenth
century to about 800 pcople. Among them, fostercd by on
ideal location and by the best maritime facilities then avail-

able, & flourishing commercicl Llife devcloped in conjunction

1. Until the British adoption in 1752 of the Gregorian calen-
dor, o revision of the less accurate Julian calendor, the
new year begon among IEnglish peoples late in March. Thus,
according to prescnt reckoning, Fcbruary 12, 1634, was
actually in the year 1635. The gencrally current practice
of mnrking & double notation of years in the overlapping '
period (e.g., March 1, 1750/1) =~ in preference to the more
antiquated method of signifying 0ld Style dates as March 1,
1750 (0.8.) = has becn adopted throughout these pages.

2« Tyler, History of Hampton, 22~-23; Starkey, First Planta-
tion, 13. Governor William Berkeley, Virginia's counter-
part of Charles II, was evidently guite ill-informed in one
respect when he made his oft~quoted report in 1671. "But,
I thank God, there are no free schools nor printing [in
this colonyj and I hope we shall not have [them] these hune
dred years; for learning has brought disobedience, and :
heresy, and seccts into the world, and printing has divulged
them, and libels against the best government. God keep us
from both!": William Waller Hening, ed. The Statutes at
Large; being & Collcction of All the Laws of Virginia ...,
IL, 517. Here, as always in later pages, the italics are
in the original:. This collecction will horeafter be cited
as Hening, Statutes. : .




~with the profitable culture of their abundant crops,1
| Both ﬁhases of the county's cecc¢onomic life were repre-
sented among the ancestors of George Wythe - the agricul-
tural by his father's people, the maritime by his mother's
side of the family. |
| The Wythes

~ George Wythe's paternal ancestors scem to have held 2
recognized pogsition among the aristocracy of Elizebeth City
County.{‘?ractically nothing is known on this side of the
Atlantic of their English background, but the Wythes could
herdly have represcented the type of colonist typified by
William Worlich, who entcred the'county as an indentured
gservant but rose to one of its seats in the House of Bur-
gesses and became the progenitor of one of its most honorable
families.g‘ The one scrap of informntion which is available
to controvert the possibility of a lowly Wythe family status
in British society is the fact that George Wythe used a book™

plate bearing o heraldic cont-of-ormg «~ usunlly until the

l. This cestimate is indicated by the census of 365 tithoble -
persons there in 1693 and of 410 in 1698 (tithables in-
cluded white men between the ages of 16 and 60 and all
Negro men and women): Starkey, First Plantation, 17. 1In
1714 the number of tithables had risen to 610: Virginig
Magazine of History and Bloprcphy, IT, 4. Thec lotter
source will hereafter be cited os Vlrrlnlg Historical
Megoazine., Two years later a traveller reported that
Hampton, whose brisk busincss made it the center of the
colony's trade, consisted of about 100 houses' Tyler,
History of Hompton, 31. - : H

2. Starkey, First Plantetion, 1l.




. . . . ‘s 1
American Revolution a reliable hint of gentility.

The original Wythe immigrant, great-grandfather of
Gazorge in a direct line of sucbcssion,z Was Thomae.s Wythe,
whom for clarity's sake, sincc his sons for three generations.
also bore that name, it is perhaps best to call Thomas the
First. He moved into Elizabeth City County in or a few yecars
before 1680,5 probably after Bacon's Rcbellion, the revolt
in Virginia wnich preccded the Amecrican Revolution by cxactly
a centurys. He acquired & considcrable acreage near the north-
ern side of the poninsula beside Back River and cstablished

there the family cstate known as "Chestervillo".4

1. The New England Historical and Genealogical Register, XLI,
297; Virginia Historical Magazine, XIV, vii; William and
Mary College Quertcrly Historical Magazine (lst scries),
I, 112, 120. The last of thesc sources will hercafter be
cited as William and Mary Collcme Quarterly.

2. A London bricklayer by the name of Simon WVithe, who was
probably not kin to the Ilizobeth City Wythes, entercd
Virginia in 1623; and & ¥rancis Wythe, also probably not
related, resided somewherc in the colony in the 1670°%s:
H. R. Mcrlwaino. ed., Minutes of the Council and General
Court of Coloninl Virginia, 1622-1632, 1670-1676 ..., 6,
64, 213, 405. 1In the neighboring countics of Warwick and
York dvelt for gencrations, contemporaneous to those of
Thomas Wythe's descendants, a Wythe family of some local
consequence; but no tic of blood or acguaintance is known
to have existed betwecen them: Worwick County Records’
York County Records; William Carter Stubbs and Mrs. Wil-
liam Certcr Stubbs, Descendants of Mordecai Cooke ... and
Thomas Booth ...; Bishop William Mende, 0ld Churches, Mine
isters and Families of Virginia, I, 240; William and Mary
Mary Collcge Quarterliy (ist otrle“s, XIIT, 175; EXccutive
Journals of the Council of Colonial Vlrglnl (Photost;ts)
April 30, 1752, University of Virginia Library.

3« Lyon Gardiner Tyler, "George Wythe", in William Draper
Lewis, ed., Grent American Lawyers ..., I, 51.

4. Actually, 1t is not positively known that Thomas Wythe the
First ever owned "Chesterville", vwhich later pages will
show to have becn the honme of his grandson, Thomas Wythe
the Third; but it is & rcasonable assumption that this
plantatlon was gained originally by the immigrant Wythe.



Larly rcecognition came to the immigrant Wythe as one of
the Ybest poople in the community".l In 1680 he sat upon the

+ 2 whosc members held the

vench of the monthly county courit
title of justices of the peace and served as judges with
jurisdiction over civil and criminel litigation. In this
capacity, the county's highest local office, he detecrmincd

ex officio the right and the wrong of his neighbors' petty
disputes in the lesscor magistrate's court.3 It is of ihtcrest
in this connection®to mention the fact that his precedent in
this respect was followed, as later'pages Will show, by cvery
male inhabitant of Elizabeth City County who borc the name of
Wythe. Morcover, Thomas the First was olmost immediately
clected o burgess to represent the county in the General
Agsenbly, toking the usual oaths of office on Junc 9, 1680,4
and receiving 200 pounds of tobacco, the approved currency of

that day, as his legislative salnry.S Thomns Wythe the First,

1. Starkey, First Plontation, 29.

2. Virginia Historical Mpgozineg, XIV, 215.

5. Tyler, "George Wythe", loc. cit., 51. For an authoritative
discussion of the mogistrates® courts see Philip Alexander
Bruce, Institutionnl History of Virginio in the Scventeenth
Century, I, 478-482; for a More OthUotIVG study of the
county courtg sCe lbld., 484~646.

4. H. R. McIlwaine, cd., Journals of thec Housc of Burgess
of Virginia, 1659/60~1695, 120. Othnors of Vlrglnlo's
gentry who olso took thne oaths that day were William Byrd,
Benjanin Harrison, John Page, and George Mason.

5. Ibid., 179. He scrved probably only through the first of
the two secssions of that Assembly.  No known reason can We
agsigned for the apparent vubstluutxon of Thomas Jorvis in
hls scat for the sccond session: ibid., x, 122. Y
. ‘
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 possibly thon in late middle age, died in 1693/4; not ooua£~
ing gramdchildren and in~léws, he was survived by his wife
Ann, to whom he had probably been wed in Englond and whose
family nome is not occessibly recorded, two daughtcrs,l and

a son Thomns the Sccond. By his will he divided among var-
ious relatives and fricnds & wealth of possessions, including
two indentured éervanﬁa, nine Negro slaves, four hogshends of
Paweet scented tobncco", six silver spoons, linen and wearing
apporel, orchard produce, horscs and cottle; but his principal
beQueéts provided for the ownership of his two moderately
~extensive troacts of land by Ann his wifc and Thomns hié
grandson.© About o year and & half later the widowed Ann

morried Thomas Horwood,d o justice of the county court.%

1. The elder of thesc, possibly named Constance, marricd John
. Tomer: William and Mory College Quarterly (lst scries), II,
69. Thec other, whosc nome was Ann, morricd not later than
' 1680 William Mnllory (4. ca. 1720), son of Capt. Roger Mnl-
lory of New Kent County, who haod scttled in Elizabeth City
-County and wos its outstanding tobacco planter; they had
four children, Francis, William, lMery, and &nn: ibid., I,
196 n., II, 69; Virginia Historical Mogozine, XII, 402,

=3

- X1V, 215, 216, 219; sSstarkey, First Plantation, 26.

- 24 "Chesterville® was apparently devised to his wife, with
his son Thomos as residunry legatee; a separste tract of
204 acres was bequeathed to Thomas his grandson: will of
Thomas Wythe, proved Mrrch 19, 1693/4, Deceds, Wills, Ete.,
1689-1699, 166n~166, Elizabeth City County Rccords.

3+ Their marriapge license was granted Septomber 7, 1695: Wile
Tiom and Mory College Quarterly (1st scries), II, 210;
Willioam Armstrong Crozicr, ed., Virginia County Rccords,
VI, 8l. But her bond dated November 19 and recordcd on
November 30 of that year, witnesscd by Harwood, speaks of
hor os Ann Wythe: Deceds, Wills, Ete., 1689~1692, 181,
Elizebeth City County Records. A patently inoccurate
mixture of these facts ond dates is to be found in Vir-
ginia Historical Magazine, IV, 90 n.

4. Tyler. "istory of Hompton, 27.




1+ is interesting to note that her éducation was s8¢ limited
that she signed a legal document with the letter "AY as her
mark.T Her death followed her second marriage within a few
years. |

Thomas Wythe the Seoohd. grandfather of George, was born
abroad in 16'70.:5 Like his father, he attained the position of

4 and one report has it

a justice of the peace for the county;
that he served as a municipal trustee of Eampton.s Through

his thrice-married wife Ann, the Wythes became connected with
many of the prominent local families. Her father, John Shep=

B vpard,‘had been burgess for James City and Blizabeth City for a

. number of terms in the middle of the century,® and her

" brother, Baldwin (4. 1697), was a justice of the latter county
with Thomas Wythe the First;7 ner first husband was a gentle-~

 »1; man who went by the rather formidable name of Quintilién

1. Indenture of Ann Wythe, November 30, 1695, Deeds, Wills,
Etc., 1689-1699, 181, Elizabeth City County Records.

2+ Thomas Harwood, who was himself the widower of Lydia,
widow of Thomas Chisman, died in 1700 and was survived by
a third wife, Elizabeth Roberts: William and Mary College

Quarterly (lst series), I, 96 n.
.3« Tyler, "George Wythe", loc. oit., 51.

4. Letter of attorney of Ann Wythe Mallory, May 2, 1693, Deeds,
: Wllls, Etc., 1689-1699, 115, Elizabeth City County Recoxao.

5, Dice Robins Anderson, "The Teacher of Jefferson and Mar-
shall", The South Ailantlc Guarterly, Xv (1916), 329.

s William and Mary Colleme Quarterly (1st series), XIII, 208.

7. Tyler; History of Hampton, 5L.

i
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 guihericke, another of the justices.l

Thomas the Second became ill and died'prematurely in
1694, Jjust a few monthé after his father, but not so suddenly
that he had not prepared against a fatal conclusion of his‘
illness by waking provision for the disposal of his property.
His will transmitted to his wife and children tobacco and
Negroes; some money which wag in England; a tumbler, cup,
tankards, and spoons, all of silver; cattle and horses; and
household possessions, awmong which hi singled out for specific
mention the large 1ooklng glass which his father had brought

to "ChestorVLlle".a A few weeks before the second marriage

‘:’;‘ of the widow of Thomas the First, the more recently bercaved

Ann Sheppard Guthericke Wythe, after about a ycar of widow=

hood, accepted os her third husb“nd Rov. James Wallece, M.D.,

———-

1. Williom and Mary Collese Quarterliy (lst series), II, 69,
208. Their son Villiam Guthericke dicd before 1695, and
their daughter Elizabeth married in 1700 Wicholags Curle,
of another respectable Elizabeth City family: ibid., V,
§7. Elizobeoth Guthericke Curle must have died cre moany
years, for Curlc remorried beforce his death in 1714; his’
widow, the former Jance Wilson, had two later husbands,
Capt. James Ricketts and Merritt Sweeney, both of whom
were burgesses for the county: ibid., IX, 125-126.

2. Since Thomes the Pirst had deviscd ¥Chesterville" $o him
cenly after the death of his mother, who survived him,
Thomas the Sccond never legtlly inherited the family
estate, though it is presumable that he lived on that
plantation. To his godsons FPrancis IMallory, John Tomer,
and Williom Wilson he bequenthed sceveral lambs, and to his
‘brother-in-law John Tomer a hat of which he evidently was
proud: will of Thomns Wythe, proved Scptcmber 18, 1694,
Deeds, Willsg, Ktce, 1689-1699, 163= l6o, Ellzobeth Cxty
County Records.




1L

of nearby “"Errol" on .Jack River,l

sometime clerk of the county
and for twenty-one years the’honored rcetor of Elizabeth City
Parish, who contcested bitterly with his parishioners, the
county court, and the colonial government in occasional
squabbles.2 Mrs., Wallace survived until her grandson, George
Wythe, was fourtecn years of age and bequeathed him a small
legacy, signing hoer will with her mark in‘lieu of a signzaﬁcm‘e.'3
Her son, Thomas Wythe, father of George Wythe and the
last of the line 4o be considered before & review of tho
lafter's maternal heritage, succeeded to the management of

WChestorville" and of the agricultural pursuits by which the

family's forturic was maintained.4 To the acres which he

1. William and Mary College Quarterly (lst serices), II, 210. %"
By Wallace (1667-1712) shc bore six additional children,
making her progeny the most prolific among those of all
George Wythe's ancestors. Through their marriages George
Wythe was morce or less distoantly connected with the Vallace,
Armnistead, Wegtwood, Deondridge, Roscow, Jennings, Curle,
Mende, Noylor, lason, ond Ballard fomilics of the cighteenth
century: ibid., IX, 124, 130~131, XII, 177; will of Ann
Wallace, rccorded Pebruary, 1740/1, Wills, Btc., 1701-1904,
27, Elizabeth City County Records. In 1711 Wellace ac-
quired 583 acres in Elizobeth Citys Crozicer, od., Virginia
County Records, VI, 277.

2« Heffelfinger, Kecoughtan 0ld and New, 19; H. R. McIlwaine,
¢d., Exccutive Journals of the Council’ of Colonial Virginiao.,
I, 309~310, 1L, 414~416, 432-433, 459-442.

3. Will of Ann Wollnce, proved Fobruery 1740/1, Wills, Etc.,
1701-1904, 27, Elizabeth City County Records.

4. There secms to be, os frequently heppens, no legal record
of his ownership of the cstate, but it was almost undoubt-
edly handed down to him by his grondmother upon her mor-
riange to Thomas Harwood in 16955 also, he undoubtedly
retoined the form of 204 acres willed to him by Thom»s

‘Wythc the First.
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'possessed by inheritance he added half-ownership of a water-
xfront in Hampton.l As early as 1690 he was esteemed enough
locally to hold a county of fice.? Fifteeh yvears later he was
gerving in the county cour't‘,,:5 and a few years later still an
appointment came to him from Williamsburg to be Elizabeth
City's sheriff.? Even more positive testimony bo his local
eminence is to be found in hip clcetion as a %eprésentative
of his native county in the General Ayﬁsistambly of 1718-1720,
- and aga@n in the Assembly of 1783-1726.°

Thus on the paternal side (eorge Wythe was desccended
from threce generations of aristocratic Ygentleman farmers"
who had been for almost a half céntury among the leading
citizens of Elizabeth City County. Their lives, so far as
surviving rcecords disclose, prescnt the rather orderly appcar-

ance characteristic of a landed gentry.

o

1. Williem and Mery Colleme Quarterly (1lst serics), V, 31;
Crozier, ed., Virginia County Records, VI, 277.

2y Virginia Historical Mogazine, I, 248. On the basis of
this dote it appears thoat he could not have been born &s
late os 1691, as Tyler, "George Wythe", loc. ¢it, 51,
reports. ' .

S5, Virginie Historical Mognzine, IX, 4. Cf. Bruce, op. cit.,
L, 487. ' :

4. McIlwnine, cd., Exccutive Journals of the Council of
Colonial Virginia, IV, xl.

5. H. R. hoIIW°1no, ed., Journals of the House of Burgposcs,
1712-1726, ix, xi, 178, 364. He C t00K over in 1718 e
Villicm Armistend's scwt and in 1723 that of Anthony
Armistead, by whom he had been supplanted in the 1720
cleetion. There is no evidence that he performed more
thon merely yeomnn service in either house: ibid., 197,
210, 227, 394, 401. .




13

The Keiths and the Walkers

In gharp contrast ¥6' the predominately placid and agrar-
jan life at "Chesterville" is the controversial and maritime
background of the family of George Wythe's mother.

Her maternal grandfather was Rev, George Keith (ca. 1638~
1716), M.A., schoolmaster, missionary of two faiths, and theo-
logical pamphleteer -~ whose caroer'ran almost the entire
gamut of the possible experienées of an ecclesiastical leader
in an age which could not boast of religi&%s liberty. Born in
S%ptland, end well educated in England, he became & member of
the Society dfFFrionds. commonly calied Quakers, and marricd
a Scotch Quakeress, Elizobeth Johnston by name., Sincerely cone
vinced of the validity of the Society's tenets, he published &
number of able books in defense of its crecd, which hes had
few interpretérs of greater ability, prominence, or contribu-
tion. TUpon Robert Borelay, George Pox, and William Penn, with
whom he end his wife travelled through Holland ond Germany on
o missionary expedition of consegqucnce, he éxeroisod a profound
influence. ZFor thesec oand other activitiés upon which Old
World governments were then‘ﬁccustomed tq frown, he was con-
fincd for terms of greater or lesscr length in prisons upon at
least six separntc occagions. Nor were his suggestive, almost
unigue beliefs on such theological problems os the Inner Light,
t@e Lord's Supper‘as on agape, and the trahsmigration of souls
deomed otherwise than heretical by orthodox Guakers.

By 1685 Keith hod settled in Wew Jersey; -four years later

he had loceted in Philadelphin as headmaster of the proesent-day
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William Penn Charter School. Since he was by nature rather
gself-assertive and contentious and bécause he evidently de-
sired, perhans even coveted, a sole leadership of the Quakers,
a severe conflict among them devoloned around him there. It
ended in a separatist movement through which a very sizable
minority seceded under him from the Philadelphia Yearly Meet -
ing and called themselves "Chrisitian Quakers" -~ usually
known by others as "Keithiansg" - and in Keith's being dis-
owned by the London Yearly Mceting.

This expulsion from the¢ Socicty of Friends was followed
by several years of preaching, in Quakcr garb and a fented
hall, as an independent preacher ih London. Such success.
atténded thegse efforts that by 1700 the Bishop of London con-
vinced himself that Keith's Quaker herésy constituted Anglican
orthodoxy &nd ordained him a minister of the established
Church of England. Uhger these auspices Keith attacked all
Frien&s as relentlessly as he had previously denounced only
some of them and hed refuted the doctrincs of Anglicanism!
Yet it should not be inferrced from this about-face that his
convictions lacked genuincness or that his intellect lacked
consistency. Occasion will be found in another connection'to
- review some of his.efforts in this new role.

To talent as & forceful religious disputant there was
added in the character of George Keith & considerable adept~
ness in scholarly fields far removed from theolog y. In
Oriental studies and in mathematics he atualned marked pro-

ficiency; indeed, . on the basis of some researches which he
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made . the latter when he was about sevenly years old, he
toyed with the aged nautical problem of ascertaining one's
' poeition upon the high seas and introduced & new method for

determining longitude.l

A volume from his pen upon "mathe~
metical and other subjects" was to be séen years later in
George Wythe's 1ibrary.2 Lest anyone doubt that the published
productions of that pen were voluminous, it may be mentioned’
that a printed bibliography of them covers thirty-six pages.5

One of them, titled, An Exhortation and Casution to Friends

concerning Buying and Keeping of Negroes (Philadelphia, 1693),

has a definite claim to priority as the first Quaker pamphiet
against slavery.4‘

Ann Keith, daughter of this versatile and open-minded
@
Scotch savant and & grandmother of George Wythe, married

- . g s, i

‘1. This sketch of Keith is bascd cntirely upon two scerviceable
articles: Alexander Gordon, “George Keith", Dictionary of
National Biography, pripcipally for ithe British phascs;
Rufus M. Jones, "Georgd Keith", Dictionary of Amecrican
Bilography, chiefly for his American carcer.

2. Danicl Call, '"Judgo Wythe', in his Reports of Cascs Argued
and Adiudp ed in the Court of Appeals of Virginia, LV (lBSé)
xi.

5. Joseph Smith, A Descriptive Catalosue of Friends ' Books, or
Books Written by ... @uayers cos Includlnp A1 Writings by
Authors before Joining, and by Lhnose aiter Having Leit the
Society, Whether Adverse or not ..., II, 18~ 43,

4. Stephen B. Weeks, Southern Quakers and Slavery: a Study in
Institutional History (Johns Hopkins University SuUdleo in
Historical and Political Science, extra vol, XV) 198-199.




George Walker of Elizabeth Clty Counuj.l IIe was & son of
George and Elizabeth Walker, of whom practically nothing is
known.2 Pregumably they were immigrant colonists who pro-
vided certainly no exception to the rule of respectability
among George Wythe's forebears. , '

he younger George Walker was a resident beside Mill
. Creek of the "Strawberry Bahk", upon which the Kecoughtans
in dajé of yore had built their Ygreat town", between Hampton
and Oléé?oint Comfort. That he acquired and owned somwwhatd
ndtablelland holdings is adequately proved by surviving

A . .
county records.® He was in 1697 an official pilot of James

- -y

1. William and Mary College Quarterly (lst series), IX, 127.
There is something of a mystery in the geographical ques-
tion as to how Ann Keith could have married into an Eliza-
beth City family. A report Jhat her father immigrated
about 1690 into Hampton is almogst certainly inaccurate:
Call, "Judge Wythe", loc. git., xi. Equally unlikely,
though perhaps more pessidble, is the estimate of the date
ag 1684: L. S. Herrihk, "¢oorgg Yythe", The John F. Dronch
Historical Papers of Randolp“~thon Lollepe, TII, (1909~
1912), no.4 (191?) 28%. Lt would be more probwble that
they were wed abromd and immigrated with his father's
family before 1690. An Anglican preacher named George
Keith was & minister in Elizabeth City parish in 1624—1625
and the owner of 100 acres of its land by patent: Heffel-
finger, Xecoughton 014 and New, 14. One authority assumes
that Rev. George Kelth the Quaker was a grandson of this
early namesake in the colony: Tyler, History of Hampton, 30.

2. As late ag 1704 the senior Walker seems to have been ac-
guiring land in the county: Crozier, ed., Virginia County
Records, VI, 277. Cf. the next two footnotes.

3. As carly as 1691 he shared with his brother, Jacob, &

Hempton merchant, a legacy of 150 acres devised by one

- Thomas Oldis: William and Mary Colleme Quarterly (1st
series), IX, 84, In 1704 he (ana/or his father, from whom
it is often difficult to distinguish him) paid gquitrents
on 325 acres in Blizabeth City add on 425 acres in Prin-
cess aAnne: Virginia Historical Magazine, XXX, 343, 283.
And in 1703-1811 grants in his {and/or his father’“) name
totailing more than 265 acres in the formexr county are




River, whosc duty it was to board vessels arriving in Hampton
Roads and to takc their wheels during thé inland jouracy,
lest their oceanic pilote bring them to grief in narrower and
shallower confines.t In later years he is revealed as an
inportant factor in James River maritime circles.® In re-
sponse to his petition for permls"ion to take outl a patent as
personal property upon & wharf whlon he had been pioneer
eaough to erect at the end of King Styeet in Hampton, ﬁhe
Coun01l of the colony decided %that, if the municipal officials
did not think it prejudicial to the public piers or interest,

he was entitled to its private ownership; far from viewing it

g a liability, his neighbors acclaimed it as "rather an

listed: Crozier, ed., Virginia County Records, VI, 277.
A land survey and maps of the Mill Creek sector in 1725
indicate some of these acquisitions: William and Mary
College Quarterly (lst morioo), IX, 116-188. DNo other
record of his probable bequests there from his father is
available. It was perhaps his father who protested with
Anthony Armistead and Bdward Mihill, both of whom were at
one time¢ or another burgesses, that the county jusoices
mede in 1694 an illegal and unaust assessment of the
county and parish taxcs: McIlweine, ed., Executive Journals
of the Council of Colonial Virginia, I, 309-310.

1. William and Mary Collese Quarterly (lst series), XVIII,
290; Tyler's Quarterly Historical and Gencalogical laga-
zine, III, 287. The latter of these sources will here-
after be cited as Tyler's Quarterly Magazine. DBut in
William and Mary Colleme Quarterly (1st series), IX, 127,
it 18 indicated that it was his father who held this
position. The office of pilotg for Tidewatcr rivers had
been created by lemlslatxon in 1661: Starkey, First
Plantation, 14. o

2. McIlwaine, cd., Exocutlve Journals of the Council of
Colonial Virginia, I, 381, 236, 015 IXL, 189, l 0, 245
458, 546.
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advantage to the.said Town . "

Moreover, then as now,'Old Point Comfort was Virginia's
preeminently stratogic place of defense cgainst invasion, and
Walker was & public servont in verious capacities during the
war of the early eighteenth century in guarding against

- possible forays by French ships.z

In the twenties (and per-
haps for a 1bnger periﬁd). under title of "Gunner and Store=~
‘keeper",'hc was chief ¢ommander of formidable Fort George,
gretwhile predecessor of present-day F ommaa Monroe 2

- But George Welker wos o Quaker, and that was aufflclent
to disqualify him from some offices in‘the,Hampton Roads arch.
The oaths required by the English government of colonial
officinls had to be sworn, & proctise prohibited to strict
Quakers. Thus, because he would not relax his principles in
this respect, upon the denth of Nicholos Curlc, Naval Officer
of the Lower Distriet of James River, Welker could be appointed

to serve in Curle's steod only until & suitable permenent in-

cunbent could be selected, and vigorous protests werce raised

l. MeIlwaine, cd., Executive Journals of the Council of
Colonial Virginian, LLi, 439, 455. This petition wo s
supported by another from various Hompton citizens asking
that it be granted: 1bid., 449. TFor o contrcry opinion cf.
an corlier petition in which the pcople of the town pro-
tested agrinst his wherf: Colendar of Virginia State Papers,
I, 183, ' :

2+ McIlwainc, ed., Exccutive Journals of the Council of Colon-
ial Virginia, IIL, 206, 208-209: Virzinia Historicel MNogo-
Zine, XXVI, 54 07' McIlwrlne, eds, Journcls of the House
of B Burgesses, 1702/3-1712, B34l. '

3. McIlwaine, ed«; Executive Journtls of the Council of Colon~
iel Virginia, IV, 33. CEf. Tyler, History of Hompton, 66-=37.

!
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he

ngoinst even his temporary performance of Curle's dubics.™

In his work as Noval Officer pro tempore Walker showed such

vdiligence and s8bility" that he was appointed by the Surveyonr
General of Customs in America official "Searcher" for the
lower James of the revenue~producing cargoeé'of Hampton Roads
traffic ~ & position under the Naval Office frdm which he
wa.s not disbarred by an cath.? In a pecuniary sense this was

the emptiest of honors, devoid of financial remuneration. He

might save the government & fortune by his care in exacting

————

L. Lieutenant~Governor Alexander Spotswood was forced to make
an explanation to British authorities in justification of
his choice. His apology is convincing. %ir. [ John] Luke
[Collector of customs for the same district] makes a mighty
noise of my appointing & person who is a Quaker.... To w'ch
I veg leave to answ'r that Mr. Curle's Death was so sudden,
and sundry vessels then in ye district, both to enter and
Clear, that I was under necessity of making as sudden an
appointment, and in regard [i.e., in consideration of the
facts that] Mr. Geo. Walker was a person of the best Char-
acter, both for his Capacity and honesty, of any there-~
abouts, that Mr. Curle had entrusted him with his books
during his 8ickness, ‘and the managem't of all his Affairs
ag his Executor, and that he liv'd very convenient, at the
very mouth of James River, I could not think of a fitter
person, untill [gic] I could otherwise supply it [i.e.,
the vacdncy] and I wish I could have prevail’d with him to
lay aside that one S8illy Scruple of the word Swear, that I
ight still have continued him in the Office'; Alexander
Spotswood to the Commissioners of the Customs, January 27,
1714/5, R. A. Brock, ed. The Official Letters of Alexander
Spotswood ... (Virginia Historical Society Collections, ncw
series, 1, 11), II, 105-106. Nor did Luke, who wanted &he
job, make the only protest, for the Burgesses charged in a
later series of complaints that he had acted “contrary to
[his] Instructions" in this matter: McIlwaine, ed., Journals
of the House of Burgesses, 1712-1726, 230. For an abstracty
of Curle's will, naming Walker as an executor, ¢f. William
and Mary College Quarterly (st serics), ZXXVI, 286. Tnis
was the same Nicholas Curle who had married Elizabeth
Guthericke: ¢fs ante, 10 n.

2. Alexander Spotswood to the Commissioncrs of the Customs,

January 27, 1714/5, Brock, ed., Letters of Spotswood, II,
106. ‘ '




duties on all products toxed by the tariff laws, but 1t was

ah

i

vain that he petitioned for & fraction of the customs receipts
sufficient to cover only the expenses of his four laborers and
boat .t
A family event of consequence in George Walker's housew-
wold was the return from London to America of his father-in-
law, Rev. George Keith. There was a patent need in the Bri- ./
tish colonies for a more adequate corps of Anglican ministers

(TR L
o aey

2o

wiio could be relled upén to cowbat the existence with
_bbrders of certain religious faithg - particularly Quakerism
~ wWhich could not have IEngland's unstintedyapproval- Thus
an apostolic organization wag ilncorporated in’170l under the
Church of England with the descriptive title: Sociely for ihe
Propagatlion of the'Gospel in Poreign Parts. Engaged as its
first missilonary, in the next‘year, to travel exténsively
through the continental colonies of the West on an annual
stipend of %200 was none other than Keith, the ex~Quaker. It
was an inherently brilliant selection; who else could be more
effectively competent in the task of leading the unorthodox
into the established Church than a former leader in errant
beiiefs, now repentant of earlier heresies?

In this worthy cause Keith set forth immediately, armed
wita credentials assuring the lieutenantngdvernor of Virginie

and others, whose memories of his Quaker career might be too

%, : it de $oom b . . T TP i RPN S S 3
> . vhat he intended "to promote the truih amongst hils old
, -l
Gvindine, eds, Journalsg of the House of Zurgassaes, 1710~
m.‘;.a O i ‘



s --uaintance", especially in Pennsylvania, and tuat he wos

“*a tiie full Orders of our Church, So that you may nerﬁiﬁ nin
to preach when & where you please...."l His 1t1nerary carried
him in 1703 and again in 1704 to Elizabeth City County, where

ne found lodging upon both occasions with his Quaker son-in-

2

law.® Of the former visit he recorded in his offici

b TP S
&4 relporv

ve stayed there about Ten Days, al my
House at ﬁlrketan [Kegoughbaﬂj oy Jz mo‘
5 ‘(,L

But since Walker retained his Quaker sympaviiiies, his latch-key
wag oubt o members of the Society of Friends as well as to a
relative from the 8. P. &. ¥. P. One representative of {he

former, for example, tells of going in line of duty "to Xi~

=

cquotan [Kecoughtan], where we had a meeting at our friend,
George Walker's house® and reported that his "wife is one of
George Keith's daughters and follows him in his apostacy and

enmity".4

1y Bishon of TLondon to Thomas Nicholson, Aprii =, 1702, Vir
ginia Historical Magezine, XXIII, 145. Cf. Bishop of Loa-
aon to Wihom Lt May Concern, April 3, 1702, and V.. Worces

to 9, April 21, X702, ibid., 144~145.

>

th, A Journal of Travels from ./ iz =hire to

it b.,J On the Conbinendc of Norty- uerica, 64-

2

izty of the valuce of Kelhh s mwss1ou may be found
seasunt of its seeoretary: David phireys, An Hi
se Loof the Incorporated Sim.&.g,,v‘ Tor the 2o
e ﬁ*ugUl in Foreipn Parts ..., 73=80.

be Ibid., 65. A pemli~official ¢ ontoxﬁorarj estbimate by the
i

oo

4. Quoted irom the journal of Thomas Story in Tyler, Hintory
amptor. 30.

?



Thus there existed in the home of George Wyithe's maternal
grandparents two almost irreconcilable religions. Between
George Walker, Quaker, and Ann Keith Walker, Anglican, all
other marital relaetionships may have been promptly and satis-
factorily adjusted, but the impasse created by lirs. Valker's
renunication of Quaker tenets presented & mor ‘
mestic problem. Perhaps it could have been best dealt with
by a tacit and mutually agreesble "live and let live" - or
tworshily and let worship" - policy, fbr ingtances ol The
auécessful operaiion of similar arrangements anmong otiaer
couples were not a contemporary oddity; perhdoo, cri the other
hand, it was inevitable in this case that the question must
Flare up rather openly and demand more than an implicd answer.

In either event, Ann Kelth precipitated a candid but in-
verfect settlement of the issue by sending in Apr i1, 1708, %o
Virginia's august Council at Wlljlamsburg & petition, in which
sne "complained ... that George Walker her nusband violently
restrains her from going to Church to worship God according

-~

to the established Religion...."' The Council

-

lors! consequent
order vhat the two principals in the maiter should agnom be-
Tore them o few days later prompted Walker ou his part to

anticipate that nccesslby with another petition. In this he

B

stated the frailty of hie'wifc's health and suggested that she

might avold the risks of a trip to Willimmeburg by acceépting

ps3
[

k%
£
i
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nis willinegness to permit her in the future to worsh

o e T T,

\é\a




plons:d.l To tho Council this propostl nust have scomcd o

o)

)
;u.
}

complete solution of & potﬁnﬁlalxy vexatious disputoe ¢

cvidcntiy adopted by its members {though no record of theiw

anprovail 15 aveilable) and communicnbed by them, as o sors of
Intemnedlory, to Mres. Wolker..
With this whole-hearted submission to Lier doancr  Jor

religious freedom, the matter might have rested; buv anovier
element, probably the basic one, was injected‘into the counvro-
verey vy lirs. Walker's second petition to the Council, praying
that she might be awarded responsibility for the religious
instruction of her children. A plea of this kind was dis-

thhe eves of representia-~

vinctly a horse of another color in
tives of eighteenth=-century Bri“’bh aristocracy. Accordingly,
PUTe LR N - 3w T 3 e o R I B A B i Gy P o
2 Councllilors examined Walker and sgatisfied themselves that
he wished only an “"athorety [gic] over his Childr. that prop-
oroay welongs to Bvery Christisn man® - the ripght

tp hiis Childr. in whatever Christien Religion he may Be of

“

™ 9 aggured, they advised hie wife that he should rightfully
Lave tais liberty, ofiering her only one dim hope, which hung
on the old technicality as to whether or nol Quakers were
Cnristians. In a friendly letter ‘o her they stated, "if
ym{ﬁ} Can Brove that he 18 Nobt & Chri staan ahd 86 Congéfuenily

ot within the virge [sic] of our Jx*“i‘i%”ﬁfiﬁfz,ﬂ Tevwe thes wo ars

B T TR

2

4, 1708,

o

ie etition OL Foorﬁo WPTKCT to the Council, April .
Ly e « wmzing, KVI, 79-80.




rurthor Continuwance.t

With this dictum, though it was couched only at best in

<
o
O
bt

a semi~official letter of amicable, almost condescending &d
¥rs. Walker's cause was lost. Yet the caugiter of George Xeitl
could be obdurate. The Council's challenge to give it & tech-
nical basie for some other decision she could not meet successs
fully; indeed, it is probable that she did not even try. But
she could force the imeue, in one findl, forlorn plea, %o a
more forinl conclusion. Thus the Council found 1t necessary o
few days later to review the whole aflair. ts Gecree conid
again the victory she had geined in respect to her own church
svtendances The more unpreoedented question of the relative
degrecs of rellglceis authority of the two parenis over their

PO

children was utterly evaded through & loophole found in Ler

pooivicn, wihioh did not disclose Yof what age those Children
are nor how faxr they are capable of chooseing [zic) a Religion

.

A

for thomseives®s
Consequently, this conflich between the Valkers eventuate:

in & partial vviumph for Ann Keith - parvial, is must be

La The Council to Mrs. George Walker, &pr
~ &1

81+ The abgence in the Council's Lo ¥
rodards detnilii aldl the apparent steps of > ¥
in thig dispute and the tone of friendly advice whi
e

«

i e

vaqe this letter indicate 8 desire on their a1
T wnsdficlally o Yaud of asukiY, ne tha Saying goes.




admitted, because, at most, she had gained only a stalematle
and, at worst, had suffered & morsal defeat. Yet, if the tine
and plaCe be granted, perhaps she could not have won a greater
victory, for in veality she had raised & gquestion much too
advanced for her age.

Thore can be little doudt that boih parties to Phiin
conuroversy accepted ln good faith the incomple
the somevizadb unwilllng tribunal to wiich ey had appenled

and uaat-tihey worked out in some manner velween themselves

;,

the unsolived portion of their riddle. At least such di:
yossivilities ag a disruption of their home was forestalled,
and it continued, until Walker's death in 1752,1 to Berve as

”~

the chief hotel and assembly hall for Guakers in predominantly

-

hosvile Bilizabeth City County. One of its guesis twenty years
Imter, recovding his impressions of a fpurnd&y siay, descri
George Walker asg "very loving and heérty to Friends, frequeut-
iy having neetinge at his house', and feparﬁ@d that "hnis wife
vos [was] more loving than I expected. 8She ... in her younger

days snowed great dissatisfaction with Friends, but after her
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father's death [in 17L6] the edge of th
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1o Willism and Movy College Quarterly (lst series), X, 206.
‘rom an account of 8Samuel Bownas in VWillianm and
 Quartorly (lst series), IX, 127-126, and i
BLory oL hHampton, 32-33.
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VUnion of the Wythe and Walker Tomilices

Next to the oldest among the six children of George and
Ann Keith Walker was o daughter named Margaret.l Sne was
iicensed in 1719 or 1720 to merry Thomas Wythe the Third,
Wao, 1t will be recalled, was George Wythe's father. Dy their
union there wos blended in the latter's heritage the landed
aristocracy of the Wythes, the business intercsts of the
Walkers, and the liberal intellectusl tradition of the Koiths.

“&’«‘h@n/ in 1708 ench of hor porents sought vainly a xeeogs
nized and exclusive control over her religious education,
Largaret Walker was probably & very young girl. It ig not
known whether, in later years, she adopted the religious secu

of her Guaker father or preferred agal ¥ nhis wishes the

7 Colleme Guarterly | (1st series),
Aiii, 37, AVIII, &9 291, XX, ao
X ﬁzg? ’Lo, X, 215, XXiX, 509, Wna_'
, 287-288, give considerable g
cal data yrothers and sisters and on their
Lren in thé Walker, Wray, Tuckai,'Norton, Dewey, Teay-
*»wan, Fldridge, and Call families. A failure to dis-
in o belween ’one g,ener{ruo“o of her mp‘t}wr and of her-
vatﬂr12,3 the account given by Call, %judge Wyt el
vy Xis  For further LaiormauLOH on her bevﬂ rs,
nd Jacob, c¢f. Virginia Gazotte (nub° by Rind),
) 1767 Vllm1ﬁld Historicasr iogazine, XIV, 347,
*ﬁvw"~11o, ed., Ixeculive Journals of the Co~w1
CGoloninl Vipginia, IV, Ll4al, 403, 409, bKOCUClVQ
wnals of the Council of Colenial Vi ginia {Photosta
Dec. 13, 1752, April 30, 1752, 4Hpril 11, 1797, Univers
of Virvginia Library.
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church of her Anglicon mother; the latter was the more llikely.
Thus the thrend of Quakerism in George Wythe's ancestry may
h&ve been & broken one. It is"true, nowever, that George
Wythe chose a rather independent course in religious affairs;
possibly this attitude was derived from the influence of his
ﬁa\bAnal background.. Certain it is, too, that he never ex-

perienced his grandfather's difficulty in advancing o high

;»

pubilic offices, though in the simple habits of Lis old age
fhere was to be some resemblance to the personal lives of

friends ~- a fact which was deemed woriay of . commuent upon Iis

o

death .k
4
d
<1+ YComnuni

ation" signed "A.B.", Virginis Cezette, and
gvertionr, June 18, 1806




Chapter II

APPRENTICESHI? TO A TMREEFOLD CAREER:

PROLIMINARIES TO SILLF-RDUCATION

Wythe's Birthnlace

Pilgrims to the numerous historical shrines of ihe

York~James peninsula are usually unaware that thelr

travels take them near CGeorge Wythe'ls birithplace. One

i

of the Virginia State Commission on Conservation and Dg

velopment's familiaxr highway markers a few miles west of

P

Hampbton on the road to Newport‘News proclaims Vo passers-
by curious enough vo stop that Wythe was born about eight
i....es north, but no other sign can be found in greater
proximity. One who wishes to locate the spol must scek

ciearest available directions to a certain paved crosse-
road on the Yorktown highway aboul seven miles northwest
of Hamphton, drive & gquariter mile northward fo a teﬁan@
farmer's rural maill box which bears the name WChester-
ville®™, and walk easgtward about 250 yardés to a sta
clump of tall trees. |

1

Thiis grove is something of a landmark ani

o,
()
It
2
21
o
s
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N
3

g Tields, which slope very genily away from it on all
sides, To the east one can discern & mile distant the
“inle hangar of Langley Field, United States aviation

ey

uni v ol defense in ti.e Hampton Roads area. To the noxih-

eagt andg nurth, roughly & thousand yards away, lies the
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northern vranch of Back River. Moderately wide beside
#Chesterville®, it broadens considerably at Langley
Figld and emplties directly into_Ch sapeake Bay abvout five
miles Tarther east;‘above “”aegu rviile® it narrows
rapidly into a mere creek and half»encifcles that formexr

te on the west. In the main, the boundary line be-

<
-t
-3
@
o
w3
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zaoetn City and York counties corresponds with -
he course of this stream.

Within the grove of trees which thus mark the site

C

f George Wythe's nativity a pilgrim of today can find
little to inspire feelings of &we and reverence. Unless

his imagination 1s brought into play, he will scarcely

Py

satch himself invelunterily thinking of sacred grounds

o

nd ¢f customary methods of indicating respect in its
presence, such as removing one's shoes or lifting one's
hat. For notulng remains but irregular heapns of crumbled

rick and partvial outlines of the brick foundations of

-
»

the house which was "Chesterville®'s axis.™
Wythe's Tirst home, which was of medium size, sur~
vived through two centuries or more until twenty or

o

wwenty~£five years ago, when fire destroyed it completely.

[¢3]
rr

o

1. The facts of these paragraphs are based upon the
- writer's observations during a visit to ¥"Chesterville"
on November 20, 1936, :

2. LT was reported to be standir ng in 1907 by Tyler,
“Geo orge \vy‘orﬂ et _Lgc cite, 54. The flames are said
locally to ha tarted on-a back porch made of wood.
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Tredition says that 1ts brick had been vznufectured in
I orags 1e of its desien isg vraeeyr that 1t
x’l’ land. L1T0Le oU 1U8 Qeslgn 18 Xnowl, exeept vaat 1b
Y s o+ dalm -~ Ya m oy sl ey e mina mam e Ve 1,' o e Ry 2 ,., l
wad one of the open-nearth basement xitchens so Typica

[»]

. . _ - ot s 2
arigtocratic architecture in colonial Virzinia.

To this home Thomas “iythe the Third brought als
pride of 1719 or 1720, llargaret Welker, and in it tThelr

three children were born vwithin the next ten years. The

first, & son, wes naturally named Thowas and her“OJ be-

™

O
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o
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set the local VWythe vrecedent of single male heirs in

each generation. For him the Christian name George was

adopted, provably in honor of his maternal grendfether,
George Yalker, or of his widely known waternal great-

grandfather, George Kelth. The third child, a daugater,

recelved the given name Ann, which had occurred much itore
freguently in her father's Tamily than in he“ motherts.

& Scenty Clagssical Bducation

-

George Vythe's {first twenity years - a full guarter

of his life =~ are weiled with the mist of uncertainties

or hidden entirely by want of informetion. All their

vurth Thomas Vythe of Virgilnilia. The second up~

%0

e e, AT U g A N1 S e v e .

1. This tradi
local auc
dence th a
ixn;oh ed

Won uoow to be acceptable, despite one
horityts contention that Ythere is no evi-~
T oay y hOJSuS 1n V1r"*n1m w re built of
b1 apton, 32.

Rovert 3. {udgins, of Hawmpton, has owned the

for a great number of years. Through an illness
on his part, efforts to have him furnish some data on
led. For some rather indefinite information

onn his authority see Starkey, First Plantation,
Dr. 8. C. liitcheil tells the writer that he wes
guest of liajor Hudgins there before the fire.




available facts and probebilities can be related within
brief compass., “ )

They began in the year 1726, but no fecord of the
exact date has survived. Yet, since it is recorded that
he was in the Yeighty-first year o; his age" when he
died, June 8, 1806, it may be inferred that his birth
occurred during the first half of that year.

_Before young George had grown old enough to remember
his father well, if at all, Thomas Wythe the Third died,
perhaps in the year 1729.% As iy the case of nis own
father, his death came before a normzl life span had
elapsed; but, unlike his father, Thomas the Third left
no will, Thus Thomas the Fourth became the sole heir to
his moderate wealth, for colonial Virginia laws disposed

¥l

of such contingencies by bestowing &1l property on the
oldest son, in accordance with the contemporary rule of
primogeniture. Doubtless the widowéd Margaret Walker
Wythe and all her children continued to live at "Chester~ .
ville", at least until Thomas the Fourth attained his

majority and could legally assume its managenment in

—

L. "Geotge Wythe", American Lew Journal {(ed. by John E.
Hall), III (18107, 97. Jefferson erroneously guessed
the year as 1727 or 1728: Thomas Jefferson, "Notes
for the Biography of George Wythe®, lis. filed under
date of August 31, 1820, Jefferson Papelo, Library of
Congress, for his explanatlon of the surmise gf.
Thomas Jefferson to John Sanderson, August 31, 1820,
ibid.

2. Tiler, "George Wythe", loc. Clu., 54, reports the’

~ 1m e e

vear definitely as 1729, CLthg no auohorluy



(o3}
e

person. But, no matter how generously he may have
| shared his heritage, other members of the family must
have suffered inconveniences and have seen meny a want
go unfilled through the rather immutable operation of
the law's unequal division of the femily's wealth. A
later age deemed thisg deep~seated discrimination in
favor of the firsgt-born fo be against public policy and
grossly unfair. George Wythe, who may Pe justly con-
sidered more of'less a victim of the system, put his
shoulder to the wheel in the drafting of legislation
which would grant each immediate survivor a porition of
the real estate in the event of an intestate death.>
Though it is possible that George Wythe received
better early instruction than his more favored brother,
the exclusion of his Widowed mnother from a major portion
of his father's estate proved to be & considerable handi-
cap to his education. In some nearby grammar school —
possibly the Syms Free School or the Eatbn Cﬂgrity School
~ e learhed rudiments of the three “R's".z But, more
significantly, it was at his mother's knee that he ob-

tained hig introduction to the classical languages.

1. . rence is made by this statement to his support

Refe
late in 1776 of Jefferson's bill for the abolition
of entails and primogeniture.

2+ "Memoirs of the Late George Wythe, Isquire", The

- American Gleaner, and Virginia Magazine, I, 1, re-
ports: "for he [Wythe] has often informed the [anony-
mous)] author of these memoirs, that he was taught at
school nothing more than reading and writing English,
and the five first rules of Arithmetich.
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There may be some exaggeration in the description of her
gs a woman of‘uncommon knowledge and strength of mind®
which ascribes to hexr so intimate an acquaintance with
Latin that she spoke it ”fluently“,l but at least she,
a granddaughter of George Keith, was not as 1lliterate
as the mother and grandmother of her husband, neither of
;f.whom could sign her own name. < Wythe himself in later

“years attributed to his mother his initiation in the

~ study of the Latin langﬁage,3 but she taught him only
uthe principles of grexmar and, as he sald, "to read the

ug very 1moerfechly...."4 Auouaer

ptees)

colloquies of Corder
report has been handed through somewhat more indirect
channels to the effect that she assisted his translations
“of the New Testament in 1ts Greex text by referring when
necessity demanded to an English version,5 though she
”probably "knew of Greek only the alphabet and how to

hold the dictionary...."6 Thus George Wythe's maternal

- o - - -
&

1. Ibid. Cf. "Comaunication" signed YA.3.", Virgini
' Gazette, and General Advorilser, June 18, 1806; Wil-
1ianm and Mery Collene Quarteriy (lst series), VI, 77.

2. 0f. ante, 8-9, 11.

3¢ Williom Wirt, Sketches of the Life and Character of
Patrick Henry, 47. -

4. Call, "Judge Vythe", loc. cit., xi. Cf. Thomas Jef-~
ferson to L. . Girardin, January 15, lSlo, Jelfferson
Paperu. Library of Congress

5. Jeiferson, "Notes for the Biography of George Wythe®,
Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress.

6« Anderson, "Teacher", loc. cit., 329.
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heritage of intellectual activity may have partially
counteracted the material deficiency of his father's
intestate death.

Yet means were forthcoming from some source to
cover his tuition and other expenses for a brief stay in
William and Mary's halls of legrning. Loss 0f the
college records by fire forestalls any description of
his study there. Indeed, it is a matter of conjecture
when he enjoyed his only major‘formal schooling: the
years 1735,1 1740,2 and, more indefinitely, sometime
between 1780 and 1735° are recorded. If 1740 be the
correct date, he might have been enrolled in the upper
school of that historic insﬁitution, for college students
were often in those days less thau sik%een years of age.
But 1t seems more probable that in 1735 he supplemented
“his mother'é'teaching by attending for a short time the
grammay school in Williamsburg, then an integral unit in
William and Mary. Concerning this episode of Wythe's
youth perhaps only two facts can be stated without gquali=~

fication: the College claims him proudly as an alumnus;4

1. New England Historical and Genealogical Reglster XLLIQ
361,

2« V. &, R. Goodwin, Historical Sketch of Bruton Cnuroh,
Williamsburg, Virginia, 44. Fron this or another
source George lMorgan, The Life of James Monroe, 24,
;adopts this date. ) \

S5+ The HlSuory of the College of William and Mary from
its ounaaulon, 1660, to L874 84, ~

4, B.g., William and Mary Collegme Quarterly (1lst series),
vii, 3~6.
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upon her walls he inscribed, in typical schoolboy fashion, a

¢ ) 2 . . . - N ¥ l
pair of durable initialsg — “G.W.Y"

In His Uncle Stevhen's Law Office

From so meager an acquaintance with the foundations of
siassical learning George Wythe's attention was necessarily
diverted to the more practical problem of professional train-
ing. The system by which he was destined to seek his liveli-
hood in some professlon or business was later described well
by one of his contemporarieg:

The fashion or practice then was for men of landed
property here [Virginial, to dispose of their chil~
dren in the following manner: they entailed all their
lands on the eldest son, land] brought up the others,
acoordlng to their genius and disposition, [as] physi-
clans, or lawyers, or merchants, or ministers of the
church of England, which {vocations] commonly main-
tained such as were frugal and industrious.®
Through his father's death the career of Thomas Wythe the
Fourth lay in the exclusive superintendence of affairs at
"Chesterville. As the younger son, George Wythe's course in
life was not prearranged or mapped out ahead of time for hin.
Necessity demanded a choice of one of the customery alterna-
tives.

The decision =~ made by himself or his mother — wasg in
favor of the law. Possibly the precedent of her matermal
grandfather would hove dictated a calling to the ministry,

while that of her father leancd townrd business occupations.

1. Ibid, (2nd s nries), VIII, 288.

2. «utoblographical Sketch of John Page, Vlrblﬁ’& Higtorical
Reg* ster, III, 143.
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But George Wythe's lot was to be cast with the legal pro-
fession. This choice is certainly the most significant fact
in the earlier stages of his life, for avenues of preferment
and influence in public affairs were then 6pen to lawyers of
average &bility which were tacitly but effectively closed by
an unconscious tradition to representatives of other pursuits.
In fact, it has been a platitude in almost every age of Ameri-
can history that men with legal backgrounds predominate in
public offices of all kinds.

The road of preparation for the bar led in colonial days
through study atv England's Innsg of Court and Middle Temple or
through an apprenticeship in the office of an American lawyer,
for there was then not one law school in the New World -_—a
situation which Wythe himself altered by becoming in due time
America's first professor of law. Unable to afford the more
expensive advantages of British training, Wythe availed him-
c1f of & néarer opportunity. His mother's older sister,
Elizabeth Walker, had married Stephen Dewey, of Prince George
County, & wealthy gentlemsn who was prominent there as justice

of the peace and'burgess.l His abllity as a lawyer is attested

1. William and Mery College Cuarterly (lst series), IX, 128,
XVIII, 290. TFor somc information on his commission as
justice sce Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial
Virginia (Photostats), April 30, 1752, June 15, 1753,
Thiversity of Virginia Library. For his scrvices as a
representative of his county, with Richard Bland as his
colleague, sce H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Journals of the
House of Burgesses of Virminia, 1752-1758, viii and passinm.
His wealth is indicated by land patents in other countics:
McIlwaine, eod., fxecutive Journals of the Council of
Colonial Virpinia, IV, 410. He moved te North Carolina,
probably in the late fifties.
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by the fact that he was 'a fcw years later one of the éolohy's
three official examiners of candidates for the privilege of
seeking admission to the practise of the county oourts.l
George Wythe, when hi'c was perhaps about fifteen years of
age, went to live for a year or two in his Aunt Elizabeth's
home, roushly a hundred miles inland on the south side of the
James, approximately four miles below Petersburg. In his
uncle's office he doubtless had access to a library of standarc
legal voiumes; here lie bepan his first serious reading of the
law. ’Bu% this typical arrangement madc obligatory sone com=-
pensation for its privileges. Ordinarily, the studenﬁ spent
long hours copying legal docuuments and papers and “devilling"
(to use the language of a print-shop) for his patron in other
tedious“phases of practise. Dewey wa.s inclined to destroy the
inspiration of his library by expecting too many tasks in re-
turn for its advantages, by cansidering his young apprentice
more a sefv&nt to ease his labors than & scholar to sit at his
feet =~ such, at least, is the only available picture of their
relationship, vprinted by onc of Wythe's close frieﬁds in later
life, who mey have secured its tints from the lips of the
apprentice himselfs  Dewey, so the story goes, "ireated him
with neglect, and confined him %o the drudgery of his [Dewey's]

office, with little, or no, attention to his instruction in

RO — o~ - D e

1. Cf. eatries of January 13 and Februvary 10, 1748/9, Order
Book, 1746-1754, 127, 128, Caroline County Records; entry
of May 21, 1747, Qrder Book No,l, 198, Augusta County
Records. In 1740 Dewey had qualified as king's attorney of
Charleg City County: William and lary College Quarterly
(Lst series), IX, 128. )




the general science of law®. Thus George "made little prog-

Yet, as the distinguished editor of the Southern Literary

lessenger has aptly suggested, the value of this episode in
Wythe's educatlion could be easily underestimated. For the
study of law is ever an essentially exacting;occupation, re-
quiring "sacrifices of its votaries", and those who &apply
themselves to it with utmost devotiqn to irksome detalls ac=~
quire frequently invaluable habits of accuracy, industry, and
penétration.’ Though he may not have looked back appreciatively
upon them as a pleasant experience, perhaps in Stephen Dewey's
dull and routine assignments George Wythe inured himself 0
the ennul of thousands of legislative and legal papers which
were to confront him ceagelessly in later years. Though prob-
ably unexciting, his preceptor's fequiremen%s had a certain
solidity, and to this may be partially attributed his remark-
able capacity for assiduous attention to matters great and
swall, however boring they might be. It is reasonable to
infer, too, that Wythe learned by his own experieﬁée in
Dewey's office a préliminary lesson in the difference between
attractive and unalluring methods of teaching; he profited,

no doubt, from his uncle's example when, at a later date, he
was in Dewey's shoes or when, still la%er, he faced a formal

2
law class.

L. Call, "Judge Wythe", loc. cit., xi.

2. Benjamin B. Minor, "Memoir of the Authbr", George Wythe,
Izcisions of Cages in Virginia, by the High Court of ‘
hancery +.o (@ né eds), xii. ’
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Upon ﬁhe termination of his apprenticeship in Prince
George, Wythe returned to his native county for a few years
of independent study in the classgical languages and in law.t
Though he lacked the guidance of a tutor, at "Chesterville"
his time must have been largely and gloriously his own. A&l-
most complete freedom from vexing hindrances to absorption
in the printed page was his for 2 while. Within a few months
of his twentieth birthday'began the long succession of other
occupations which made inroads through three score ysars upon
his opportunities for self-insgtruction, but they could not
stamp out the inordinate joy which George Wythe found in eru-

dition nor curtail his insatiable hunger for the constant

acguisition of more knowledge.

His mother, from whom or through whom these ingrained
traits of character are supposed to have been derived, died a
*. ?
year or two before he attained his majority, perhaps in the

year 1746.20 Other changes were brought into his 1ife at that

1. Call, "Judge Wythe", loc. cit., xi.

2. The sketches of Wythe's life indicate, without exception,
that her death preceded his becoming of age. The exact
date is given in only one obscure source: Harry Clinton
Green and Mary Wolcobt Green, The Pioneer Vomen of Mmericg,
111, 23%4. (For their own frank estimate of the authentic-
ity of their work see ibid., I, ive-vi.) In 1734 she pre-
ferred charges of trespass against two meumbers of the Male-
lory family, but the proseccution was dropped because of the
failure of plaintiff and defendants, who may have seitled
their differences out of court, to appear for the trial of
the case: entry of Novewber 20, 1734, [Common Law Order
Book, 1731-1747,] 86, EBlizabeth City County Records. In
1742/3 she was named a godmother of Martha Tucker: Virginie
Historical Magazineg, IV, 362, She is known definitely to
heve surviood until George Wythe was eirhteen years old:
indenture of Margaret Wythe, August 15, 744, {[Common Law
Order Book, 1731-1747,] 396, Elizabeth C.-y Couaty Records.
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characteristic of his very nature. Indeed, the education of
George Wythe had barely begun.

Meantime, Ann Wythe, his sister, had married Charles
Sweeney,+ & mesber of a family long prominent in Elizabeth
City County, who moved later across the James into Norfolk
County.2 Quite aside from this linkage of the Wythe family
with more‘representativés'of colonial Virginia's blue blood,
this marriage is of a melancholy interest, for a grandson of
Ann‘Wythe Sweeney was to play a most sinister role in George

Wythe's death.,?

1« Indenture of Margaret Vythe, August 15, 1744, [Common Law

Order Book, 1731-1747,] 396, Elizabeth City County Records;
Willlam and Mary Colleme Quarterly (lst series), II, 69.

[\
*

William and Mary Colleze Guarterly (lst series), VI, 228,
VI, 45-46, XIII, 122, 277, XVI, 237-239, gives pilecemeal
much information on the Sweeney fanily and its relatives
in the Tabb, Sclater, Wilson, Curle,; Ricketts, Moss, and
Armistead families.

3. For the narriages of Charles Sweency's three daughters into
the Willoughby, Claiborne, and Boush families sece, in
addition to citations given above, ibid., VIII, 100; Vir-
idnia Historical Magszine, XXXV, 76-77. The grandson re-
ferred to was George Wythe Sweeney, who poisoned his great-
uncle; he is presumed to have been a son of their brother,
Daniel Sweenecy, of whom nothing is known except that he
attended William and Mary in the fifties: Willian and lary
College Quarterly (lst series), VI, 188; ibid. (2nd serics),
I, 39. For Sweeney marriages in the last quartoer of the
century see ibid. (lst series), I, 51; Virginia Historical

liegazing, XXVI, 30Ll; Lower Norfolk County Virginia Anti-

guary, IV, 17l. '




Chaptexr IIX

SPOTSYLVANTIA AND WILIIAIISBURG: LEGAL AND

LEGISLATIVE DEBUT

(o8]

Admission to the Dox

The responsibilitics involved in the legnl vocation
suzgest the advisability of & careful selection of candidates
for the bar, ﬁhtil George VUythe's generation the colonial
government of Virglnia evolved no lastingly satisfactory
method for weeding out incapable and unworthy applicants; a
number of lews were tried, only to be re‘pealed.1

Better fortune attended the enactment by the General
Assembly in 1745 of o new and final scheme to insure general
guality in the profession. hn officiel board or commaittee of
exnminers woas éreated for the licensing of embryonic laﬁyers,
its members to be appointed by the supreme General Court from
the judges on its bench and the lawyers at its bar. To gain
the requisite approval of this board cone had %o present to it
o certificate from some inferior court vouching for %his
prooity, honesty, and good demeonor', to pay it o fee of
twenty shillings, and to undergo os muéh of an examination as
it thought neoeésnry to determine his 2billty or ineligibilitys
If this question were decided‘aLfirmntively,>a commilssion to

practise in county courts wos issued, for inspection by the

1. Cf., €.g., Hening, Statutes, I, 275, 313, 419, II, 478,
498, IV, 360-361, V, 171,
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justices of the petce in each county before whose tribunal

the approved candidete desired to engase in suits. They alone

= )

nad power to admit bim to the bar of their court. If accept-

o

able to them, he had to take the usual oaths.of alleglance
and to "swear, that I will truly and honestly demean nyselfl,
in the practice of an atvorney, according to the hest of ny

knowledge and ability. So heln me God.nt

George Wythe probably journeyed to Williamsburg to take
the test of his Tegal knowledse at the time of the spring ternm

of the General Court in 1746. Iis license was signed by Pey~"

(0]

ton Randolph, 8t. Lawrence Burford, Stephen Dewey, and Williawm

Vim0, < Thereupon, within a few months of is twentieth

day, he sought permission to practise before the justices of
Elizabeth City's county court. The official minutes of their
proceedings on June 18, 1746, include this entry:
Georze Wythe and John Vright CGent. produced Commissions
to praciice as Attornies whereupon they took the Oath
gppointed by Lew and also took the Usual Oaths to his

Ilzjesty's Person and Govermaent and Subscribed the Test
& are Lidnitted to Plead in this Court.e

"~ - . -

1. Ibid., V, 345~348. TFor ainor changes in this act during
the remalinder of the colonial period c¢f. ibid., VI, 140~
142, VII, 124, 397-398, VIILI, 1986, 385-386.

2« Bntry of llay 21, 1747, Order Book Iig.l, 196, hugusta County
Records. This county's record is the only one amonz those
of geveral county courts to which he was adnitted as &
practising attorney which names his exaniners. How he

3, [Order Book, 1731-1747], 489, Llizabeth City County Records
It is interesting to note that, among the seven justices
vihor Wythe faced that day, he was more or less distantly
win to four: llerrive Sweeney, James VWallace, Jr., John
Tabb, and Wilson Curle.
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Thus the fledgling barrister was equipped for flight.  Of his

tial effort - that dreaded, momentous experience which

$5
o]

facld
IS
[

every lawyer nmust undergo — unothing is known. But if neigh-
bors in Blizabeth City became his first clientele, they had
soon to seek another advocate, for Wythe moved away from his
native county a second time to live during the n xt two years

in another section of the state.

Success in the Up~Country

To the northwest of the familiar York-Janes peninsula
wa s Spotsylvania County, éxtending from Caroline County in
the east at the fall line westward into the Pledmont. In
this strange upland region George Wythe was to establish for
the first time his financial independence and legal fame.
Wny he left Elizabeth City County is a matter of guesswork
rather than of record; perhaps the likeliest conjecturc is
that his mother's death made a change advisable for George,
who could not expect to share his older brother's home forever
and should now become entirely self~supvorting. Granting this
necessity, vihy he went so far afiéld from “Chestervillg“ is
nore inexplicable, for he is not known to have had & single
acQuaint&nce.outside of the Tidewater.

But, if some unknown contacts did not exist preViously,
George Wythe ﬁade\friends goon in Spotsylyania. The c¢hief of

thes. seems to have been Zachary Lewis (1702-1765), by far



.

1

the ocuvstending lawyer of that section of the colony.— There

wr n

~im or under his son, Johu Lewis (1729~1780).2 This

o widely circulated report that Wythe studied law under

S

i

2.

-

ather, Zaohary Lewxu, had patented land in Klng and
1 County in 1694 and in King William County in 1703:
u;wllamAana Mary Collemre gggitcrlj {1st series), IX, 259~
260. He gualified as an attorney in Caroline County in
1734 and as King's attorney in 1739: Virginia Hisﬁorical
Mogazine, XX, 203 204; he took the oaths as an attorney
LHGTG again in 1746, apparently regualifying under the act
£ 1745 entry of August 8, 1746, Order Book, 1740-1746,
609 Caroline County Recordd, Cf° entry of June 14, 1746,
101&., 598, and entry of July 11, 1748, Order Book, 1746~
1754, 87, ibid. In 1742 he was swo”n ag an attorney in

Provelihn odtirn)

op@ouylvanxa: entry of December 7, 1742, Orders, 1738-1749,
190, Spotsylvania County Records. He was for a nwiber of
vears King's attorney in Orange County; in the official
records of 1ts court his name appears much more ffequent’y
then any other: g.g., Order Dook No.4, 1743-1746, passgim,
Order Book No.b, 1747-1754, vpassin, Or ange Lounty Records.
Cf+ also Green, Pioncer Nothor of America, III, 233; John
Teriwether McAllister and Lura Boulton Tandy, Genealogies
of the Lewlis and Kindred Families, 134.

Jefferson, "Notes for the Bilography of George Wythe", loc.
cit., was the first to mention this, rclefrln indefinitely
*o “a Mr° Lewiﬁ“ [William R Snith ] "Qeowﬂe Vquo“ Jo

pametntinat

tnon of Lndmoenuenoe, 174, ‘nanes Jonl Lew1s, andé from hi A
the majority of all later Wythe sketches have adopted the
legend that the son was Wythe's patron. How Smith 1it upon
the name John ig a pertinent curiosity. The authorship of
the sketch published by Sanderson was long and widely attyi-
tuted to Jefferson: g.p., Massachusetlts HlSuorlual Socliety
Proceedinzs (lst er*os}, XV, 390; William Brotherhead,
Book of the Bigners (1861 ed.), iv n. Denying this report,
Smith e explained that he wrote that sketch from two sources,
the "Notes" furnished by Jeflferson and %Ya biographical
notice of Wythe published (I think) in a Baltimore magazine
of that day®, which "afforded me very trifling aid": Wil-
1iam R. Smith to John W. Forney, November 20, 1860, JOﬂ A
McAllister Collection, Library Company of Phxlado]ql a; cf.
Wllllam R. Suith to John A. McAllister, November 20, 186
ibid. The magazine to which he ¢ cknorled gclo! indebtedﬁeﬁg
wag probably Hall's American Law Journal, III, published
in Philadelphia, which mentions nothing oF Wythe's connec-
tion with Sncuuvlkuia, Thus neither of Smith's sources
named John Lewi.. That Smith's assumption was 1lnaccurate
ir Gl icatern partlallj by the fact that John Lewis, who
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certainly erroneous, 1f anything other than study through
actual experience be meant by'it. Instead, Wythe probably
only boarded with Zachary Lewis and‘shéred in his extensive
practise.

guite naturally, Wythe qualified as an attorney first be~
fore the Spotsylvania county court in November, 1746,1 vbu%
during the following year he gained permission to plead also
before the benches of nearby counties. Just how many of these
zdmitted him as an advocate cannot be known, because the earl

records of some are not extanﬁ.z In the Fcbruary, 1747, term

was three years Wythe's junior, did not qwlify as an attor-
ney in Orange County untll 1761¢ entry of lay 28, 1761, Orm
der Book No.6, 1754-1763, 558, Orange County Records. For
other information about him sce Crozier, ed., Virginia
County Records, I, 34, 284; lchllister and Tandy, op. cit.,
60, 137. ©¥o explanation vhatever can be given for the
grossly inaccurate statoment of two rchashes that Wythe
studied under one John Joncst N. Dwight, "George Wythe", in
his The Lives of the Signers of the Declaration of Indepen=-
ggggg, 267, B. 7. LOSblag, WGeorge Wythne", in his Blograpni-
cal VObChC of the Signers of thc UCClmr°+lOﬂ of fmerican
Indepcndence, 163. Tyler, "George Wytne", loc. cit., 55, isa
the first authority to gucss that Wythe was “associated with
a Lowls in practise réather than a student under him, but he;
too, falls into the crror of naming John Lewis rather than
Zachary Lewis. The prescent investigation is thus the first
to corrcet the mistake into which Smith fell. For addition-
el Infommetion on Jeffcersonts relation to Sanderson's work
¢f. John Sanderson to Thomas Joffcrson, August 19, 1820,
Jeffcerson Papers, Library of Congress; Thomes Jefferson to
John Banderson, August 31, 1820, gplqa, Thomas Jefferson to
Pceter S. Duponceou, Dcccmbcr 28, 1820, and Pcter 8. Dupon-
ceau to Thomes Jefferson, January 3, 182L, ibid.

1. IZntry of November 4, 1746, QOrders, 1738-1749, 395, Spotsyl-
onila County Recordg. With Moscley Battalcey he scrved as
guardion of an orphon boy there: Crozicr, ed., VlrgmpW'
County Records, I, 71« Two decds rccordcd thoerc carricd
his signnturce a8 & witnesst ibid., 174

&+ The writer thumbed through the poges of an Albomarle County
ordcr book for 1744~1748 from Scpitcmber, 1746, to 1ts closc
viout spotting Wythe's nome; & similar result was ob-

aed from on ingpection of Louisa County's rccords.



of Caroline's county court he became e¢ligible to practisc
ﬂheresl and in May tiac Justices of Augusta County, then a
vash territory extending to the Mississippi {and including
most of the land in preseni-day West Virginia, Kentucky, Ohio,
Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, and Wisoohsin), admitted hinm to
the bar at Staunton.2

The carly court records of thesec counties, so far as
they are prcserfed, adhere uniformly to a formm of entry which
hides the identity of the ;awyerg who argued the two sides of
cach suitv; the report of each case ocpens with an anonyinous
statement, such as "This day Came the P17V [plaintiff] by his
Attorney ...%, orV"This dey Came the Parties by their Attor—u
nies,.eo” ”hus‘nothing is disclosed concerning the business
done by the separate memberé of the bar in these courts.

More enlightening for those vho would know gomething of
George Wythe's early success in the inferior courts are the
records of Orange County, par%ially preserved. When Wythe

was admitted to practise in Orange cannolt be ascertained, for

& gap occurg in the records, covering the period between June,

T Bntry of Februvary 13, 1746/7, Order Book, 1746-1754, 15,
Caroline Count.y ReCords. ‘ :

2. Entry of lay 21, 1747, Order Book No.l, 196, hAugusta County
Records. His application there was sponsored by Gabriel
Jones, the first and for some time the only lawyer living
in the county: ibid.; Virminia Historical Register, III,
16«17, The writer failed to learn whether or not Zachary
Lewis practised in Augusta, as he did at the other courts
which Wythe cntered; it 1s possible that Wythe acted inde-
pendently in crossing the Bluc Ridge.




1746, and July, 1747.1 Lt one of the courts during this
interval, however, he did undoubtedly enter the bar there.

(AN

His noame occurs freqﬁently on the records thereafter in
antries readiﬁg, "ihis d&y caine the ?l?‘by Georpe Vythe his
Lttorney ..."% and the like. A& sonewhalt cursory examination
reveals that, in the official chronicles of eight out of the
eleven courts held during the fifteen months beginning July;
1747, Vythe's name appears in this menner under fifty-four
cases,2 Nor does this mean that “Jythe appeared in the trials
of 6nly fifty-four suits. Anonyuous reports of lawyers!
presence and pleas were often maede; and when & case was con-

tinued from one terix to the sesgsion of the next month — &

1. Order Book Wo.4, 1l745-1746, Orange County Records, ends at
June 28, 1746; Oxder Dook No.5, 1747~1754, ibid., begins
with July 23, 17Y47. The writer searched cursorily and
vainly throuch the last hundred pares of the former volume,
covering September, 1745, through June, 1746, for any
mention of CGeorge Vythe, .

2. Order Book No.B, 1747-1754, 1-155, Orange County Records.

A tebulation of this observation may be worthwhile.

Ifonth Wyihe Hecorded as Attorney
July, 1747 9 ceses
august, 1747 ] 24 cases

September, 1747 - no court session recorded

October, 1747 5 casges
November, 1747 1 case
December, 1747 -~ no court session recorded

January, 1747/8 - no court session recorded

February, '1747/8 , : 0 cases

Yarch, 1747/8 9 cases

April, 1748 == no court session recorded

liay, 1748 ' 3 cases
une, 1748 2 cases
July, 1748 0 cases

August, 1748 0 cases
Septerdber, 1748 1 case



gituation of cormion occurrence, throush technicalities of the

taw or insufficient evidence - the nawmes of attorneys for

-~
|
e

gach party were frequently not repeated in later entries.

17 %his stetistical sumary alone is not sufficient atitesta-

+£

tion of the place which Vythe held anong his rivals at the
Orance bar, cowparison of it with that of others indicaves

4

that he plead meny nore cases than any other advocate there

ecept Zachary Lewls, who, as King's attorney, was naturally

I) .
the preeminent firmure.” And, lest any doubt be entertained
concerning the breadth of the knowledge which these cases

required of the twenty-two year old lawyer, it may be ob-

served that he was enganed in diversified phases of actions

~in criminal, clvil, and chancery jurisdiction.

They involved

guch matters as allesed debls, itrespass, assault and battery,
retailing of liguors without license, and grand jury present-

ments against persons who obstructed with dams the naevigation

of the Rappahannock River.

S That he was retained as counsel

for the substantlial element in Orange citizenry ls sugzested

by the fact that William Russell, one of the court's justices,

le Cf. ipid., 19 with 40, 19 with 41, 18 with 41, etc., Dbub
contrast to this practise the occasional repetition, as
in ibid., 15 and 35.

2. He had held the outsitanding position for at least several
years, with his brother~in-law, Willigmm Valler, in the
secondary nlace: Qrder Book No.4, 1743-1746, wnassin,
Orange County Records. Wythe seems definitely to have
displaced Waller: Order Book No.B5, 1747-1754, 1-155, ibid.

S. Order S¢:  Ho.5, 1747-1754, 1-1565, Orange County Records.

v



was his elient in more than one suit.

On the basis of these incéuplete records 1t is safe 10
picture Wythe as a very successful attorney at law during
1747 and 1748, riding the circuit of the monthly courts from
Caroline County, in the western Tidewater, on the east,
thwough Spotsylvania and Orange to Auausté, in the Shenandoal
Valley, on the west. Ie managed to rmake at least one visit
to Elizabeth CGity, however, for in IRy, 1748, he sold‘to
Georre Wray a slave girl naned Lucy for %23 5s, the court
record of the transaction identifying hin as Yof the county

'3

of Spotsylvania, atvorney at 1aw”.a Presunably, he was aided
in getting his start as & practitioner by Zachary Lewls, per-
haps living in Lewls' homes They nust have often travelled
together in the best of fellowship from courthouse to court-
house; locked horns, matched eloquence; and pifﬁed wits
anainst wits and argument azainst argument in dead earnest,

upon arrival at a county seat, while upholding opposite sides

. . . % > -~ -
o the same suit;Y and ridden off ltogether, unon adjournient,

.~ ——— - o e e . s A A s A = J——, - —

1. Ibid., 15, 18, and nassim. For references to Vythe in
capacities other thon that of attorney see 1ibid., 4¢, 140.
e witnessed three deeds in Orange, the first two with ‘
John Lewis, the last with John Lewls and Villian Russell:
indentures of October 22, 1747, Dec. Book ilo.10, 532, 533,
and indenture of IToverber 27, 1747, Deed Book Ho.ll, 25,
Orange County Records.

2. Indenture of George Vythe, iy 3, 1748, Deeds, */ills, Itc.,
1736-1753, 282, Elizabeth City County Records. Cf. entry
of that date, Oxder ook, 1747-1755, 33. Jones, loc. cit.,
3286, errs in revorti.; the year of this sale To be 1746.

oy

George Wray was a brother-in-law of. Vythe's nother.

5. In Orange they were called upon Lo ovpose each other in
more than half of VWythe's cases: QOrder Dook 1lo.5, 1747~

1754, 1~155, Oranre County Records.
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“oward the next court to convene, fegaling one another with
mutually amusing observations, picking flews in each other's
1eas before the last bench, or plottinzg in silence a »lan
of campaisn to best eachh other in fortheoning legal combats.
guch, at leamgt, was the relationship of sowme of their con-
temporaries in those days when law was in many respects
America's most picturescue profession.

There wa more, however, than the cemaraderie of asso-

ciation at the bar to link torether the lives of George Wythe-
and Zachary Tewis. Profe;sxonol relationghing were supple-
mented and made more personal by the marriage of the twenty-
one vear old attorney to & daughter of his forty~five year
old patron.

Zechary Lewis had married lary Valler {(1699-1781) in the
yvear of Meorg Yythe's birth, under authority of a license
dated January 3, 1725/6.1 By their wedding S»otsylvania's
two outstanding fawilies were united, for the Ualleﬂs were as
definitely stamped with the lineage and wealth of Pledmont
aristocracy asg the Lewlses. Ikry was the oldest Child‘of
Col. John Waller (d. 1783) of “"Wewpori" and of his wife,
Dorothy Xinz. Her fathér had served in the first guarter of
the century as sheriff, Jjustice, and burgess of King Villiam

“Jounty before 1ts western area had been given separate

— - - .- PRV U

1. Crozier, ed., Virginie County Reooxdv I, 84. Tor an ab-
wiact of Zachary Lewis? will 22; for an ab-
strect of a deed of his wife, giving N“ggoes to two of
her sons after his death see lOld-, 28ﬁ




identity as Spotsylvania. Her five younger brothers all
necane prominent.

The oldest among ten children of Z&ohary and ikry Veller
Tewis was a daughter, born Ausust 3¢, 1726, and christened
Ann.g To this scion of two very respecitable femilies George
Wythe became & courtier, and on the dey after Christma
174%, they were lic sensed to wed £ considerable romantic
interest would be any information whatever about their hanpi-
ness. Unluckily, nothing is known but the fact of its pre-

meture terwmination, after aboul eighlt months, by Ann Lewis

e oy o o iy o 1. S i o R AP

1. IfeX lw“ine, ed., Jouxrnals of the House of Burnesses, 1702~

Prups ) .3_......

1712, ix; HcIlmwlue, ed., Journals of the Iouse of Bur-
pe%es3 1712-~1726, vii, x; William and Lary Collerie _uar~
teriy (lst series), VIII, 7/, T.{, 63: Horace Bdwin Hayden,
Virminia Cenealogies, 38l. TFor an abstract of John
Waller's will see Crozier, ed., Virginia County Recor

L, 13-14; for abstracts relating to his sons see‘iglo.,
passim. OFf them Lduund and Jonn became clerks of Swot-
sylvanla County, William was a colleague of Vythe and
Zachary Lewlis at the bar, and Benjamin moved to WVillians-
burg and became & judzge of the admirally court and a
burgess for a nwaber of years.

2. Hayden, op. cit., 38l; lichllister and Tandy, on. cit.,
134-135. She recelved a legacy in 178%: Crozier, ed.,
Vireginia County Records, I, 5; with her father, her
brOu;er Jolin, or her sister Jary she witnessed deeds of
her uncles, Ldiund and John U ller: ibid., 154, 158.
For some inforiwtion on her brothers and sisters sece
ivid., 30, 38, 41; Tylexr's Tuarter ly lepazine, IV, 439;

P

Executive Journa ls of the Council of Colonial Virrinia
(Phnotostats), xay 7, 177%, University of Virginia Library.

3. V‘”fl%tw Historical llagazine, IV, 199. Crozier, ed.,
irginia County Records, I, 5, 85, errs in prefixing her
neme with a "Iru." The date is erroneously reported as
1756: Green, L[ioneer llothers of fumerica, III, 233-235.

and MY
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Yythets deatl., hugust 8, 1748.1

Legel and Lepislative Affairs, 1748-1754

. i —— oo - ————

So eariy a persondl remninder that Death has no season

Fad

would be e violent blow to the youns husband of almost any
recent bride. DPerhaps George VWythe was stangered for a tine
efter its sudden impact, weighed down with heavy, disconsolate
bereavement; or merhaps e congoled himself s best he could
with some reaésuring philosophy from his beloved classics.

A principal tie which bound him to friends in upland

Spotsylvania had been severed, but it has not been previously

realized that Wythe himself recognized this fact. It has

4

veen stated without denial that he continued to reside
LW

<, : !

vilere

“some eight years after his wife's death .. — an &sSsunp-

o’

tion which every vage in the remeinder of this chapter will
help te disprove utterly. Almost immediately after this
rudest of all possible tragedies in lils donestic life he

returned to the Tidewater.? DTossibly he moved in full

ProvwE . — o~ e -

L. Hayden, op. cit., 381. IllcAllister and Tendy, op. cit.,
1585, revport her death as of the same dey in 1784 — evi-
dently & typographical errcr. An unfounded statement
places it "some time in the later sixties": Green, Pioneer

Tothers of America, III, 235.

gs.zetches, both earlier and later,
inference; tne others &ll ignore it for one reason or
another.

2. Tyler, "Georse Wythe", loc. cit., 55. 8Several other
agree tacitly in this
e Kal

3. The disap—-carance of his nane, after the Septerber, 1748,
court, from the Orange records 1s highly indicative in
itself and proof positive when considered in conjunction
with late. citations. From thet date to July, 1750, no
mention of his nane could be found: Crder Book No.bH, 1747~
L7854, 4i.:~269, Orange County Records. But some of the

CrseSie i 3
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retroat from scenes and faces vhich would renind hin inevi-

toly and unrelentingly of his misfortune. Or perhaps the

desire of one whode career is launched successfully

patural
to be in the theater which affords wmost.opportunity for ad-

vancement motivated the change.

Williamsburg, which had supplanted Jamestown as the

4,

colonial capital aboutl the opening of the eipghteenth century,

) a

was the locaiion in Virginia which fitted this description.

By no means an inposing town most of the year, it bustled
during the semi~-annual terms of the General Court and during
the House of Burgesses'! more irregular sessions with all the
activities and flne¢1es of a provincial government proudly
imitating Britain's royal hzérarchy. For those to whom the
gates of its somewhat exclusive officialdonm were not barred
tarough want of family position, acceptable social graces,
)

or gbility, it was ambition'ts chiefl point of vantage. The

Es 4

gasier path toward 1ts inner circle, via the attainment of
sufficient local prominence and wealth to become the repre-

T

sentative of one's county in the House of Burgesses, George

Wythe found barricaded to all intents and purposes by the

——— - - -

2

cases in which he was an original attorney were decided
in that period; one of these, for exanmple, bejgun in July,
1747, or earlier, ended in Novewber, 1748, in favor of
Wythets former client, William Russell: ibid., 158.

Roger Dixon and 'oseley Batteley oualliled as autornbys
on February 23, 1748/9 (ibid., 160), and seem to have
taken Uythe's place at tlie Orange ba,, The exact date of
his vemoval cannct be learned; that it came before the
close of the year will be demOMSov”ued in later pazes.
The writer feels confident that it preceded the uloale
of Octobe¢, 1748.
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a2 Ny da e v g Y s ney e r‘c
soiny viaich had, transferred "

to G.00m88 Uyihe the Fourth and had made of hin a successiul

put tandless lavyer. The other road was bullt upon the »rin-
cinle of vearding the lion in its den cor of camping just out-

ide The gates until one's knucks were answered by adwission.
The latter, thourh more difficult under ordinary circum-
£

ghances, was the nore direct and surer route to selfl-

improvement for the able:

-

hesterville®t's tobacco fields

Wythe had not lons to wait before a stepping-stone to »7

feet. The House of Dur-~

[e]

official position was placed at hi

csses convened in the second month after his wife's death,

[0

and in ites organization he was appointed on October 28, 1748,
clerk to its largest and wost Ilmportant standing committees,
that of Privileges and Elections and that of Propositions and
Plan ot . ~ 1. Tra e T werey e 1, v, T T [ 1L o
Grievances. His task wags {to kee) minutes of the proceedings

o

of these commiittees. The former made decisloris on disputed
elections; the latter considered all major petitions. It was
'an huble but honorable position. To an attorney of twenty-
two it produced enviable facilities for a liberal education
in colonial 1egislation.and for association in their recur-
rent meéﬁingS'with the nost influen%ial:members of the iiouse.
Prom so small an acorn as this grew the great oak of Vythe's
coﬂnecﬁion with the House in one canacity or another {through

21l but two of the Leﬂ“"nLno years before its unlamented

denise at the opening of the Revolution.

- [, PEe— i o

1. 5. R. licliwaine, ed., uou¢n(ls of u,g tlouse of Burgesses

. . .—....’
1743"1,4 259. DIach of the other three standing corulitiecs

had a geguraze clerk.
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villiamsburg became the center fron vwhich Vythe
Cpode %the cirvcult of the county courts in pursullt of his deily

~

vread. In one of these, Elizabeth City, he had already been

~3

s
o]
B

eémittzd to mractise. Darly in 1 ' he gualified and too

the oaths before the Jjustices of York and Varwick counties;l
probably the same prelimineries were performed in James City,
poss'm¢y also in other county courts. Surviving records,
which usually bury the identity of the advocates in each suit
in the noncommittal "dy his Lttorney" parase already noted,
disclose just enough data to hint that he huilt up readlly a
new clientele to replace that vhich he had abhandoned. e
argued three cases in the first term of the Warwick court
following that in which he was admitted to its bar.s‘ One of
these 1s extrenely typical of colonial litigation. Wythe
defended one Andrew Giles in his prosecution “on a present-
ment by the grand jury for not frequenting his Parish Church'.

In his behalf Wythe secured two postponements of the trxal

h
®

but his plea for a dismissael of the case brought adve:

1o
<3

- e

judgment from the bench, which deemed the demurrer invalid

-+ A P

1. Intry of January 10, 1748/9, dudmaents and Orders No.l,
1746-1752, 158, York Counuf Records; entry of larch 2,
1748/9, hlpatcs, 1748-1762, 7-8, Uar*ick County Records.

oo

James City's eighteenth~ oentury records are not extant;
geographically, his entrance into its bar is highly prob-
able. TLess likely, though quite p0551ole, is it that he
gualified too in the western courts of the York-Jaies pen-
insula, New Kent and Charles City, whose records are also
lost.

S. Bniries of April 6, 1749, llinutes, 1748~1762, 29-31,
Varwick County Records.
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ané fined Giles Wfive Bhillings or £ifty Pounds of Tobaccol.

L openerous portion of later suits of a1l kinds fell 1o “iythe's

Yoo

share. Ilis rivels iu the Varwick courthouse were ililes Cary,
Peter Lyous, and Rohert Carter Vicholas, each of Whoir made in

subsequent activities honored names for ﬁhemselves.z

J

Other sources mive éisconnected glinpses of Wythe
business in the county courts during these years. One of his
eclients wag John Blain (1085-1771), a YVilliamsburg gentle-
man of outstanding eitinence in the colony, who kept diaries
which record very briefly the fact that he saw Wythe on busi-
ness four separate times in 1751.% 4 letter on legal matters
written by Vythe in 1754 and preserved until recent years

shows that he was an advocate for the Custis family of ad-

foining New Kent County, into which George ‘ashington married.

1. Ibid., 31, 38, 47, 52-53.

2. 1bid.; pasoLm' cf. Jones, "Characler and Service OL George
Wythe', loc. c¢it., 327. The writer was unable to seurch
quite as thoroughly as he desired the one extant volune of
Werwick's early records. 1iicholas gua llLl d on June 7,
L7850y Minutes, 1748-1762, 88, Werwick Coun vy necords.

3. Intries of Ilarch 20, 22, October 2, Wovember 17, 1751,
Villiam and llary Collere ‘uarterly (lst series), VII, 137,
VIIT, 5, VII, 146, 148, reogccflvely; for an explanation
of the apparent disregard of chronological order see ibid.,
VII, 153 n.

4. This letter, dated Willlemsburs, Lnril 10, 1754, to Deniel
Perks Custis was advertised for sale about ten years aso
by The Rosenbach Company in its 1776 Anericana: a Cata-
lozue of Autograph Lebb@“c and ToCuwients Relatin~g to the
DOCLSTut on cf Indeoendcnce and the ?ovoluolonwrj Jar, 95.

To whorl 1t was sold cannot be Learned. i1t was tae carliest
proauoolon of George Wythe's pen known to the writer.
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Vnen & new House of Burjesses conve ned in 1752 Vythe wes
reannointed clerk to the committees of Privileges and ILlec~
tions and of Propositions end Grievences. A defeated coandi-~
date in e preceding election contested, as would-be bu*-v
cesses were wont to do in those days, the seat whi.a h@d'been
given to one of his recent opponentvs and wanted VWythe to pre-~
sent his side of the controversy. An apperently anrecedented
queétion of procedure wag thereby raised — could the douse
rightfully permit the clerk of one of its cormittees to serve
as counsel for either qa"ty in a controversy before that com-
mittee? It vwas moved from the floor and ordered specifically
that YVythe might defend in commiittee the claims of the

s o

petitioning candid&te.z But this disposition of the guestion

as it applied to one case did not wnrevent its recurrence in
similar cases; & few days later the llouse found 1t advisable
to grant to Vythe "Libertly to appear as Counsel, in any iltter
of controverted Elections, thalt shall hapoen beforc the said
Cormitiee WS | .

Where Vythe 1@ade hig home during these early years of his
long residence in Williemsburg is not revealed. DPresumebly,
at about twenty-five years of age, the young widower was still

J-

boarding in <the homes of friends. It is true that he bought

s - e g S i . A g} s S o o I QS gy o e g e g 4 A . S o e e . et g R

}.4!

Hcllwaine, ed., Journals of the House of 3u rxesses, 1752~
1758, 7. Uyihe Was again the onLy pclson to be clerk %o
more than cne ef the five standing cowmittees. -

2. Ibid., 13.

3. Ibidl., 29

et
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nd-lot there, but he regold 1t so soon to the former

& nouse

cvner thoet the purnose of his purchase waust be considered

- e R LN i 0 o] [P’ JUR N PR T " 2o,
oheecuie, at leasgt, 1if not indeed unfathomeble. On the
fifteenth of Decervoer, 1752, John Palmer, a Willig ‘.burh

lawyer, recelved fron George Vythe "of the asane place Attor-

¥ B

thhe ridiculously smell swi of &5 as peyment in

ney at Lav!
fvll for his properity Tl”hb to the lot and horne on the south
side of Duke of Gloucester Street at its ezstern end, opposite
Capitol Squ&ge; which hod been his residence.t Lees thon
three weeks later Wythe's &5 wes returned to al&, and he

5

transferred

[5) .

property.” The financial consideration - minute enoush to

<t

o Palmer the ownership of that well-situated

n thi

[=n
b

6]

be en@irely incommensurate to the values involved
exchange by Vythe of cash for house and hiouse for cagh =
o

;rests as one explanation of this equivocal transaction &

desire on his part to tide Paliler over sone temvorary ecor~

<

omic crigis with & loan protected by more than ample collat-~
eral. /
Though he was to be for two or three mecre years just &
landless lawyer, life in Williamsburp's pleds&nt legal and
political circles must have proved Interesting to their young

newcomer. And social diversions were doubtless as plentiful

A - o - 1y

=0

1. Indenture of December 15, 1752, recorded Deceulber 16, 1752,
Deeds Vol.V, 1741-1754, 510-512, York County Records

2. Indenture of January 3, 1753, recorded Januvary 15, 1753,
ibid., 522-523. At thet time & large cortion of Williamse
burg lay within the boundaries of York instead of James
City County. :
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zs official activities, desnite the solemn decision of the
Council that some comedians who had arrived recently should
rat he grented pemaission to "act or exhibit any Plays or
thooerical Intertainment in this Government.“a Probably
after an agreeable dinner and several hours of delighitful

a Foo pdam

conversation a CGlarist recorded tersely: Yiir. Uyth [sic]

. &, )
gpent the even® here.V®
Durress fox Villiansburs, 17564-1755

Ldvancement in the House of Burgesses came much sooner

than might have been reasonably expected by the lowly bub

fevored cierk whose duties required hiim tTo rub elbows in a
subordinate capacity with its leaders. At the age of twenty-

4

e was elevated to & position of technical equality

-t

glight
with then.

The Burgesses who were elected in 1752 had et for three

.

before the capitulation of Col. Georze Viashington's

e

forces at Fort llecessity, in one of the earlier nilitary

episodes of the TFrench and Indian War, occasioned a fourth

-

neeting. Vhen the people's representatives coavened in 1754

i
kS

to cope with this emergency, the seat of the member from the
incorporated town of Williamsburg wes vacant; Arnistead Dur-

Lo

well, i1ts occupant during the earlier sessions, had died in

. — A" A - ——— ——

)

.« Executive Journals of the Council of Celonial Virginia
(Photostats), June 13, 1752, University of Virminia
Library.

2.




s interim. In accordance with the formalities usual in

guch cases the House took steps inmedi ately to secure the

~ronpt election of & new representative by the gualified
vobters of the cenitol oity.:l Theilr duty of selection was
pydbably‘an ec sy one - nearly all the men ol proninence
among thew were ineligible by reason of vnlaces which they
held already in sone branch of the government. Of evailable
citizens George Wythe was chosen, and in the same year he
took his seat as & fullwfledged,burgess.g llenceforth the
wouse must look elsewhere to supply scribes for its standing
commitltees,

This nartially fortuitous promotion in the fourth session
cf the Asserbly of 1752~l755 was followed in its four rem@in-
ing terms by recognitions given within the House itself which
prove that it shared Williansburg's esteem for Wythe. His

apility was apparently adequate to counteract any jealous

1. licIiwaine, Journel of tne House of Bursesses, 1752~1758,
190. This aColon e uaken cn the day of conveniag,
August 22,

2. Ipid., viii. The exect date 1s unknowvn. If the election
Wa s held without delay, he could have been one of the
anonyuious new burgesses who were adunitted Saturdey, August
24, and licn duy, Ly st 26 ihid., 193, 194. 3But it is

possible that 71111wn shury was unrepresented in the fourth
session and that Vyohe qualified during the later session

of that year, mhen more unna 1ed members entered the House:
ibid., 211, 213, 217, 219. A Virginia Almanac for the

year 1755 listed hinm as the reﬁresenu@txve for Villilamsburg
in 17%4: Virginis Hx)torlcal llamazine, VIII, 256. Anong
fythe s associates were Peyton Randolph, Landon Carter,
Charles Carter, John Robinson, Richard Bland, John ?“’e,
Benjamin Harrison, Idmund Pendleton, each of whom attained
great renown in the House, and his less preemninent kinsmen,
uiicle Stephen Dewey an% uncle~in-law .3@n3aa1n ”0419
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teoutation thet he deserved at his comparatively imaature age

a smailer measure oi cood fortune. In 1754 an appropriation
of %20,000 was passed to help Tinance the current wor against

the French ia the Vest. DBut such zenerous cooperation was:

Vad e .

1Y

O)

circumscribed by an almost unprecedented condition: in the

©
T

igbursement of these funds His llajesty's lieutenant-governor,
wnao alone had previoﬁély superintended colonial expenditures,
should act in conjunciion with a swnecial committee of direc~
tors, on vhich Wythe was the junior ﬁeﬂber nawped by the
General Assembly.l When a sum twice as lar@e was wmaede avell-
able in the following year on the sawme terns, Wythe was again

among those to whoir the House delesated the assignument of

guarding against the possibllity that It nisght not e so
expended as To render greatest aid to Ingland's cause.”™
Upon a reorganizatioa of four standing commaittees in 1753, to

consider an accunulation of provincial business which had

!

iled up under the exigencies of international conflict, he
wes given a wlace as the newest member of the three major

subdivisions ~ the commiittees on Privileges and ILlections

PEpag—" PR RO

1. fening, Statutes, VI, 435-4358. The upper house of the CGen-
eral Assebly had uneanimously branded as uncoanstitutional
¢ similar previous limitation upon the governor'ts wmreroga-
tive but had deemed the exigencies of the war so urgent as
to make impossible a refusal of its assent to the biil,
for if its concurrence were withheld, no funds for military
necessitiss would be availabl e: Ixzecutive Journals of the
Council of Colonial Virsinia {Photostats), Pebruary 22,
1724, University of Virginia Library.

2. henin~, Statutes, VI, 521-530.



and on Propositions and Grievances,

cuite familiar, and that on Courts

to become bet

W g

ter acguainted in

Lttorney Gen

eral Wythe,

62

with whiich he was already

Before he had reached the age

R

tely cnuangLeu in the

A.ﬁu L.ma:

A

tional conflicts between the House

rovernnent vhich recurred ,e;

-

“royal

of Virginia becane an independent connonweal

these was L“' pistole fee crisis.
higher and more honorable than that
we.s & position gained under

o with

tion and j oUBY .
His Manjesty had delegate 1€

o

continental plums of colonial patronage to

marie, who.held
continued hisg residence in Eangland.

among such appointees to sublet

A

colony'is affairs to one of th

circumnstances peculfiar

nossibilities

the title of Governor General of Virginia

the &

eir own fa

of Justice, with which he
t;me.l

1734 )
of thirty George VWythe
long series of constitu-~
of Bursesses and Lngland's
iodically until the colony

Ear

“ A SN2 oL B
tiie The first of

In it he attained & rank
of a bhurgess -~ but it

and tick-

for miginterpreta=

the thirteen
Barl of Albe-

but
It was then customary
tual supervision of a

o held the

—— R T P PR

L. JicIlweine, ed., Journals of ‘Qp House of Bursesses, 1752-
1750, 234-235. The membership of these groups totalled 12,
31, and 14, respectively. The fourth committee then ap-

pozﬂted was that of Public Clei

1ig ¢

In later terns he was

one of the exaniners of the engrossed bills and carried
two of the House's bills to the Council for its concurrence
xe] & L, R99, 327+ One of thesgse bills provided for the
xry of the public prianter, Villian Hunter: ibid., 327;
A. licIlwaine, ¢ds, Logls}wuhve Journsls of the Council
of Colonial Virginia, I1I, 11505.

-
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itie of Licutenant-Gevernor and presided personslly over the

covernment of his province in the nane of the Xing. In this
comaecity There arrived in Virginia during the euflj ifties

~ . .

e NS et A A i ey IS . Tarn o gm i werde mm e Ay 2 s 2
tohert Dinviddie {1693-1770), an adninistirator destined to

w

unpopularity. Tidewater Cavaliers could find precious little

in hiis personality and policies to attract them to his support.

A -

It is true that the French and Indlan War was an iuportant

e,

contrivbutory faqux in their inhormonious relations, for Vir-

L

ginia carried the major colonial burden in that conflict.
But ﬁinwiddie*s‘background and character were not assets in
his favor — Virginians were not flatviered at the elevetion
to thelr leadershiip of a nan who had Deen merely "ithe mester
of & little vessel trading in the [Tidewster] rivers ...%

. - . . b 1
and who possessed "neither science not just ambition....H

His predecessors had nermitted an evesion of roval tax
laws to grow to proportions which He deened serious. liore
2

)

vigilant or avaricious than they, he refused to place his
sicnature and seal upon the thousand-odd pateﬁts pending in
1782 until receipt of a pistole (a 8panish coin then in cur-
rent use, worth aboubt 53.50) as & fee for the service of
making legal the Titles to lands vhose surveys had been duly

Yol

registered in the office of the colony's secretary. Tor

P ——— .

Bendolph, lanuscrint History of Virzinia, 100, Vircinia
Historical Soclety Library.

2. In his vein of sophonoric patriotisn Agudo*;h probhably
exaggerates an allezed unworthy, wversonal motive behind
Dinwiddie's action: ibid. Zeal and sincerity in odninis-
traﬁ*ve efficiency must have uluyed a large part in

“

ng nio scheme.




years these surveys ne.d been recorded and actually posseosed
vithout heving been entered on the quitrent rolls, by vhich
the roval revenues were annually being defrauded of the taxes

hapn a miliion acress. To this deliberate scheme of

o
-

on more
tax~dodging Dinviddie proposed to put & stop; and, since un-
patented londs were the propérty oif the King by whose author-
‘iﬁy he claimed to act,’he’had the law on his gide in his de-
mand of & fee before thelir titles were confirned.l Just to
ve certain of steadfast support from across the Atlantic in
the reforim, he took the matter up with the British Lords of
Trade and received official apnroval ofbhis plan, in vaich
the nembers of Virginiatls Council had already ooncuc*eo.2

The lower house of the colonial leg’“lauu;e, on the other

L

wand, wary with fear that Dinwiddie's executive proclamation
misht become a precedent for rigid execution through all the

I

future of 2 law which had been urobserved for decades, availed
itself of ite earliest opportunity to register its emphatic
disapproval. ZLate in the fall of 17835 the Durgesses addressed
to the lieutenant-~governor & rousing indictient of the fee as
an infrinpgement of the constitutional rights and royal
declarations which prohibited the exaction of any'p~rﬁ of &

subjzct?s property under authority other than that of an

B T e iy —r—

1. MeIlwaine, ed., Journals of the ilouse of RurgeNQe 1752~
&zgg, xvi-xviii; R. A. Brock, ed., Tne Official Recoris of
o

Robert Dinwiddie ... (Virginia Historical oociety Goliec-
tions, new series, III-IV), I, x.

i ormaunicated the Board of Trade's consent to hils co-
onerative Counclil in tTuce spriang of 1753: T“ecuvae Journals

the Ccuncil of Col ouial Virginia (Photostats), Univer-
vy of Virginila Librowy.

— F
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estebhlished 1lav,. Irmoring the issue of valld law enforcenent

~ S

~aich wag at the bothom of the controversy, the Houge thus

glected wisely to fijht the whole batile on the wost vulner-

T
able flank of Dinwiddie's position — fhe guestion whether or
Ja

not he had a right to extort Hy proclamation & fee for the

3

use of The public seal. A few days later it resolved thot

o

any person paying & plstole for a land patent should be deened

a "Betrayer of the Rights and Privileges of the People! and

Jcbe rained to send an agent to the nglish court as a wmessen-
ger for its cleins.”
Vhen the adamant lieutenant-zovernor, surprised at these
? &

3

unexpectedly forceful attacks,” and his loyal Councll zave

not one inch of groﬁnd,4 the Burgesses proceeded to the se-

lection of “their agent. Peyton Randolph (1721-1773), repre-

sentative of corporate Willian and liary College, which‘had =
-

sort of “rotten borough® seat in the House, was chosen, and

it wag resolved that he should he maid L2500 from the public

o s | S - S o = A . 1 g A i AAF Sy e o B - e . W 3 A A 9 s

1. Brock, ed., Records of Dinwvicdie, I, 45-47. This document
COﬂuulnS one of L%o many I e~“cvolUu10nary wrecetents for
"no taxaetion without represenitation® in its claim that
tiaey could be legally deprived of thelr property only "by
thelr own voaJent." :

2.?3*Iluaine, ed., Journals of the iouse c¢f Durgesses, 1752~
\nEE. 15 QoML He 5 O LWl A1l LL
:_I__ k?__é).g 'lu\. .

3. Robert Dinwiddie to James A)e;c combie, FPeoruvary 24, 1755,
Brock, ed., Liecoras of Dinviddie, I, 511-512, glves a
bitter and disiilusioned statement of his later wish that

.he had never nbrecipitated the crigis,
4, urnals of the Council of Colonial Virginia

0
), December La, 17, 19, 1753, University of
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trouble. The fact that Rendolph had been

A

ajesty’s Atto*wey General ede hiix the nost

R}

>te o carry an appeal to the Crovin, dut his

ia. Accordingly, the Durgesses antici-

pated later objections with an address to the King explaining
their seledtion and urginz thet his mission should not briag
down royel disfavor upon his he@d.i

o~

The Council refused to concur in the resolution for

Do

salary and Dinwlddie took the avnpointuent of & disloyal
i wor? W

menber of the small official family vhe received their com-

missions from the King as an unrivaelled dersonal a:irorq°3

1§
L

)

Vnen Randolph approached hin Tor permission to leave the

e

4,

colony, Dinwiddie wmointed out the inconsistency betveen hiis

5

intended absence and the bterus of his cormlission and refused

e emy s
e

oF
¢
Q.
d
o0

flatly to grant his request. Dut, as e s

al L

dolph "aad then so far enszaged in the thing that he could

- o W - o 1 o A 01 s g B Wl e VR

1. McIlwaine, ed., Journals of the ITouse of 3Jurresses, 1752~

2. Robert Dinwiddie to James Lbher
Brock, ed., Records of Dinvide
guently, an ex .euely bitter sqaouolg broke out ou this
point when the Ilouse tried desperately but unsuccessiully
to force %ﬂnuolph*s salary throush the unwilling upper
house by"‘e expedient of embodying it as & la.st-mi
rider to an urgeat wilitary appropriation Hill: ¢

vo GoVernow Sharpe, Septevber 6, 176ﬂ ibid., 303
Governor Hamilton, Septemver 6, 1754, ibid., 306~a07'
to the Lords of Trade, Sepntember 23, 1754, ibid., 3:8;
licIlweine, ed., Journals of the House of Burgesses, 1752~
1758, zx~xxwii, 200-203.

e Roburt Dinwiddie to Janmes Abercromble, Tebruary 9, 1754,

Broug, ed. Recoxds of Dinwiddie, I,

e “ip e

-\'2
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rot reCelG... "™ Accordingly, he sailed for London despite
Dinwiddie's opposition.
Ls the House had foreseen, the lieutenant-sovernor,

v onded Yo the soul®, theveupon adopted “personal revenge®

as his Yweapon®' by oonLHg the opportunity of declaring that
Rendolnh's effice had been vacoeted by his departure.z in
January, 1754, he appointed Ceorge Wythe to it -— apparently

with no intention of creating nerely a pro temnors or Acting

Attorney General to serve until Rendolph's return. Adnitted

4

to a hearing before the Doard of

m
-

rade in April of that year,

Rendolph wes examined not upon the nurpose of his mission but

as to whether or not he had abandoned his royal office.
Torced thereby to fence with a disapproving Board for his own
rather than the Burgesses' interests, he ad&altted that he did

not consider himself Attorney General during his absence and

g i S i+ A e o oy g

1. Entry of Avril 3, 1754, Board of Trade Journals (Tran-
scri~ts), LAII, €0, Pennsylvenia Historical Society Libraxry

2. Randol®h, lenuscrint History of Virginite, 101, Virginie
Historical tociety Library.

3. The Board of Trade considered on Apnril 2, 1754, a letter
from Dinwiddie dated Januwary 29, 1754 (& copy of which
hes not been locwtod) arnnouncing this appointment: Board

of Trade Journals (Transcrints), XLIT, 81, Pennsylvenia
Historicel 3ociety Library. The York County Records state
undec date of January 21, 1754, that “veorhe ”ythe, Isa.,
hig Ilajesty's Atty. Gen'l. and Judge of the Court of Vige
CAdndiralty of Lhis Colony this day in court took the
oath....": qusted in Jones, "Character and Service of
CGO‘”G Wythe', loc, cit., 327. Vhen the wrilter visited

the ClCLLYQ office at Vorkiown in Ioveﬂber 1936, the

volume conuulning his record was aj %renulj in a lew
England bindery for repairs.




hat he expected reinstetement uvon hils return.
™is hone recelved a severe setback in June vith His Ikjesty's

official pronouncenent that his mission ceonstituted & danger-

ous preoedoav for royel eppointees in the colouies and that
2

.

he had vocated his mosition irretrievably.
The business which had brought Rendelzh to London wes

ill-fated. On 1t he‘was grenived no heaiiug by the Joard of
Trade,3 desplte a campaign of »ropaganda in the nevspapers
wnich made his object the current vogue in coffee house dis-
puﬁatiéns and which angered Dinviiddie ex trcneLy.4 An Order
in Council, dated June 21, 1754, directed & flal rejection

of the Burgesses'! address egeinet the pistole fee;S"but sorie

[

concessions were wmade to the coleonigus by the Doard of Trade's

. - - o s — -

-

1. Intry of Lpril 3, 1754, Board of Trade Journals (Tran-

scripts), XLII, 85-86, Pennsylvania Historical Society
Library.

2. Entry of June 20, 1754, ibid., 1566~167.

o e

w»
O
S
'5'
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O, 1754, he made hils only other eppearance before
ard in support of & Hetition for an exemption from
““s cen years to settlers weast of the mountains

Jer indirectly related to the nistole fee contro-
vcrsy ~ and on June 27 l?aé, the Burgesses'! address to
the K1nf on_ thc 1:tter (Llevauoe viens orouxat fron his hands
1 ) by its secretary and referred by it to
ibig., 146, 181, respectively.

Pndbuvitiind

s
(DKi

4, Robert Dimriddie to James Abersrombie, April 26, 1754,
Brock, ed., lecords of Dinwidcie, I, 10“‘ id. %to the

Lords of Trade, October 25, 1' , 3054-364,

Fuastisdttimuion

¥l

5. Entries of July 3, 4, 1754, uo@cd of Trade Journals (Troan-
scripts), LEII, 18C-~187, 1920, Pennsylvania Historical
Society Library.
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L.seer of iumstructions to Dinwiddie pursuent therelo.
Tine worth to Virginia of these ccaces°1u“e has, perheps,
too sreatly mininized .t TLO.JU'MCGMCQ nhaed staked theilr

foroune in thelr batitle with the liéuﬁamant—governor ol e

nrotest azainot his souwewhat arbitrary demand of & pistole

fer his signature and seal on land patenvs -~ thelr most
tenable consvitutional ground. This attack upon the wings
ense was cuite ineffective, for his right
tract the fee was linited only by‘prohibitions against 1ts
application to patents for less than 100 acres, 1o &
for the time~honored land bounties given those who were re-

ol

~ongible for the lmmigretion of new colonists, and to
Pauents located west of the mounta ins, where all discourage-
km&nts to settlement then met official frowns - and for such
cases the fee had never been demanded. Dubt a significant
ﬁnroau was made upon his center in respect to the tecit but
funduqentc* issue of the evasion of quitrents. Having pur-
posely avoided an assault upon Dinwiddie's claim that the

E A T

royel revenues were being defrauded, the House must

C‘
a3
o
<3
[0

been pleasantly surprised that Dinwiddie was told to waive
the fee and all arrears of quitrents on lands surveved but

unpatented before 1752, To Dinwiddie thisg dictum on the

“lhief disnute between the People and ne%, as he termed it,

m., Brock, ed., Rccovda of JlPM1dd1e, i, x
aine, ed., Journals of the House of Jurcess

[t eety

;
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as the severest of shocks.= Thus sublic policy as the
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Lordés or Trade saw 10 awarded a parvial victory to the
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goarisved subjects by iguoring certain overdue taxes -— &
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rere prenomenon in Dritish coloniael aduninisvration of tThat

century, woose zeal for revenue was usually quite keen.

P

Fearful legt these concessions be deemed insufficient

actonement for the affirmation of Dinwiddie's right to his

pistoles, another was made in which George Wythe was directly

concerned. Cf no waterial advantage To the colony, it was

3 . - o

nevertheless well calculated to serve ag & mesychological balm.
Tre pangs of Randolph's fallure to secure a denunciation of
to.e plstole fee would be sharpened by public remirse over his
personal fall from royal grace. 8ince officlal confirmation

of Dinwiddlie's appointment of Wythe ags Llttorney General, in
the form of & royal comunlssion; had not yet cleared the hurdle
of red tape, hitterness over Randolph'is sacrifice could be
forestalled without undue difficulty by his reinstatement in

office, This would consiitute -~ so the Board of Trade and

o - - e

Tre peculiarly indefinite provisions of the Board of Trade’
instructions must be gleaned from the correspondencze cf
Dinwwddae, VLo qcc‘ded to withhold st1ll longer the pending
vatents until vcpl es came to some specific questions
Robert Dinwlddie ¢o the Lords of Trade, October 25, 1754,
Brock, ed., Records of Dinwiddie, I, 362-363; id. to Horace
Walpole, October 25, 17564, ibid., 370-371. Recorded in-
formation about the ﬁoard*u consideration of these Gues-
tions is rather unenlizghtening: eniries of Janvary 7, 10,
14, 1955, Board of Trade Journals (Transcrzpus), LIIII, 18,
2%, 30, Demnsylvwn1u Historical Society Library. The final
arran:,@eat is partially told in Robert Dinwiddie to James
: g June 25, 1755, Brock, .ed., Records of Dinwid-
id. to Lord Valpole, November 9, 1756, ibid.,

l“
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other Englishnen must have reasoned ~ g conparatively harm-
less retreat from their earlier contention thet he had for-
feited his claim upon eapioyment by His Majesty. 4Accordingly,
to mollify and, in Diaviddie's vhraseology, to ™iocerate the
Heats of the People, at this dangerous Time," it was urged by
various British authorities that Randolph be agein comiissionc.
as the governmment's chief legal officer in Vir<inia. Before
Randolph®s return to the colony Dinwiddie felt that bhis
recommendation wa.s "very condescending® and admitted that it

is "very disagreeéble to me".l But after his former subordi~

nate's arrival, docile and nenitent, vith many 1mportuuitiea L

signed by influential persons across the Aflantzc, the lle

tenant-governor accepted his apologzes and saw to it that

secured a new coamzssion.?

Thus, probably in ﬂovenber or December, 1754, Georwe

Wythe,had to step out of the nttp;ngy Gener&l?sloffgge,'§ftef»jﬁ

1a Robert Dinwiddie to the Lords of Trade, Octdber 35 1754
Brocx, eds;, Records of Jlnw1ddLe, I, 360~364.- ‘

2« Id. to 1d., February 12, 1?55, 1b1d,, 49?-495' 1d° 10 |
Tord Albemar]e, February 12 1?55, ¢bld., 498; 1d. to’
James Aberrromble, ﬁebrucry 18 1755, 1b1d.,,5063507
entrLes of April 22, lky 13 July 16, L755, Boaxd: of
Trade Fournals {TranschDLss IXITI, 156, 1¢5, 262;.
Pennsyivanla Historical Soc¢iety lerary.; Randolph aad
to g6 ‘throuzh the formailty of ‘a reelection to the ?euse

:from wzillam and lary College: uCIlﬂ?lne, ed.; Journals
of the House of Burgesses, 17521758, sk 223. On By
12,7 1755; ‘he reported to it his stewsrdship of the trust
vhich had been delegated to him & "recelved 1ts unanxuousiéi

] appreciation: 1b1d,, XEilL, 250~251. A o 5
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an incumbency there of roughly twelve months.l A nephew of

oo Randoldh Fams supnosed that Wythe had privately intended

10 give\gg the office when Randolph's unission was conpleteé,
out of frieﬂdship for Randolph and sympathy for the Burgessest
cduse. ALccording to this view, when Dinwiddie approached
Wythe with an appointment In Randolph's stead,

e
b
P

the habits of a seducing and not of & [of a not]

LI as
wholly unambitious profession flaw], never warped him

from friendship or patriotism, he accepbted the comits~
sion [eppointment] with the customary professions of
gratitude, not disclosing his secret and honorable de~
termination that he would resign it to his predecessor
on his [Randoiph®s] return.2
The premise upon which this assumption is based was undoubt-
edly true: Wythe was loyal in every known respect to friends
and country. But it does not necessarily follow that he posi-
tively and voluntarily intrigued with Randolph to defeat Din~
widdie's ains, however thoraughly in character such ac¢fion
might be. Nevertheless, the hint of such a patriotic and
sacrificial course rust be deemed a most interesting possi-

bility, if not indeed & probability. Granting its verity,

- —~

1. Randolph probably arrived lale in that year. The dates of
the letters in the footnote immediately preceding this one
indicate that some time way have elapsed before he nade
his peace with Dinwiddie and took office again; but it
is egually possible that he was reinstated before 1755
and that there was merely a delay in Dinwiddie's corres-
pondence. At least 1t has been assumed that Wythe's in-
cumbency did not extend into 1755: William and Mary Colleme
Quarterly (lst series), X, 34, 165-166.

2. Randolph, Manuscript History of Virginia, 101, Virginia
Historical Socliety Library. This pglowing supposition is
somewhat invellidated by the two sentences which follow it:
%It is posgible, nowaver; that it had been intimeted to the
governor irom Eng: that he [Randolph] was to be re-
gt~red. Without suca an instruction sven this obdurate

fuler would nov have dared to contemn the lLofty tones of

the peopnle.™ \
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the obligation to resign, with the con-

P - -~ ey 2 I~ -
sthe was saved fronm

secuent danger of having to explain a cancellavion of his pre-

vicus accepiance, by the comands from abroad that Randolph
be given a second eppointnent. Doubitless it was Dinwiddie:
vino had to face the agony of apoloneitic explanations.

e

 not Vythe accepted the lieutenant~governor's

—t
piner
s
®
&
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appointaent with professions of loyalty to one or more of the
Burgesses, his vosition during 1754 was & treacherous one.
One misstep might have turned against him the irascible Din-
widdie, whose temperament was not belttered by ill-health, and
Jost for him the benefits of royal patronage and of the
Attbrney»@enexalfs £140 annual salary. On the oth
Virsinians were guick to de ect and condemn in appointees of
the Crown seniiments which they considéred prejudicial %o
their interests., In the bheated atmosphere of 1754 Wythe had
cutwardly taken Dinwiddie's side, velt khe seems to have steered
safely the difficuli course between a Scylla and a Charybdis.
So far zs 1s known, he received no censure frowm the critical
tonguekor caustic pen of Dinwiddie° His 2lection late in the
sumuer of 1754 by the freeholders of Willilamsburg as their

representative in the General Assenbly and the assignments

given hin by the Iouse during that and the following year are

"){27'
adeguate testimony of the publicts approval of his role in
e

the pistole controversy.

Wythe Inherits "Chesterville'

-t

037 r George Wythe had been in Swotsylvania, his oclder

brother, Thomas Vythe the Fourth, beman a career which mave
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promise 0 enulaiing the exornmles gelt by his fatrer, grend-

father, and greate-srandfather. In 1747 he becane a justice

) T 2 e o N g e o e P el g mer e e o L7
of the Elizabeth City county court, and unvii the winter of
- cnery e o A e . L 3 . A NSO S S-SRI XL S-S S
17583 e menaged to attend his duvies souewhat faithiully

ol o 3 £ M - T 3 am T A i %
despite demands of “Chesterville" upon his time. 4s had

been the case with his grandfather, hig death came befocre he

reached an age at which he might reasonably expect to ceccoupy

ol

one of Tlizabeth City's sedtls in the House of Burgesses, in

~

winich his father and great-grandfather had sat and in vhich

his younger brother was then representing Williamsburzy. He

1. He took the oaths as justice on June 2, 1747, and was
present at the sessions of July 7 and August 4, 1747: {[Or-
der Book, 1731-174%7,] 541, 545, 546, respectively, Bliza-
beth City County Records. & cursory but feirly thorough
inspection of the pages of the succeeding volume, Order
Book, 1747-1755, showed that he was present at sessions on
the following days, which c¢re tabulated with the pages on
which his name occurs:

rage

October &, 1747 10
Hovertber 3, 1747 : 12

August 2, 1748 55

June G, 1749 86 T
September 5, 1749 112

August 6, 1751 2354
February 20, 1752 264,

Lugust 4, 1752 296 v .
llarch 10, 1753 356

June 8, 1753 372

October 22, 1753 400

Perhaps some of the gaps in this list of dates is to he
cexplained by the fact that he ey not have been reanpointed
continuously in the irresular commissions. Of his coumis-
sions only one is readily available: IExecutive Journals of
thie Counell of Colonial Virginia {Photostats), April 30,

1752, Universiity of Virginie Library.



died prouvadly early in 17565,+ an intestate bechelor. In this
respect it vas & fortunnte event Tor Ceorze Yiythe,
cvmeorsihip of "lussterville' descended eutonztically under the

you

sid

later sessions he ax

Ihe possession of property in Llizabeth City made the
aner Wythe eligible to becowe a judge of the county court
he wasg appointed almost liunediately its presiding justice,
ting upon its bench (ingtead of pleading cases wefore its

o 2 -
n atvorney) for the first tine on July 1, 1755.% In

)
W
)

ttended the court for several years in

v onar st b mannin A e s M 0 ) S ¥
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Tyler, %“ieorge bene“ doc. cit., 56, names that year,
without citing an authority for it. It was certainly scue
time between October 22, 1753, and July 1L, 1755. On the
former date he attended a county court: Order Book, 1747~

17565, 400, Elizabeth City County Recowvds. ﬁhe 1aov T date
will be explained in the ncext paragraph.

Ibid., 492. T™is sisnaturc anpeors at the conclusion of the
record for that day: ivid., 494. One of the scveral aps

covering short periods in Lhe extant journals of the Coun-
¢il includes all of the yecar 1755: Hxecutive Journals of
Council of Colonial Vlréldld (Photostats), University of
Virginia Librery. It is thus ilupossible to learn the date
of hx” mp901nuﬁont as justice. Sterkey, Firsv Plantation,
19, errs in stating the datc asg 1746.
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wais cepacity.t But Uythe evidently did not establish his

3

CIhiay
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ent residence at the old fanily estate; instead, he left

q
&
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the active manogenent of 1ts agriculture to an oversceer and

'

T 10rt periods vhen hiis business permitted. Of
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“

thig strong probability the fact that he atltcended the county
court only £ifteen days out of about five times that number
Al

in four vears after he took the oaths as presiding jusitice is

. ]
almost positive proof.”
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1. A tabulation of his attendance until 1760, as noteld by the
vriter, showing the dates of meetings at which he was pres-
ent, follows. It is based unon Crder Book, 1755-17560,
Blizabeth City County Records, and glves page citations
for his attendance and for his signatures as presiding
justice. ’ '

Dates Peoes Wythe signed proceedings
Septemver 2, 1705 o
Decaitber 2, 1755 31 : 34
December 12, 17565 54
July 6, 1756 58
August 2, 1756 G4
September 7, 1756 74 ' 76

October 5, 1756 7o 81
December 7, 1756 83 : 85

Tarch 2, 1757 o1 ‘ 103
Mareh ©, 1757 1C4 ‘ 105
June 7, 1757 133 136
July 5, 1757 136
August 2, 1757 140
August 1, 1758 190
December 5, 17068 169 201

Records to show hig eppointments do not survive; thus it is
possible that he was not included in cvery one of the period~
ical commissions for the county bench during these yvears.

Sut his name appears first in the list of those present
every tiire it occurs. A sinmilar table to show his aittend-
ance after 1760 will be included in the £ifth chapter.

2. Order Book, 1755-1760, npegsin, Hlizabeth City County
Records.




too intinmetely involved in the legisla-
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Wycae had bec

"

tive and legal

£ Williansburs to consider very seriously

-
? i
iy
o
[

z personal, permenent occupancy of "Chesterville®. Iis polit-

€ A
ical tiles in the canizal
these an advancement in the practise of his profession was

added. Some tinme before lay of 1755 he was aduitted to the

.

colony's suprerie bar as an atitorney before the semi-annual

General Court.+ o greater badge of distinction could be

ol

attained by & lawyer in Virginia's colonial period than the
~reputation of success in this superior tridbunal of original
and appellate jurisdiction, over which it was & primary duty

of the lieutenant=-zgovernor to preside and in which the wmewbers

B

0]

of hie Council sat as ex officlio judges.

Another link in the chain which bound George Wythe to

residence in Williamsbury was the blossoning of social interests

there into & second werriage. After several years of wicower~ <

hood, probably about 1755, Wythe merried Elizabeth Teliaferro,
P> B
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1. All the sketches of Vythe either ignore, evade, o falsgify

the time of hisg entrance to this court, the official

of which have never been available to scholars! wvhen any in-

formation on the point has been given, 1T has been stated

or implied that the date was 1758. But an earlier though
indefinite date cen be deductively catablished from the fact
that Paul Carrington (1732/3-1818) received in MNay, 1755, a
license to nrectise lav signed by Peyiton Randolph, John Ran~
dolph, and CGeorge Vlythe: Alexander Brown, The Cabells and
Thelr Kin: & lNemoxial Volwie of Hisbtory, Biography, and
Genealory, 205+ 8ince the official board of examiners could
then consist only of judsmes of the General Court and of menm-
bers of its bar, and since Vythe was unever & neuber of the
Council, it follows indubitably that he had gained admission

to its bar beforc Iy, 1755. The original act of 1745 set-
ting up the bonrd of exeminers had been renewed in 1748

>
—

rithout change in thet respect: Hening, ed.,; Statutes, VI,
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City County sone four or five miles south of Williamsburg; he
T B P oy o - - L P oA - P P T T xp J . s~

was & weelihy man, probably o "gentlemen farmer®™ by vocation,

an architect by avocation, and had been a judge of his county's

court.® Vith his second bride it i1s possible, perhaps even

likely, that he secured the use of the ‘cox

,_)

fortable brick house

which wasg for many years his home. Situated on the west side

of

less than @ block from Duke of

palatial Governor's Palace two Dlocks di

the Palace Green, adjoining far~famed Bruton Parish Church,

Loy

this handsome residence was bullt about 1755 by Wythe's second

father-in=-law. Uhde? the teris of Ric

its legal title was vested in his caushter and her hushand.

hard Teliaferrols will
3

L.
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Jelffersgon, "ilotes for the Biogrephy of Georse Wythe', filed

under Auzust 31, 1820, Jefferson Papers, ler@ry of Cor*—

ress; ﬁavden Virginia Genealoglies, 382; Tyler, "George

wyuhe" loc. ¢iv., 82-83, 1s aubnorlty for uTe date, for
wiaich no citation is given.

Hellveine, ed., Exeoncxvg Journalg of the Council of Colon-
ial Virginie, IV, 669, 4.l3. 1n noveuber, 1956, the writer
was told in WVilliaushurg that "Powhatan' is now ovacd Wy &
Hro . 1. Slauson. The writer noted in vpesging that the
name Taliaferro is one of freguent occurrence in the mid-
eighteenth century records of Cearoline and Spotsylvania
counties, but he did not deternine the reletionshins of
these families to that in James &&=y City County.

4

Will of Richard Taliaferro, proved august ©, 1779, Villian
ALL, 124-125.

-~

and lary Collere Ouarierly (lst series),




But Vythe alnost certainly occuwied the building long befor
mplieferro’s death in 1779, and 1t is quite possible that the

1atter had constructed it specifically Ffor Wythe as his
dauzhterts doury.

Desplte such atvachnents a&s these to Williamsburg, George
Yythe did not lack & substantial interest in Tllzabeth City
County. Harly in 1756 an electlon of representatives in the
House of Burgesses took place. The burzess chosen by Willians-
bursts electorate to Till Armdstesd Burwell's unexpired term
snnounced his candidacy for one of Lits native countyts two

I

(2¢;

o

seats, hich he was guite eligible by virtue of hig legal

regidence and property &t "Chegterville®,” Dbut he was de-

1,

feated in thig effort at the molls. Freeholders in Ilizabeth
City appeared as & wvhole to prefer thelr actual rather than
technical neighbors as representatives, no natier how disting-
uished the latter might be, for Wythe ran no better than fourth
in & race between four or more candidetes. Subsequent geners-
tlons would not know even this wuch about thaﬁ election; were

it not for the facte that John Tabb, burgess in the Housge of

1752~1755, whose votes were third largest, protested against

e

the award of & seat to Villian Vager % and thet the Committee

on Privileses and Blections svread certain records of their

—— i S <% A R 5 e 178 3 g W | o u g + g g g it o i S . ———

)

« John Chiswell supplanted Wythe in Williansburs'ls seat: lic-
Ilwaine, ed., Journals of the llouse of Burresses, 1752-1758,
%. Cilrcungtances surrounding the replacement of Wythe there
could only be surmised.

2. Tabbts
1756

vetition was referrcd to the Committee on larch 26,
ibid., 339.
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contest unon the printed pages of the officiel Journals.

As woas usual in cases of contested elections in counties

more or less distant from Williamsburg, the Committee appointed

corzaission of leading citizens to get at the bottom of the

(54

g

affair by exowmining under oath witnesses for cach party on the

J

uffrage

(O]
>

legality of their freeholds or rights to exercise the

q

ars on any allegzed irregular electioncering methods. It was
not at all usual that one of the defealted candidatcs, CGeorge

Viythe, should have been named chalirman of this commission of
; ‘

five Yet, because Elizabeth City was not so very far away,
it was soon agreed upon théet Bhe commission should examine
only witnesses too infirm br ill to %?avcls the remeinder to
testify in person at the capital befére the Commitlee.?
Evidence gathnered by these two agencies and reported Dy
thie Commalttee servesﬁar & Tairly good mirror of Virginia's
colonial political caupaigns. Tabb had evidently charged
Wager with illezally serving liquors to his intended constit-~
uents. But the testiimony showed only that Wager “for many

-

Years wast havii kevt an hospitehle House, and freely enter-

teined all Persons that came there...." It was his friends,

who could do so with iapunity, vho had treated assembled

Jun

voters with punch and had bousht the liguor served at his

1. Jacoh Vialker, o Hampion saerchant and an uncle of Wythe,
Robert Arniistead, Booth Arnistead, and Charles Jennings
were the remaining meubers: ibicd., 342.

2! Zbi_g_‘-, 344, 54:80



nome during the campaipgn. One . of these exnleinced that Vepge:

"hed assisted him in his Distress, and therefore he did treat

the Frecholders at that Time", adding his intention to do the

ften as ¥ Jgger and iIY Yythe, should be can-
didetes forvthat County.™ The Cormittee learned, too, that
at a meeting of freecholders “wrocured by jisd Uythe who was &
Candidate or his Friends" some of his backers proumised that
Uythe would serve as bhurgess without compensation and fthat
they would glve Bond to repey any Thing that should be levied

on the County for him....% 1ot to be outdone, Vager had

ffered to metch these terms, vhich gave an unheralded weg by

Reo)
"‘)

the name of Cary his cue to declare, now we have got two men
that will serve us for r nothing, which he was slad of, as he
found 1t very difficult to pay his Ta os....“l 3ut, since
Cary had not voted for ‘ager, the Committee could find nothing
illegal in Vaperts cerpaisgn praciises. Mbccordingly, the
result of the disnuted election hinged upon the gualifications
of the voters. The Comait eé found that seven of Uagérfs
supporters were not freeholders and rﬁlcd out only three of
Tabb's vobtes. Dy these subtractions Tabb was seated by a
plurality of one over VWaner, who hed oririnally polled a

three-vote leed.<

Vo e M o p o e -

1. Ibid., 360-361.

2. I1bid., 359-361. ILater, of course, the two men had to re~
imburse each other partially for tiec expenses of their
respective witnesses: ibid., 381.
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Defeated in this somewhat tyvical campairn, Georze “Jythe

)

[
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a A

ed for two years from the outside the sessions of the

Y

va el
Burzesses elected in 1756. That, as has been previously in-
timated; was the only Hdouse betueen 1748 and the Revolution
with which he had no official connec%ion. |

The earliest available writing from Wythe's pen now known
to be extant constitutes a sizned ovrder for certain merchan-
dize, bult exactly what the articles he desired were is a mettex
of ¢onjecture: "an aelolipyle a receiVer and wood cup for‘

-

shower of llercury to be had of Neime and Blunt irr Shermer will

be so good as [to] procure for C. Wythe.“l

my N, . o o ol N " 3 Ao :
ih haracuver of & lear-Pedant e

The activities and attalnments of the third decade in
George Wythe's life have thus heen reconstructed as fully as
authentic sources permit. To complete this review of those
years only one consideration remains. An uncornpliuentary
legend, base in its implications, cannot be ignored.

Certain fictional reports have portrayed the Wyithe of

jon

this period as a %wild and taoughtless youth" who yielded to

the Yseductions of pleasure' for nine or ten yeers, during

wnich his career consisted of "digsipation and intenperance".

v

This tradition was first pronulzated obscurely in the year

after his deathz and wvas popularized and spread abroad for

PP (5 o oA e ot o ot b AT e gn e e s g S S e W S et 9

e}

1. lis. of Ceorge Vythe, July 10, 1755, Roberts Autogreph
Collection, Haverford Collese Library.

2. noirs of the Late Georse Vythe, Esquire®, The American

Glezner, and Virginia llpgazine, I (1807), 1-27 This
accountv - openly didactic.




83

~

by certain bilographers of "Grub Street® caliber or less.”

w

gignificantly, no memoirs written by persons known to have
heen intimately accuvainted with the man suggest any such
traits in his charncter.z A full century had passed before

enough thousht was focussed on the theory to bring forth an

- P g i

1. An extrenely slavish paraphrase of the 18C7 "liewoirs®
adopted the account almost verbatim: "George Vythe%, Aneri-
can lew Journal, III (1810), 93. Thence the idea was trans-
mitted to [Smith,] "George Vythe', loc. cit., 173. Three
later condensations of S8alth's sketch, each of which sac-
rificed disproportionately other information in nreference
to omitting the wmoral of Wythe's youthful aberrations,
adopted the fablet! Charles A. Goodrich, ®George Wythe", in
his Lives of the Signcers te the Declaration of Independence,
365; W. Dwight, Y"Geovpe WytheY, in his The Lives of the
Silgners of the Declaration of Independence, <2067; B. J.
Lossing, “George VWythe", in his Biograevhical Sketches of
the Signers of the Declaration of American Independence,
163. Like that cited in the preceding footnote, 2ll of
these sources use the fable bhecause of its possivilities
as an instructive example. Indication of the widespread
credence which unauthoritative tales of this kind mey some-
tines gain 1g glven in the fact that this legend is solemn-~
ly reported as unquestioned truth in the article on Wythe
in the large French biographical dictionary, Blogravhie
Universelle.

mi

2. Particularly, the sketch by Thomas Jefferson fails to gilve

© this hint, vhile the briefer portralits by Hdmund Randolph
in his Manuscript History of Virginia and by William Wirt
in his biography of Patrick Henry are in similar vein. Nor
is such a stetement wmade in the literature arising fron
Wythe's death, in vhich-an aspersion of this sort would be
less likely to occur unless 1t wasg used to point en in-
gstructive morals William Munford, YOration Pronounced ab
the Tuneral of George Wythe™, The ITnguirer, June 13 and 17,
1806; anonymous "Courwunication®, ibid., June 10, 18006;
Jepthe F. licore, "Oration on the Death of the Venerable
Georme Vythe... %, Virginias Armus, Septesiber 17, 1806; enony-
mous “Coupmunication", ibid., June 10, 1806; "Commwunication®
signed "iu.B.", Virginia Gezette, and General Advertiser,
June 18, 1806. DIut Deniel Call evidently accepted the
legend; he quoted the account with apparent approval in
his sketch from an early edition of the Incyclopedia
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outrigat dodbﬁ,l and it is only in the last decade that
«
distinct denials have been made‘a

These recent defenders of Jythe's personal conduct have

&)

pointed out the probability that his distinctions in the LHouse
of Burgesses, success in the county courits, and eppoliniment

a5 Attorney General could not have come to a consgpicuous de-
rpenerate or to any one of greater~than-average self-indulgence
— and that is in itself convincing testimony against the
allegation. But its detalils alone are inaccurate enough to
puncture this fabricated story, which supplies 2 uotive by
stating that an orphaned George came by inheritance on his
twenty~-first birthday into the unprotected control of &
sizable fortune, that he squandered it in prodigal fashion.
ndubitable refutation of such assumptions has been gilven

within this chanter in the fact thot George VUythe becarne his

[

father's heir, by the intestate death of his older brother,

Y

only when he wasg approachihg the age of thirty. Vythe never
possessed enough wealth to have suffered its enervating
influence.

Had the legend of misspent years had any other origin
then 1ts true one, itlmight be a malicious slander, signifi-
cant in any delineation of Wythe's character merely because

some calumniator had taken the trouble to defame his repute-

tion with & deliberate libel or aspersion. Yet no such

1. Tyler, Y"CGeorge Wythe", lLoc. cit., 55-56.

2. Jones, "The Character and Service of George Vythe®, loc.
Cite, 326-327.

W———
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importance should be atteched to the report, for it aros

from a false internretation of reunarks made most innocently

by Vythe himself in his old age. Iooking back from that

noint of vantepge, it seened to the scholariy'Wythe that e

hed begun terdily the endless reading and application which

in time had so well overcoile his inferior forwmal schooling.

%I have often heard him", the first author of the legend re-

called, "pathetically lawment the loss of those nine years of

his life, and of the knowledge which might have been acqguired

by employing them, as well as those which succeeded them in

study."l It is indeed probable tha” Vythe regretted having

devoted himself to the atteinment of genuine proficiency in

no branch of learning other than the law until his thirtieth

year. It does not follow, however, as the listener to his

mild, self-reproaching renorse unfortunately supposed, phat

his fallure before that time to become attached to general

scholarshin could be atiributed to either idleness or intem=~

nerance.  All of hig talents were not c¢riminally dissipated,

and it wes Therefore unnecessery for him %o undergo & reforma~

tion about 1756 - or, in phrases With vihich the. unauthentic

fable of nis profligacy is concluded, tovcome to "sober re-

flection®™, to turn his back upon "unprofitable companionsg®

and “evil asso%iates", to give up “levities® and Yyouthful

folliegW,

From an ehundance of authioritative evidence it is

1. "llemoirs of the Late George Wythe, Esquire", The Americen
Gleaner, anc Virginis liegazine, I, 1-2.
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positive that Vythe lived moderately, obscrving failthfully

the rules of contemporary conventions and the dictates of his

LY

£

3 e

own conscience. One of his friends admitted, about six years

o

after his death, thot he had had & "natural’ ﬁéndenoy'to
tinstability" but recalled that it had been held in check
myith a tight rein't. Others spoke of his "truly laudeble®
¢conduct in a ¥private life ... spent in the practice of

social virtues, and in the enjoyment of mﬁch domestic

felicity ...",2 described his virtue as "of the nurest tint?,

~

and attributed his "general good health® Lo "tewperance and

"o

regularity in all his habits. To one of tne very blographers

who contributed to the spread of the falsehood of Vythe's
alleged disgsipation Thomas Jefferson had given, together with
some information desigﬁed to gserve as "landmarks to distinguieh
truth from error, in what you hear from others", assurance

that "the exelted virtue of the man will also be a polar star
to guide you in all natters which may touch that element of

his character", adding on second thought, "but on that you

will recieve [sic] iwmputations from no man; for, as far as I

know, he never had an eirlemy.”/-‘L

-

1. Rendolph, lanuscript History of Virginia, Virginia Histori-
cal Hagazine, XLIII, 131-122. :

2. Lnonymous YCommunication®, Virginia Argus, June 10, 1806.

3. Jefferson, "Wotes for the Biography of Georpge Yythe',
filed under August 31, 180G, Jefferson Papers, Library of

Congress.

4. Thomas Jefferson to John Sanderson, hugust 31, 1820, ibigd.
s nas been noted, Banderson goave this letter to William

R 8uith, the awithor of the sketch on Wythe which appeared
in his collection. ’
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It nas been shown by his own admission that George Wythe
neslected during his third decede sone opportunities for the
improverient of his scanty educs tion. Of this foukt he'wés
never again gullty. Demands of public or private business
made incessant inroads upon his time, but notiing could »re-
vent the penetréting study of & maen who developed, after his
professional career had been established, that genuine love
of learning for its own sake which is so egsential & founda-
tion for gcholarship. The logs of hours spent less benefic-
ially was redéemed & hundred fold within the next fifty years.l
Indefatigable in his epplication, he heceme noved for a
solidity and penetration vhich none of hils contemporaries
surpassed. Breadth of interest, too, characterized his self~
education. In his later years he was respectfully dubbed
"the walking library".? And when he died soneone reflected
that "there wes no art or profession of vhich he had not a
correct idea."9 \ |

First among the fields of.knowledge to vihich Vythe turned
his attention wes the treasury of éiéssioal literature., There-
in lay throughout & lony lifetine his chief intellectual in-
terest, and until e was about fifty years of age his unre-

mitting diligence in self-instruction was concentrated

- i A S e g g - L —

1. "llemoir of the Late George Wythe, Esculre", The American
Gleaner, and Virginia llagazine, I, 2.

2. Anonymous “Communication", The Inguirer, June 10, 180¢.

3. "Communication" signed "&.9.%, Virpinia Gazetie, and
General Advertiser, June 18, 1806,
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s,

primarily on the acquisition of facts and principles recorded
by the writers of ancient Greece and Rowme. The handicad of
inadequate formal scliooling and of only preliainary grewweti-
cal sfudy at his wmother's knee meant nothihg to him, though
they had together been barely sufficient to let him realize
now unqualified for progress he was. On his own initiative
and with no other tutor then himself, he plunged deeply into
a discriminating absorption in the olassicg.l

- Rather early in this study he procured a volume of blank
pages, average ih size, not unlike & typical eighteenth-
century lawyer's comnonplece book, in which he recorded nin-
ute notes of his perconal research in the etynology of Greek
and Latin words. About 150 pages of this book, which has
been preserved, contain his comparisons of La%iﬁ equivalents
with the originel Greek text of Homer's Iliad and with other
Hellenic literature. No better monunent %o'ﬁythe’s vatient
burrowings in linguis%ios ¢an be imagined than this privete

product of his explorations in the original meanings of words,

prAT— o e

-

1. Ibid.; Randolph, llanuscript History of Virginia, Virginia
Higtorical llegazine, XLIIT, 131; "lemcir of the Late
George Wythe, Lsquire", Inhe Awmerican Gleaner, and Virginis

Magezine, I, 2.
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vhich he certainly never intended for @heveye of pomteriﬁy.l

By such labors he acquired o knéwledge of the ancient languages

vhaich was "eritically correctt.?
Honer's immaortal tale of the fall of Troy, however, we.s

only & beginning. Vythe's mind ren the gamut of‘Greek'and

Ldtin noets, historiens, and philosophers; with all of these

whose writings he could obtein he became as familiar as he

40N

was with eny Baglish autihor, readiansg them with eqgual ease.s

Thomas Jefferson spoke of him later without reservation as

- - - -

1. {George Wythe, Ln Ityiological Praxis], Virginia Higtorical
Society Library. This Iis. quarto voluwe has no vitle page
and 1s undated; but Wythe's characteristic handvwriting con-
gtitutes a positive neans to ildentification. The writer
is of the opinion, on the basls of penmanship comparisons
with Vythe letters, that it was definitely of a period
before 1765. The last gix of its unnwibered pages contain
a copy of biographical sketches of John Holloway and Wil-
liam Ilopkins, colonial Virginiae lawyers who died in 1734,
transcribed by sorie one other than Wythe from Sir Johin Ren-
dolph's ¥Breviate Book"., A letter of transmittal to the
Society is pasted to its front cover. "I herewith send:
you, thie book which I promised you for your Scciety. It
was (as 1 informed youj the proverty of the late venerable
and learned Chancellor Vythe, and I bellieve is allogether
in his hand writing [sic], although the character of the
copy fron 'Sir Johin's Breviete Book' seems to be different
from that 0f the Greek and Latin. Iuch of the largest por=-
tion of the book is & Clavis‘C@aeam'or Weynologicel Praxisg
on several of the books of the Iliad, and some of ﬂave"%}(wag’.o&
vhich will serve in & striking menner to illustrate the )
great industry of that distinsuished man": John Page to
James L. Heath, January 3, 1834. The existence of this lis.
has been previously cormented upon only by Grigsby, Vir-
ginia Convention of 1776, 120, vwho cited it as evidence
that Wythe's accurate familiarity with Iatin and Greek
began in midéle life. The two Dilographical sketches were
reprinted in The Virginia Historical Register, I, 119-123.

2+ Anonymous "Communication", The Tnouirer, June 10, 1808.

3¢ Ibide; Viirt, Patrick Henry, 47-48.
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sihe best Latin and Greek scholar® in Virginia,l and & con~
temporary who was better qualified than Jefferson to
judguent in lLiterary matters asserted that his attainments

in the clagsics had rarely been equalled in all the American

colonies and states.® Or, as still another contemporary put

it, he labored delightedly "not only through an apprentice- ¢
ship, but almost through & life in the dead,languages.“s A
rether recent figure in the world of American letters boasted

that lie owned a rare 1757 edition of The odes of Anacreon,
Seppho, and Alcaeus, which had once been in the library of
George Wythe.4/ If anything, he carried too far his love of
ancient scholaféhip, which becane inoréasingly &8s he grew
older hig pride as well as his joy. Cbnvers&tion and corres-
Hpondence he naturally enriched with quotations, but there is
a limit at which the foible of classical quotation borders
upon pedantry pure and simple. And Wythe appears rnever to
have hesitated to sprinkle even the most technical legal
opinions and decisions with excerpts from his studies, to the

utter consternation of less learned associates who could not

ot RS ———-

1. Jefferson, "Notes for the Biography of George VWythe',
- fdled under August 31, 1820, Jefferson Pavers, Library of
Congress.

2. Wirt, Patrick Henry, 48.

3+ Randolph, lanuscript History of Virginia, Virginia Histori-
cal Megezine, XLIIT, 131.

4. Jochn Esten Cooke, "George Vythe®, Manuscrint Biographies
Collection, Pennsylvania Histovical Society Library. Dr.
Lyon G. Tyler claimed also to Hossess an unnamed wolume
or two from Wythe s library: Willism end llary College
Quarteriy (lst series), VI, 40.
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wnderstand the aptness of their application to more modern
problems without a translation into the vernabular.l
The character of Vythe partook of the nobility of ancient
civilization, his nmanners and tastes of its lofty simplicity,
as might be expected in any devotee so extremely and inﬁimatejy
versed in the lore of classical grandeur. Thus 1t was that
he could be appropriately characterized as “a man of Roman
stamp, in Rome's best age".z Consciously he noulded his life

3

to fit the principles of literature and philosophy. Wien

e o onpi v

1. OQutstanding examples of hig delight in quotations To prove
his point may be found in hiis »published declsions asg Chan-
cellor late in his life: George Vythe, Decisions of Coges
in Virginia,; by the High Court of Chancery ... . Cf. Virt,
Patrick Henry, 48. VWith soiie exaggeration a povpuler biog-
rapher has described Vythe's head as being %“larcely filled
with law, and what space low left was enriched with the
wisdom of the ages. 0Out of his archaic mouth came locu-
tions pat to the hour": Morgan, Tatrick Henry, 82.

2. Villiam Virt, Bulogy on Thomas Jefferson and John Adams in
the House of Representatives, October 19, 1826, Albert
Illery Bergh, ed., The Writings of Thomasg Jefferson, XIII,
xiiv Cf. Willdam C. Rives, Lilstory of the Life and Times
of James lMadison, II, 248-240.

3. "In literature, he [Wythe] was in some things not unlike
[Banuel] Johnson; he admired nothing so much as the dis-
play of & keen discrimination of human characters, a Just
apprenension of the principles of modern action, and that
vigorous coummion sense, which is the most hoppily applicable
to the conduct of human 1life; he delighted in the refine-
ments, the subtleties, the abstractions, the affectations
of ancient literature; and in comparison with these, des=-
plsed the grossness of modern teste, and common affairs.

- He seemed to think learning and science of little value,

purposes of living usefully and heppily with the world
upon its own terms. His favorite science taught him to
look down with contempt, upon all sublunary and nodern
things, and fto fit 1life to literature -and philosophy, and
not literature and philosophy to life": anonymous "Com-
runication®, Virginia Argus, June 10, 1808, ‘
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4.

financial neens seened linited, the maxin thet "genuine riches
coneisted in having few wanis" was brought into play.l out -~
right wit he did not inherently possess, and humor for its ovn
sake he usually disdained, @ though occesionally exhibiting

it dryly or fecetiously in a classical Attic form;3 but he
4

®
joyed the companionship of kindred spirits as much es any nan

could be “elegantly keen and sarcastic in repartee'. e en-

can and was not lagmerd in contributing to the affable pleasure
of temperate socie’cy.5 His languege vas invariably'chaste.e
In short, his was preeminently ﬁhe intellectual approach to
life.

When he had reached maturity, George Wythe presented a

. . o v
rather prepossessing physical appearance. Of about average

height, he was slender, erect, and well-proportioned, with a

thoroughly Roman nose set under a prominent forehead and

—-— i —— —————— ——

1. Randolph, Manuscript HMistory of Virzinia, Virginia Histori-
cal Magazine, XLITII, 131. Cf. "lenoir of the Late George
T

Wythe, Esquire", The American Gleaner, and Virginila lice-
zine, I, 3.

2. Anonyuous "Coummunication®, Virginie Ar~sus, June 10, 1808,

3. Wirt, Patrick Henry, 49.

4. Ibid., 48. Cf. Call, "Jud;e VWythe", loc. cit., miii-xiv.

-~ e —o,

5. Anonymous “"Communication®, Virginia Arsus, June 10, 1806;
Virt, Patrick Henry, 48-49.

~
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6. Jefferson, "Notes for the Biography of Geo
filed undcr August 31, 1820, Jefferson Pop
of Congrcss.

rge Wythe',
ors, Library
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vetween fsray eyes an the most readily distinguishable item
anong his engagingly blended features. A complete absence
of affectation controlled courteous Mnenners naturally urbane

Do . . : 1
in both social and professional contacts.

g s o A s -~ -
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1. Ibid.; Cooke, “Ceorge Wythe", Ikuuscrint Biographies
Collection, Pennsylvania Historical Society Library. An
excellent portralt in the lobby of the George Wythe Hotel,
Wytheville, Virginia, pictures hin at an earlier age then
any other - apparently at about thirty-five. The ythe
fouse in Villiamsburg houses a handsgowme Turnbull semi-
profile painting of a somewhet later date. A full-profile
by Longacre, originally printed in the miseging issueg of
The kLnerican Gleaner, and Virginie iagazine, is delfinitely
applicable only to Vythe's old age and 1s very widely
available through engraved copies in publications and
libraries. lirs. Catherine Carter Critcher of Veshinrton,
D. C., a collateral descendant, presented to the VUyihe
House in 1927 an original oll painting done from the
Longacre model. In the Vythe House there is also & small
circular profile, giving the impression of a semi=~
caricature, doné by the faimous elder Peale with the &id
of an extinct "profilograpyh® invention. In Vythe's last
years he becaile stooped and thin.




Chapter IV

AT THE BAR OF 7TVD GIVERAL COURT; THL LEGAL

EDUCATION GF JEFFERSON

The CGeneral Court, 1756-1769
The legal profession in Virginia, as in IEngland’s other
Américan ¢colonies during the seventeenth century, was & casual
or struggling one. Advocates were despised or regarded with
guspicion; litigation ran uniformly along channels of the
sim@lest actions in debt and trespass; and the practise of
law was frequently a mere avocation by which untrained mer-
chants and landowners protected their commercial interests.
It was only after 1700 that the bar in Virginia began to bud
with learned and respected names,1 and it was not until 1750
that the bud blossomed into full flower. During the guariter-
century precéding the end of the colonial regime lawyers de-
veloped in Virginia's General Court who were in every respect
at least equal to the best produced in oﬁher‘colonies, if in-
deed the Virginia bar of that period was not distinctly super-
ior to any of the others.<

The preceding chapter has shown that George Vythe was

l. Prominent among the lawyevrs of the first half of the cen-
tury were William Byrd (1674~1743), John Clayton (1665-
1737), Bdward Barradall (1704-1743), Sir John Rancdolph
(1693-1737), William Hopkins, John Holloway, and Stcvens
Thomson. ~

2« Charles Varrcn, History of the American Dar, 39-40, affords
an adequate sunmary of Virginia's colonial bar, and other
pages of the same work moy be read for the sake of compar-
ison. :
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admitted to practisc in the General Court some time before
tay, 1755. Tor Two dccados or more tunc advocacy of couses
before its bench, composcd of the members of the Council with
the lieutenant-covernor or governor as »residing judge, fur-
nished Vythe's principal income and his chicef occupation.
This suﬁreme tribunal convened in Williamsburg only twice
cach yecar, in April and October, for scesions continuing about
two weeks cach; but long intervels between terms were not va-
cations for the scholarly Wythe, who had so rwuch success in
attfaoting clicnts “that months of inﬁensive regearch and
preparation were requiredyfor him to do justice to fhem.all.
Thomas Jefferson, who joined Wythe at this bar in its
later days, pronounced him ungualifiedly as the grcatest of
its mewmbers during the seccond of the two decades in ﬁhich
Wythe practised there, "taking into consideration his superior
learning, correct ‘elocution, and logical style of reasoning."l
This could heve hardly have béen true of the ten years before
1765, for"oné could not leap suddenly into the leadershiyp of
such a commany of legal gilants. Though Vythe Ysoon became
eninent amonz them", advance to priority over such colleagues

"2
-

could come only %"in process of time Jour men, only one of

B - - -

1. Thomas Jefferson, "Notes for the Biography of George Vythe"
filed under August 31, 1820, Jefferson Papers, Library of
Congress. '

2+ Ibid. An earlier remark from the sane source suggests that
Wythe entered the General Court in 1750 and gives & ruch
stronger agsertion of his leadership, stating that he had
held without competition the first place at the bar of our
general court for twenty~five years....": Thomas Jefferson
to Ralph Izard, July 17, 1788, Bergh, ed., Writings of
Jefferson, VIIL, 7l.



whor could have entered the CGeneral Court aftor Viythe, appear
to have shared with him the doniinance of its bar.

The titular heed of the sroup wes Attorney-General Tey-
ton Randolph. A son of the much respected Sir John Randolph,
Peyton had Dbeen educated at William and liary, Oxford, and the

Inner Terple. His appearance was extreunely gentlemanly, his

manners friendly to all but sitrengers, his nature concilie-
tory; his mind was soundé enough and his arsuments substantial
enough to counterbalance fully an utter lack of the arts and
graées of eloguence. His frame carried some excessive weight,’
and the resultant physical inertness became characteristic of
his mentai habits =~ "he was rather too indolent and careless
for business, vhich occasioned hin to get & smeller propor-
tion of it at the bar than his abilities would otherwise have
cormanded." Beginning in 1748 he drew for some time a steady
saléry as the government's chief prosecutor, except for 2
year‘in'which Wythe supplanted him; thus "he did not seen té
court, nor scarcely‘ﬁo welcome business."l

. John Randolph (b. 172%), younger brother of Peyton, was
another of the principal practitioners in the General Court.
The adv&nﬁages of exnerigence in the Inner Temple, following
an education at William and Ikry, had also been his. ILike
his brother, he lived in Williaméburg, but in polivics he We. s
generally more conservative and & bit less distinguished then

Peyton. During a large part of the latter's tenure 2s Attorne:

o - —— -

1. Biographical Sketch of Peyton Rendolph, BDergh, ed.,
Writings of Jeffersorn. AVIII, 139.
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General, John Randolph served as Clerk of the House of Bur-
£Ee5Ses» And; just as tvhe older bréther»has stood between
Wythe and a royal commission as Attorney General in 1754, the
younger brother twelve years later thwarted a recommendation
of Wythe for that position by Dinwiddie's successor.1
Older than either of these was Robert Carter Nichola
(1715-1780); however, he was admitted to the bar of the Gen-
eral Court several years latcer thon they, probably very soon
beforc or affer Wythe. Youthful training and reading had
given Nicholas & strong predilection for the Anglicen minis-
try, but, following attendnncg at William and Mary, he had
chosen the low as his profcssion; He became & colleaguc of
Wytﬁg in the Warwick county bar, and probably elso in other
county courts: Though hc had debtermined not to be & clergy-
man, he continued his dcecep~-scated love for the cstablished
church and for absolute picty, propriecty, and purity. Quitec
conscrvative in his thinking and ordinarily overse to change,
he could yet advocate o most sweeping clteration once he be-
camc convinced that somcthing differcnt wos nceded. During
the last decade before the Revolution he was Treasurer of
Virginia, cond for o nuiber of'yoars prior to 1765 he wos &
fixture as o burgess for Jawmes City County. Of o comnlacent
temper and benevolent disposi%ion, he wos nmuch tho”most re-

ligious among latc coloninl statcsmen; o certoin austerity

W e - -

1. Cf. the first scction of chepteor VI of this study.
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was his sole handicap in publicwlife.l He, too, lived in
Williamsburg, and, though they were often associaﬁed in the
sarnne legal and wpolitical circles, rivalry never sprung up to
mar or to make tense his friepdship for Wythe.

Edmund Pendleton was a fourth lawyer vho attained a dom-
inent position at the har of ithe General Court, and to investi-
gators of Wythe's career bhe is much the most interesting col-
league Wythe,eVer had. In all the history of Virginia there
have never been two lives which presented so many striking
paréllels and contrasts as did those of Vythe and Pendleton.
Throughout more than half a century in public service they
were engaged almost incessantly in the same political, legal,
and judicial activities. In a series of many issues which
confronted ?hem, however, they were rarely alignéd cn the
saie side of any question, and even in those instances they
reached the same opinions by‘substantially'diverse mental
paths. Rivals for every kind of official preferment for fifty
years, no genuine antipathy ever really existed between them;
though each upheld tenaciously his principles against the
other's attacks until the very day on vhich Pendleton pre-
ceded Wythe to the grave by three years. Theirs was an abso-
Iutely unique relationship, end its inherent drams was inten-~

sified by the fact that its simllarities and conflicts became

[N o

- 1. "But he [Wicholas] appeared to weny who did not thoroughly
understand him, to be haughbty and austere; because they
could not appreciate the preference of gravity for levity,
when in conversation the sacredness of relicion was in-
volved in ridicule or lanzuege forgot its chastity": Ran~
dolph, Manuscript History of Virginia, Virginia Historical
Magazine, XLIII, 125,
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in time so obvious that neither they nor their contemporaries
could fail to be almostvpainfully‘aware of it. Distinctly
different in respect to their approach ?o any problem, their
abilities were nevertheless markedly alike. Hence their
careers were constantly placed in Jjuxtaposition and competi-
tion with one another, anc¢ comparisons could not be wholly |
avoilded. No one has‘dared to say that elther was definitely
greater than the other, though if either gained a slight a.d-
vantage, it would appear that Pendleton had the better of
theif rivalry by the narrowest of margins.l
Pendleton was born on the ninth day of September, 1721,
and his seniority by'fiVe years is‘a measure of the initial
gap which Wythe had to close ©to gain a plane of eguality with
him. His ancestors, like Wythe's, immigrated about 1680, dbutl,
unlike Wythe's, ﬁhey/had attained neither noteworthy distinc-
"tion nor moderate wealth. Pendleton was a posthumous son,
and his mother remarried. When he was thirteen years old, he
was therefore apprenticed for six and a half years to Benja-
" min Robinson, the rather irresponsible clerk of the Caroline
county court.? As hnelper to Robinson in this capacity he had

an excellent chance to study at first-hand practical phases

1. Becausge of their exclusive interest in Wythe the authors
of sketches about him have failed to exploit fully the
potential drama of hls relationshiy with Pendleton, and
Pendleton's fewer memorialists have overlooked it. The
imeginative Grigsby has given it more thought than any
other previous writer: Hugh Blailr Grigsby, The Virginia
Convention of 1776, 125-130.

2. Entry of lMarch 14, 1754/5, Order Book, 1732~1740, 282,
Carollhv County Reoords
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‘Of the legal profession. Two or three years later he became
cierk of the vestry of St. liary'ts Parish; his earnings as
guch he clalimed to have devoted to the purchase of & few
pooks, presumably law treatises, Whidh he "read i.. very
diligently“.l As his term of servitude to Robinson was
~  apﬁroaching its conclusion, he gained his master's consent
to enter the bar. In April, 1741, he received a license to
.;pracﬁi$e after an examination by Edward Barradall,z and in
tne following month he was sworn as an attorney in Caroline.
A year and a helf later he was admitted with Zachary Lewis
ﬁd plead causés_before the Spotsylvania benoh.4 It was prob-
 gbly in 1746 or 1747, at one of these two county seats, that
Wythe first became acquainted with him. Pendleton had mer-
“pied a short time before he was quizzed by Barradall, but
‘his firest bride had died before & year elapsed, as did &snn
Lewls Wyﬂheas & Tew years later Pendleton merried & second

. ¢ime, as Wythe was to do, and cach of them survived his

vr————

1. Edmund Pendleton, "Autobiliography', Richmond Enquirer,
April 11, 1828. Other ncwspapers have printed this little
reminiscence, and it may also be found in Marshall Ving-
field, & History of Caroline County. '

. 2. Ibid.

3. Eatry of May 8, 1741, Order Book, 1740-1746, 42, Caroline
County Records.

4. Entry of Dccember 7, 1742, Orders, 1738-1749, 190, Spot-
- sylvania County Records.

5. Her name vwas Betty Roy. TFor minor informotion about her

v . father, Thomos Roy, sce, e.g., Order Book, 1740-1746, 20,
Order Book, 1746~1754, 232, 253, Caroline County Records.
Merried on Jonuary 21, 1741/2, she died in stillborn
childbirth, November 17, 1742,




second wife‘by o number of yeors, dving without issuc. In
1751 Pendleton became & judge of the Caroline court, and for
mony years he woas its presiding justice, aé Wythe wag over
that of Elizabeth City County. Pecndleton become & burgcss
for Cafolinc in 1752, two years carlier than Wythe's prorio-
tion to the floor of the Housce from his clerkships to stand-
ing compittecs. His cntrance to the bar of the General Court,
nowever, preceded Vythe's by almost a decade, for he becane

an advocate before that bench in its October session of 1745,
His éucoeSs there far exceeded that of any other practitioner
who lived more than a few miles from Williamsburg.

It was men like these who made the bar of the General
Court so splendid and so redolent with talents. With these
four most prominent members Vythe's career was more frequently
entwined, but a number of lesser lights increased the bril-
liance of that picturesque tribunal. Only very incomplete
records remain to tell a disconnected story of Wythe*s first‘
ten years in that court. | |

Tne first client known to have engaged his sefvices there
was Henry Fitzhugh of "Bedford", Xing George County, against
whom there were, in 1756, charges alleging improper collection

s . 0 " 4 o _ . L. 3 LY
of militia taxes.® During one of his frequent brief visits

l. Pendleton, "Autobiography", Richmond Enguirer, April 11,
1828. The principal sketches of Pendleton's carcer are:
D. J. lays, "Edmund Pendleton, 1721~1803", Virginia State
Bar Association Reports, XEXVII (1925), 392-401, and T. P.
Abernethy, "Edmund Pendleton™, Dictionary of Amcrican
Biography, XIV (1934).

2. Virginiag Historical Magazine, XAXI, 437.



to Elizabveth City County, Vythe wrote in the next year the

- following letter (which is the first from his pen now extant

o

and available) to a client in northern Fairfax County?

Your suit ag? Vest is set for trial [on] the 10th dey
of {the] next [General] court. I have directed a sub-
poena to be inclosed, if m¥ [Edmund] Pendleton or m¥
[Rovbert Carter] Nicholas has not sent you one, for sum-
moning your witnesses, since your adversary insists on
a special verdict, in stead [sic] of the case intended
to have been agreed last court. You may know of him I
suppose what facts he desires to prove, and [to] which
10 agree.t

In 17582 and again in 17609 Wythe was co-counsel with Robert

Carter Nicholas for Col. George Washington in matters relating

to the latter's titles ©to certain tracts of land. A receipt

given by Wythe in acknowledgment of payment for his services

by another client indicates that he was business~like in his

financial dealings: "Received Cct. 26th 1763 of mr Towles

Fifty shillings, my fee for defending the suit brought againss

1.

2.

-

George VWythe to lilajor John Vest, July 14, 1757, Eﬁting‘
Collection, Pennsylvania Historical Society Library.

"Cap@ 1i%kenzie [handed] me y° Flavo]r, which inclosed Sun-
dry Papers relating to y¥ Dispute with M? Strother. ....
M¥ Wythe is ... out of Town, so that I can't with any ex-
actness say when we shall have an Opportunity of giving an
Award; however I'll get it done so soon as I can': Robert
Carter Nicholas to George Vashington, January 5, 1758,
Stanislaus Murray Hamilton, ed., Letlters to Washington and
Accompanying Papers, II, 256. ' ’

Entries of April 1 and May 21, 1760, John C. Fitzpatrick,
ed., The Diaries of George VWVashington, 1748-1799, I, 147
and 163, respectively. The latter entry reads: %Wrote to
Messrs. Wicholas & With [gsic] for Advice how to act in re-
gard to [William] Clifton's Land [which I bought yesterdayl.
Sent the Letter by the Post."
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his wife by Miller on account of Young's orphans. G. Wyﬁhe.“l
The most ambiguous document found in a quest for Wythe

materials is written in an unidentified hand andysigned‘with

. vhat appears to be a bona fide Vythe autograph. It consti-

tutes & summons for an offender against the colony's gambling

1aw and for witnesscs, directcd to the sheriff of Loudoun

County:

Wmlereas] I am inform'd, that John Davis did this day
suffer and permit, unlawfull, [sic] gaming in his house
(being an ordinary [tavern]) contrary to the &scct [sic]
of Assembly in that case mede and provided =
These are therefore in his Majestie's [sic] Name to re-
guire you to summon the said John Davis immediately to
appear before me or some other Justice for the said County
to answer the [above] Premises [charges] Given under ny
hand this 10th day of Seplomber 1761 =

George Viythe
To _
The Sheriff of Loudoun
County .
Swmmon, Jares Vessell
John Minor, Ezekial Hickmen,
Martin Armstrong
David Davise

Since 1t is not known that VWythe had any connection with this
county on Virginia's northern border, and since few authentic
Wythe signatures include his Christien name in full,® =2 be-

lief that the owner of this manuscript is the innocent victim

et

1. Receipt of George Viythe, October 26, 1763, Iliiscellancous
Manuscripts Collection, New York Historical Society Library,

2. Ms. in the New York City office of The Rosenbacech Company
in Deccmber, 1836.

3. Leudoun had been constituted & separate county in 1757.
The only gonuine Wythe cutograph rccallced by the writer
to have been signed "George Wythe" (instead of the usual
"G. Wythe") is that on the Declaration of Independence,
which would be a counterfeiter's most availablce source.
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of & crude and noive forgery seems to be tenable. It is just
possible, however, that this summons furnishes & reliable and
sole clue to o lost episode in Wythe'élcareer.

A hint thot Wythe met finoncial success in his Genertl
Court practise is given by two records of business iransac-
tions in Elizobeth City County, which show that he had enough
ready cash to expond hiis property by rent and purchase. His
inherited lands were evidently decmed insufficient by him.
Probably he found that his overseer could farm profitably &
substonticlly larger territory than "Chesterville® afforded.
Thus it was thoat he secured in 1760 from the trustees of the
Syms Frece Schocl o lecse under whose terms he was to have the
use of.all but one df the 200 acres left for the school by
the will of Benjamin Syms. In addition to an annudl rental
of 30  bs, Viythe oontracted te supply four milch cows fcer

the use of the school severnl months each year, to plant an

ings which he might ercct on the leascd land.l How mony
/
years he maintained this letse-hold is not o matter of record.
In 1763, howecver, he addced 4Q acres by natent to thosc in the
county which he owncd outright.z
During 1757 and 1758 he had secrved as the legal guordian

of one¢ of the county's crphans, Lockey Cecllier by nome, vho

1. Indenture of July 15, 1760,'ds abstrocted in Starkey,
First Plantation, 34, and in Virginie Historicel llgozing,
XVII, 322.

s

2. Crozicr, cd., Virginig County Rccords, VI, 278.
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nad attended in 1756 the gramaar school at Villiam and Ilary
College.1 As a refund for his services and expenses in ﬁgis
connection, Wythe was awarded £28 14s 1144 out of the estate
which was held in Ttrust until Collierlbecame of age.2

So far as is known, VUythe was constantly one of the law-
yers at the bar of the General Court wio were chosen to com-
pose the board of examiners for embryo aﬁtorneys.“ In this
capacity there appeared vefore him garly in 1760 a rather un-
couth and unprepared young man, who had failed miserably in
a merchandizing venture as the proprietor of a country stor
in upland Hanover County and had turned to the law because he
might be able in that profession to secure reuuneration for
his @bility to talk. His name was Patrick Henry. Through
his application for & certificate attesting his gualifications
and licensing him to practise in the county cburts; Viythe un-
doubtedly received his first introduction to 2 man who was
more than any other his total antithesis, and with whom he
was to be upon no khown occaslion in anything approaching even
a virtual azreement. Henry had read law for only & very short
while, merhawps about six weeks, and promisés of diligent
future study oA his part seem to have Deen necessary to se-
cure the approval of soﬁe of his examiners. An impressioﬁ

that Vythe refused resolutely to sign his license hes

-

l. Tvler's Quarterly lagazine, VI, 58.

2. Intry of August 1, 1758, Order Book, 1755-1760, 190-191,
Blizabeth City County Records.




prevailed without exception among lenry's biographers,l but
‘a county court record disproves this m1ocmnceptloa.2 In his
more vindictive moments Wythe may have later regretted his

share in promoting young Patrick'®s ent}ance into the profes

sion in which Henry found himself.

Jefferson's Law Teacher

Patrick Henry was not the only younz man of large later
influence who travelled to Williamsburg early in the year
1760. There was another, a mere lad of aboutl seventeen years,
in whor Wyt ae seemed to detect a greater, more solid genius
and a more congenial personality thah he had found in the ill~
prepared applicant whose license he signed. - The name of thié
rather f?eckle-faced, red-~headed, and sangling youth was |
Thomas iefferson.

Born and reared just east of the Blue Rldge, farther

west than Henry, Jefferson came to the capital for a longer

- 1 et

l. This error is traceable to the confused recollections of
Jefferson fifty years or more later: enclosure of Thomas
Jefferson to Williamm Wirt, April 12, 1812, Paul Leicester
Ford, ed., The VWrit luﬁo of Thomas Jefferson, IX, 339 n.
aﬁecdo es of Jeffer on's conversations with Uebster, re—
prxnted from the Private Correspondence of Daniel Vebster
in ikid., X, 327. Dut c¢f. & report of a T similar conversa-
tion, in which Jefferson seems to have asserted that Vythe
consented finally to sign the license: John C. Fitzpatrick,
ed., Autobiography of Ilartin Van Burea (American Historical
Association Annual Revort, 1918, 1i), 186-187,

2. Henry qualified as an attorney in the Géochland county court
on & license signed by Wythe and John Randolph: Tyler's
Cuarterly Magazine, IX, 97. Another of the exeminer's 1li-
censees of about the same time was one Peter Hog (1703-1782)
whose certificate, dated 1y 10, 1759, bore the signatures
0of Peyton Randolph, Robert Cafter NlClOlaS, and Vythe:
Brock, ed., Records of Dinwiddie, I, 470 n.; Hamilton, ed.,
Letters to Vashington, I, 92 n. : '
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stay and under circumstances more favorable than Henry's.
His father, Peter, an outstanding colonial survevor and &
justice of Albemarle County, had died éhree'yéars earlier,
leaving "Shadwell? and a sizable estaﬁe; though not quite
enouzh to assure his son of independence from the necessity
of becoming a breadwinner. His nother was a first cousin of
the Randolph brothers, Peybton and John, and related to othér
éocially prominent families of the eastern Tidewater. The
advantages of adequate elementary instruction had not heen
denied hin, énd for the two preceding yeérs his teacher in
the classics had been Rev. Jaues leury, whose nawme 1s farous
as an‘Anglioan rector and nore femous as Virginia's preeminent
private tutor. With this superior béckground he enrolled
early in 1750 as a student in Willian and lMary.

A few weeks before Jefferson took that momentous step he
argued with himself, in a letter asking for his guardian’s
approval, the pros and cons of further formél study, fore-
telling accur@tely that "by going to the Collese, I shall get
a more unlversal ACquaintance, which may hereafter be service-
' ol

avle to me.... It was an intelligent provhecy; vet its

1. Thomas Jefferson to John Hervey, January 14, 1760, Bergh,
eG., Yritings of Jefferson, IV, specially »rinted on an
insert between 268 and 269. An interesting picturxe of his
feelings fifty years later alons; the same line is given in
2 letter of very paternal advice to a zrandson. "ihen I
recollect that at fourteen yeers of aze, the whole car
and direction of nyself was thrown on nyselfl entirely ...
and recollect the various sorts of bad comvany with which
I associated froi time to time, I am astonished [thet] I
did not turn off with some of them, and become as worth-
less to socliety as they were. I had the good foriune to
become acquainted very early with some characters of very
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fulfillment must have far exceeded his wildest dreams.

First among Jefferson's significant and intimate friends
outside the circle.of his classmates was Dr. William Small
(g. 1775), a 8cot who held from 1758 to 1764 the professor-
ship of mathemétics and chair of science, which educators
then usually designated natural philosophy.l In a faculty
con51st1ng largely of clerics, Small was the outstanding mem-~
ber. To Virginia he brought a reputation for thorough traln—
ing in the learning of Ruropean universities, an extensive
and costly experimental apparatus, and a very scholarly kﬁow—
ledge of the exact sclences. Previously educational studies
in the coldny had been confined almost exclusively to history,
the languages, and other subjects’classified among the arts.
Small popularized among curious Virginians for the first fime
inquiries into the higher types of mathemaﬁiés, into astron-
omy, and into physical principles;z his influence may be
detected, for example, in the exciting attenpts of William
and lMary swudents and professorq late in the century to make

balloons ascend by suspendxng a fire under their open bottoms.

high stending, and to feel the incessant wish that I could
.+. become what they were. Under temptations and diffi-
culties, I would ask myself what ... will insure me their
approbation? I an certain that this mode of deciding on
my conduct, tended more to correctness than any reasoning
powers I posqessed"' id. to Thomes Jefferson Randolph,
November 24, 1808, lDld., XIir, 197.

1. Lyon Gerdiner Tyler, Williamgburg, the 01d Colonial Capital,
147, 153, 268. Jefferson was inaccurate in supposing that
he returned to England in 1762: Bergh, cd., Writings of
Jefferson, I, 3. ‘

o——— trme—

2. Tyler, “George Vythe", loc. cit., 67.
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John Page, one of Jeffersonfs collegiate chums, fell’completeyy
under the spell of Small's enticing studies. He gloried in

the subsequent renown of his illustrious professor as "the
great Dr. Small, of Birmingham, the darling friend" of Erasmus
Darwin, @& British scientist who was Charles Darwin's grand-
father, and he shifted his intellectual interest abruptly

under Smallts tutelage from military and naval history to

mathematics and astronomy.l

To American educational method
Small made an epochal contribution by being the acknowledged
ploneer in the imtroduction of formasl lectures as a system of
collegiate instruction and by discarding for his purposes the
) ! . . -

typical textbook recitation.2

As a student Jefferson had the utmost respect for this
teacher who became the first real mdulder of his character,
and ih later years hé wrote of Small . in terms of_downrighﬁ
fervency. Describing him as "a man profound in most of the
useful branches of science, with a happy talent of cormunice-
tion, corréct and gentlemanly manners, and an enlarged and
liberal mind",3 Jefferson attributed to him the initiation

in both the grammar school and cocllege of "rational and

1. Autobiographical Sketch of John Page, Virginia Historical
ngister,Q15O-151. It is also claimed that Small was an
intimate friend, after his emigration from the colony, of
James Weatt, whom he aided in the invention of & practical
steam engine: Tyler, “"George VWythe", loc. git., 66; Tyler,
Willismsburg, 153. On Page's interest in astronomy see
Thomas Jefferson to John Page, February 21, 1770, Bergh,
ed., Writings of Jefferson, IV, 19-20.

2. Tyler, Williamcburg, 153, 268; Cornclius J. Heatwcle, A
Hisvory of Education in Virginia, 91.

$. "autobiography', Bergh, ed., Uritings of Jefferson, I, 3.
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elevated courses of study", and recalled that, "from an extre-
ordinary conjunction of eloquence and logic", he had been able
to teach his students "with great effect." "Dr. Small¥,
Jefferson affirmed, "was ... to me as a father. to [sic] his
enlightened and affectionaﬁe guidance of my studies ... at
College I am indebted for every thing [ggg]";l and upon
another occasion the grateful pupil wrote: YHe, most hapoily
for me, became soon attached to me, and made me his daily
companion when not engaged in the school; and from his conver-
sation I got my first views of the expansion of science, and
of the systemwof things in which we are p‘laced."2

Vythe was Small's Ybosom friend";® they were Tinsepar-
able. And it was undoubtedly in reference to the fact that
the professor procured‘for«his pupil Wythe's patronaget that
 Jefferson could Llook back upon his contact with the Scotch
educator as the thing which Yprobably fixed the destinies of
my life...."% Tor Jefferson graduated from the College in
1762, and Small returned to England two years later; but ﬁhe
young graduate's infimate association with Vythe continued
for about two decades in actuality and was never interrupted

in spirit until Wythe's death.

1. Thomas Jefferson to L. H. Girardin, January 15, 1815,
Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress.

2. "Autobiography", Bergh, ed., Uritings of Jefferson, I, 3.

3. Thomas Jefferson to L. H. Girardin, January 15, 1815,
Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress,

4, "Autobiography", Bergh, ed., Writings of Jefferson, I, 3.



There was also a third man whose friendship Jefferson
valued much. By Small and Wythe Jefferson was introduced to
Francis Fauquier,l a "highly enlightened" official who had
come to Virginia as successor to Lieutenant-Governor Dinwiddic
in the saméByear that Small had taken over a professorship in
the College. He was a man of "much greater learning and
judgment® than his predecessor, whose lack of education had
prompﬁea an artificial fondness for appearing to be a patrén
of learding.z To Fauquier, who was a fellow of the Royal
Society of England,5 this role was utterly natural, not a
thing to be simulaﬁed. After two or three years Fauguier's
family gave up its residence in‘ﬁhe colony, and he lived the
life of & wealthy bachelor in the handsome Governor's Palace,
which could thus be devoted unrestrictedly to almost any use
his Tancy might suggest, including informél weekly concerts
by violinist Jefferson and several other ama‘teur‘musicians.4

George Wythe was, in Jefferson'’s phrase, Fauquier's

"amici omnium horarum [friend of all hours]", and another

fancy of the pleasant lieutenant-governor took the form of
invitations to Wythe, Small, and Jefferson for mealg at the
Palace. To the "habitual conversations on these occasions",

Jefferson recalled with pride many years later, %I owed much

1. Thomas Jefferson to L. H. Girardin, January 15, 1815,
Jefferson Papers, Liorary of_Congress.

2. Autobilographical Sketch of John Page, Virginia Historical
Register, III, 146-147.

3. Tyler, Williamsburg, 36.

4. Thomas Jefferson to L. H. Girardin, January 15, 1815,
Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress.
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again, he stated almost boastingly that these

nadmi/-tted me always to make it a partie quarrée" [sic]

’g,‘;.’ party of four], observing in conclwsion that "at thes’e
rerg L oo heard more good sense, more rational & philo-

ovhical conversations than in all my life besides. they

B v+ |

fnic] were truly attic [gig] societies."2 Yet Jefferson, ﬁhen,
apout twenty years old, was in some measure entitled to exult
'”qu,his acceptance on a basis approaching equality in the
sgéiety,of Fauquier, then about fifty~Live, of Small,.theg‘
“;&%mﬁ;fortwaive, and of Wythe, then about thirty-five:; the
disparity in ages is sufficient excuse for the pardonable
n'~g3nity with which the youngest of the guartet told of thelr
Q:fmcial and intellectual companionship. Just how 16ng this
kagsociation continued cannot be determined, though it would
goem that all four met intermittently during 1761 and 1762.°
uut there can be no doubt as to its benefits for the student
© zsfferson. Few facilities at any spot upon the globe could
J lh3ve equalled the opportunity for the acquisition of éulture,

-~ far & liberal education, and for abstract lessomns in the

- Y. "Autobiography", Bergh, ed., VWritings of Jefferson, I, 4,

%. Thomas Jefferson to L. H. Girardin, Janvary 15, 1815,
Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress.

%. Doubtless it began before the close of the year 1760 and

- continued withouv notable lapse until Jefferson's gradua-
tion late in 1762, from that date until Dr, Small's depart-
ure for England in the fall of 1764, when it was certainly
broken up as & guarrée, Jefferson was away from Williams-
burg several months each year. Thus, as Jefferson implied,
it wvas primarily @ habit of his periocd as a student in the
College. : ; ’
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rights of man which Jefferson found in intimate acquaintance
with this' trio of inspiring elders. From Small, the exweri-
mental scientist, he might absorb that unéuenchable thirst

for practical knowledge in largely uncharted fields of natural
science which was to find so many expressioné in his public
career and private life. Fauguier, the courtly and exper-
ienced man of the world, might instill in him the charms of
cultured society, a taste for intellectual conversation, and
the attributes of goVernmental autliority properly administered.
Prom Wythe, the self~educated but scholarly lawyer, he might
derive a love of learning for its own sake, the logical

method of approaching every problem with assurance that

reason should prevail as the sole criterion for weighing its
alternatives, and that familiarity with the great principlés
of jurisprudence and democracy which was to enable him to be-
come a foremast reformer of American political and social
iﬁs%itutions. His biographers without exception‘have right~
fully extolled the 1nf1uence of these three men upon the1£
impressionable protege; some of them are inclined to interpret
him as but a disciple of the distinctive merits of each, de-
claring that scarcely any phase of his exceptionally versatile
interests cannot be traced to an origin ih onc or another of
those with whbm he chatted at Fauguicr's table.t

ALl too séon Jefferson's close fellowship with Small and

Fauquier was interrupted, if not disrupted, by his graduation

l. Sce esp.;, ec.g., Albert Jay Nock, Jeffcrson, 17, for the
most direct c¢laim to this 01fect.



from WVilliam and lary late in the year 1762. But liberal
tuition under Dr. Swall's inguiring guidance was supplanted
by the greater advantage of profes sxon I training under the
capable eye of Wythe, who remained Jefferson's closest asso-
ciate throughout all his formative years. In the thankful
words of the young graduate himself, Smell "filled up the
measure of his goodness to me, by procuring for me, from his
most intimate friend, George Wythe, & recepition as & suu“ent

ul It has been remarked as cur-

of law, under his direction.
ious that this opening should have been accepted by a kinsman
of Peyton aﬁd John Randolph, either of whom might well have
become his legal instructor.® Whatever the explanation of
Jeffersonts preference for Wythe, he never found cause to re-
gret his choice -~ though those who think speculation on the
nirs® of history profitable might enjoy a peifeot revelry of
guess~work by applying their deliberations to the profound
nossible changes in the course of American development had
iefferson fallen directly under the influence of & conservé;
tive Randolph brain instead of/Wythe*s more progressive mind.
For the next four or five ycars Wythe was to Jeffefson what
Stephen Dewey haed been to Wythe some twenty or twenty-five

years earlicer; but the shoes of & legal mentor fitted,Wythe

1. "Autobidgraphy",jBorgh, ceds, Writi of Jeffersor on, I, 3.

2. Jeffersonts choice has been attributed partially to Wythets
reputation for learning and chiefly to a ®talent for teach-
ing, which was carly displayecd by him....%: Tyler, “George
Wythe®, locs cit., 67. But no available rccords substant-
iate the supposition that his ability as o teacher had be-
comc cvident before 1763.
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yettor than they had DEWey, nndkhis more insplring instruction
- met & more gfntcful responsc in Jefferson.

Tor & year, however, the mind of the legal aspirant was
sorely distracted from serious study by thoughts of a young
1ady, Rebéoca Burwell by naie, wWith whom he had fallen com~
f ,pletely in love. Wythe saw %to it that he had & copy of that

k'admirable standard treatise upon which the bar ofhthe'day wa s

 purtured, Coke upon Littleton. After a preliminary perusal

of its pages, the young graduate set oul for a winter to be

" gpent at home in digesting more ‘thoroughly the observations

‘o Sir Edward Coke (1552-1634). Christmas found him a day's
~journey from "Shadwell® and in a very despondent frame of

mind. He awoke that morning to find himself the victim of
several overnight misfortunes, including the theft by rats of
recently purchased sheet music of half a dozen minuets for his
violin. Worse still, rain had seeped through a leak in the
roof of his room and drowned his watch, whereby, as he expressed
it, nis timekeeper "had lost her speech®. His 1ll-luck reached
absolutely catastrophic proportions when, in an attempt to
rescue from its place in the web case of his watch his picture
of the fairARebecca, he tore irreparably the thoroughly soaked
paper upon which that priceless portrait had been reproduced.
4t a loss for any other adeguate explanation, Jefferson attri-
buted this almost unbcarable serics of calamities to a satanic
“curse upon him and eascd his pain by writing to a chum, John
Page, & comically pathetic description of these exnggerated

i 5-103

mishaps and of his sad recollections of the gay friends from
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whom ne was separated. In a delightful vein of mock frivol-

Tia

ity he continued, in part:

" And now, althousgh the »nicture he.defaced, there is so

1ively an image of hev[Rebecca Burwell] impriunted in
my mind, that I shall think of her too often, I fear,
for my peace of mind; and too often, I an sure, to getl
through old Coke this winter; for God knows I have not
seen him since I packed him up in ny trunk in Willians-
burg. Well, Page, I do wish the Devil had old Coke,
for I am sure I never was so tired of an old dull
scoundrel in my life. VWhat! are there so few inquie-
tudes tacked to this momentary life of ours, that we
must need be loading ourselves with a thousand nore?
Or, as brother Job says, (who, by-the~bye, I think be-
gan to whine a little under his afflictions,) "Are not
ny days few? Cease, then, that I may teke comfort a
1ittle before I go whence I shall ncet return, even to
the land of darkness, and the shadow of death." Dut

- the old fellows say we must read to gain knowledge, and
gain knowledge to make us happy and admired. Mere
ig;gon! Is there any such thing as happiness in this
world? No. And as for admiration, I am sure the man
who powders most, and talks most nonsense, is most ad-
mired. Though to be candid, there are some who have
too much good sense to esteem such nonkey-like animals
as these, in wvhose formation, as the saying is, the
tailors and barbers go halves with God Almighty; and
since these are the only persons whose esteem is worth
a wish, I do not know but that, upon the whole, the
advice of these old .fellows may be worth following.t

Py

The youth to whom thiis humorous disvutation was addresgzd cbn—
 firmed an opinion that its sound conclusion was acted upon b}
describing Jefferson as one “who- could téar himself away from
nis dearest friends, to fly to his studies...."@ And the
student himself is supposed to have hinted thaﬁ concentration
upon the wearisome pages of Coke's primer of the law would
repay the effort of a thorough reader, by referring to it as

a work "printed in black letter, and offering as little

L r—

1. Thomas Jefferson to John Page, December 25, 1762, Bergh,
ed., Writings of Jefferson, IV, 3-4.

2, Autobiography of John Page, Virginia Historicgl Register,
I11,~151. -




promise of cnteritcinment or instruction as the outside o:
gold mine does of the wealih within. I

Jefferson formulated a tentative wlan for returning to
Williamsburg late in the spring of 1765;2 it failed to mater-
jalize. But by nid-summer he was certain that he would be in
the capital again when the General Court met for its October
session.3 He had & report to make to Wythe on his progress
in perusing Lord Coke, and of the privilege of hearing the
instructive arguments‘of his mentor and other advocates be-
fore the colony's supreine tribunal he wished to take full ad-
vantage.4 But his objects in making the trip did not exclude
social interests, for he had long anticipated the visit as an
opportunity fo ﬁress his sqit for Rebecca Burwell's hand.5
En route easfward, hé reflected in & letter fromlRichmond, "
do not 1ikevthe upns and downs of a country life: today you are
frolicking with a fine girl and Tomorrow you are moping by
yourself. Thank God! I shall shortly be where my happiness

will be less interrupted." He was willing to confess high

v i i - oo —

1. €uoted from an unnamed source by Bugene L. Didier, "Thomas
Jefferson as & Iawyer", The Green Bag, XV (April, 1903),
153. ‘

2. Thomas Jefferson to John Page, January 20, 1763, Bergh,
ed., Writings of Jefferson, IV, 7.

3. Id. to id., July 15, 1763, ibid., 1l.

4. "The court is now at hand, which I must attend constantly,
so that unless you come to town, there is little probabil-
ity of my meeting with you anywhere else": id. to id.,
October 7, 1763, ibid., 12. ‘

15, 1763, ibid., 8-10. —

5. Id. %o id., Jenuary 20, 1763, ibid., 7; id. to id., July
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hopes to his classmate, William Flening:
... I have thought of the cleverest plan of life that
can be imagined: You exchan%e your land for Edgehlll
[an estate near Jefferson's "Shadwell" in Albemarle
County] or I mihe for Fairfields [an estate near
Fleming's]: You marry Se——y Pe—r, I marry R-—a
Beeml and [we?ll] get ... a pair of keen horses, prac-
tise the law in the same courts, and drive about to all
the dances in the country together....

But Jefferson had romantic, youth-like dreams, too, of
fitting out a sailing craft as a means to cross the Atlantic
for extensive Buropean travels, and settling down in stable
domesticity was an enviable goal which could wait the satia-
tion of his wanderlust.a Thus, when he made upon two occasions
the intended preliminary overtures to his Rebecca, they con-
stituted at best only & conditional pro;posa.l,3 He had some
months of anxious suspense,4 and when his answer was finally
received late that winter, it came in the form of gossipy
assurances that the lady who had won his heart would soon be
married to another sultor. With more resignation than his
previous ardent letters on the subject would have led one to

expect in him he wrote to Fleming the following account of his

1. Thomas Jefferson to William Fleming, [September or very
early October, 1763,] reprinted by A. 8. W. Rosenbach,
“Letters That We Ought to Burn®, Saturday Evening Post,
CCVIII (February 29, 1936), 62. ' _

2. Thomas Jefferson to John Page, Januvary 20, 1763, Bergh,
ed., Writings of Jefferson, IV, 7-8; id. %o id., July 15,
1763, ibid., 8-10.

5. Id. to id., October 7, 1763, ibvid., 12; id. to id., Janu-
‘ ury 19, 1?64 ibid., i3-14. Thae second of these letters
bore a belutea account of o much earlier interview, which
also occurred in October.

4. Page was instructed to tell Rebecca, ... I think as I
alwoys did'; id. o id., Jonuary 23, 1764, ibid., 16.



disappointment:

with regard to the scheme whloh I proposed to you some
time since, I am sorry to tell you 1t is totally frus-
trated by miss R. B's marriage with Jacquelin Ambler
which the people here tell me they dazly expect: I say,
the people here tell me so, for (can you veleive {sic]
it?} I have been so abominably indolent as not to have
seen her since last October; whereupon I cannot affirm
that I know it from herself, though [I] am as well sat-
igfied that it is true as im she had told me. well the
lord bless her I say! Dbut S——y P——r is still left
for you. I have given her a dcsorlptlon of the gentle~
man who, as I told her, intended to make her an offer
of his hand, and asked vwhether or not he might expect
it would bo agoapted. gho would not determine Lill aho
ghe saw him or his pidture.... (mind that I mentioned
‘no name to her.) you sa2y you are determined to be mar-
ricd as soon as possible: and advisc mce to do the samc.
no, thank yc; I will considecr of it first. many and
great arc the comforts of a single state, and neither
of the reasons you urge can have any influcnce. ...+

By the strangest of coincidences, & davghter of Jacquelin and
Rcbecca Burwell Ambler so completely won some sixtceen yoars
later the affcctions of another of Wythe's students, John Mar-v
shell, that thce distraught young men abandoncéd utterly the
lcarncd tcachings of Prof. Wythc in the very midst of his
academic coursc at Willian and Mary. 2 chforuon wos less
lucky in love but morc succcssful in hlS carly study of the
lavw.

To absorption in Coko s worthy trcatisc the jilted
Jefferson turnced as to & welcome analgesic. In o scnse in
which the term could not previously have been usced, low be-

came his mistress in 1764; he opplicd himsclf to the task of

L. Thomus Jofferson to William Fleming, Morch 20, 1764, photd«
static copy prinvted in Rosenbach, loc. cit., 13.

St

148-161.

2. Cf. &lbert J. Beveridge, Thc Lifc of Jobn liorshell, I,



preparation for the bar with rencwed intercst ana industry.l
Probably'his cmbition to cmulate tho-public carcer of his
menbor wos guickened by the almost conucmporuncou collapscs
of his love affeir ond of thosc reverics in which he had
fondly picturcd himsclf aos o woyfarcr in the Old World. If
so, the intcntion of imitoating ﬂlS me Stbr'u outstonding cx-
ample in the renlm of politics become an additional incentive
to untifing study, for hc must have rcalized then that, os he
expresscd it later, low Yis the most certain stcpping-sﬁomc
to ﬁrefermﬁnt in the political line."?

Beginning in 1764 Jefferson usually spent his winters in
Williamsburg, retiring each summer from the routine of "devil-
ling® for Wythe and the tedium of stowing away in his menmory
or notes requisite gems of legal precedent to the less ex-
acting, c¢ontemplative life of "Shadwell®, his Albemarle County
home. His closest friend in that section of the colonyrwas
" his neighbor, Dabney Carr, who had attended William and Méry
as one of his'oontcmpo7aries.b They were constant companions
during the two or threce hot months, and thereby hangs a heart-
warnming tale of the fidelity of man to man. . Like‘Jefforson,
Carr was siudying law; both were mentally alert and clcver,

both devoted to reading. They were accustomed to go cach

1. Didier, loc. cit., 153; Francis V. Hirst, Lifc and Letters
of Thomes chfcrson, 30-3L. A pecrtincent but rather apoc-
.Typhal litcrary curiosity deallng with that period is
[ John Estoen Cooke,] The Youth of Jefferson, or & Chronicle
of College Scrapes at UlllluﬂubUrF in Virginia, &.D. 1764.

2. Thomas Jefferson to Thomas Moann Randolph, Jr., Iy 30,
1790, Bergh, cd., Writings of Jeffcrson, VIII, 31.
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morning to & rustic scat which’thoy had constructed undcr &
huge oak in & favorite and cool nook of the ancicnt forcst,
atop & small mountain some two or threce npiles from "ShadwellY,
and there to spend blissful days in meditative rceoding or
ccrnest conversntion. To commemorate the fellowship of thoée
priceless hours,bthey entered solemnly into a compact that he
who survived the other should bury the first to die under that
oak which marked their haven. A few years later Carr married
Jefferson‘s sister and was o colleague of his brother-in~law
in the House of Burgesses, but he died in less than a decade,
before hé had oeen able to do much to perpetuate his name.1
Jefferson, who had begun in the meantime to build upon that
mountain, three or.four hundred yards away, his matchless
home, "Monticello", was true to the terms of their agrcement;
and the spot became in time also the place of his burial. To
it thousands from every corner of the carth have made tho;r
pilgrimages, unaware of the faithfulness of him they honor to
youthful vows with a chum that their wooded rctroat should be
forcever hallowed with their dust as a symbol of the best in
friendsh‘ip“;2 Quite aside from the fact that the study and

intelligent discussion in which Jeffcerson and Carr thus

l. He is romembercd as the patriot who, at Jeffersonts bchest,
moved on the floor of the Housc that an intcer-colonial Caem-
mittce of Corrcspondcence should be &ppointed for Virginia
— g motion which initiatcd thc organizotion of the chicf
Revolutionary mcans toward cohicsion and ccoperation.

2. Most of the detoils of this anccdote.were recorded by
Didicr, loc. cit., 154. Though largecly neglcctecd by
Jeffeorsonts biographers, littlc doubt can be cntertaincd
as to its authenticity.
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indulged must have often included great legal principles, a
sequel to the story of their summers together is of ilmmense
interest in Wythe's life, for when Jefferson was directing
from abroad twenty years later the education of Dabney Carxr's
soh, he counted it the highest possible earthly blessing that
his nephew sghould be under the instruction of George Wythe.
Wythe's continued guidance and his own good sense led
Jefferson after 1763 to revise drastically his jesting char-
acterization of Lord Coke, that giant of British jurispru-
dence,1 as a "dull old scouﬁdrel“. Coke's interpretation of
the English constitution may have played a part ih moulding
his political thought. So far as the analogy was applicable
to American institutions after 1789, he built his democratic
party upon principles which correspond in a general way to
Coke's; and when those principles began to lose theif sway in
the governmext of the United States, he ascrlbed their decline
partially to the fact that Coke's textbook had been Cas{ into
virtual discard and that later legal génerations'had'been

reared upon the renowned Commentaries of Sir William Black-

s‘cone,_2 whose really dull lectures at Oxford ‘on the same

materials were largely unsuccessful.

1. An excellent recent American biography is that of Hastings
Lyon and Herman Block, Edward Coke: Oracle of the Law; an
old English account is that of Cuthbert William Johnson,

The Life of Sir Edward Coke, Lord Chief Justice of England
in in the R Relpn of *James L, with Memoirs of his Contemporarics.

2. Thomas Jefferson to John Tyler, May 26, 1810, Bergh, ed.,
Writings of Jefferson, XII, 392-393; ld to Thomas Cooper,
January 16, 1814, 1b1d., YIV 63; id. “to Horatio G. Spaf-
ford, March 17, 1814 ibid., ll9 120 id. to James ldison,
Eébruary 17, 18~6, lbld-, XVI, 156.
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But it was not upon Coke alone that Wythe fed his pupil;
Jefferson progressed early to less elementary studies. Doubt:-
less he had access to Wythe*s“iarge 1ibrary; and he certainly
could command enough ready cash to purchase the books which
he needed most. Thus he asked of a friend the loan of a comp-
ilation of English statutory law until he could procure &
copy of his own.1 There could'be little superficiality about
training in his mentor's law office; he learned there to look
down with utter contempt upon & mere smattering of knowledge.
The whole range of c¢ivil and common law passed under his re-
view, and neither he nor his teacher was content till he had
traced painstekingly every principle to its remotest origin
in ﬁhe Roman system or in the period when good King Alfred“
had ruled the Saxons. Among others, he explored the formid-
able treatise on ancient Engiish laws written in Latin by
Bracton, @ contemporaneous interpreter of logna Charta. The
whole enormous volume of early and reccent British jurispru-
dence, as recorded in texts and commentaries, in rude ancient
~tongues and in the modern vernacular, became Jefferson's pos-

session.® When circumstances later in his life afforded hinm

l. Id. to John Page, Januvary 19, 1764, ibig., IV, 14.

2. Cf. csp. the ,eulogy on Jefferson deliverced by William Wirt
before the House of Representatives, October 19, 1826,
ibid., XIII, xii; Didicr, loc. cit., 155. 1In an informa-
tive letter to a scholar of a later gencration he reviewed
with surprising complctencss and accuracy of memory the
bibliography of Inglish law, plcading for a translation of
Bractonts Dc Legibus Angliae to fill the greatest lacuna
in American lcgal literaturc: Thomas Jeffcerson to Thomas
Cooper, January 16, 1814, Bergh, ced., Writings of Jeffer-
son, XIV, 54-59. : T
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opportunities to suggest readings for other law students, he
advocated courses which were, like his own, both broad and
deep-l A1l the rudiments of intellectual abiiity which re-
posed in Jefferson's mind could scarcely have escaped stimule -~
“tion under such & regimen as that to which he was subjected.

| In 1767 Wythe surveyed his work with his promising
pupil and pronounced it good. In that year, just as Zachary
Lewis had assisted him in the practise of county courts, he
introduced hig protégé to that tribunal before which he then
practised -—— in the words of the student himself, grateful be-
cause Wythe continued "to be my faithful and beloved mentor in
‘youth, and my most affectionate friend through life", ®he led
ne into the practice of the law at the bar of the General
court;.;."z There for seven years he worked as & colleague
- of Wythe and Pendleton., The brilliance of his pélitiéal
career should noﬁ'be‘permitted to overshadow his justly credit-
able reputatibn as an attorney. Eloquence he did not have,
and in delivering convincing arguments he was definitely the

inferior of most leaders at the bar; but in the solid

1. See, e-g., Thomas Jefferson to Thomas lMann Randolph, Jr.,
May 30, 1790, Bergh, ed., Vritings of Jefferson, VIII, 31~
32; id. to Dabney Terrell, February 28, 1821, ibid., XV
318~ 32&’ id. to an unknown addressee, August 30, 1814, re-
printed in Henry S. Randall, The Life of Thomas Jefferson,
I, 52-57. '

2. "Autobiography", Bergh, ed., Vritings of Jefferson, I, 4.
Cf. the similar statement made in corrcopondcnce, LG oocamc
0qua1nued with Mr. Wythe when he was about thirty-five
years of age. He directed my studics-in the law, led mo
into business, and continucd, until [his] death my most
affectionate friend": Thomas Jefferson to John Sanderson,
August 31, 1820, Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress.
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accomplishments of an efficient dffice lawyer he had very few
superiors. It was not long before Wythe, who had already more
than his share of hard-won fame; could bask in the reflected
glory of his student's firmly established and lucrative
clientele.l

That Jefferson did not relinguish under the exigencies
of practise habits of thorough stddy is quite adequately ia-
dicated by his commonplace book, a manuscript volume of more
than 300 pages which he filled with the results of his labors.
Though it had long been known t0 exist among his preserved
papers, partial appreciation of its value did not come until
a dozen years ago.2 Perhaps somevhat unfortunately, the date
" of its beginning cannot be exactly and indubitably detérmiheda
If Jefferéon's memory be accepted as literally accurate after
fifty years, he started to jot down its notes in 1764, upon

completing his perusal of Coke's ijf,"inmr.?3 Exhaustive rescarch

1. Randall, Thomas Jefferson, I, 46-52; Didier, loc. cit.,
153; VWirt,. Eulogy on Jefferson, Borgh eley Irltlngs of
Jefferson, XIII, xi.

2. The original was only recently made available for consulta-
tion; it is among the Jefferson Papers, Library of Congrcsﬁ.
Rescued from a lengthy oblivion, it was summarized in toto
and published in part, with & scholarly introduction by
Gilbert Chinard, cd., The Comnonplace Book of Thomas Jeffer-
son: a RepertOLV of His Idcas on Covornwent—TJohns Hopkins
uanLrSlty Studies in Romence Titeratures and Languagas,
extra volume I1I '

3. ¥.o. I promised you & sample from my common-place book, of
the pious disposition of the Pnglloh judges, to connive at
the frauds of the clergy, & disposition which has cven
rendered them faithful allies in practice. VWhen I wos 2
student of the law, now half a ccntury ago, after getting
through Coke [uaon} Littleton, whosc matter cannot be
abridged, I was in the habit of abridging and common-pla P¢vg
[810] what I rcad meriting it, qnd of sometimes mixing my

~



on théméaéétion has failed to reveal any confirmation of that
recollection; it can be established only that two~thirds of
the volume was penned while Jefferson was a student or prac-
titioner of law, and that nearly all of the remaining third

1 There

was written in one or both of the years 1775 and 1776
_is, however, ro particular reason to doubt that Jefferson re-
merbered well %he time of thé initiation of a book in the
writing of which he spent countless hours. Yet, to be on the
safe side, let it be assumed only that its first section was
recorded some time before 1775 ~ it matters relatively 1ittlec
in the final analysis‘whether it was begun before or after
1767, for in either case the volume undoubtedly represents
strongly Vythe's influence.

Whatever the dates of its synopses, the commonplace book
shows that Jefferson, as a student or as an attorney, made a-

long series of abstracts from parts three and four of Lord

Coke's Institutes of the Iaws of Xngland and from the reports
by William Salked, George Andrews, and RObert‘RaYmond of de~
cisions handed down within the las?t hundred years by judges

of the King's Bench. In his reading of these materials

own reflections on the subject. I now enclose you the ex-
tract from these entrics which I promised. They were
written at a time of life when I was bold in the pursuit

of knowledge, ncver fearing to follow truth and reason to
whatever results they led, and bearding every authority
which stood in their woy. This must be the apology, if

you fivid the conclusions boldcer thon historicel facts and
principles will warrant": Thomas Jefferson to Thomos Coopers
Fcbruory 10, 1814, Bergh, cd., Writings of Jefferson, XIV,
85. ' i ~

1. Chinard, cd., Commonplace Book of Jeffcrson, 4-14.
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Jefferson ran the gamut of weighty opinions in complicated
suits of inheritarnce and trespass, for masters'! remuneration
of their servants' misdéeds, and for dgbts contracted by wives
without their husbands' knowledge. BExtracting from these
works all information which might prove serviceable to him in
hroutine'business, he wrote notes for reference on more than

1 The succeeding section of

five hundred separate articles.
the book, written between 1774 and 1777, was based, in keeping
with Jefferson's growing interest in politics, upon more phil-

osophical legal materials, including Lord Kames' fourteen

Historical Law Tracts (first published in 1758), Sir John Dal~-

rymple's Essay towards ggGeneral History of Feudal Properiy

in Great Britain {London, 175%7), and Hale's History of the

Common Law {London, 1716). Studies in these works gave him

confimmation for his theories regarding the natural rights of

man and legal precedents for his program of a complete re-

vision of Virginia's entire constitution and code just after
<

the proclamation of her indepcndence -— a campaign in which

Wythe was to be his closest associate and firmest ally.2

1. Ibid., 14-16, summerizing the contents of articles 1-556.
Because of his interest in the political rather than legal
phases of the volume, Chinard prints only the number, title,
and source of cach article {with cxceptions for articles
550-556) in the first half of the book: ibid., 67-95.

2. Ibid., 16-20, summerizing articlcs 557-587, which arc
printcd in ibid., 95-164. Articles 588-693, bascd upon
Coke's rcports of cases adjudged by the King's Bench during
the reign of Quccen IElizabeth, arc summerized and printed
by titles only in ibid., 20-21 and 164-167, rcspectively.
Completing this sccond scction of the volume arc compora-
tive historical studies beforc 1777 in articles 694-881,
which arce summarized and printed in ibid., 21-51 and 167-
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Tarly in the year 1770 a catastrophe struck the young
lawyer with the typical suddenness and destruction of fire;
- nghadwell® burned, and the ruinous flames enveloped nearly
all his possessions. To his friend, John Page, he wrote this

pathetic account of the accident: i
[News of] iy late loss may perhaps have reached you by
this time; I mean the loss of my mother's house by fire,
and in it of every paper I had in the world, and almost
every book. On a reasonable estimate I calculate the
cost of the books burned to have been 200 sterling.
Would to God it had been the money, then had 1t never
cost me a sigh! To make the loss more sensible, it fell
principally on my books of Common Law, of which I have
but one left, at that time lent out. Of papers too of
every kind I am utterly destitute. All of these, whether
public or private, of business or of amuscment, have
perished in-the flames. I had made some progress in
preparing for the succeeding General Court; and having
as was my custom, thrown my thoughts into the form of
notes, I troubled my head no more with them. , These are
gone, and like the baseless fabric of a vision, leave
not a trace behind. The records also, and other papers
which furnished me with states of the scveral cascs,

~having sharcd thc same fatc, I have no foundation wherc-
on to sct out ancw. I have in vain attempted to recol-
lect some of them; the defcet sometimes of onc, some-
times of morc circumstances, rendering thom so imperfect

nat I canamake nothing of them. What am I to do then
in 4April [when the court convenes]?l

To Wythe also he must have despatched the sad tidings of the
scverce mishap, for his mcntor undcrtook -~ in & lctter which
is the first roamant of their long and mutually devotced corrcsw

pondencce to be preserved - to console him with gifis and an

364, respectively. The romaining articles 882-905, written
after 1L78L, arc of 1littlc significance, though they contain
some legal matters: ibid., 364-376.

l. Thomas Jefferson to John Page, Fcebruary 21, 1770, Bergh,
cd., Writings of Jeffcrson, IV, 18. HEvidcently his common-
place book weas onc of thosce which cdscaped the peril
unscathed.
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appropriate quotation from Vergil:

I scnd you some noctarine and apricot grafits and
gropevines, the best I had; and have dirccted your mes-
scnger to call upon mnjor [ icbﬂrdj Taliaferro for somo
of his. You will olso rcccive two of Toulisfs cata
logues. lMrs Uytho will scnd you some gardcn peas.:

. You bear your misfortune so becomlingly, that, as

I am convinced you will surmount the difficulties it
has plunged you into, so I foresee you will héreafter
reap advantages from it £1n] several ways. Durate, et
vosmet rebus servate secundils {Be strong and save your-
selves for prosperity].:

Thus had George Wythe prepared Jefferson for a career at
the bar and hence indirectly for his greater attainments in
statecraft. During the last fifty odd years of his life
Jefferson ceased to practise law, but his work in none of
that series of public positions into which he was drawn at
the opening of the Revolution was entirely devoid of testi-
monies to the value of his professional training. Had he
been paid not & single shilling for his services in his seven
short years at the bar, the total of his twelve years pursuit
of the law could by no means be deemed a waste of time or
talents. Nor had Vythe cast his pearls before swine: seldom
has a teacher been rewarded with such constant sdoration from
his student as that which Jefferson showered upon him. Though
usuelly far separated geographically, Wythe and Jefferson
meinteined uninterruptedly their fellowship in spirit; theirs
was o closer harmony of thought and action thon that of any
other pair of Virginians in any era. Indeed, they are knowmn

to have disagreed in the lcast degrec on only one gquestion of

1. George Wythc to Thomns Jofforson, Murch 9, 1770, chferson
Papers, lMassachusetts Historical Socicty Lkbrwry.
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public policy, and then only when Jefferson had been long ab-
sent from the continent. So similar were their views on
.nearly every subject that 1t ig often impossible to determine
whether the mentor or the pupil was the original father of

ideas enunciated by either.

The General Court, 1766-1775

The chafacter of the bvar of the General Court during the
final decade of its colopial existence underwent comparatively
few significant changes. Robert Carter Wicholas dropped out
of its ranks and reSigned his practise, for, as will be noted
in another connection, he rescued in & sclf-sacrificial manne:
the office of Virginia's treasurer from less respected and
‘less compefent hands when a vacancy occurred in 1765. The
reputations of Wythe and Pendleton, in relation to those of
the two Randolphs, werc constantly on the ascendancy,‘if there
was any change at all in the ranking of its leaders; the two
self-ecducated laWyers were morce likely after 1765 to be named
before their English-trained célloagues in contcmporary
cnumerations of its personnel. But competition of mcmbers in
the lower bracket was rather futile, despitc occaslonal in-
fusion of ncw blood in such talcnted persons as Jefferson and
Patrick Honry.l Perhaps the most striking advancce achicved
by any of the older minor advocates was that of Thomson llson

(1733-1785), younger brother of the famous George Mason and a

1. Henry wes admitted in 1769. TFor an ecstimatce of his carcer
at that bar sce Wirt, Patrick IHcnry, 88-95.
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1 Though not un=~

former practitioncer in the Middlc Tomplc.
challenged, the position of Wythe, Pendlcton, and the Ron-
dolph dbrothers remained impregnable.

It mey well be lamented that so 1ittlc is known about
the activitics of thesc men in o court vhich wes admittedly
resplendent with the colony's ablest minds. Shafts of im-
posing logic and darts of illogical oratory must have rent
the air of at old courtroom in the copitol building o5 =
in utmost cfforts to win advantages over cach other in the
oycsAof gollery, jury,ond members of the Councill sitting in
their judicinl coapacity — thosc glonts of the bor mustered
cevery legal preccedent ond strotogoem they knew. Dockets and
other papers of the court, with o few scoattercd cxeceptions,
hove met destruction of onc kind or another in subscgqucent
yeors, and 1t never hod in the modern scnsc of the term an
officinl reporter to record its procccdings. After his od-
mission to its bar, howcver, Jcffers on took notcs on some of
its principal cascs which illustratcd litigation arising ox-
clusively under the colony's own cnactments.  Found among his
papers by his éxocutor, this manuscript was posthumously pub-
1ished.® Eloven suits, adjudged between the scssions of
October, 1768, and October, 1772, inclusive, werc included in

his informal, uncven notations. Tor two of thesc he did not

1. Frceman H. Hart, “Thomson lason®, Dictionary of Amcrican
Biography, XII. '

2. Thomags Jefferson, Reports of Cascs Determined in the ucn-
cral Court of Virginie from 1730 %o 1740 and from 17 1768
1‘772’ V"Vl.
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parc the lawyers for either party, but Wythc appeared as coun-
sel for pZaintiff or defendant in scven of the remaining nine
cascs which Jefforsoé thought worthy of brief memoranda; Pon-
dleton argued in six, John Randolph in fouxr, Thomson lkason in
three. Judgment seems to have been given in favor of four of
Wythe's clients and ageinst two, with a verdict in the seventh
case which averded him the decision on one point involved in
the suit and his opponents the decree on the other of its
issues. In one of these trials WVythe teamed with Pendleton

to defeat a cause upheld by John Randolph and Thomson I=zson,
but in four of them Pendleton pleaded on the side opposite to
Wythe, twice with John Randolphts assistance. These four
ended in two victories for Pendleton and one for Vythe, with
their laurels equally divided in that on which the court handed

down two Verdicts.l

Though it must not be forgotten that they
are tabulated from remorts on only & small minority of the
suits in that ftrivunal during that period, these figures are
interesting as a sample which might or might noﬁ be represent-
ative if statistics were available for all, For the sake of
enriching a later comparison between the two men one other
observation must be mentioned: Pendleton was sole or associate
counsel in each of the two cases which Vythe lost.

His punil's notes taken in the General Court are also of
intense interest because they contain the only surviving ab-
stracts of Wythe's legal argusents. It is unfair in some de-

gree, as well as an insufficient comment upon the power of

1. Ibid., 72-136.
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his appeals; to wrest from its context a single plea directed
by WVythe to the court, for he was not addicted to useless
declamation on points lacking pertinence to that at issue and
the able train of his thoughts has probably suffered through
Jefferson's condensation. Even in that compressed Lori, how-
ever, his debates retain uncommon lucidity and strength. TFor
example, in one of his suits he undertook to prove that slaves
were not subject to inclusion in the law of enteils {by which
inheritance was restricted under the primogeniture principle)
- unless they had been definitely, legally, and inseparably
annexed to an entailed tract of land. His opvonents, who
could not show such & connection for the slaves whose custody
they sought to gain from his clients, attempted to plead that
the slaves had been made o labor on that land and thait their
labor was tlerefore exercisable in it. Wythe retorted, %...
this exposition of the word exerciseable 1s superficial in-
deed!® Then he reminded the court wvigorously that the slaves
were not exclusively limited to duties in that ground, citing
a2 definition of "exerciseable™ which Coke had given:
Lord Coke applies it to offices annexed or confined to
& certain spot of land. Wow what analogy is there be-
tween an office exercised in a certain territory, and
& slave exercised in tilling the earth? ilot so nwuch as
there is between such an office and a spade. The office
of the keeper of the hounds is exerciseable in lands;
vet not being confined to any wmarticular spot of lands,
it is not entailable. 8o a slave may be exercised in
any lands, or no lands: he may be employed in ploughing

the earth, or in ploughing the_ ocean; or set to work in
menufactures of various kinds. '

1. Blackwell y. Wilkinson, ibid., 82.
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Having thrust hoime his point that the slaves in dispute had

nos been entailed, he dernonsirated forcefully by & strong

argumentun ab inconvenienti thet they could not be so without
confusing irreparably and upsetiing The entire structure of
an ilnheritance systen whiCh‘provided élready for ownprship of
enouglh kinds of préﬁeyty by entails. The judges, who had beer
equally divided on a previous hearing of the suil, decrecd
for him by a vote of seven to 'three.1
In another of his arguments he wasg forced to ednit that,
were judgment given in favor of his client, the result would
be injurigus to the opposing party, but ne based his unsuc-
cessful appeal upon the maxin that the considerations of nub -
lic utility should be superior to resultant harm in:individual’
instances, citing 2 Roman institution ramed Terminalia to
this effect.® In another of his suits, his client had so
much the best of the issue that the court awarded him the
verdict before he bhad had an opportunily to answer the weak
arguients of opposing counsel.3 In another, he was enployed
with Jefferéon by the churchwardens and vestrymen of Upper
Parish, Nansemond County, to prosecute their rector on charges
of conduct unbefitting a wearer of priestly cloth and to se-
cure the offending clergyman's disnissal. He proved by én

intervretation of an act of the General Agsernbly that the

1. Ibid., 83-85.

2. Bradford y. Bradford, ibid., 86.

5. Howell v. Wetherland, ibid., 96.
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court had ecclesiastical juriediction, which he supposed was
sufficient to show that the court mossessed the dover of de-
2. Ay,

priving a cleric of his position. Jefferson feared that the

%}

right of denrivation might be & non seguitur and bolstered

>’

tiythet's arzument by establishing thaet right on other grounds.

)

Thus they won their cause together.~ Illustration mey be
found in still another of VWythe's cases of hisg tendency to
mershal an almost bewlldering host of authorities in sunport
of his views. In %the course of an argunent which Jefferson
surmarized in less than five printed pages Vythe's copious
references included citations or quotations from four of Vir-
ginia's legislative acts, two British statutes, Two IEnglish
legal cormentaries, two sections of Justinian's Roman code, é
decision of an English court, and Cicero's orations.z

In scatitered places one can find several remnants of the
mulvitude of letters which Wybhe wrote on »rofessional busi-
negs and of legal »napers which passed through his hands.

The court's usual »Hrogress in the settlement of the
colonists‘»dgfferences was interrupted with their ovn consent
in 1766, for {as the next chapter will relate) nearly all Vir-

ginia's {tribunals determined no cases in that year as a »Hro=-
test against & tax vhich Englend hed levied upon legal docu-
ments. Evidence of the effect of their closure may be seen
in his letter in Pebruary of that year to Richerd Ienry Lee,

who had been trained for the bar but had preferred the 1life

1. Godwin et al, v. Lunan, ibid., 96-108.

2. Carter v. Webb, ibid., 127-131."
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of @ planter in the novrthern Tidewater to that of & prac-

titioner:

At %the time I received your letter by collonel]
P(hilip). Ll{udwelll. Lee I could not give it a satis~
factory answer, because the officers seldom rmeke re-
turns of process so early in [the terms of] the court:
and indeed the confusion which succeeded, with-the
total interruption of law proceedings, nut that ag wel.
as most other matters of that sort out of my head. I
am now &t the secretary's office and find the second
writ ageinst J Rootes was not returned: and they will
not let me have a pluries capies [a& writ issued after
two of the same purport have been succegsively ilssued
without effect] til [sic] some thing is determined as
to the stamns. The writs against Gallowey were execu-

~ted. One J Blackwell [posted] the bail for [his]
appearance. The writ against Thornton was not executed;
but & copy [of it was] left, so that we may have an
attachment or a pluries caplas awarded whenever we may
be so happy as to see the course of Jjudiciary business
again open and free.

Two years later he was still having difficulty with one of
the same client'®s matters of litigation:

The protested Lill of exchange you mention, drawn
by mr Via Thornton for 27-5-0 sterling, and endorsed by
mr Galloway, is in ny possession. The same day that I
recelved it suit was commenced for wmr Smith, who
accepted the bill for the honour of the drawer. DIDut
partly by means of the stamp act, and nmartly by want of
a sheriff in Brunswick [County] for some time, and the
negligence of one who acted afterwards, it was so long
before the process was returned executed that I cannot
give you the satisfaction even of a conjecture vhen a
Judgment is to be expected. Iir Robb did speak to me
on this subject, and desire me to prosecute the matter
with expedition, and to acquaint him with the determina-~
tion of it. :

To this letter he added comments which show that some other
affair had engaged his attention and thet of Lee:
I tTroubled you, sir, with a letter concerning nr Kehnon's

deed of trust, because ur Lee of Illaryland was at so greet

e

- - - A —

1. George Wythe to Richard Henry Lee, Pebruary 14, 1766, Lee
Paners, University of Virginia Library.
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a distonce from me, and because I thousht he would be
most plea sed with vour oninion of the creditors( ] ;
mobtives for sisning the letter of license. That gentle-~
mants answer, vhich you obliged me with, I have comuni-
cated to the trustees.-t
Perhaps it was the above-mentioned ¥or Lee of ilaryland® who
“thought highly enough of Wybthe's legal opinions to refer %o
him six cuestions, written in an unidentified heand, concerning
debatable points in a ﬁarylander‘s will. 1In the dlank space
left under each query Vythe put down his answers, butl in re-
»wly to one of them he was forced to state the law as he knew
Py A

o

it for his own colony with an admission that "it nay be other-
wise in Haryland.“g

George Washington continued to give Wythe the manajzement
of some of lis legal affairs. In 1773 he wanted to buy froa
a certain William Black some lands in King Willianm and King
and Queen counties; the tract in the latter, variously called
"Romonkocke" and "Woromoroke®, he intended to present to g
member of his - wife's family, John Parke Custis. The diffi-
culties which arose from that desire caused him much worry.
Black stated uis price, which Vashington rejeéted, offering
counter=-nroposals .3 Ymhen Black accepted these terns, Vash-

ington demended of Black that all wapers vhich proved the

legality of Black's ownership of the two »Hrowmerties should

---- oy i o ——————— - -

e e g+ e A ol e .

l. George VWythe To Richard Henry Lee, liarch 31, 1768, ibid.

2. Document of George Vythe, dated Auguzt 25, 1768, Autograph
>ollection of the Signers of the Declaraulou of Inoevenm
dence, Yale University Library.

3. George Vashington to Villian Black, Wovember 18, 1773,
John C. Fitzwatxlcl ed., The Writings of Georme Vasghing-
ton, IIXI, 1G65.
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pe exanined, lest he buy something from a man vho had no
valid claim %o 1it:

I expect all the Pavpers vespecting your Title to
the Lands I »urchased [agreed to Hurchase] of you will
shortly be in ilr. Uythe's possession when he will be
satisfied whether your Title is good or not and if he
thinks you have a good title he will draw [up] & proper

conveyance ... [waich vou may sizgn Lo make the transac-
tion finall.l - g

Vythe's report on the legality of the title was sent to VWash-
ington, but in the formal manner of an inpersonal legal docu-
ment it avoided the use of the pronoun “you® by referring to
him as "Col. Washington®. It is alirost wholly uvnintelligible
no matter how carefully it is read and reread. Under even
the best of conditions abstracts tracing the validity of real
estate titles are involved enough to demend real study. In
the case of this sumary of Black's claims information essen-
tial to an understanding of its details is lacking. 3But the
paper illustrates forcefully the thorough research required
of Wythe in one phose of his »ractise. TFor thet reason -~
and because every avaoilable item from his pen for the period
under eonsideration is qguoted in these pazes ~ the document
is reproduced herewitlhi:
Col. Vashington seemed to be satisgied as to the

King & Gueen lands, which belonged to It Story, without

inquiring into the title before the date of his Will-in

1717, if the title be regularly decuced from him.

- I think by the Vill the estate devised to the
daughter was & contingent fee, determinable by her
death, without leaving issue or without having alien-
ated, so that the estate in fee, limited uoon that

event by executory devise, as she survived her child,
and had made no alienation, took effect, and was well

1. Id. to id., December 6, 1773, ibid., 166.
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conveyed by the deed of the 12 of avril, 1750, from
Charles Story to John Robinson esqg. sunposing the re-
citals and suggestions in the deed to be true. If my
opinion be wrong, and the daughter took either & pure
fee simple, or a gualified fee, deterninable, not upon
her death without leaving, but uvon her death without
ever having had, issue, in that case 1 Robingon had a
cood. title by that conveyance, if Charles Story wes the
daughter's heir at Law, otherwise not. . ‘

11 Robinson, by a d%ed to him fron Thonas iiickman
and Barbara his Vife, 140 yanY 1734 purchased 600 Acres
of Land adjoining Wyatts, sold to Story; Whether this
be part of the Land agreed To be sold by 1Y Black %o
Col. Washington I know not, neither have I seen any
other paper concerning it. the deed from Hickwmean, 1if
he had a title, I think & £00d conveyance -

By act of general Assedbly, [in the] 10[th yeor of
the reipn of King) Geo. the 3'd, some land in King end
Oueen County, purchased of Richard Johnson by 15 Robin-
son, who with others claiming under hin were in posses=~
sion, was vested in William Lyne and sorle other Gentle-
rien, inrﬁrust, to convey to such persons a&s claimed
under is Robinson, with a saving of the Titles of all .
persons other than those claiming under the will of a
Testator who had devised to Richard Johnson the seller:
whether the peart reserved'byfH?,Robinson'be included in
the Land agreed %o be sold by i Black; Whether the
testator had g good title; or whether the Trustees have
conveyed to I, Robinsons [sic] admfinistratlors the
part so reserved, which I think they the Adufinistrat]ors
were intitled [sic] to as a resulting trust, I can give
no opinion, having seen no papers relating to these
lBtterse. o

If Romonkocke be part of the 1683 acres purcheased
bg col: Bernard Joore from !5 William Claiborne, & from
i Robinson, who it seems derived his title from the
Claibornes, as I suppose it is; and if Claibornes [sic]
title be good, which I understand Col. Yashington vwes
satisfied with,_and be proverly deduced to Col. Illoore,
as, from what II¥ [Bartholomew] Dandridge says of the
Wills of N Claiborne the Father and Son, and from his
abstracts of the conveyances from the heir and Execu-~
tors of the Claibornes, to Robinson, and from Robinson
to licore, I am persuaded it is; yet I am apprehensive
there is still a chasm, having in vain searched in the
Secretary's office for a Conveyance from 7% Robinsons
[sic] aaninistrators, who had 3. lloore's title, %to I
- Black: but this unquestionably may be supplied. I have
the conveyance from Certer Braxton, T. Valker, T. Jeffer-
son and Power to V. Black which ig recorded in the Sec-
retary's Office, but, without conveyances leading %o it,
[it] is insignificant.

I find no deed from Col. Thomas licore to Berpard
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lioore %o convey, nor any writ, in the nature of an ad quua
damnum [& chancery writ for the deterwination of darn-
ages which might result from the grant of a certain
wrivilegel, to dock the intail [sic] of any land of the
former; but I found the certificate of a survey, with
a plo% of 89 acres of land belonging to Thomas iloore,
said to have been mmde 2% of August 1765 by virtue of &
writ of ad quod dammun, the writ is mislaid (for it
appears one did issue) and perhaps the deed, because
the feesg vere not paid, without which it seems such
papers are never Recorded. & cO)j of the certificate
is inclosed with this. perhaps these 8% acres are those
intended to be sold with the IIi11l, and supposed to De
an hundred; if so a des cription of the land may be in-
serted in tne blank left in the conveymnce, aﬂd proper
steps be now taken to secure the title.
The deed from Thomas lioore and his trustees, to
- William Seton, conveys, not an hund“ed acres, but one
acre only with the 1:i1l. Col. lloore's tzcle I know
nothing of -~ I find no material fault in the conveyancn
Col. B. Illoore's title being allowed, 1i¥ Black
titlelto the 550 acres called Gooch's seens unexceptionw
able.

Having thus assured\himself that Vashington would be 3ur01a31n%
lands whose titles were irrefutable, Wythe drafted e deed Dby
which the intended transfer of ownership might be made. 3But
Black refused to sign that conveyance until Vashington com-
"plied with stipulations which he added unexpectedly to their
verbal contract.® In the dilemmabihus created by the recal-
citrant Black, Washinéton turned to Vythe for advice as 1o

3

his.method of Procedure, and the whole tangled maze was

streightened out in the space of a few nmonths with Vythe's

i v e s e e - ———— e

1. George Wythe to George Washington, December 15, 1773,
Hamilton, ed., Letters to Vashington, IV, 282-284.

2. Bartholomew Dandridge to George Washington, December 30,
1773, ibid., 207”000

3. George Vashington to George Wythe, January 17, 1774, Fitz-
*~uf10k ed., Ullulﬂ”“ of Veghington, III, 174-176.
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2id.t Uhen Custis was planning several years later a sale of
that portion of the property which Washington had acqguired
from Black and given to him, he asked for a general warrenty

£ the validity of his title; Washington declined to‘make S0
sweeping a commitimment, but he gave assurance thet he had
bought the land only Yafter having the title fully investi-~
‘gated by Iir. Wy"che“2 ~ a reply which showed his perfect con-
fidence in his lawyer. Vythe's word on that question ha&
apparently allayed hisp doubts onée and for all.

Another of the prominent Virginians in the northern part
of the colony who is known to have been among Wythe's clients
wa.s Robert Carter of "Nomony Hell%, 2 mnerber of a thoroughly
aristocratic family and & Councillor. As such, he was gx
officioc a Jjudge in the General Court and thus in a position
to know Well the abilities of +the lawyers at its bar. In
1772 Carter asked Wythe to secure & review by the Court of a
permit granted by a county court to an applicant who desired
to build a mill in a place which would injure some of Carter’®s

property in Frederick County.® Two vedrs later he seems to

- o —

1. George Washington to William Black, Januvary 17, 1774, ibid.,
176-179; Bartholomew Dandridge 1o George Waghington, Feb-
ruary 16, 1774, Hamilton, ed., Letters to Washington, IV,
327-329; id. to id., April 2, 1774, ibid., 365-366; Willian
Black to id., april 25, 1774, ibid., 375.

2. George Washington to John Parke Custis, iRy 26, 1778, Fitz-
patrick, ed., Vritings of Washington, XI, 456.

3. "Dear Wythe, A few Days ago I receiv'd a Letter dated 1402
of last month, (September% subscribed John Hough, who is
my Steward -~ part thereof is in these words ‘'Parson .
Charles Iynes Thruston in Frederick is erecting & i1{1l1l on
the Line near thy Conveniency oxd Shenadon Tract, hes
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have had some itrouble collecting rentals due to him from his
tenants, for Wyithe sent him a statement of the law's proper
remedies and procedures in such cases:

Where written leases were actually executed, the
landlord may either distrain {i.e., confiscate furni-
ture or other proverty as security for the debtl, or
bring actions of debt, for the rent.

I think he may pursue the same remedy against the
tenants who had not writiten leases, if they agreed to
pay & certain rent until such leases should be made.

An ejectment is a proper, and the most easy,
remedy to dispossess a tenant for breach of the condi-
tion, by non- Qaymant of rent. ‘

After Juanmenu the mesne groflts [those due to a
landlord who is himself a tenant of his superior by one
to afhom he sublets his rented land] mey be recovered in
an action of trespass: indeed they may be recovered in
the ejectment itself; but this 1s rarely done.

obtaintd an Order of Court to condemn & by a Jury has con-
demned an Acre to cut his Tail-Race Lhrougﬂ ~ This I
apprehend is not accord[inlg to Law as the Line crooses
the Stream — this Breach will greatly interfere with yE
Conveniency - This Hint I thought [it] was proper %o com-
municate — J: Hough.' The Conveniency spoken of in the
above Quotation, belonging to me, is a rich tract of ILand
lying in Frederick County contain® about b thousand Acres,
and a very'ordinaryiMill ﬁhereon — there are several Fam-
ilies now living on that Tract who pay Rent 4o me, that
Part whereon the mill 1s ereCuca, is nOb rented, {I] having
often refused to rent the same, intend® %o erect mills for
different Purposes there. I uhlnk that a writ shou'd be
issued xnmed :+¥ toward obtain:8 an IEnquiry, in the Genv
Court touch® the Propriety or 1mnropr1eoy of the Order of
Prederick Court, granting Leave Ffor I# T-[hruston] %o build
a mill — T will go myself up to Frederick County next
spring and if the [ernle of the] Neighbourhood there
really want a CGrist-liill, I will order one to be built,
provided the Order of Cour“ mention®d above shall be set
aside w— The Ind;spcolclon of °evbra1 of my Children,; &
three upper ServYS 1 apprehend will confine me here some~ ,
time, pray present ny Compliments to L@ Dunmore and all the
Gentlemen Attendants, who shall attend the approach@ Tern
{of the General Court, from which I must absent myself], I
am, Dear Wythe, You;.,..“: Robert Carter to George Vythe,
October 4, 1772, Robert Carter Papers, Duke University
Library.
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If there be any point wherein I can give ycu fur-
the§ satisfaction, I beg you, kind Sir, to let me know
it.

Two other letters written by Wyithe on professional busi-.
ness have been preserved. One of them indicates that he
wanted to dispose in @ business-like fashion of docwients
relating to a lawsuit which had been terminated before he
could obtain a judgment: |

The papers inclosed with this mey perhaps be use-
ful to you. There was, you mway obgerve from them, &
suit brought by lr Cocke and his lady against the ex~
ecutors of col. Turner, which abated by tge death of one
plaintiff, and the marriage of the other.

The other, addressed to an emigrant from Virginia into Orange
County, North Carolina, gives counsel as to a legal problem
in Wythe's native c¢ounty, acknowledges receipt of a paper for
use in a case before the General Court, and anproves his
client's course of action in the more southern colony:

I have not been to Hampton since I wrolte to you. .
I purpose to go thither in & few days, and will then
endeavour to get further information concerning nr
Bloomfield's negros [ggg]. The next of kxin have now a
right to the administration. %bdbut it scems to me that,
unless they appear here, it cannot be cormitted to them;
neither can it I be [SICJ beleive [sic] be regularly
comnitted to another in trust for them; neither will
the court, in my opinion, without a suit, compel the
persons in possession to deliver the negros f91c] to
their agent. so that I would advise you, for the res-
son you mentioned before, to procure what is necessary
to support the c¢laim of the heir. The bill you sent ne

l. George Wythe to Robert Cartér, July 2, 1774, Autograph
Collection of the Signers of the Declaration of Indepen-
dence, J. Pierpont llorgan Library.

2. George Wythe to Thomas Adams, Septenber 6 1774, liiscel=-
laneous Manuscripts COllerlon, V;rglnla HleorlCBl
Society Library.
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will enable me to form one in the suit of mr. Hamilton
against Armstrong in the general court. The mode of
proceedure {sic] you are pursuing in Carolina seens
very proper.

Three extant petitions to the General Courit throw a

fatad

1ittle additional light upon the activities of VWythe at its
‘bar. Frederick County had a sheriff in 1765 named Jaccb Lite,
who was assisted voluntarily in the collection of taxes by
Achilles Foster. Hite sued Foster for the whole value of the
levies in one precinct of ﬁhe}oounty and secﬁred a judgnent

in the local court against Foster. The latter petitioned the
General Court in or about 1769 for & retrial hefore its bench.
The body of the petition was written by Pendleton; below it
contains Wythe's signature in testimony of the fact that
Foster had sworn the accuracy of its allegations agsinst Hite
and against the previous trial. It pointed out enough irregu-
larities to secure the issuance of a writ of certiorari to re-~
move Fostertls case from the inferior court to the supreme one.
On the petition Wythe penned very briefly an order to that
effect, which vas signed by three of the judges.z One Solo~
mon Redmon protested that a permit secured by Edward Sanford
from the Westmoreland County court to build a mill endangered

unlawfully his mill and begged that the order of the inferior

1. George Wythe to Thomas Burke, August 9, 1775, Roberts Auto-
graph Collection, Haverford College Library. A facsimile
of this letter is in the New York Historical Socieily
Library. ‘

2. Petition of fchilles Foster, undated, Autograph Colleciion

of the Signers of the Declaration of Independence, Henry
K. Huntington Library and ALrt Gallery.
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céurt in Sanfoird's favor should he reversed by the General
Cour®t. 4t the bottom of this petition Vythe wrote and signed
an opinicn that ﬁhe county court had been in error, and in
nis hand @lso appears above signatures of three Generel Court
judges én'order suspending by 2 éupersedeas the exmecution of
Sanford?s permit, pending a formal rehearing in the upper
tribunal.l Similar to the former of thesge two petitions was

7

that made by Jolin Randolph in 1773, by which he sought to se-

cure & removel from Charlotte Counbty's court to the Ceneral
Court’of a case in which he was sued. The writ of certioreri
to effect that shift in the location of the trial wes. granted,
but on the back of the paner is a notation in Wythe's hand-
writing which indicates that he had served as Randolph's
attorney in the presentation of the petition:

It is agreed that the certiorari shall not be mnade
use of if the plt will enter into a rule to refer the
metter in dispute to mr Treasurer [Robert Carter Wicho-
las] & col Nelson with [a grant of] power to [them to]
choose an wmpire [a third party, in the event they could
reach no decision between themselves] & make their award
before the end of Ikrch . .

[signed] John Randolph
G Vlythe <

Whether or not the affair was adjusted out of court in

1. Petition of Solomon Redmon, undated [ca. 1772], lis. in the
possession of the Thomas P. Iizdigan Co., New York, in
December, 1236. ’ :

2. It is of interest to note that Randolph complained that the
plaintiffs had employed the only two able lawyers eligible
to practige in Charlotte and that the trial should be re-
moved to Williamsburg to permit him to secure satisfactory
counsel: petition of John Randolph, February 12, 1773,
Gratz Collection, Pennsylvania Historical Society Livbrary.
The agreement quoted from the back of this document is not
dated.
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In 1771 Vythe inseried an advertisement in the sti
local.newspaver, asking that a voluae which had been mis
placed from his legal library might be reiurned to him:

I IS8 & third volume of BURROW'S REPORTI. Vhether
it was lent out I forget. Derhaps scile Gentleman's sexr-
vent carried it from the Capitol by mistake last Octlo-

ber court. Vhoever will let me know where 1t is, I
shall be obliged to him for the information. .

GEORGE VYTHE.?
It is probable that several young men studied like Jei—
fersbn in George Vythe's law office. Ixtant records, however,
tell of only a few others. Bult because he was to become, as
Jefferson did, an intimate friend and associate of Vythe, in-
terest attaches to_the experience of one of these in legal
study. He was St. George Tucker, a Briton who left his home
in the colony of Bermgda to attend Yilliam and llary College
in 1771.3 In mid-summer 6f tire next year his father discussed
in a letter to him the possibilities of his preparation in

Virginia and in England for a career at the bar. Tucker had

I. But cf. indenture of John and DeVion Randolph, February
1z, 17735, Ermet Collection, New York Public Library.

2. Virginia Gazebtte {pub. by Rind)}, Februvary 7, 1771.

3. VI Starke gave Papa [Henry Tucker] such a favourable
account of the College in Virginia ... that I believe he
has determined, shoul'd you 11 e it, to send you there.
.... he { tarke] represents it as the best Institution of
the sort in America and [as being] under the particular
Inspection of Lord Boudetourt [3otetourt] (tne Goverpoz)
who takes great Delight With,iﬁ“: lizabeth xucker to St.
George Tucker, August 18, 1770, ° ucLer Papers, lirs. CGeorge
P. Coleman. -
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evidently proposed that he should rewain in Villilansburg and

<

work under Wythe before folloving his father®s plan of stud
at London in the Inns of Court. IIls father replied, in nert:

As to the mlan you propose you must be Advised by
those that are more capable of doing it than nyself at
this Distance. & knowledge of the Civil Law as well as
the Laws of Wations in some sort I believe will be Hec-
essary and as you intend to leave the College at Christ-
mes in order to enter upon the Study of the Coruion Law
under 1% Wythe, I wish you had said in wha®t lBnner that
is to be done. Do you intend to enter upon & Clerkship
with him or how? I think if you are Dermitted the use

: of his books & [if] he will mive him self [sic] the

+ trouble of regulating your studies, you ocught to De as
servicable [sic] to hiw as possible by giving hin every
Assistance in his business ... so that you may be help-
ful to him in writing vhile you nmeake your self Acguaint-
ed with the Iiethod of practice.... cene I shall
write to England to inform myself the time it will Dbe
Necessary for you to be at the [iliddle] Temple to be
called to the Bar to plead in America but I think from
what you represent of the Matter you will be better
[off] to remain for some time in Virginia as you are
like{lyl to be under so good & Tutor, for, if I am
rightly informed, no care is taken of you at the Inns
of Court in London. every student is to do as he
pleases, besides [study for] the Comon [gic] practice
in America as an AttY is quite out of the Cuestion
there. cen

I am greatly obligzged to you for the Account you
gave e of the proceedingzs in the Virsg? Couris as well
as for the Cheracters of the several Gent™ of the Law,
such able proficients caunnot but give you great pleasure
in hearing them. as well as to instruct you in the
Rules & practice of their Courts. in short I think you
have a very good Opportunity of Instructing your self
[sic], and I am persuaded you will not lose the Oppor-
tunity of doing it. N As you propose leaving
the College at Christmas, I hope you will teke care to
get into a Reputable family & board at as cheap a Rate
as possible I hope the sum wont {gic] Ixceed 25 or 30 4L
per ann. bubt you must do the best you can. If you are
to write for ME Wythe, perhaps you will dine with him
but this will depend on the terms [under which] you are
to be with him. ’

Though nothing survives to reveal those terms, 1t is possible

—— Ay a——e.

1. Henry Tucker to id., August 1, 1772, ibid.
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that there was & new boarder at the Wythe family teble when
Tucker began his law studlies early in 1773 — to the lmmense

pleasure of @ Father who thought that toc much time had been

consumed with inutile collegiate courses* and who it

ecemed

o
b
foe

well to caution him agein to make Vythe imstruct him in every
practical phase of his profession.z Vithin about a year the
pupil had been admitted to the bar of an inferior court;
Vythe gave him in the spring of 1774, evidently in reply to
an inquiry regarding some problem originating in actual ex~
perience, an opinion on sone »oint of professional ethics:

I think your c¢lient ought to be inforwned of any
error in the proceeding vhich he wy take advantage of;

nor do I see how you are restrained from giving that

information by an agreement to which you were not a
party, and [to which] prudently [youl have resolved not
to accede. The general court, regerdless of such agree-
ments, have reversed the judgments, in all cases where
the declarations have not been filed.o
To a position at the bar of the General Couri beside that of
his teacher Tucker was adnitted on the tenth day of April,
1775.%

That month signalized belter then any other, though

e - -

1. Id. to id., &pril 8, 1773, ibid.

2, Id. to id., &Lpril 29, 1773, ibid.

3. George Wythe to id., April 22, 1774, ibid.

4. St. George Tucker to Richard Rush, October 27, 1813, Vir-
ginia Historical Liagazine, XLIT, 213. Wythe seems to have
continued constantly, or &t least to have been often re-
appointed, to be one of the examiners to whom all lawyers
in the colony had %o apply for a license, for the famous
John Taylor of Carcline was adnltted to practise in his
native county in 1773 under & cormission signed by Wythe
and John Randolph: entry of September 9, 1773, QOrder Book,
Caroline County Records. ‘

<
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Virginians were not to kuow of Lexington and Concord until
the news had been relayed over the long and tortuous journey
from Boston, the beginning of actual hostilities in the Var
for American Independénce. Ispousing the cause of & more
directly oppressed northern colony, in vwhose fate the others
felt with some justice‘thét their own was iHVO1Ved,‘Virginia
had manifested her sympathy and support by closing all her
inferior courts in 1774 as a protest against the Boston Port
Bill. Before the autumn of 1775 noise from staccato rifles
and booning cannon reverberated in Virginia, too; the colony
found itsell driven to wer against its governor and subsist-~
ing under the merest makeshift of a government. In the midst
of such disorder adjudicated law could not reign. Thus it
was that 1tg spring term in 1775 was the last sitlting of the
General Court.l With that term, as later events were to
prove, the carcer of George Vythe the lawyer ended once and
for all. For the next three years he could do nothaing b&t
devote himself to the avocation of politics. Yet, when Vir-
ginia codrts were reopened in 1778, he became idenﬁifie&
again until his death with the legal profession in a new

capacity, that of an honored judge in equity.

g -t iy -

1. 8t. George Tucker {o Richard Rush, October 27, 1813, Vir-
ginia Historical liagazine, ALII, 213. But Lord Dunnore
complained in & long letter that the court had been closed
in 1774 because no lawyers would plead before it: Governor
Dunmore to the Secretary of State, December 24, 1774,
Virginie Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), II, New York
Puvlic Library. : - :
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Two characteristics predoninated as distinctive elements
in the large success which atiended Wythe's thirty years as
a nractising attorney, especially his two decades at the bar
of the General Court. First, he was perhaps wmore learned in
the law than any of his colleagues, though it was nc mean
attainment to equal or exceed the familiarity with its liter-

s,

ature achieved by nen like Thomson lzson and John Randolwph,

W0 Were never as aotiVe as he in political affairs and had

1 "Under & pressure of business

more time for scholarship. ,
at the bar before the revolution, which would have monopoli;ed
the attention of others®, as & friend saoke later of the work
of one whose "knowledge of law ... was indeed profound!",2
he must have had innumerable occas ions to refer to the hooks
which were in those days the sources of British legal »prin-
ciples aﬁd nrecedents. But, Jjust as he managed to steal tine
from his practise for communing with great minds of the past

A

through the pages of his adored classics, standard reposi-
tories of the law meant more to him than places to look for

information on specific points ag occasion demanded. To

l. Hugh Blair Grigsby, Discourse on the Life and Character
of the Hon. leLLebOﬂ 1 valler Tazewell, 18, ranked Wybie
Webove ail earliy statesmeny inm This respect. But the
same authority stated elsewhere, "In the solid learning
of the law he [Wythe] stood, with the exception of Thowmson

_Mason, almost alone': Grigsby, Virginia Convention of
17968, 121; again, “"Thet he more thoroughly mastered the
learning of his profession than any of his contemporaries,
excepting Thomson lason, seems to be conceded': ibid.,
127~ 138. :

2. Anonyrious "Communication®, The Enguirer, June 10, 1806.
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Wythe the earliest authorities on Inglish lew were not umerely
dull reference works - they were exciting tools with whose

ald he might satisfy his flair for research by traqing every
legal doctrine to its remotest enunciation in Roman codes or

in pre~Worman Britein. Thus he delighted in Glanville's

Treatise on the Laws and Customs of the Kingdom of Ingland,

published in Latin late in the twelfth century, the first
commentary on The common law; in Bracton's treatise in Latin
about thé middle of the thirteenth century embodying much of
the anoient Roman ¢ivil law; in Britton's six books, published
in legal French under the sponsorship of Xing ZEdward I toward
the close of the thirteenth century; and in the work known

as Fleta, also publishied about 1220 but issued in Latin.

Into these first epochal compendiwag in ﬁnglish,legal litera-
ture Wythe delved, partially for the sheer joy of mining their
undervalued historical nlggets, at a Line when most of,his
fellows were content to pursue few thoughts farther back thazn
fifteenth~century Thomas Littleton's Tenures, a statement of
Ingland's real property laws which had furnished a hundred
years or 8o la%er g point of departure for Coke's farmous
textbook. Ioreover, he gloried in the unofficial reports in
French of discussions in England's courts between wmeitbers of
benchi and bar, three and a half centuries after Glanville,
which are known as Year‘Books, wost of which he had also in

nig library; and he collected, too, voluminous conies of
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statutes pagsed by Parliament.t With such profound erudition

t the command of & logical brain, it was bul natural that

o

)

able argunents should have emanated from his conscientious
care in preparing his appeal in each case.® Yet it should
not be thought that Vythe's superior storehouses of .legal
learning were drawn upon in & merely pedantic menner, "for

in pleading®, Jefferson testified, "he never indulged himself
with an useless or declameatory thought or Word... "0 He
spoke rarely with real eloguence bult was nearly always im-
pressive, by reason of his easy elocution, ﬁhe methodical
arrangemnent of his materials, and his usually unruffled

(SN K e . Zﬁ
urbanity in debate;™

frequen%ly, too, he showed thatl he was
a maéﬁer of pathos in appeal and of sarcasm in rep&ftee.5

The second outstanding characterisgtic of Vythe the law-
yer was his perfect integrity. It has been generally recog-
nized ever since the birth of the profession that law inevilt-
ably offers its devotees as nany temptations as they would

find in any other occupation; no age is known to have lacked

- - -

l. Grigsby, Littleton Waller Yazewell, 18, is authority for
the names given in these sentences. His information was
alnost undoubtedly secured in conversations with Tazewell,
who lived for a time in Wythe's home: ¢f., &.4., ibid.,
10, 80, 84-85. A readily available and non-technicel
sunnary of the above legal authorities may be found in
Lyon and Block, Edward Coke, 335~345,

e—

2. Cf. Grigsby, Virginie Convention of 1776, 121.

3. Jefferson, "Notes for the Biography of George Vythe", .

7
filed under August 31, 1820, Jefferson Papers, Library of

Congress.
40 ibidu

o m—

5. Wirt, Patrick Henry, &o.
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confident scoffers to mnroclaim that there could ve no such
thing as an honest lawyer. ihe dexterous evasions of so-
called Philadelphia lawyers have become in later times wro-
verbial, but colonial Virginians were not vithout unwelcome
examples in thelr courts of gross perversions of justice.
 Therefore, when no evil conduct was evident or immutable in
the actions of an atborney, he was likely to be dubbed “the
honest lawyer®, and several of Vythe's contemporaries, in-
cluding Robert Carter Wicholas and his brother-in-law, John
Lewis of Spotsylvania, were recipients of that enviable titleql
‘One is thus forced to conclude, when he reads the dec-
laration often made by Rev. Lee Jlassey, rector of Truro

!

Parigh in Fairfax County, proclaining that Vythe "was the

&

only honest lawyer he ever knew",™ +that the exmcellent

clergymen did not have too broad an acquaintance armong the

P

colony's counselors. Though 1% could not be exbected that

1. On Nicholasg'® professional virtue see Randolph, lzauscript

History of Virginia, Virsginis Historical Jhgazine, KLIIT,
©125. WHWorfolk wes another gnot which had its representa-

tives of uprightness. "Like [ James] Nimmo, he [ John
Nivison] was called the honest lewyer; and it was one of
the gly Jests of our fathers that there should be two law-
yers at the same bar and in the same generation; whose
claims to the title should be generally conceded by the
people%: Grigsby, Littleton Yaller Tazewell, 32.

2. J. T. 8toddert, & grandson of llessey, made this reporit in
a letter of unkvawn date to Bishop lleade: reprinted in
lleade, op. cit., II, 238. Iiassey had retired early {rom
the practise of law "because his fconscience would not
suffer hinm to nake the worse anpear the better reason't,
and to uphold wrong against right. He tried to follow in
the lead of ... Vythe, to examine caseg placed in his care
and to accept the good and reject the Dad. It nroved a
failure....": ipid.
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the complinent would have escaped slight revision, hed llassey
made a complete and searching survey of Virginia's legal pro-

3 o

fession, it i1g quite possible that he would have found no one

3

rore

i

ustly deserving cormendation than Vythe, who was Yas

Coas

distinguished by correctness and purity of conduct in his pro-
fesgion, as he was by his industry & fidelity to those who

L For Uythe became conspicucus among his col-

employed him".

ieagues'for his modest sincerity in avoiding the prosecution

or defense of tainted cases. Wis convemporaries boasted that

he never took part in a single suit without assuring hinself

that he would be representing the side which had & monopoly

upon the right; that he would customarily permit h;mSQlf to

be retained only after gnestioning his applicant Qlosely;

that, 1f he had occagion at any tine to doubt the veracity

of his clients or witnesses, he insisted arbitrarily for his

own protection on their swearing to an affidevit testifying

to the truth of what he had been told; that, if he found he

he.d been unwittingly deceived despite such unusual precautions
v

into a connection with an ambiguous or questionable cause, he

returned in full all fees which had been advanced to him and

1. Jefferson, "Notes for the Biography of George ythe",
Jefferson Papers, Library of Congress. "The temptations
of the law never raised a doubt on his purity...."¢
Randolph, lManuscript History of Virginia, Virginia
Historical lapazine, XLIII, 131.
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abandoned it ilmmediately.=
Maen Parson lason L. Weewms, author of a biography of
Georze Yashington which is famous only because he created in

nis imagination the well known episode of the hachelt and the

Je 1,

‘cherry tree, heardof Wythe's death, he seized the opportunity

to rush into print with & characteristically effusive anecdote
illustrative of the lagt of these rules by which Wythe sale-

guarded his gplendidly delicatle sense of professional integrilys

-

» In support of this Little moral eulogy of ...
Viythe = in proof, I mean, that he possessed that fer-
vent love, which geve him so tender an interest in the
comfort of enother, that no money could ever templt him
-to invede it:; take the following anecdote of him, and
most exactly (in substance at least)} as I received it
from the Rev. lr. Lee liassey, a first-rate Virginia
clergyman, and from early life, the intimate [friend]
of lir. Wythe.

¥In the month of June, many years ago, I went,v
seid Ilir. liassey, "to dine with ny friend, Bob Alexander.®
(Now, it may not much confuse the reader, to tell hin
that this same Bob Alexander, as lMr. llassey, in hisg
familiar way, always called him, was a wealthy and
worthy gentleman, living on the Potomac, and near Alex-
andria,. ) Well, Wyhile lirs. Alexander, like IMiltontis
Bve, ‘on hospitable thoughts intent,' was preparing an
elegant dinner, Bob and I took our c¢hairs into the
piazza, which comuianded a very fine prospect indeed -
full in our view lay the great Potomac, the mile-wide
boundary between the sister states [colonies] of lary-
land and Virginia —- on the Virginia side the rich
bottoms lengthened out, &s far as the eye could see,
were covered with crowns of full ripe wheat, whose yel-
low tops rolling in ridges Defore the playful breeze,
reflected the beams of the sun in sudden gleams of gold,

-

1. See esp. "Ilemoirs of the late CGeorge Vythe, Bsquire", The
American Gleaner, and Virginia Gezette, I, 2~3. "I know
that his probity was such, that when he acted as counsel,
his opinions were the dictates of & well informed con-
science, [2-& that] no promise of enolumnent could engage
him to undertake & bad cause ... when he understood. its-
real meritg....?: "Communication' signed "A.B.%, Virminia
Gazette, and General Advertiser, June 18, 1806G.
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brizhtening the dey — cn the Eb ryland side, & stately
ridzpe of kills, high c¢rovmed with i eee, formed ag it
were, & frowning uua”d to the great river, and threw

ot
its gubl*a ing shades, & stri k=nv COﬂtTwub to the
nilder beauties of the opgo ite shore. Out spread
[sic] between the two, lay the Potonec, whose little
waves, just waked up by the young winds of swmier, ren
chasing each other along their sky-blue fields, often
gneaking thelr joy in hursts of snowy laughter. Vhile
thus we sat feasting on these richly varied and nag-
nificent scenes, which the great ilaker had so kindly
spread before us, Dobl's servant arrived from town with
the newspapers, and a letter, which he handed to his - -
master. Having hastily run it over, he exclesimed with
great earnesiness, '"Well, really Parson, this is
stra nge, very strange! VWhy thet Georse Vfthe must
certainly be either an angel or & Fool.¥[f] — 'lot a
fool, Bob,! sald I; 'George Vythe is no fool.,' o
’Uell ﬁhat Wa s never my opinion, neither, Parson; bul
what the plague are we to make of this confounded
letter he;e{°} - Suppose, Parson, you read it, and
give me your opinion on it.* I toock it, and witl
great pleasure read nearly word for word, as followg:—-
Rohert Alexander, Esq..

Sir.-— The suit wherein you were pleased to do ume
the honor to engane my services, was last week brought
Yo trial, and has fully satisfied me that you were
entirely in the wrongz. Xnowlng you to be a perfectly
honest man, I concluded that you have some how [ul@}
or other been misled. At eny rate I find that T have
been altogether misled in the affair, and therefore
insist on washing my‘annds of it immedlately. In so
doing I trust I shall not be charged with any feilure
of duty to you. 4hg your lawyer 'tis true I owe you
everything - everything consistent with justice -
against her, [I owe] nothing: nor can ever ove. For
Justice is agpointed of God, the golden rule of all
order throughout the ua1ve*we, and therefore, as in-
volving the greatest of all possible good to his [His]
creatures, it nust be of all things the dearest to
Hinself. He therefore, who- LﬂOWln&ly acts against
justice, is a rebel against God and & premeditated
murderer of maenkind. Of this crime {which worlds
could not tempt me to commit) I should e't“inly‘be
guilty, were I, under ny present convietions, to go
on with your suit. I hauuon therefore to enclose you
the fifty dollar note you gave me as a fee, and with
it my advice, that you conpromise the matter on the
best Terms you can.

I have just to add, that as-conscience will not
allow nme to soy anyohlnﬂ for you, honor forbids that
I should say anything 2rainst vou. But, by all means,
comprouise, and save the costs. Adieu = wishing you
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that inverd sunshine, which nothing outward can darken.
I remain, dear ﬁ.r your's [SLCJ

Geo. Liythe["]

For the sake of those who may wish to know vhether
the advice, in this exiraordinary letter, was followed
or not, I bez leave to add, that it wag not followed.

IIr. lass ey told me, thet his friend Bob was re olved,
nolus volus [a hwmorous Latin corruption of gg;e
volens, meaning "against &dvzce“j,‘* po on wi-th the
suit, and therefore gave the fifty dollar note to soune
other gentleman of the law, who pushed the matter for
him, and exactly with the success predicted by the
good lir. Wythe - the logs of hig land with all costs!?
“”lev5ea are the MeEexk, for thney shail innerit tne

earth. "t

Possxbly Veens actually heard from lassey & story such as
that he relates; 1if so, he erred in referring to Wsister
states" and to a “flfﬁv dollar note®, for Wythe was an attor-
ney only during the colonial weriod and was never peid a fee

in dollars. Or perhaps this account is almost entirely pure

2

fiction, with little more hasis in fact than the renowned
legend which he created outright to glorify Washington's in-
ability to ﬁeli a lie, Certain it is, however, that the gen~-
eral tenor of Weems' tribute to an honest 1awyer, though
florid, is in keeplng with the known characters of Iausey and
Wythe.

Finally, there was a trait in Wythe's character which
was deemed unusual by sone of those friends who have commented
upon the absolute probilty of his‘business affairs. In admir-
able contrast to his exalted conceptions of principle in his
profession was the disinterested monetary worth which he

placed upon his services. 1o persuasion or subterfuge, it

1. Repzinted from The Chafle5u01 o- C., Times, July 1, 1806,

---—-—a.

in William and iary Colleme “uar terly (1st series), XXV,
18”19 .
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wa.s said, “could induce him to accept & fee beyond the lowest

1

<

possible value of his labour®; when grateful clients at-

terpited volunitarily to pnress udvon him well-earned coumpensa -

-’

e

pa
w0

3

ons in excess of his demands, he reminded them that the
iaborer was indeed vworthy of his hiré and assured them that

. s . 2
he desired and would accept presents from no man. Thus he

o

showed in his law office, &8s elsewhere, a distinctive and

total want of avarice which anounted almost to & contempt for

.

the coin of the realm.

That characteristic -~ together with a convincing denial

of the assuwuption, which it night suggest, that relative dis-

dain for the fruits of business might heve betrayed him into

unbusinesslike methods of bookkeeping -- pervaded a letter
which he wrote fully seven years after his career as a lawyer
hed ended, at a time when his comloritable financial circum-
stances of the colonial period had ehbed away in Revolutionary
losses and smaller incomes: |

Mrs. Wythe, 8ir, informed me, that you civily [sic]
wished me to send you my account of fees. In my Dbook
messrs Rumbold Valker and Tabb stand charged with fees
for prosecuting their suits against Scott, Smith, Deniel,
Dandridge, lleWilliams, Littlepage's executors, Dentley,
and Voodrow, and for defending them at the suit of A.
Winston, amounting, with texes for the writs in the
first eight, %o 26,0.0. and on your own account you
stand charged with fees for prosecubting your sults
against llinge, Lewis, Willis, and three petitions for.

lapsed land, and Elizabeth Walker's suit against Pleasanbs

o

1. “Communication“ signed “"A.3.%, Vircinia CGazette, and Gen-
eral Advertiser, June 18, 1806.

2. "lewmoirs of the Late CGeorge Vythe, Tsguire", The American
Gleaner, and Virginia liagazine, I, 2-3.
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and Robertson, amounting, with texes, to 20.10; and in
the former credit is given for 7.10, and in the other
for the like sum, amounting together to 15, received of
you. Several of the suits, but which I do not recollect,

an

were not finished, vhen I was taken from the bar; so
that I am not intitled 1o, nor would I receive, the

7 I had alwmost as auch trouble

content with helf, or as much less as you think.just,
or even without any.t

How it chanced that the usually system&tid Wythe had failed

to keep & record to show which of these suits had heen closed

and which were pending could 6nly be surmised. Likewise, how

.many of his accounts went unpaid for years after he "was taken
frow the bar" by political duties cannot be deterained.

In conclusion, more wust be said of the relationshin be-
tween Wythe and Pendleton, his greatest rival for two decades
at the bar of the General Court. Circuastences nHlaced then
more freqguently than any other pair Qf lawyers in competition
before that Pench as opposing counsel, and for years afterward
Virginians' talk about the memorable figurés in that tribunal
rarely failed to include discussion of their verbal contests
in protection of their clients® interests and of their own
reputations. Wythe's most effective weapons were his coupre-
hensive knowledge and forceful logic. Through thése superior
advantages he was often able to overpower by the sheer weight
of his attack the defenses of Pendletvon, thm, posterity has

adjudged, "he equalled as a coumon lawyer and greatly surpassed

cw o b W A ey e sl e vy WAL o T8 e e s -~

1. George Wythe to John Tebb, September 22, 1782, Roberls
Autograph Collection, Haverford College Library.



a5 & civilien [e¢ivil lawyer]".

1 Pendlevon's noet telling

weapon was his greater ingenuity and agility in attack - a

jance which might without a moment's warning pierce Wythe's

e,

heavy armor, draw blood, and carry the day. Through larger

experience in the *ricks and subtleties of debate Pendleton

was more. adept in meking lightning shifts of offense which

would expose a vulnerable flank. Vythe himself, who did not

lack reason to know whereof he spoke, is supposed to have

acclained this salient guality in his adversary in these

simple, ungrudging words: WHisg conceptions were gquick, acute

and full of resource. Ille possessed a dexterity of address

which never lost an advantage and never gave one."% In these

10

2.

- -

Virt, Patrick Heury, 66. "... Pendleton ... had studied
law rather as it was to be found in the cases then as a
oL

syster, and may be sald rather to have known a great deal

of law than to have been & master of the science, approache&
nearer the character of a great advocate than of a zreat
lawyer.,..": Grigsby, Virginia Convention of 1776, 127.

Quoted from an unknown gource in Wingfield, op. cit., 201.
Cf. the striking similarity of that description of Pendle-
ton with Jefferson's: “Autoblography®, Bergh, ed., Writings
of Jefferson, I, 54-~55. The latter uses as a phrase exaci-
ly the same noun and adjectives that Wythe employed in the
first of the two sentences abave; each speaks of him as
"cool, smooth and persuasive; his language flowing, chaste
and embellighed®. Jeffevson's characterization continued:
*“The was] never vanquished: for if he lost the main battle,
he returned upon you, and regained so much of 1t as to make
in detail, and the recovery of small advantages which,
little singly, were important all together. You never

knew vwhen you were clear of him, bult were harassed by his
perseverance, until the patience vas worn dovn of all who
had less of it then hinself. Add to this, that he was one
of the most virituous and benevolent of men, the kindest
friend, the most amiable and pleasant of companions, which
ensured [sic] a favorable recepnt

tion to whatever came from
hinm." As a vreface to this descriptien Jefferson had
stated that Pendleton wes, "taken all in all, ... the ablect
men in debate I have ever met with.® s »



attributes Pendleton had the one trait begt calculated to get
under the skin of his rival; persistently and relentlessly
used, they could confuse the nind of a slower thinker and
‘destroy the self-possession of a less adroit temperament.
Vythe was inherently deficlent in the very features vhich were
Pendleton's unique gift. Once the latter had learned the
secret of the power by which he could sometimes weaken the
superior abilities of his foe, the plan of campaign in all
thelr fulure encounters became alinogt & foregone conclusions
«vo [Wythe] was too open and direct in his conduct, and
possessed of too little management, either with regard
to hig own temper or those of other men, to cope with
so cool and skilful an adversary. Though he was a full
mateh for Jlr. Pendleton in the powers of falr and sclid
reasoning, lir. Pendleton could, whenever he pleased, and

woulé, whenever it was necessary, tease him with cuib-
bles, and vex him with sophistries, until he destroyed .

the composure of his mind, and robbed him of his sirength.”
Thus Vythe was a watchful Samson, wary but not crafty enough
to avold always the deft scissors of maddeningly deliberate
fallacies and ﬁairspliﬁﬁing trifles, wherein Pendleton, his
Delilah, had discovered the only certain method by which he
could be reduced to the potenby of a mere man. Yet no dis-
honor canlaﬁtend'Wythe°s defeats at Pendleton’s hands; the
element in his being which explaing his Achilles® heel serves
as its owm apology: |

o man was ever more entirely destitute of art than Ilir.

Viythe. He knew nothing, even in his profession, and

never would know any thing [sic] of ®crooked and in-

direct byways". Vhatever he had 1o do, was to be done
_ openly, avowedly, and above~board. He would not, even

~ oy -

L. 'Wirt, Patrick Henxy, 66.
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at the bhar, have accepted of success on any other Terms.
This eimplicity and intesrity of character, although 1t
somebimes exnosed him to the arts and sneers of the less
scrupulous, placed him before his countrymen on the
ground which Cesar [Caesar] wished his wife to_occupy;’
he was not only pure, but above all suspicion.

FOn the whole, it is admitted, Vythe bore with somevhalt renark-
able equanimiﬁy his too fregquent frustrations at the hands of
his Wiiy rival.

It should not be inferred;'however, that Uythe permitted
himself to submit meekly to genuiné indignities. & probably
authentic story is told of an incident in the General Court
vhich afforded him ample opportunity to prove that he had,
when aroused or stung, an latrepid spir;t and & Vvenomous
tongue. On the day in queﬁiion the court was gsitting with
Lord Dumiore as ﬁresiding judge. Rather parenthetically
(since it is an observation which will not be substantiated
_until the seventh chapler is reached) it must be remarked that
Governor Dunmore,’whoge role is that of the foremosﬁ and mosd
‘notorious villzin in Virginia history, was the one man known
to have ever incurred Wythe's thorough and irreparable dis-
like. It is pfobable*that ?he intenperate governor recipro-
catéd»fully, if he d4id not aggravate, Wythe's repugnance for
him; equally probable is it that a sufficlient number of the
witnesses to thelr skirmish were aware of the feeling between
them to meke electric that second of suspense before its oub-

- come was apparent. The handsome figure of Pendleton, with

whom Wythe's relations were a hundred times more cordial, is

Vi g e

10 ;bido, 66"67&
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aiso an essential unit in the drepells personae. Vythe and

colleague were on the docket that day to oppose Pendleton
O o

®.

and & colleague in the trial of an unnamed case. Jut vaen
the suit was called, Pendleton's associate counsel had-not

e

aprived. Pendleton thereflore asked thal the court's examine-
+ion of the cause might Ee postponed, on the ground that there
were two attorneys on the other side. Porgetting for the
moment the judicial impartialily vhich decorum and tact de-
manded of him, Dunmore committed & crass iﬁpropriety by re-
plying, ¥Go-on, Mr. Pendleton, for you'll be a maitch for both
of them.® Before the echoes of that alffront had died in the
courtroon, Wythe retorited meaningly and pointedly, “With your
Lordship's assistance.® It was a fterribly severe rebuke,
wvhose biting sarcasm was empiasized by the exaggerated defer-
ence and mock politeness of the courtly bow which accompanied
it, ‘So comb;etely‘had ne desefved this virtual slap in the
face that Dummore could not afford to feel or act‘insulted.

ST,

Spectators of that dramatic moment were delighted at the

boldnegs and Yrilliance of Wythe's rejoiﬂder.l

N

1. Call, "Judge Vythe", loc. cit., xiv n.
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VYTHE THE BURGESGS: THROUCH THI STAIR ALT

‘Routine Service in the House of 1758-1761

The stormy adninistration of petulant Robert Dinwiddie
wa.s brought to a close in 1758 Dy his resignation on é pleé
of illness.l In the person of I'rancis Fauculer, who reache&}
Virginia about the first of June, 1758,2 there were qualities
vhich wére to make ﬁim‘a much more congenial lieutenant-
governor, perhaps one of the most pepular among all the men
who ever held his office. Through a succession of crises at
least asrvexing as those faced by Dinwiddie he retained with-
out notable lapse the public confidence and approval. 8o

conciliatory was his governmuental policy that mild censure

g e e gt gt S - A O R T A 5 iy A s s e et o e A gt - o ————

1, He communicated to the Council in September, 1787, know-
ledge of its scceptance: Ixecutive Journals of the Council
of Colonizl Virginia (Photostats), September 22, 1757,
University| of Virginia Library. To secure passage for hin
without de}ay the Council paid £300 sterliing to the captain
of & ship as compensation for his loss of freight revenues
on 50 hogsheads of tobacco vhich had to be unloaded to
make room for Dinwiddies ibid., Decembder 14, 1757. His
last meeting with the Council was thaet of January 2, 1758:
ibid. Pending the arrival of his successor, President
John Blalr of the Council ©ook charge of the government:

ipid., January 12, 1758.

2. Ille took his ocaths of office before the Council soon after
hisg arrivals ibid., June 5, 1758. TFor a time Lord Loudoun
was Governor. Later Jeffery Auherst held that wmosition,
hi- appointment being renewed with Fauculer's in 1781:
entries of IFebruary 17 and llbrch 4, 1961, Board of Trade
Journals (Transcripis), IJZIX, 135, 166, Pennsylvania
Historical Society Library.



reane to him from Ingland rather than from the colonyal Cein=~

cident with his advent was the true beginaing of George Vythe's
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1. He showed every inclination, upon several occasions of
conflict between IEnzlish and colonial inverests, to up-
hold the side of the Virginians, whose sentiments were
best reflected in the Iouse of Burgesses. Rewnrimanded for
supporting the cause of the colonists in a specific in-
stance, he exvlained in his apology that his policy had
been dictated by his firm belief in the wisdowm of pre-
venting discord within the General Assembly. ¥%... I must
frankly acknowledge that it has been my constant endeavors
[sic] ever since I arrived in this Coleny to preserve an
entire harmony among all the branches of the Lenislature,
and this care has been extended to the Council and Bur-
gesses to keep them in {&] good hunor with each other.
From the unhappy examples I heard of in sone of the neigh-
boring Colonies from the dissensions subsisting betveen
the branches of their Legislatures, vwhere a2l1ll business was
at a stand[still] and his lajesty's service and the public
good obstructed: I took another measure [i.e., course] and
(ydur Lordships will excuse me I hope for saying i%t) have
at some times Tlattered nmyself that I have promoted his
Hajesty's service by pursuing this path, But I find I
have gone too far, and ran intoc an extreme which has sub-
jected my conduct to your Lordships' censure. Having thus
truly stated the case, I rely on your Lordships' candor
that you will impute it to the true cause which is & mis-
teken judgment [in] imagining I could best promote his
lajesty's service by conniving at some imvroper or indecent
expressions [by the House], sallies of a young Ppeop in
a progress towards politeness”: Francis Faucuiler QQ;M18
Board ‘of Trede, Noveuber 19, 1764, Virginia Papers (Ban-
croft Transcripts), I, 2567, HWew York Public Library. Two
vears later he confegsed that, in a dilemma which had put
him temporarily at odds with the Burgesses, he had been
forced to resort to a bit of virtual deception. W... and
at last [I] have acted out of character[,] having made use
of more art, than I ever practised vwith them before™: id.
to the Zarl of Shelburne, November 15, 1765, ibid., 461.
£5 exeuples of his espousal of the popular cause, it nay
be stated that he made no secret of his staunch opposition
to the claims of Tthe clergy in the “Parsons? Causes" and
that his support of the inept Stamp Act was so lukewarm as
to leave 1ittle doubt but that he would have been one of
its firm opponents had he been in England or had he been
perfectly free to express his opinions on it.
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cal career.
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In the election of new burzesses whichufollowed Fau-
quier*s errival Vythe received only one vote in Eiizaheth City
County.— The field there was unusually crowded, wilth eight
other men as candidates, and it is to be doubted that he for-
mally offered his name at the polls; his lone supporter, one‘
Benjamin Lester, who &id not vote for & second representative
as custon requi;ed, vrogsibly did not like the announced can~
didates and wasted hig suffrage in a harmless gesture of

2

sonal esteem.” But Vythe's deys of absende from the sessions

of the House of Burgesses had ended once and for all. TPeyton
Randolph,‘formerly the representative of William and lary
College, was elected in the summier of 17568 burgess for Villiang-
burg, and Geocrge Wylthe was chosen by the College to iake Ran-
dolph's old seat.”
When the new House convened, Vythe was restored immed-
iately to &he place Which he had held on the Committee of

Privileges and Hlections in 1754 and 1755, without loss of

1. Tyler, ®George the", loc. cit., 37,

2¢ Villiam Vager and John Tabb were the succesBful candidates
by substantial majorities; “ythe did not vote: poll of
election of July 11, 1738, Deeds B, 1758-1764, 8~10, Eliza-
beth City County Records. An inaccurate report has it that
Wythe received 8 votes: William and liary Colleme Cuarterly
(1st series), VI, 11; but the saiie source 1latcrl COrrects
this error: ibid., ZXVI, 107-108.

S. licIlwaine, ed., Journalsg of the House of Burgesses, 1758~
1761, viii. Iiis predecessors in this capacity had in-
cluded, besides Peyton Randolph, Ddward Barradall and
Beverley Randolph -— all prominent lawyers: Tyler, "George
Wythe", loc. cit., 57.
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nis clain uvnon the rights of seniority over neimbers more
recently appointed.l In the reorgenizations of later sesgsious
vhis comaittee appointments of 1754 to Privileges and Elections,
Propositions and Grievances, and Courts of Justice were all
i to
gerve on &s rany as three of the five standing committees.2
,Eagland wag still battling France in the French and In-
dian Ver for control of the vast territory bvetween the Alle-
ghany lountains and the liisslsgippl River. In the early years
of the struggle Colonel George Vashington's forced capitule-
tion a2t Fort Necessity had been followed by the shocking mass-
acre of Braddock's army, which "had terrified all but the
bra&é”; "evefy coward", observed & youngster of that-day,
"believed and seid that we were on the point of destruction."d
By V@liant efforts in govermmental halls and offices and in
the field Virginia was bearing with comparative willingness
her fﬁll share éf the burden of financilal and military coopera-
tion levied on her from London headquarteru.4 & number of the
responsibilities which Vythe shared with other burgesses were
related to this conflict for an inland empire.

In three sessions the House of Burgeseses, acting through

- > pomr e SR T —

1, licTlwaine, ed., Journals of the House of Burgesses, 1758~
1761, 7.

‘

2- Ibidt; 57"583 201"'2020

n

i
Register, III, 146.

3. kutobiogranhical Sketch of John Page, Virginis Historical

4., Cf. Secretary Villiam Pitt to Francis Tauquier, December 9,
1758, Virginig Historicel Ibgazine, XI, 5-8; id. to id.,
December 29, 1758, ibid., 8-9.
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"i%s»Coﬁmittee of the Whole, resolved upon larae appropriations
'_mnd delegated to special comalttees of its leeding meuwbers,
gach of vhich inoluded‘wvthe, the tesgk of drafting & suiteble
1bill.1 Vargs are likely to flood legislatures with petitions
'for‘oompen sation of private and public los ses;‘wythe we. s
directly instrumental in dispoéin@ of several of these before
this House adjourned.<

A/foremost type of routine problem for any sesgion of
the House was the ineviteble petitions thet ewceptions to
meet personal conditions might he permitted in the operation
of the laws »roviding for the owhership and descent of land.
Fou;:such pleag vhich the House deemed velid were assigred to
Wythe, inborder that e night fraﬁe bills to recetify in these-
insténceé the effect of the gengr&l rule.® He participated
in tﬂe writing of several other acts, including two involving
the institution of slavery,® one for the furtherance of in-

C o 5 . . . \ . Coa
land navigation, and one enlarging the city limits of

e e et W e A A S okl W O A s i 1 % o . - - - -

1. IlcIlwaine, cd., Journals of the Housc of Bursesses, 1758~
1761, 71, 160, 187-188.

2. Ibid., 28, 97, 102

; licIlwaine, ed., Legislative Journals of
the Council, III, 1248. ‘

oorm—

3. On the Burwell bill sce HcIlwaine, ed‘,_gglrnmls of the
House of Bu”pOSCQS 1758~1761, 338, 142, 1 4-~145, 146, 150;
IllcIlwaine, ed., Legislative JouLna ) he Council, LII,
1228. O0On the 1two Spotswood Hills see Ilmalnc, cd.,
Journals of the louse of Burgegses, l?" ~1761, 1092, 115,
122, 144, 14G. On the Cary blll sece ibid., 01 220, 223,
230, R40, 243; TicIlwainc, od., Legislative Jourcals of the
Council, III, 1249, 125C. :

;,.:
2
e
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4. licllwaine, ed., Journals of the House of Burgesses, 1758-
A761, 22, l4l.

D _@_‘_@;9 ) 2200



169

“jncorporated towns.+ Twice the seat for Jomestown Vias va-

cated, and Wyt h was chosen by the louse to reguest Fauguler
2

o,

to issue writs for new electionsg. He served on commitices

arranging for the enmission of paper currency issued to finance

i

the war and for the auditing of the accounts of William Hunter,

the public printer,é and he took his turn in determiining the
amount of the annuvel appropriation for thet official.® 1In
the are)a%wtlo of & difficult act for tlie incorporation of

the trust ees of the Ieton Charity School in his native county
his was the major hand.S Thus Uythe geined & very creditadle
nuitber of appoiniments, in the fi rst House of Burgess bs
through a1l qf whoge sessions Ie sat, both to standing com-

[l

mittess and to the temporary committees for the drefting of
bills or for other purposes - and, since the official Journals
do not record debates and other actions of the individual

members, such appointmnents are recognized as a standard index

- e
1. Ibid., 68, 1l¢.
2. Ibid., 135, 158~159

3. Ibid., 9, 44,

4. Ibid., 144; Ilwaine, ed., Legislative Journals of the
Council, IJl 10@&. Hunter (d 170;5 set aside by ais
Will Eluo to- purchase mourning rings, which should be given
to ten peonle as tokens of‘ﬁis friendshin; among then were
(in the order in vhich he naned then) Benjamin Franklin,
Vythe, Robert Carter Liicholas, Willian Small, Benjamnin
Waller, ang Thowmas Iverard: VQL_'-“ and liary Collese Cuar-
terly ( ot series Y, VII, 12-13.

5. llcIlwaine, ed., JQQ‘H&JQ of the House of Burgesses, 1758~
1761, 73=~74, 106, 120, 121; iicilweine, ed., Lu 1M¢mu1ve
poo i wasy frotina s Win bl corhutole
Jouxmg;g_gg,ggg § qui;, ZLM, 1214. The trustees of thne

Syias Free 8Shhool had been incorporated by similar legis-



4o the leadership of the House.

Routing Seryice in the idouse

ouse of 1761-1765
Similar routine regvonsibilities were heaped upon Yythe's
‘shoulders by the Houserof Burgegses af 1761-1765, throughout
its eight sessions. ﬂ

Wythe, fofﬁerly a representative of Villiamsburz aad of
Willian and Illary College, sought elsewhere for reelection in
1761 as a legislator.- Peyton Randolnh reltained the seat for
the capital city, and lann Fage supplanted Wythe in that for
the College, »probably being chosen after the success of his
predecessor had been assured by another cons@ituency.l He
turned again to the polls of Ilizabeth City County, in which
he gained on liay 3, 1761, by recelving more votes than any
othex céndidate& a complete yindication of his defeat in
1756.% Thus he represented during the next four years 3 2
county wﬁich he visited only vhen things were quiet and with-
out pressure in hig Williamshurg hoime.

His regular appointments to the Burgesses' stending com-

mittees were renewed. A&t first thet on Privileges and

o v [V —— -

l. John I'. Xennedy, ed., Journals of ihe House of Burresses
of Virginia, 1761-1765, 3-4.

e Ibid., 3. William Wager was seated as 1is colleague, and
James Wallace contested veinly Viager's clainm. &nong the
findings of the Privileges and Llectiong committee in this
dispute was the desire of three men (Rev. Thomas Varring-

ton, Johnsondlallory, and John Lowry) to vote for yihe

and Vallace; Varrington alone, 1t was ruled, was entitled
to suffrage; ibid., 9-10, 86-90, ©4-96.

3. Ivid., 3, 31, 45, 63, 169, 201, 225, 318.
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ElerIOHS wes the only one orpenized, Wythe bein~ named highe:

on its ‘1ist than ever before, in accordance with the character-

isticall y jealous repara for seniority.l Later this and four

other suaudlnw comiittees were establisbhed, and Viythe was re-

named to those on Frivileges and Zlections, Propositions and
2

o~

Grievances, and Courts of Justice. In the same sesgion he
was added to the vrevious merbershin of a fourth greup, the
3

Committee of Trade. Ané vhen all five were given a final

reorganization in 1764, Vythe retained his rank on these Lour

and was 1'~e only burgess To scrve on nore than three of the

H

. ' . 4
five stending coumittees.

L2

in assigmrents to temporary comrittees Vythe's tasks ex-
celled those of all but the very oldest nembers. He assisted
in the »reparation of four bills mekins speclial concessions

- L . .5 : . .
to ovmers of certain lands and of two more general laws

nea - e -~ a—— Bt AL g o - o 3 M D A S U | - g o

2. The other two vere to counsider FTublic Claims and Trade.
At leasgt three other men were also on three of the five.
Uyuhe vas listed seventh, geventlh, and second,respectively,
in his groups: ibid., 68-69. .

3. Ibid., 146.

4, Ibid., 230-231.

5. On the Claiborne Hill see })ic , 13, 22, 24; iicllwaine,
ed., Lezislative Tou::cn 15 of @Qg Council of Colonial Vlr
&inie, III, 1266, Cn <the Cai‘ v bill sec Kennedy, ed.,

Journals of the House of 3ure ce, 1761-1765, 16, 17, 20,
1V {>urn@l of the Council

of Colonial Virginia, III, 1265

3
£
Cn the ©two Hubard billis
iio

[SEs
24, 25; iiciiwaine, ed., Lc”l%la@
!
35

see Kennedy, ed., Journals of the | ouge of Burgegses, 1781-
1765, 1556, 158, 161, and 327, 331, 344, 3473 licIlwvaine, ed.
ezgizslative Jou:nw g of the Council of Colonial Virsinia,

111, 1288, and 134z, 1343,
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He played

having & significant relation to the land systen.
the principal role in the framing and passage of a new and
e

the perennial legislation on the part of an

B

major edition of
essentially agricultural colony to »romote the growth of arts
and manufactures.< Two of the bille to which he len% his
hand concerned corporate munici oalluleo.% Of a wore iigcel-
laneous nature were nhils conneotionsywith bills to reduce the
Fauty on nOALhern rumd: arnd to oblige an individuwal citizen

to repay certain prosecution cos’aﬁ,5 and with comaittees

to
consider & petition that the Ilnventiow of & hetter commagss
and protractor for surveyors should be rewarded with & bount jG
and to arrange for renalrs to the "IPublick Gaol .07

in the wilitery business of thig House, too, “Vythe had
a full share. He was chalirwen of a commititee annointed to

draft a bill Tor reguiting the officers of the Virginia

A s g A rb—— i 0 S U L A s 7w T S oy ) e i g g s s

1. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House -of Burgesses, 1761~
1765, 84, 160.

&« Ibid., 11C, 119, 148, 154; jcilwaine, ed., Leglslative
Journals of the Council of Colonial Vir *31* TIiZ, 1293~
1295.

Ls of ;Ause of Rursesses, 1781~
1765, 151, 158, 3587; 1Tl ed., Leﬂlslaolve dournals
of % 1e Counoll qglggipnlal Vlrgzmia, III, 1297.

3. Kennedy, ean, Journals of

4. Keanedy, ed., Journals of the House of

of Burpesses, 1761~
1765, 185.

5. lbld., 331, 362; TicIlwaine, ed., Lewislative Journals of
the COU&C’I of Colonigl Virginla, III, 13540.

6. Xennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Burgesses, 170L-
1765, 2853, :

7. Ibid., 305.
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regiment in the French end Indian Va?.l When Fauquler com-

)

municated to the House I'ig ilojesty's desire that this regiment

[

should be wainteined by additional provisions for a period

longer than thet anticipat

[0

¢ by the Burgesses, it v&svresolved
that Virginie's financiel statug would not pernit a further
continuance of this expense, and Vyihe vas one of those to
whom the House delegated the duty of writing so tactful an
address co‘the lieutenant-governor that its refusal would seen
to be a pointed reaffirmetion of iits cooperative spirit.z To
provide’funds for the colony's earlier military expenditures
it had been pecessary to nrint paper ourrenoy'and to declare
it a legel tender, whose par value had been stabllized by a
bill which ‘Tythe had helped to draft.5 But British merchants
and creditors were afrald of an uustable currency and protested
that thesé treasury notes caile ﬁo}thex at a depreciated rate

of exchange., With their objections the llouse could not agree.
Its anSwe: cléiméd that thelr allesed losses either were rerel:
fancied, since renittences to Inglend even of sterling specie,
if 1t were”available, would suffer gubtractions for freight
end insurance, or resulted from wiolly uncontrollahle factors;
)

furthermore, all possible stepg to render Virginia's wublic

credlt inviolate had been teken by the establishiment of adequate

- et e [ro— s ——— i ———"

1. Ibid., 39-4l.

2. The other members ol this comittee were Peyton Randolph,
Richard Henry Lee, Richard Bland, and Bdaund Pendleton:

ibid., 1i4-115, 124/ 133,

3. Ibid., 18, 24.

ey ——
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funds for a gradual rcde"wtlon of the paper notes. In ex~

3
P*-'

tion of these just contentions Wythe collaborated with

collza ,aes in the composition of two addresses 10

FTauguler, = and he aided in the preparation of an act to meet
£

2

}J

o
@
O

T8

a nore velid Bxitish protest on the subject.

FiS

At the close of two of the eight sessions of this House

Wythe was chairman of the comaittees appointed to review the

accuracy of its enrolled or engrossed pills.® Finally, he

was named at its close with four of his associates to publish

and dis czibu%e an edition of 1,200 copies of all acts of the
General bLssembly currently in force‘4 - g type of service

o

thig legislator.

(]

which became & specialty of
Thus 1t is seen, by the mere mechanics of the Burgesses?
Aa gy

worx, thatl Wythe held a credlumole rank among them during the

vears from 1758 to 1765.

The Committee of Correspondence, 1759-1765

v a0 S

By fer the best indication, however, of George Vythe's

[

1. Ibid., 171-173, 241.
2 ibld , 180-181. On the hlsuory of this paper currency see
also a valuable letter fron Richard Biand to Thomas Adenms,
b

nuwuu 1, 1771, Virginia Historical llepazine, VI, 1“8»120
some additional references will be given in the nex t sec-
tion of this chapter.

1765, 194, 196, and 219, 2217 IcTiweine, ed., Lenislieti
Journals oi uh“ Council of Coloniel Virginis, IIL, 1311
and 1321 .

5. Kennedy, ed»g Journals of the llouse of Burge sob S, 1
is

4, His colleagues on th.s committee, in which he had second
'wﬂK, were Payton Randolph, chelrman, John Randolph, Den-
tamin Veller, and Robert Carter Nicholass Kennedy, ed.

J Fl
Journals of the House of Burgesses, 1761-1763, 333, 364,
LA RS N
L sLer,

e result ¢ Their wor k wzll be noted in the next cha
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"act thet he

LY

rly eminence in the House of Burgesses is the
became & member of its Committee of Corresgpondence.

In all the British organizetion for coloniel governnent
there was for'many years no provision for & direct cowmaunica-
tion in person betveen a transplanted peoplé and the various
London or Vestiminister sgencies. lIkils, on which even the
governors had to depend, were quite irregular end unsafe -
and even if their slow courses were successfully negotiated
by letters on inportant issues, there was no one to meke de-

irable explanations or To answer ineviteble questions on the

<

colonial mpoint of view. Virginia had been settled only a few
decades before & Dointed need woes fellt for sone one to visit -

governmental offices 1n ingland, and & series of ue@)orﬂ“y

agents had been sent across the Atlantic as ocgasion demanded
on Va‘ious speclel missions, ending with that of Peyton Ran-
dolph agalnst the pistole fee. In 1753 Janes Abercromby had
heen named a nore permanent agent to facilitate Virginia’

business and tc foster her interests in Lundon,l but Aber-

cronby became in effect a personal rvepresentative of succes-

sive governors by reason of the fact that he received his

appointiment and instructions fron them. Ilad it been possible
for any lieutenent-governor to sec eye to eye on mosgt problems
with the colonists, this arrangement migit have been fairly

satisfactory. Yet it is notoriously axiomatic that even &

Feuguier was disqualified by the very nature of hils position

P A e s A Y i A o

oxds o Jvnw1ool I, 37 ;1 Abercronby

L. Brock, e
ret ce bALOUPﬂ LU0 decaae..
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2 2 2

from the role of o true interpreter to British officials of
Virginia's desires. In present-day parisnce, & bpermanent
lobbylst in thie halls of Inglish ruling hodles was desirable
o sjonsor congideration by them of thé will of distant
colonists. |

Such & spokesman faithful to the colonial attitude on
all imperial probleus relating to Virginia weg woefully lack-
ing until 1759. In that year this defect in Tngland's admin-
istrative machinery was remediled by legiglation apnointing
ancther agent to solicit favorable actions in London and a
committee to direct hig efforts frow,Virgihia. In other
worde, the agent slhould be an Aaron attemnting to soften the
hearts of British Pheroahs with words supplied through a re-
mote and nultiple lioses by the god of Virginia's public in-
terests., Idward Iontague, a lawyer in the Iiiddle Temple, bhe-
came the Haron; four members of the Council and eight merlvers
of the House were named on the committee which vas %o be his

colleotiVeimoses.l It is a very significent testimony of

- - - - pe——

1. The att provided that the committee should consist of Coun-
cillors William Nelson, Thonmas Helson, Fhilin Grymes, and
Peter Randolph, and of Burgesses John Robinson, Peyton Ran-
¢oiph, Charles Carter, Richard Bland, Landon Carter, Den-
Jamin Waller, Wythe, and Robert Carter Nicholas: Hening,
Btatutes, VII, 276-277. 8ince & question wes raised in
England as to the act's constitutionality, another wes
passed in October, 1760, to clarify 1t, but the wmembershim
of the comittee remained unchenged: Virginis Hislorical
lizgazine, XL, 10-12; Yeninn, Statutes, VII, 375-377. De-
cause one member hed died and because others lived &t
poiants inconveniently distant from Williamsburg, two Coun-
cillors (John Blair and Rovert Carter) and two Burgesses
(Lewis Burwell and Dudley Digoes) were added to the com-

mittee in 1763: ibid., 646-647.
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George Wythe's ability and reputation that he should have

been selected to serve on this committee, compesed only of

recognized and honored leaders, at a time vhen he had to his
)

o

~credit less than three full years of membership in the House.t

et

finutes of the Committee's meetings and its correshond-

ence with liontagueare partially preserved.z They show that

o~

1. It may he surnmised that his geographical proxiilivy, how-
ever, would have made his apnointment somewhat preferable
to that of some remote leaders, such as Idmund Pendleton
and Richerd Henry Lee. An article on the Comnaittee suwmiar-
izes the attainnents of its members, without proper regard

for chronologys Williom and iary Colleme Quarteriy (lst

series), XXIIL, 3-4. Paragraphic bilographies of each member
are included in the notes accompanying its documents in

Virginia Historical llagazine, IX, 3585 n.

o

. A1l its available materials are reprinted, with editorial
notes, in Virginia Historical lizpazine, IX, 353-360, X,
337356, XI, 1-25, 131-143, 345~354, AII, 1-14, 157-169,
225~240, 335-364.
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the wes absent only thrice anmong twenty~three recorded

. 1 " C C o o
gsicns and thalt he participated in the drafting of in-
ructions to Ilontague upon fTour of the fewer occaslons waen

oy de

of its letters was sublev, after determination of

every phase o

o
ok

relations

P
b

2

ips between the liother

1.

2

o

A tabulation of his attendence, with dates and paze cita-
Do 2
L 4

lons to

itation

C
X, 338

339

- 340
541
341
341
KL, 10
<10
11
17
21
23
131
132
132
350

350 -

XIT, 4
-5

-

IX, 354
3585
359

It is of
Wovember

Virginia Historical lkgazine, follows:

Dete
ey 2, 1759
Tovernber 7, fi
tt 14_ s ]
i 17, i
it 19, f
it 20, i
October 7, 1760
Hovember 3, i
i -6, ]
Iay 4, 1761
Jun 11, i
t 13, ]
Anril 50, 1762
liay 4, #
Ilearch 29, 1763
June 16, t
# 17, u
January 17 1764
June 15, i
July 28, i
December 19, i
Septentber 14, 1765
i i1

interest

to observe that
7 and 17, 1759 and November

19,

oo

Jythie was

e d g

g

present

gbsent

present

absent

present
i

]
absent
present

1]

]

despite his absence of
1760, Vythe did

not miss entirely the discussion of a single recorded let-

ier to Montague,

the sessions of those days having been

devoted to matiters begun or ended in some earlier or later

meeting.

Ih

[

d., XI

S, 21, 131, XI

}

-]

H

3, IX, 35

-

o7
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Country and hrer colony passed under the Comalttee's review.l
Hontague répor%ed:mahy actlong which would affect Virginia,
end his correspondents dictated his steps in a nuaber of
projects, ranging from assignments to collect for the colony
money due in England< to the duty of securing the royel
assent to favorite bills pessed by the colonial legislature.
A large portion of his attention for some years was directed
to the justification of the paper oney issuedkby Vifginia to
finance her activities in the French and Indian Var, Which
resulted in & protest by interested Dritish merchants, though
such adequaﬁe security backed these notes that this curréncy
X

suffered no undue depreciation. Other agpects of the Com-

'mitteefs activity ir advising liontague hoﬁ to prouote on his
gside qf the Ablantic the colony's concerns will be reviewed
in later connections. Despite the want of complete records,
it seéms to be certain that liontague wasg discharged Lpril 10,
1771, on acéounﬁ of & growing apathy on his vart toward his

functions; but his cservices were evidently engeged again.4

1. CE., e.g., ibid., XI, 17, 21.

(@3]

2. Bee, €.g., ibid., XI, 23-24, XII, 4.

3. See, e.g., portions of thne Committee's first letter to Mon-
tague, ibid., X, 342-353, XI, 1~5, and the following nin-
utes and letters to Montague of 1763 and 1764: ibid., XI,
345-350, XII, 5-11. C(Cf. also Bxecutive Journals of the
Council of Colonial Virginia {Photostats), April 28, 1763,
University of Virginia Library.

4. A menber of the Committee, alter gtating the above dete and
complaining of llontaguels neglect, advised a London friend
to exert himself unofficially in the colony's behalf, in
order to ¢ .ligate to him the House, in which an inadeqguate
attempv would probably be made to reajdpoint Montague: Rich-
ard Bland to Thonas Adans, Lugust 1, 1771, Virginisa
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Vythe's Role in the "Parsons' Couses’

Yev George Vythe was also in the thick of less routiﬁe
~problems during this period. Among these were the issues
raised by the so~called "Two Penny" act,‘ouﬁ of which grew
the livest religious topic of the dey and several tense po-
iitical guestions.

The General Assembly had én&cted in 1748'a‘legal stivu-
lation that Anglican minigters in Virginia should be paid an
ennual salary of 16,000 pounds of tobacco, a cbmmodiﬁy which

W o3P TE ey o o e V2 meom T g
gtilll Ctended 0 displace

specie as the common local currency.
Ten years later it provided that for tweive months tobacco
debts to all public officials cduld be comnuted to cash at
the normai ratio of two pence per pound,l ‘for unusual weather
‘oonditibns proinised a shortage which would probably triple its
value.

This action was taken in October, 1758, just after Vythe
began hils term as the representative of Villiam and lary

College, and was not entirely without 'p.l"eceden"c;.‘3 If the

- [

' ~

Historxical lkgazine, VI, 133-134. llontague’s efforts in
1770 are recorded in ibid., XII, 157-169, 225-240, 353~
564, Jefferson told of a pnaper which liontague copied in
1774 or 1775 and referred to hiim as agent of the House:
hkutoblography, Bergh, ed., Yritings of Jefferson, I, 13.
Thus it would appear that Biand had underestimated the
strength of the movement for his reinstatenent.

1. Hening, Statutes, VII, 240-241. B

Ot i it

e

It is quite probable that Vythe voted in the Housge for
this Hill. The most available and cobprehensive sumary
of 1ts history and resullts is an article by Lyon G. Tyler
in Willianm and lary Colleze Querterly {(lst series), XIX,
10~27. :

2
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employees of the government were to be/renunerated under itse
terms; public wages would be at the gtandard level antici-
pated in 1748, but in the ebsence of such & revision their
pay‘would have been megnified beyond all intended Droportions
by about two hundred per cent. o
Some members of the established clergy, whose sélaries
wersa paid% of course, out of the colonial income from taxa-~
tion, were the only officials who did not acquiese in ithis
provision for specie payments. They argued thet the bhill
of 1758 con&ained unconstitutional provisions and would
probably mot receive the agsent of théycrown necessary to
meke it enforceadle law. The need for an ilmmediate remedy
of fthe trick played upon the Assenbly by the most reqent
fluctuation in the tobvacco market, it is true, had indeed

2.

induced the leglslators to dispense with the clause, re-

quired on billes repealing lews previously approved in Ingland,

suspending its operation until His lkjesty's pleasure might
be known. But. the law was to e of such brief duration that

it expired before royal disapproval could be returned from

z

London, and the payments in specie were effected. In justi-
fication of the failure toc comply with strictly legal legis~
lative regquirements, it wasg clalined by the Comaittee of

Correspondence that energency legislation could not be de-

.

the

laeyved by slow eighteenth-~century communications and that

\

Assembly had a natural right to enact temporary laws.*

P ot e g

1. linubtes of the Cormittee of Correspondence, Novemver 14,
L7559, Virginis Historical lknazine, X, 340.
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A% least four clergymen sued in the courts for the

e T ey Eo a4 RIS SO S R - 3 e 3 ‘ g T §
velance of the salaries which they claimed, a verbal war
L PR T e g WY ES PR y A2

broixe out with the publicati

on of several well-known pan-
phleﬁs on the subject by the principals and defenders of each
side, and agitation of the question did not cease for some
ight or 1wine years. The most reﬁOWned of the trials in
court in the famous YParson'ts CauseY of Hanover County, in
vhich Patrick Henry, as counsel for the vestry'of Fredericks~
viille Parish agoinsgt the sult of Rev. James lleury, delivered
2 somewhat far-fetched bubt eloquent harangue and first served
notice that he was & young wan who might go far by reason of
his sheer verbal control over his listeners?! emotlons. The
court upheld liaury's contention that the Two Penny Act was
invalid;“for Henry hed not denied 1ts alleged unconstitution-
ality with inescapable loglc; but his apveal made its in-

>

pression on the jury, which rather inconsgistently awverded

o

ibury dameges of one penny, an ebsolute minimwi.t

George Vythe had a direct connection with two less nub-
licized parsons?! causes, and each of then ended LIOTE SUCCESS~
lic d parsons! cauyses, and each 0 e ended more suce

fully for the colonists. Rev. John Camm (17.8-1779), then

B copin g 5 O U . i Wi -

i3

l. By far the best document on the Hanover “"Parson's Ceouse",
if not indeed on the vhole clergyts point of view in the
general controversy, is the long and vividly informative
letter of Rev. James iury to Rev., John Carui, December 12,
1763, Virginia Papers {Bancroft Transcrivts), I, 207-243,
Tew York Public Library. llury accuses Heary of deliber-
ate demagoguery, as other rectors also did on the basis
of an adniscion by Henry himsell, and of flirting with
treasonable utterances. Inury was, of course, the sane
clergymen vho served as w»rivate tutor to several eminent
Virginiens, including Thomas Jelferson.
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rector of York-Hampton Parish and later president of William

.

and Iry College, who had & rather strong penchant for being
in the midst of teupestuous controversies, vrosecuted in the
General Court a similar “ult vhich gave Virginia'ls leaders a

great deal more woryy.l The Committee of Correspondence felt

. il

it to be a matter of such public . nuero“‘u that the colony

should assist the parish in the expenses of the defense,® and

2

explicit instructions were given to its agent with constitu~
)

A

tional argunents to asslist the cause in Londoun. The Council

was firm in supporting the Two Penny &ct, too, and its sgent
succeeded in positponing the nrogress of en adverse report of
the Board of Trade %o the eventual officiel veto by the

4 . o ‘ " o .
Crown.™ Vhen the General Court finolly gave & judgment on

Caizn's sult, in which Robert Cerier ilicholas was chief

o ——-

le Virginia Historical liegazine, &, 350, carvies & biogrephi-
cal note on Camn. The story of hilts advocacy of & bishop
in the later contentious movemont for an Anerican episco-
pacy ig partially told in Hichard 3land to Thomes Adans,
Auvzgust 1, 1771, ibid., VI, 130-134. Tor gossipny comaents

v

on his la% nerriage see linrtha Goosley to John iforton,

. BT o g o -~ et A ] -t s ,
August 5, 1709, llorton Papers, Colonial Villiamsburg, Inc.
R0l e D A E L i P ORI B e R e G0 R T L BT,
AT R et IR0 0 B e R SRR S S O O U S SO eS8 e 500

2. Ilinutes of the Committee of Correspondence, lovember 14,
1759, Virginie Historical lagazine, X, 340.

3« Cormaittee o“ Corresnondence to Idward lontasue, Deceriber
123 1759y L)-’d ° 3 \3‘47"‘\)3\) 'i %o ’C,O id.o ¥ ::OV ffbel" 53 1760

ibid., 4AI, 14-17.

4. Bxecutive Journals of the Council of Colonlal Vipginia
(Photostats), December 12, 1759, University of Virginia

::‘bmm; L TN
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attorney foxr the defend&nts,l the neanbers of the Council in

'S
vheir cavacity as judges decreed against the parson.z Fau
guler gronted with misgivings Camn insistence upon an

apveal from the verdict to authorities in Ing: and,5 and the
Cormittee of Correspondence warned llontague to dig up old
pwionial charters &nd other precedents with whiich to combat
& possible British reversal of the (eneral Court's decision.®
But Camn'’s appeal was allowed to die by the Privy Council in
1767; common bellel among English contemporaries attributed
its ﬁailure to a Gesire that the colony, already provoked,
should not be further a@iﬁateda"
_Rev. Thones Varrington (Q; 1770), a predecessor of Camn

in York»n@qavon Parish and rector of Elizabeth City Parish

from 1756 until his death,s likewlise brought legal action in

his oounﬁy’cour¢ against one Jiggitts, who represented the

ve5orjmen of his parish, for the full market value in 1738 of

e s e s gy S s A - — S

1. ITicholas was asked to furnish llontague with a copy of his
argunents: minutes of the Committee of Correspondence, June
15, 1964, Virginia Historical lapgazine, XII, 7.

2. Ibid., 6.

3. Francis F&uouler to the Board of Trade, iy 9, 1764, Vir-
ginia Papers KBWHCLOi Transcripbs), I, ?49 251, gives his
of ficial exnlenation of his actions, vhich wes sonmevwhet

against the. tecnulc lities of hils Ln tructions.
4., MMinutes of the Comnittee .of spondence, June 15, 1764,
Virminia Iistorical lmgazine, XII, 6-7; Comnitice of
Julj 28, 1764, ibid.,

sorrespondence to idward :
11~13. Ifontague we.s uuoueudfu in his effort Lo sscure

the copies: try of oiuﬁry 1e, 170 Board of Trade
Journals (lraq Crlpu%), LTI, 66, P 1~y1v nia Historicel

Society Libraxry

°
Foi

T fal S y 1 Aoy Ao ey 1A X I T .
leffelfinger, Kecoughten O0Lld and ilew, 23~25.
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. n . . 1 ..
nig- tobacco. LAfter various postponenents the case came to

triel in 1763,

s presiding justice of the Blizabeth City court ® George

W

ythe heard the arguments in this suit. A jury broughit in a

snecial verdict in fevor of Varrington if the lew of 1758

were invalid, in favor of the defendant if the court upheld

1. See, @.4., entry of June 1, 1752, Court Record 1760 [Order
Book, 1760-1769], S2, Blizabeth City County Records.

2. 4 cursory examination shows that Vythe attended 23 out of
68 meetings of the court beltween July 7, 1761, and July 2,
1766 ibid., pasginm; the writer did not find his nene in
the records of the approximetely 70 neetings after the
latter date reported in this volume. The following table
shows the dates upon vhich he was present, with page cita-

v ——

as presiding justice:

Date Vythe present Wythe signed proceedings

July 7, 1761 28 33
September 1, 1761 35 , a59
Decewber 1, 1761 49 54
June 1, 1762 81 ‘ :

July 6, 1764 90 : :
January 4, 1763 118 120

Janusyry 5, 1763 121 : 123
lerch 1, 17863 128 o

lierch 2, 1763 132 . 138
July 5, 1763 152 160

July 6, 1763 | 160 163
Lugust 2, 1763 164 [171]

Septerdber — [torn], 1763 [171] 176
Janvary 3, 17064 183

February 7, 1764 198 _ 201
July 3, 1764 228 232
July 4, 1764 232 935
Septevber 4, 1765 243 247

larch b, 1765 283
July 2, 1765 322
July 20, 1765 328 328
July 1, 1760 363 : 368
July 2, 1766 , 3588 . 371

before those of laury and Camm had been decided.



the o Penny Lotk beo moaths later the justices listened
30 pleas of each party’s counsel on this matier df law; they
determined that *hc enactment of 17568 wasg bin ding upon the
YEEUIYINENR . Varrington vias thereby defeated, but he pressed
an anpeal to the General Court, 5 vhich refused in October,
1767, to reverse the verdict.
Thusg Wythe, as a meuher of the Comittee of Correspondence
and as a jud@e of his native county's court (if not, perhans,

e

in other capacities too 4),had,défended against the attacks
of two clergymen the right of Virginie's General Asseribly %o
enact, independently of ﬁardy royel approval, temporary and
emergency local legislation. Doubtless the constitutional

v

issue in the coutroversy interested hin much more than its

\

religious phases, though he was an officer of the Church, for
25 early os ovember 20, 1760, he had becone a vestrymen and

churcuwar den of the Bruton Parish church in Williamsburg;5

A1 9l S 1 o 2 A0 S S g e 1475 A 11 g PR U —

L. Batry of Januery 5, 1763, ihid., 121-123.

2¢ Dntry of Ierch 2, 1763, ibid., 132~138.

3. Ibid. These-two documentis are counveniently reprinted in
WViLllian vnd lkry Gollerme “uvarterly (lst 3031083, L, 172~
3..]&)- )

4. It is guite p' 5ible, €.5., thet be vas associated with
Ticholas in the 1 egel defense of the Two Tenny Act before
the General Court in Cammits prosecution and that he was an
attorney before the same bench for Ilizabeth City ,&ilgh
in the hearing on Varrington's appeal.

5. Surviving records give only incomplete data on his tenure
of this wooitioa; in addltion to the avove dave it 1s knomm

ocnly that he ves also a vasoryuwn on"Sepﬁember 14, 1769,

with such men as John Blair, Ubﬂ}&ﬂll Waller, Robert Carter

Wicholas, and Thowes Dverard: Goodwin, op. c¢it., 39-40.

. Hea Gy Ol blbo, I, .&..’7\/3 LG1L.
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But his prominent colleagues in opposing the parsons'! claims
were, almost without excention, aldo vestrymen. Indeed, few
~Virginians of any rank were ever outright proponents of a

o ..

salary increase for thelr hnglican clergymen!

Rational Onposition to the Stamp Ach

W

briefer duretlon than that over the Two
Penny &ct but of greater intensity an& of a morekdirect re- |
lation to the unsclved problems in Dritisgh colonial organiza-
tion was the furor féised by the Stanp Act. ALs might be ex-
pected, George Vythe wes in the midst of this batile, too,
from its very begluning.

In accordance with his instructions to report all pro-
ceedings of the English govermient which concerned the colony,
- Edward llontegue, the agent, informéd the Committee of Corres-
pondence that early in 1764 a renewal of duties on certain

articles of trade, including sugar and wiane, would be levied

Ve

and that the minis%ry proposed for subsequent enactment a

7

requirement that stouaps be placed on legal documents and on
other tynes difna;ers.
The Bbaglc difficulty in the impeiial ¢risis vhich re-
sulted from the steawp proposal was the want, in England's
unwritten cénsﬁitution, of any clear definition of the riaht-

- ful powers of Parliament over the British colonies. Guarantees

- 2 .

—

i ~uets letter was dated tlarch 10: minutes of the Com-
nittee of Correspondence, July 153, 1764, Virginia Histori-
cal lawozine, XII, 5. The SBugar hLct received the royal
signature on April 5, 1764.

-
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in llagne Charta end 1ts later amplifications, such as the

Bill of Rights, and in the principles of the common law pro-

tected from the King's prerogative

he liberties of each in-
dividual subject. These hard-won rights were often conceded
by royal charters to be an inheritance of the colonists, bul
even these personal privileges were not universally admitted,

.

for in the exercise of 1%

<
U

5 increasing povers Parliament some-
times exceeded the very limitaetions which 1t had placed upon

the Crown. In the absence of specifically prescribed bound-

aries Qf authority, & generally recognized division of powers
hed been worked out by experience between Par@iameht end its

colonial counterparts. A4ssemblies in the Wew Vorld were

given in practise the function of taxing thelr peoples, so-

5

long as @hﬁqwelfaré of the whole British dominions wes not
thereby ﬁlaqéd in jeopardy; Parliament assumed authority over
211 matters of taxetion and customs involving intre-imperial
and intern&tioﬂal trade. Thus, vhenever texes laid in London
were construéd'by colonists to be imposed for reveanue on
purely 1o¢a1féffairs, protests were forthcoming. New postal
regulations eérly in the eighteenth century, for exemple, met
the vigilant Virginiens' rebuff that “Parl't could not Levy
any Tex, (for so they call ye Rates of Fostage, ) here without
the Consent of the General Asseﬂbly."l Under this principle,
well established by many precedents, Parliament would be with-

in its bounds if it should exact tariffs on sugar and other

1. Llexander Spotswocd Lo the Board of Trade, June 24, 1718,
Toock, ed., Letters of Spotgwood, II, 275-286.,
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Cgommodities; but, should the proposed tax v1a stamps he en-
acted, 1t would be exceeding its Aiuﬁorical authority. The
truth of the matter scems to he that British officials knew
this as well as s2ny one and thet they announced their in-
tention long belore the passage of the Stamp Act in oxder
that colonial reactions might be weighed duriang the period
for which execution of t110 plan was deferred.

The Commititee of Correspondence met on July 15, 1764, %o
consider‘fne news horne by its agent's letters and described
Virginia in its minutes as "much alarned at the Attenpt in
parllamenc\to lay & Duty ... on lhdeirs Vine & [éﬁ] the pro-
posal for & Stamp Duty.® It resolved to order llontague Yo
oﬁpoée this Wiﬁh all his Influence, & as far as he may venture
[to] ;nszoo on uhe Injustice of laying any Duties on us &
pqru,culaLly [of] taxing the internal Trade of the Colony
nd

without their consent. Wythe wes appointed to draft a

L3 ’| 'f“ '/\ - (‘ L P - “' s - e “ T, ‘: e
letter to lontague, witlh the assistence of Robert Carter

¢
»

icholas, pursuant:to this and other resolutions.a The re-

sultont letter was reported to the Committee and adopted in
3

2 meeting held thirteen days later. Thus it wes given to

Georme Wythe To be the spokesman in the outstanding and most

e 3 2 ~

o

1. Minutes of the Cormittee of Correspondence, July 15, 1764,
Virginia [istorical liozezine, AIL, 6.

2. Ibid., 7.
3. Minutes of the Committee of Correspondence, July 28, 1764,
ibid.
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1
!
| .

earnest early pnrotest against the Sltamp Act.
Every prominent argument used later by all colonies
azainst the nroposed form of taxatilon, excedt the point that

it would hurt British trade by draiaing the colonies of their

little specie, was summerized eadequately in the instructions

to liontegue written by Vythe end Hicholas. They urged first
thet the intention was 1ll-timed, since Virginia was already

staggering uader & war debi relatively comparavle to Great
\
AN

<v. The immediate Effects of an addi%ional heavy bur-
then immosed upon @ People already laden w1uh Debts
¢ontracied chiefly in Defence of the Common Cause &
peoessaley uo couu1nuo by exp;euo Stipulation for a
nwiber of years Lo come, will be severely felt by us
and our children....

By reascn of the already onerous current taxation, locally

levied, & stenp duty would therefore he now inexpedient. 3Bui

it was eeAluwlj more ilmportant in the eyes of Vythe and his

colleagues that such a tax would aloO be uncons utzo 2l and

would establish by precedent o parlianentary right to invade

the General Assernhbly's jealously protected power over local

taxation and legislation. In phraseology as strong as ubbter
loyalty to British institutions could meke 1t and as apolo-

getic as the role of subordinates admonishing superiors dic

tated, the Comittee agsumed with adiirable foresight the role

[ rs— o g e iy

1. Sanuel Adams’ resolutions of Iby 24, 1764, in 2 Doston
town meeting und James Otig? norial end instructions
adonted by the lower house of llassachusetts' legislature,
June 13, 1764, vrere directed prxncxpally against the Suge~
Lct, though QlOQ*le nov oﬂc¢uszv 7 g0, &g Lyon G. le“r*&
articles claim: ¢f. g.f,, that in ”vl@"' Cvarterly i2ma-
zine, 1II, 248-247.
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tors who would with Yoo little thought pervert it:

..o put what mekes the approaching Storm apnear still
mere gloomy & disnel is, that, if it should be suffer'd
to break unon our Ieads, not only we & our children,

but our latest Posterity mey & will probably be involved
in its fatal Consequences. It nay, verhans, be thouzht
presummtious in us to attemmt or even to desire any
Thiny vhich may look like & restraint upon the countvol-
ling Power of Parliament; e only wisgh that our just
liberties & Privileges ag free born Aritish Subjects
were once vproperly defin'd, & we think that we way ven-
ture to say that the People of Virginia, hovvever they
may have been misrepresented, would never entertain the
most distant Inclination to transgress thelr just Limits.
That no Subjects of the King of freat Dritain can be
Justly made subgervient to Laws without elther their
personal Consent, or their Consent by their representa-
tives we take to be the most vitel princinle of the
Dritish Constitution; it cannot be denyed [ﬁig] that

the Parliament hes from Time to Time, vhere the Trade

of the Colonies with other XParts was likely to interfere
vith thet of the liother Country, made such lLaws ag were
thousht sufficient to restrain such Trade to what was
Judgtd its »proper Channel, neither can it Le deniled

! X
that, the Parliament, out of the same Plentitude [sic]
of its Tower, las gone & litile Sten farther & ilmposed
soize Duties upon our Ixports; dbut to fix a Tax upon such
Pert of our Trade & concerns as are merely internal,

a
appears to us to be taking a long & hasgty Stride & we
believe may truly be sald to be of the first Importance.
Jothing is farther froil our Thoughts than to shew [sic]
the least Disposition to any Sort of rudeness, bulbt we
hope 1t cannot be taken amiss that we, apprehending
ourselves so nearly concern'd, should, at least whilst
the imtter is in Susvence, hubly represent agalinst it,
& take every Measure which the Principles & Laws of our
Constitution appear clearly to justify, to avert a
3torm so very replete with the most dangerous Counse-
guences.

Revertving azain vo Virginia's recent participation in the
Prench end Indian Var, which mede additional demands inex-
vedient, the letter argued thet it mede then also unjust:

Ve cannot bubt concilider the LAtvtennits which have been
.

% o
made [to establish future stemp duties], the more ex-

-

tracrdinary vhen we reflect upon the Part we have
taken in the late Aunerican VYar, & théet we have always
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with the greatest Chearfulness [gic] submitted to &
complytd with every Reguisition which hes been mede of
us with the least Colour of Reason or Pretence of
Wecessity. ' o

The Comnitiee's directions to Ilontague on this henad concluded
vith an urgent cormand that he should deem opnosition to the
& . oht

intended act es his primery duty and should secure the coop-

eration of agents in London from other colonies:

Ve ... therefore ... mo0st earnestly recommend to you,
as the greatest Object of our present Concern, the
exerting [of] yourwhole weight & Influence as for as
Decency will allow in opposing this & every other
liee.gure of the Sort; and since we find, upon other
Occesions, that you have met with & ready Disposition
-in the Agents of the other Colonies to cooperate with
you, whenever the generel Interest of the Gontinent of
Lmegica secems to have been concern'd, we are of Opinion
that theilr Aid & Agssistance, in all Probability can
never, upon any Occasion whatever, be more seasonably
ask'd than in the present Conjuncture, & we don't doubt
but [that] you will endeavor to avail yourself of it.l

After this letter had been signed, the Comaltiee heard
the reading of more recent news in the seme dire veln from
Montague, written on the eleventh of Lnril, which had been

received affter its neeting of the middle of July, Its men-

b

bers therefore agreed to vwirite innediately at their table a
postscript td ﬁhé letter drafted by Vythe and Hicholas, in
order that liontague might be acguainted fully with théir re-
affirihed concern ¥ihat the parliament seen so determined to.
cerry their Intentlons of taxing the Colonies at pleasure
into Execution.® This addendun should also suggest to him

that, "to prevent a »nrecedent of being taxed in this

L. Committec of Correswmondence to Ldward lontague, July 28,
1764, ibid., 9¢~11. :

————————r



unconstitutional manner®, a recuest from UVestminister, like

the militery and financial recuisitions of Tthe past war, Tor

adequate appropriations by the General Lssembly would be wel-

nreferable aliternative.t The language of the ex-

coined as a

temporaneous postscript was less cautious and suppliant than

that of Wythe'ls well-considered letter:

vv» Every lention of the parliamtts [sic] Intention to
lay ar Inland Duty upon ug zives us fresh Apnprehension
of the fatal Conseguences that mey arise to Posterity
:f‘ro:n such & precedent; bubt we doubt net that the Wisdom
of a British parliam® will lead them to distingulsh be-
tween & Iower and Right to do any act. Yo ran can say
but thet 1ey have @& power to declare that his lajesty
2y railge lioney upon the people of England by Proclame-
tion, but no man uurely Lwou d] dare be such an Enen

to his Country as to say that they have a hight to do
this. Ve concpive that no lMen or Body of I »en, however
¢nve ted th pove;a have & Right to do anything that 1is

ontrary to Reason & Jus tlco, or that can tend to-The

Des*" ction of the Constitution. These things we write
to you with great Preedowm and under the greatest Concern,

~but your Discretion will teach you to make a prudent use
of then. ’

If @& sum of money wmust be raised in the Colonies,
why not in a constitutional Viay? & if & reasonable
~000fu10nu5 be laid before the Legisl® of this Country,
thelr past Qomn¢1mnce with his Hag sty ts several Requil-
sitions during the late expensive ”%:, leaves no room
to doubt they will do every thing that can be reasonably
expected of them.~<

This appeal for an adherence to constitutional methods, it
must be réemarked in passing, wes probably, despite its obvious
limitations, ithe most coustructive reaction receilved in IEng-

lond at any time during the Stanp Act crisis.

The postscript to the Committee’s letter expressed a hope

1. Minutes of the Commititee of Correspondence, July 28, 1754,
o Ibide, 7. ’

2. Comnittee of Corr
™ LR . -~

~~/u., L2Lle ; LO=L

e wondence to Edward Montague, July 28,

w z»
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thet the pending Stamp Act might not he enacted before Vir-
ginia's General Asseuwbly could put on record its sentiments
regarding the proposal.l Convening on October 30, 1764, the
House of Burgesses turned almost immediately from the usual
work of organizing itself to consideration of the state of the
colony and ordered the letters of the Committee of Corres-
pondence to be laid before it. &fﬁef several days of debate
on the subject of the projected tex three firm resclutions
Wer@(;eporfgd in mid-Novewoer for the prep&ra@ion of an

address to. the King and memorials to the'House of Lords and
House of Commons, as an evidence of %the Burgesses' disapproval.
And on the same day the regolutions were referred to & c o -
vee consistiﬁg'of Peyton Randolph, chairman, Richard Henry

Lee, Lendon Carter, Vythe, Edmund Pendleton, Benjamin Harrisoﬁ,
Archibald Cary, and thn Fleming.g Randolph, Carter, and

Uythe were menberé of ahe Committee of Correspondence, ﬁhich
had &lready.revieWQd the problem, and another of that group
was appolnted to join iﬁ the weiting of the three papers when
Rioﬁard Bland.wés added geveral dayg later to Rendolph's com-
mittee’z After about two weeks of effort spent in drafting

the three documents the coimittee reported to the House,4

which was unable from the nressure of other business to

1. Ibid., 14.

2. Kennedy, ed Journals of the House of Burgesses, 1761~
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resolve itself again into a Committee of the Whole to con-
sider them until two more weeks had passed. 1 The address to
the King wes adopted without change, but the papers to the

two branches of Parliament had %0 be amended before accept vnce.g’f’.
With éll of Randolph's committee representing the Burgesses
except Carter, Harrison, and Bland,5 a series of conferences
with certain mewbers of the Council ensued before the upper
brench of Virginia's legislature cénourred, December 18, 1764,
in the documents; the remonsirance to the Commons was thereby
furthermamendedqé When the papers had thus become the

official and uh animous statements of the General Assembly,

the Burgesses‘commanded/tha% a copy of each should be inserted.
in their minutes and that thelr Committee of Correspondence

hould send five cogleo of each to Montague for presentation

to the proyer authotiﬁies in England.s The Committee was
consclentiously prowmpt in transmitiing the address and memor~

ials within two days, expressing o the agent ¥apprehensions
that you will meet with Difficulty in getting the memorial %o

the Commons laid vefore them, &s we have heard of their re-

fusing to receive Petitions from the Colonies in former simi-
lar Instances. In such an eventuality Hontague was direchted

Lo
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,

4o use the propagendlst method adopted by Peyton Randolph

when he was refused & hearing on the pistole fee:
... wa think you shoqu have them printed and dispersed
cver the b&tiOl or the substance of them at least pub-

d in such ﬂw wmer as you may think leagt Lliable to
oogaction, that the People of Ingland may be acquainted

th P;lvlle es & Liberties we clain as British Sube

: as thexr‘sxe*%fen and the dreadful .apprehensions
we are under of being deprived of them in the unconsti-
tutional method Hronosed

Fie

It is of special interest that the memorlal to Lae House
of Commons, in the form in which it was renorted from ﬁhe
committee to the House, was submitted to amendment before its
“adoption by the Burgesses and to gtill other amendients be-
fore i% was approved by the Council. For Thowmas Jefferson

"

reports that George Wythe penned the remonstrance in its

original form and that, “following his own principles, he so
far overwent, thm tlmld hesitations of his colleagues that

9]
his draught wes sao:cheQ by themn to material modl* .cationg."®

And upon an0uuer occasion Jefferson said that ‘lythe wrote it
Ugith so much freedom, thet, &s he has told iie himselfl, his

-

colleagueg ... shrank from it ag bearing the aspect of treason

end smoothed 1ts features to itg present form."3 Despite

sundry expurgations of phrases and thoughts too spirited to

v

l. Committee of Correspondence to Edward liontague, Deceamber
20, 1764, Virginig Historical Jlagazine, IX, 354~355.

o

2. Jefferson, "Notes for the Blogravhy of George Wythe%, filed
under August 31, 1820, Jefferson Papers ulorwxy of Congress,
The original au%uorshlp of the address uo the King and of
the memorial to the House of Lords hes been variously
attributed to Peyton Rendolph, Richeard Bland, Richard Henry
Lee, and Landon Carter.

3. Thomas Jefferson to Villiam Virt, ALugust 14, 1814, Bergh,
ed., YUritings ol Jeffersgon, LIV, 168,
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secure general acqulescence, howvever, this exposition by
Wythe for the House of Commons of the dangers inherent in its
vlan of imposing internal taxes on the colonies was yet bold

eave no doubt as to Virginia's unalterable opposi-

@]
t—d

tion t@ a Stemp Act. Longer than the address to the King or
the memorial to the Lords, it was stronger in argument and
terminology then eichér of then, ag it should naturally have
been, since it was meant for the unreceptive ear of the body
in which the threatened tax would be initiated.

Con%é&porary references to it spoke of it as @& “memorial®,
but it gave itself‘ﬁhe strbnger name of a YRemonstrance® and

stated in its introductory paragraph that “ithe Council and

Burgesses of Virginie, wmet in CGeneral Assewbly, judge it their

indispensable Duty, in & respe ARTRS L lManner, but with decent

Firmnesg, to reaonstrate ageinst¥ the pending tex meagure,

lest "o Cession of those Rights, which in thelir Opinion nust

—

e

be infringed by thet Procedure, mey ... be inferred from their

————

Silence, at so important a Crisis.® Without raising the some~

ombrsimiramrareom § s ermoasarn
LC

what gophistical distinction between internal and extemnal
taxgtion the remonstrance based its claim that the Stamp Act
would e uncounstitutional on rore general principles, bolstered
by illustrations frowm Virginiae history of Their wDQ]LCaLIOH"

They [your remonbtrap's] conceive it is essential

.,.,....‘ ——— o Al o

to British Liberty that T:ms imposing Taxes on the

B ople ought not To be made fi’mouT the Consent of Rep-
resentatives chosen by themselves MﬂO, at the Samc

Time that tiey are acguainted v1th e Circumstances of
their ConstiLuents, sumtﬂln & PfOOOTulOﬂ of uhu Buruaen

i2id on them. Ihis Privilege, inhercat in the Persoas

Wino 61isc ovefcd and seftitled *tiase ?“Oloﬁo, coa*d no» he

TEnour 54 or rforfeited by their Removal nither, nov as

,s..
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bw Licensed and encourapned by

with & laudable Desire of en-

don1n16n? nd extend ing 1ts Commerce:
5 secured 1o them and their De-

{
&
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xlgutu mnu Tomunities of

1sh Sul ’s, e Royed Chorter, 'nach natl"ueea
invariably 1 and confi rﬂgg‘jj s Jajesly ax
his ?redeceg rsoin Llolr Commissions gp The severa T
Governours, granting & Power, and vres 051u1nn & bOfm,2£
Legislation; &¢ ordlnf §Q_bdlbd, Laws for tne Adninis-
tration of Tuuuloc, and for the Yelfare and good LGovern-
ment of the Colony, u&ve been hi%her%o enacted by the
Governour, Council, and General Assembly, and to them
Reguigitions and AQOLlCauTQEE‘IO" Suppiies have been
cirected by the Crown. A8 an ing tunoo of the Opinion

. oo

which TOTHMCTY Sovercigns enterte incd of These Rignts and
Privilceges, we beg Loave to refcr to threce Acts of the
Generel Lsscmbly passcd in thc 820 foar of the Reoimn of
King Charics I1 (onc of wWaiGh i ontivicd &n ket for
Taising a Publick Revenuc for the botter support of the
Govermmaent of his Ha;’~uy?s Colony of Virginia, imposing
geveral DUulOS for that Purposc } vhich hcy Thought ab-
SOLULCLY nocossa:y9 vere )PO)C:CQ in Snugland, and sed?
over by thelr thon Governour, tie LOLd Cnlooocr, to oo
o

pess cd QX tilc u@nch% Kegeerbly, vith & full power to
cive tho ] Ojul assent thereto; and x1lch were accor dln“l“

Qmsucd mftor SV O 77 mﬂono Tere mede Lo them nere
Thus tender ves hl 30Y the fights Qf le AhbflCc‘
Subjecctsy and the qLJOHSU¢thu do no% G418 oy what

oF that bm?f@d BT
reritance Ly their rellow Sub-
TUith wWhat Propi 10uV bnoy can be taxed or
fecbed in their dstates EX’AEF Parlisment, vaerein
they are not, wud Tndced ca 0%, CONSTLILULLONALLY be
representod.

Dlob+ucugon they can be
i valuablc

Jccbs

aff

But, in addition to the warning of unconstitutionality, the

remonstrance nlead against the proposcd stamps on the ground

N

that Virginia wes already too heavily 1cdhn with fln ncial
responsibilities =~ another poiat which Jythe had also re-
viewed in & diffcerent manner in the letter to liontague he had

Prepared durins the precedin? sumier:

iu wer A
uoloalcv at ! The Reinonsor
“1Lu\ “ou1c4i)c anohl igtent with
of the COGSblLUblOJ, dqc Ixercise
illb Tould be Tuinous to Virginie,

R G- v p————. g
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Cexerted herself in the late Wer it is feared beyond
Strength, insoiuch that to redeenl the Joney granced
chat IDxigence her Leon

t
e Te are taxed for several Y6ars
¢ come: Ihig with the larze Ixpenses incurred ror de-
fending the rrontliers againet ovae restless Inﬂians,’gﬁg
Tve infested ner &s much since vhe rPeace as before, 1s
50 zrievous that en lncrease of the burthen will be in-~
LOAG"?b;@, esnecinlly as the Feople ere very creatly
distressed already froi the 8carcity of circuleting Cash
amongsﬁ then, and from the litole value of their Staple
at the British larkets.

It was not enough, however, to show that an imposition of

stamp duties was inexpedient from Virginia's point of view.

A Stamp Act would be inexpealonu also from the gtandpoint of
a

Britain's own economic welfare, for it would prove to be a

Y .
voomerang to IEnglish merchants, a poison in the life~blood of

the empire's commerce:

And it is wpresumed thet adding to that Load which
the Colony now labours under Will not be more oppres-
gsive to her People than destructive of The Interests of
Great Britain: For tne Planvation Trade, contined as
it ig to the llother Country, heth been & princinal Teans
of muLt lDljln” end enriching her Inhe bitents; and if now

Too 1wch discouraged, 1Ay prove an ilicxhausiable [sic]

Bource of Tregsure to bdz‘”dbloﬂ-k For satisfaction in
this Point, let the OfObOnQ‘obate of the British Fleets
ano‘ggggg:gg couprred with whet they were before The
Bsettlement of the Uolonies; and let 1t be considered
that whilst Preneriy lo Tand 118y be acquired on very
easy U flm, in the vest uncultlvmoed Territory of North
@&e;le, the 607031~Ls Wil L be mestly, if not uholly,
emmloyed in AZTICULLUTE; WHELEeDY Lhe EXportstion of their
COQ“Od’LlOS of [to] Great urltaln, and the Consumpiion
of their %anuftcuu;eo supplied from thence, will be
02.1ly increasint. oHub This most desirepble Connexion
L31c] between Great Britein and her Colonies, sup>ort o

by SUCh & Taony Intercourse ol reciprocal Benefits ag is
continually &dvancing the Prosperity Of the lctter,”}o~
duced to extrene Povortv, should be ooape¢led Lo manu-
Mc ure those Articles they have been alcnerbo furnished

Wit from the 1oriier.

This arguaent, constituting the article of the protest which
was by all odds most likely to rnake the Commons take notice,

w2d been overlooked or ocwitited in the observations of the
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Committee of Correspondence and was nobt included in the kin-

drec address to the King or merorial to the Lords. Upon its

L

tenets the Tate of the future Stamp Act hinged more directly

C

than upon all other considerations collectively, as will be
seen. It is therefore pertinent to comment that, thoush meny
other enunciators may have preceded hin, George Wythe's pen

was the first in the colonies discovered in this investigation

P

to 1*avc nroclaimed that fundemental doctrine. Finally, in a
concluding paragraph, vwhich serves as & logical summation of
he three grounds upon which Virginie objected formelly to

Parlienent's unprecedented intention, the remonstrance assured
Y

the Coimons uneguivocally that the General Assembly was de-

\ e

Termined in ite stand:
From these Co it 1s noped that the
Ifonourablc ilouse Of Coirlons v1‘1 ot prosecute & lLieasure

WhiGh tlose wno ey suirer under it cannot but look upon
ag Libter for

:'i7cs driven irom their nacive Oounufj
eT 1~noanlouu$y 1o”£e1L1ur uer Favours and Protec-

ion, thay for the & BriUOA who have at all
y imes been forward ¢ all due Revercnce to

> 3
liother Kingdom, and are 89 1ist WA tal in PLOmoTing

Giory and FOliCluy, and That Britisn Patriots will
ﬂOV(n consent O the IBxercise of anticonsticutional

Power, waieh evéd-iﬁ iis remote Corner may be Qangerous
in 1u~ andple Lo uhC interiour Parts of the British
s and VllL ccrcalaiy be detrimental to its

Liecutenant-Governor Faucuier wvas told by some of the

gentlemen of the commnitliec appointed to draw up this rebuke

o

and its contemporary papers that "ithelr whole Study has been
to endeavor to mollify them and Lthat] they bave reason to

. - J———

l.iKennedyg ud., Journais of the Ilous 36 OL Burgesses, 1761-
N

e e e areaen | oapeerara
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hope there iz nothing now in them which will give the leasgt

1 o™ . . » . -
offence."" Though Wybthe's words were necessarily minced in
his original draft of the remonstrance, lest their desired
effect be lost by their very sirength, and though some of

then were purged by thalt comnitiee, the House of Burgesses,
and the Council, they were nevertheless convincing and reso-
lute. They sought no compromise, but an absolute surrender;
the pruning knife was brought into play, calculatedly, in )
order that the force of loglcal reasonlng ghould not be des-
troyed by an atiitude of gross deflance.

The address to the King, the memorial Lo the Lords, and
ﬁhe’remonaﬁrance to the Comwnons heving been duly despatched, .
there we.s nothing to he done but to await developments caimly.
Before any formal replies were given to the Assembly's papers,
however, news reached Virginia that the Stamp Act had been
passed early in 1765, to be effective in the following MNovein-
ber. A less dispassionate note was injected into the issue
hy Paﬁrﬁgg Hénryg in a reckless manner which may have lacked
the merit of thorough premeditation. Or if his actions had

1 v
been deliberately conceived, they were at hest those of an
inexperienced upstart.

denry had been & wmeunber of Tthe Housc of Burgesses i€§ﬁ

d

ely eulbgi;zé\\

resolutions against the Stemp Act. "Its short session of Iky,

then a month vwhen he offered in thet body his wi

1965, wes drawinz to a natural close, and only 39 of its

- oS

rancis Fauguler o the Board of Tracde, December 24, 1764,

irginis Twoers (Bancroft Transcripts), I, 273, New York




current total of 116 merbers remained in Williamsburg on the

o L.

twenty-ninth to cor welude its routine business, when he unscet

the ecullibriun of its frultful attention to ordinary metters

by submititing five resolutions against the newly levied tax. L

£,

o

Such an event at the fag-end of a gession was nothing short

of startling to its leaders in & more rational and dignified
opposition. Nor was Henry's speech in support of his resolu=-
tions guite in line with acknowledged legislative proprieties,
for he overstepped conventions by declaring thet "he had read
that in former times targuin and Julus [sic] [Caesar] had
thelir Brutus, Charles had hiis Cromwell, and e Did not Doubt
that some ggod.&merican would stand up in faVor of his Country

W B0 irreverent an allusion to

..+ in a more moderate manner.
George III provoked & charge of treason from the presiding
officexr, whereunon Henry apologized guite abjectly and

acceptably to the Fouse. o

- s i . e St A 9 e PR o b Nts 4 W e i e A e i e

1. Id. to id., June 5, 1785, 1bicd., I, 284-285. On the error
of reportes thet six resolutions were proposed see ibid.,
285 Wirt ;o Petrick Henry, 81 n.; Thomes Jefferson to Vil-
liam VWiee, hAugust 14 1814, Bergh, ed., Writings of Jeffen-
son, XIV, 165-168. The criginel form of the resolutions
and I cnrwa ovm account of their initiation and effect are
avelilable in Mxlu Patrick Henry, 74-76.

-]\9

Guoted from tne diary of e IFrenchmaen who was an eyewiiness
of the speech by Claude II. Van Tyne, The Causes of the Var
of Independence, 1595.

)

5

3. Henry replied to the Speaker that ®... if he hied affronted
the S8ypeaker, or the house, he was ready to ask pardon, and
he would show his loyelty to his mmjesty, King G the ’hlrd
at the Expense of the last Dron of his blood....": ibid.,
155-156. In shearp contrast to this picture is the less
authenc.c and nore oramaﬁie account, recorded from memory

years 4“’@ , according to nhAOM Hen“j concluded, %and
George the Third ... moy profit b thelr exemple. I1f this
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The five resgolutions wer

(o0l

reported with amendments, af”

@
6]

exr
acrid debate in Commititee of the Vhole, on Iy 30 and were
agreed upon by 22 votes to 17 or by narrower margins, the

" g " L Il

lagt by & wajority of only one. A smell alteration in the

membership of the House on the next day gave the minoriity
hope that thejvcould rescind a1l of the resolutions, but the
gtrength which they mustered was edual only to the tesk of
having the fifth, Ceemed the nmost inflemmatory, hlotted outb
the gggggggei Peyton Randolph had gotten the single vote
or its equivalent, for which he ig reported to have exclained
with vehemence, &s he left the Burgesses'® charber on the pre-
ceding day, that he ¥would have given 500 guineas....“z

George Yythe was one of the staunchest and most steadfast
amoﬁg the opponents of Henry'ls supporters, who were justly
characterized by Lieutenant-Uovernor Fauguler as a phalanx of

no

e

"the young hot and glddy meubers. In & report of the whole

- A o P10 A, S AL b g g e

be treason, make the most of it": Virt, Patrick Henry, 83.

A variant -of the latter, less defiont but equally dexter-

ous, readg, Yand George the third, mey he never have either®
Randolph, I=nuscript Ilistory of Vlrglnla, 107, Virginia
Higtorical Library.

1. Prancis FPauquier to the Board of Trade, June 5, 1765, Vir-
ginia Papers (Banor0¢u Transcrints), I, 285-286, New York
Puleo Library. The four remaining resolutions may be seen
in their amended forﬂ in Kennedy, ed., Journals of the

House of Burgesses, 1761-1765, 360. '

2. IEnclosure in Thomas Jefferson to William Wird, April 12,
1812, Ford, ed., Vritingg of Jefferson, IX, 339 a. But a
later recollectior pl ce The fl@ufe at “Yone hundred

<

guineag®: id. to id., August 14, 1814, ibid., 468.

3. Francis Fauguier to the Board of Tre d
ginie P“ﬁor“ (Bazcroft Transcripts),
Public Library.

e, June 5, 1765, Vir-
I, 285, Few York
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ffair to British authorities Fauvguler spoke with natural
commendation ¢f the efforts of older, cooler, and more ex-

perienced heads vo forestall adoption of the resolutions and

dolph, aund Wythe as the three %uost strenuous opposers of -

this rash heﬂ‘““..,“*
From the fact that & group of six similar but lergely

gpurious go~called "Virginia Resolves® hecame, through the
mediuvm of publication in newspapers f“oq Savaxpah to Boston,
the spark which ignited a widespread and organized popular
oppasition to the Stamp Act 1T might be supposed, at first
thought, that the names of men Wwho argued and voted ¢ galﬂst
Heary should be forever synonymous with obloguy and infamy.
Vet no odium can properly be attached to them in this in-
stence, nor can thelr opnosition he atiributed correctly to
want of patriotism9 logic, or foresight. True it 1s that
Virginia's rgsoluﬁions served, in the oft-guoted descriptive

r

simile of a dlisgusted lassachusetis governor, as an “alarm

v . [ra—

1. Ibid. This letter wag read on August 20, 1765, by the
Tords of Trade, who decided thereunon to embody its facts
in & representation addressed to the Xing for his informa-
ulOﬂ“‘uoafd of Trade Journals (Transcripts), IXXIII, 208~

209, Pennsylvenis Historical Soclety Library. It was later

re’“?lcd that ag a rule the Tidewater members opposed the
resolutions, while Henry's ranks were swelled chiefly by
representatives of Piedmont and Valley counties - 2 geo-
graphical alignment colnciding roughly with Faucuier's
distinction as to their ages: Thowas Jefferson to William
Wirt, Asugust 5, 1815, Berfh, ed., Jritings of Jefferson,

XIV, 336. Robinson wes not barred bﬂle@L] from the debate
by hig duties as presidiny officer, for in Comnittee of the
hole the Litorney~General or some other member always took

the chair.
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ecved" elenent in each of the colon‘ies.l
Dut the more or i3ss riotous resistance to the Stamp Act which
8 resolutions tended to defeat its own cause.

Tneligh authorities could not vut deem it seditious, and

v
C
o
LA

G

several of thienr gaw in 1t en ecdaitional wroof of their clainm
that a more rigld, overbearing control should be exercised
over thielr distant colonies! Such considerations nlayed very

1ittle part, if any, in wmotivating the clianze of heart by
t

)

vhich the © vas repealed in 1766. Instead, thab
revocation was prompted principally by the uhpOpulariﬁy of
the Act among British and Scottish nerchants, who found that
it was killing geese which had laid golden eggséa ~—— a5
George Wythegﬁ‘remonstrance of 1764, in his plea that the
proposed policy would cripple intra-innerial trade; hed pre=-
dicted that it would. Hed all the fanfere which attendéd

the colonists! refusel in the viater of 1765-1768 to purchase
the hated stauns not ?receded & rescinding of the Act, ultra-

etriotic historians and hero-worshipping biographers (anong

{

whom those of ¥enry offend most in this particular) would not
have begulled themselves into their false interpretation of
the colonial fever as the vhip before which an astonished,

mistaken Parliament cowed.

But Patrick Henry's resolutions vere much less likely to.

ve effectual in erasing the inpending toax than even the

- P e ————— - ——

1. Quoted in Van Tyne, on. ¢it., 157.

>
The Colonial Backgpround of the sierican Revolu-
-L42.

apter vii, esp. 1L86-187, 194~195; Charles 1.
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Y'I‘\

rations vhich they prompted. They were 411
Lined and tod precipitote: were not formal ansvers to the

address, menorial, and retongtrance of the preceding session

-3 -
"

S L¥ - P R R ) Lona 3 g b o e P N S S SN SV IR SO
yet Lo he received fron Veslminister Sufficient Time had

clapsed to meke the arvival of official replies a natter of
e ily expeoﬁation» Five months intervened before the Lct
could e enforced; there was still 2 dim hove of conciliation.
loreover, it was & tactical blunder %o eibody their sentiments
in he form of resolutionsi Deflance of the perliamentery
will had already Veen expressed with greater dignity and
propriety in the remonstrance to the House of Coimaons, tvhich

i

gave assurance that Virginia Y"will never consent to the Exer-

cise of anticonstitutionsl Pover.® Resolutions to that effect
58 Gx & LQHE, LONEL
could only anger the IEngligh government and excite the colonial

rabble. IFinally, in both their originel and final phraseology,
they fell sonevhat short in resvect to argunentative power of

the three p&peru approved by the General Assembly in 1764

tal

especially of the Temonstrance drafted oy Vythe. A crushing

indictment, that! Though rather contrary to general opinion,

",

it is reveruhe.lem true. One has only to compare the docu-~
neats to prove the superficiality of earlier analyses. The

first of the resolutions proclaimed that the colonists had

3

forfeited by eaigratlion none of thelr rvights as Britons; the

‘
-

gecond, thalt royal charters admiitted this fact; the third,

C‘“

that taxation by the people or by thelr representatives wes

B

- . pr— —

~1e Thomes Jefferson to William Wirt, August 5, 18L5, Bergh,
€Ce, Writlnps £ Jefferson, alV, 336,
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g cardinal »nrincinle of the Inglish constitution; the fourth,

that the General iLssenndly’s control over local taxes and
affeirs had been recognized and enjoyed uninterruptedly; the

0

th, which was amended, wassed, and expunged, thet attemnts
to underrnine that control tended to destroy Anericen and
British freedom. ZHach of these observations had been enun-
ciated six months earlier with egual firnmess and superior
taste in the rewonstrance, written by Vythe, vhose constitu-
tional theory wasg bolstered by vractical reasons foreign to
Henry's wesoiuéions ~- denouncilug & stamp levy, as has been
sﬁatea, elso on the ground that it was destructive of »pros-
perity in both.Virginia and g land.

The Malern bell® resolutions of 1765, then, were saerely
a partiel Peaffirmetion of QJlACl)LCS viiich had aliready re
celved unaninocus approval in both branches of Virginia's leg-
isieture. John Robinson, Peyion Rendolvh, VWythe, Richard
Bland, Rcbert Carter Wicholasg, Iidiaund Péndleton, and others
who voted wd“¢ust"~nry did so frowm no disagrecwment with the
content of his propositions. They believed in the rational
wisdom of'allowing the ecually strong bu% more conciliatory
protests Which %hé§‘had fethered 1in 1764 to stend as the sole
evidence of Virginia's wogition in the matter.l Beslides, if

official recognition were not goon teken of those papers,

e Tef?e“san, "Totes for the Blozrephy of George Vythe", filed
un er Avuust 31, 1820, JQFLLTSOH Pavers, Library of Cong-
ress: Thoumas Jefferson to William Wirt, “ugus‘c 5, 1813,
ﬁergn, ed., Uritinms of Jefferson, ALV, 336. Other similar

stvatenents fron Jefferson's pen may be. founds
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would Virginia not have gained the advantege of putting her
U Brivish rulers in the wrongzg? In that event her ability to

confront the ministry with the serious cherge that her pro-
fegsed grievances had been utterly ilgnored might be & wmotent
factor in later demands foxr parliamentary concessions or sub-
mission. The guestlon on vhich Vythe did not see eye to eye
with Henry, wes, therefore, essentially one of method rather
then of priﬁoiple. Subgequent events indicate on the whole
the soundness of the former's judguent in preferring the less
_provocative means of voicing disapprovel of the new parlie-
mentary pdlioy; repeal of the Stamp Act came, as has been

shown, along lines which he alone had suggested in his warn~-

LS

§s
-~

neg of

ng 5 effects upon British trade. To this extent exper-

v
<

N
ience and reagon triumphed over youth and emotion. But none
would say that Henry's resolutions, vhether ﬂhey‘be & product
of ﬂho”ditless'boldneﬁs or of deiibera%e strategy, did not
perform & distinct service in the crises preceding American
Endebend@n,éax Thouvgh they were ingtrumental in generating a
popular clamor which eubarrassed the cause of repeal more

- .

ttalmment of that g

than 14 aided'in thé a oal, yet the fact
that fresh é%rin@ and immoderate forms were so eaglly given
to the old spirit of resistance atitests the need for soieone
to represent the robust feelings of the ﬁore unthinking, léss

tactful elements in colouial politics and socie‘ty.2

e - —

1. Yo contenporary authority can be cited for this thought,
vinicn seems to have been sugmested exclusively in his

sketeh of Vythe by Grigshy, Virginia Convention of 1776, 1a.

2. Cf. Van Tyne, op. cit., 157-158.

e
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The Commities of Corresnondence hed et in Decerber,

w1e T, al

1764, ou the day after that on vhich the address, memoriel,

and remonstrance recelved finel approvel in the General

Asgenbly, end these papers were sent posthaste to Illontasue

as enclosures in a lebtter signed the very next day. By way
of significant c“ntrast, it is interesting to note that the
Committee, each of vhose nembers from the House of Burgesses
had probably heen aligned in opposition to Henry, felt no

.

obligation to eguel enthusiasi and hurry in trensaitting

o-

(e}

the agent news of the resolutions possed in the following Thy.

It did not find occasion to perform that functilon until three
and a holf monthe hed elapnsed, and the Ttenor of its report 1o

Lontague-may be guessged from the fact thet Peyton Randolph,
Uythe, and‘Rdbert Carter licholeg were delegated to draw up
the usual explanatory letter.

Seguels in Virginie to the adoption‘of Henry's. resolutions
were exciting, but little ianformation as to the role which
Vythe nicyoq in then can be gleaned, Upon hearing of the
regolutions Fouguier disgolved the House by an immediate pro-
clamation, dispensing with the customary “eivility of a perting
speach. 128 were ororogation would have been an inadequate

) u

rebuff to 1ts obstreperous members; TFaucquler hoped that dy

dissolutbtion he was giving to their constituenits a chance to

A S . o A, A S L A A AN A A R WSRO N S —-——— e

1 10 > 0F CJLLL nondence, September 14,
1 ‘ zine, I1X, 355-360. Five days
la une Corwiitie ?s tebhle, but:
a 'ot exbant. '
Iepuscript I story of Virginle, 108, Virginia

§$O c i S} tv;\,r Lib—. &L J



s supporters at the polls in the resultant gener-
wmer. Lt was a vain wish. Only four

personnel were to be noted when the

&acw House convened, and at least one of these is directly
attributable to the death in the interim of a former burgess
Whether unrecorded votes on the resolutions became an issue
in the campaighs of old mewmbers for eelectloﬂ is unknown in

v,moat ingtances. DBut 1t isg certaln that

&,

the stand against
Henry's misguided defiance which George Vythe had taken did
nod bring down upon hiis head marked disfevor in the eyes of
his constituents, Eliza beuﬂ City County frecholders, each of
viom vo%ed for two representatives, polled an even hundred
- votes foxr him; his chief rival candidates, Col. Wilegon Iiiles
A‘Cary and Cabt. James Vellace, for each of waom Wythe himselfl
A1
cast & c0brt ous vote, recelved tovals of 81 and 69, respec-
%ivelyaz Perhaps disappointed in the very slight fturnover
secured by the election, and cerieinly alarmed as the year
1785 drew aliost violently to & ¢lose, Fauquler determined
anot to call the Burgesses together before more than a year
had passed, unlesg some urgent necessity demanded an earlier

session. To the hone govermment he explained late in 1765,

- o -
%

l. Joan P. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Burges
1766-1769, 3-~4. Speeker John Robinson h1ad dled as 11
be noted in the next che aplter. One of the new faces e
that of George wasnln'oon.

(_

5E8.
11
8

2. Poll of the Election of sugust 23,.1765, Deeds and Wills,
17831971, 77-73, Blizabeth City County Records. Col.
dillian V@g@: vies glven six votes
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Yy present plan is to give them to next Wovember to cool
eee, T 2nd he defended that intention, vihen recommendation
cf @ briefer adjournment came from abroad, with more diatribes
against temperaments "so heated ag to shut up all &veﬁues to
reasonﬁ,g " pefore vhich, Though he wes relatively sympathetic
1te anxious vo put an end to agiﬁ&ﬁions, he was cori~
pletely baffled. Vythe thought it well early in 1766 to in-
férm one of his fellow Durgesses who lived at & digtance of
the probable postponement of the next session. %It is gen-
erally believed®, he wrolte to Richard Henry Lee, that "the
last prorogued to the last Thursd&ykin iy,
will ot meet %il [sic]l some time in aubtumn, unless instruce-
tions from G{reat] Britain, or some unforeseen emergency here
mey call us sooner together.® Leaving this letter unsealed
untll hé&reached the place at viichy it was to be mailed, he
added a'pos%scripﬁ, In my way down [the] street I called
at the prianting office for a [copy of the] proclamation by

which the assembly s prorogued, to be sent to you, but no

- S i

1. Francis Fauquier to Secretary Couway, NHovember 24, 1765,
Virginie Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), I, 38L, New York
Public Library. :

« Ide to 1d., December 11, 1765, ibid., 386. This letter

2. Id. ds, December 11, 1765, ibid 86 This lette
continued, in part: “At the tinme the Resolutions [of iky,
- - * E 0 “ " E
1765] were passed in a very thin Housc, I hoped a fuller
House vrould have guashed them, but by what has since hap-
pened .. I fear I was mistaken in thet point; though pos-

sibly that wmight have heen the case then before the leaven
of the lorth had sufficiently fermented the nminds of the

Virginians. &Lt present the Colonies reciyprocally infleme
<) i &

each cther, and vwhere the fury will stop, I know not¥:
ibid., 386-387.
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~Cn the thirtieth dey of October, 1705, Col. George

flercer, collector of the stamp duties for Virginia, arrived
in Williamsburg. It veas en unfortunate time, for the usual
concourse of meonle were there in attendance upon the fall
session of the General Court. llercer’s appearance, however,
showed that they were in no ordinary mood. Stirring scenes
and impromniu éomferences occurred spontaneously between

llercer, with whom Fauguier and memnbers of the Council took

sides, and an unidentified populace. Threats and signs of
an liminent riot increased by the hour, and the denger was

-

averted only by a pronise which the I

pgople forced from llercer
on the aTfterncon of the next day that he would sell no stamps.
The helpless Fauquler realiéed that his own deserved respect
in the popuiar affections, which was his by recson of both
his position and personality, had been really the sole GUS L=

§

antee éf/NErcer g safety before the latter yielded;tand in a
nystified and horrified vein he wrote detailed reports to

Ingland admitting his utter inablility to keep the situation
under oontroi,z Wythe couid scarcely have escaped beconing
embroiled in the opposition to or defense of llercer, however

ittle taste he hed for such vroceedings. Vhatever stend he

}.,..,i

00k, doubtless he gave nmedest and ineffectual counsel for

.

O B VTP —— - o

1. George Wythe to Richard idenry Lee, February 14, 1766, Lee
Papers, Udivergity of Virginla Library. ‘

2. Francis Pauguier Lo the Board of Trade, fovember 3, 1765,
irginia Papers (Baucroft Traunscripts), I, 347-371, iew

York Public Library; 1d. to Secretary Conway, November 5,
1768, isid., 373~-375,
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moderation., lIlercer's fate and fallure to collect a single

shilling is of more definite interest because Richard Henry
Lee had applied for his vnosition and, but for retraction on

wise second thouzht, would haveée been in his luckless shoes.
Bight wonths later Lee was forced to publish an apologia in

the Virginia Gezettie, bul nothing which he could do for sev~

eral years was gqulte equal to the ftask of blottling out of

Al

public remeubrance the imputation of disloyalty which had

been circulated because of his application. Wythe's aid in
re%%or;nc his political reputation may have been enlisted and
exerted in & menner unknown, for an endorsement on the back
Cof his public statement, written in & hand other then that of

"

Lee, redds: "Letter to MY - Wythe res{pect a}%

,

arges vs him
wwﬂl Though some contrived T¢ do business without The stawmps,
mest couxﬁs in Virginia were closed by an informal hoycoltt;
the colonistis preferred to dispense with the adwministration
of jusfiCe rather than to contribute through them to the
British treasury. Certain other channels of business were

likewise affected by similar choices, and & non~importation

agssoclation was formed spontaneously. As early as ten days
after lercer's arrival Fauquier was informed that the result-

ant commercial and legel stegnation would soon become alarm-
?

ingly oppresgsive to the colonists,g and until the end of the

1. ?1cuard Henry Lee to the Editor of the Virginia (azette,
July 25, 1766, Lee Correspondence, fuerican Philosophical
Societvy Library.

November 8, 1765,

2. Francis Feuguier to the Doard of T cade
ra ts), I, 377-379, New

o
V;fflﬂ;m sepers (Bancrofv Transcrip
Yorx Public Library.
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vear he expressed hopes thet it would "open their eyes and
bring them to another way of thinking,"l that thus the Stamy
Act "will in time enforce itself...."2 But he underestimated
the resolution of Virginians or overestimated their incon-
venlences; with rather remarkable unanimity they upheld their
self~imposed restrictions until the Act was repealed. ITarly
in 1766 one of them even had the effrontery to interpret
certain}of these restraints as a blessing in disguise, while

more justly assuring a London friend that their evil effects

~

l. Id. %o 8ecretary Conway, December 11, 1765, ibid., 387.

2. Id to the Board of Trade, December 17, 1765, ibid.; 393.
The Board took careful notice of such sentiments in his
letters: entries of January 23, January 27, and Februavy
6, 1766, Board of Trade Journals (Transcripts), LIXIV,
21, 25-26, 34-05, respeciively, Pennsylvania Historical
Society Library. ‘ .



would rebound to England.l

Though news of the revocation of the Stanp Act became a
signal for the most jubilant celebrations the colonies had
ever staged, they did not win an unqualified victory. At the
same- time Parliament passed en act esserting its claim to
absolute authority over American Britons in all their affairs.
The‘imperial issue of direct taxation wa.s postponed, not
solved, Foreboding for the future night well have been inter-

mingled with the almost unmitigated rejoicing of the present.

1, "In this province our minds begin to grow calmm. Ve sece

. with certainty that the stroke will recoil with double
force to yourselves, and ultimately be the most bene-~
ficial measure for us that can possibly he invented. I
will tell you its present benefits. Ve have the pleasure
to see the extrenest frugality agsumed by all ranks of
people; every article of luxury is banished; and those

clothes are most thread bare and patched. I sincerely
plty you and other creditors, upon whom the storm must
fall the heaviest.. You compute this colony owes to Great
Britain e million [in private debts]; you know we cannot
raise a mite towards the discharge of it. Our provincial
debt amounts to L250,000. The new duties and stemps will
complete our bankruptcy; and if we coin papers, it cannot
be a legal tender, and of course useless. But you [cred-
itors] will not be the only sufferers. The public
[treasury] will lose more in its revenue on tobacco then
it will gain by stamps. We cultivate that cowmodity e
‘excunange for your manufactures, which, we shall convince
you, we have 2o need of"; extract of a letter from Virginic
to Lendon, datel January 6, 1766,.as printed In the New
London Gazette, August 2, 1766, quoted in Virginia Papers
Bancroft Transcripts), I, 276-277, New York Public
Library.




Chapter VI
WYTHE THE CLERK: IS TRUE ITICHE ATTAINED

Faungquier's Thwarted Recomuendation

The Stamp Act controversy was followed by the most
sweeping realignment of leaders in principal Virginia offices
which took plade in any brief period of the eighteenth
century. George Wythe weas a candidate in 1766 for the posi-
tion of second rank in the colony, but additional significance
is attached to the shifting of officers in that year by the
fact that the new men continued without exception until-the
actual{dztbreak of the Revolution to hold the reins of Vir-
,gihia's government.

The posmulon of Speaker of the House of Burgesses -~ to
which the dutxes of the colony's Treasurer had long been
attached through a custom by which the two offices were in?
variably and perfunctorily vested in the same person ~— was
by far the wost important one which a Virginian could atiain.
For more than twenly years John Robinson had been its incum-
bent. NMurmurs of dissatisfaction with hig execution of its
functions were first heard during the’General Asserbly's
session in May, 1765, when & bill to provide for loans frbm
the public treasury to private persons was defeated by The
Council after passage in the House. Ic was charged by its

opponents that the bill disguised an effort by Robinson and.
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his friends to shift to the public the burden of loans>already
made illegally frowm the colonisal storehouse.l The failure of
this bill indicated a partial loss of the faith and prestige‘
which Robinson'had enjoyed.  In addition, the success of
Patrick Henry's resolutions, though they were barely nassed
over the opposition of men like Robinson, Peyton Randolph,
and Wythe, presaged & possible turnover in colonial offices.

“ Such at least was the fear of Lieulenant~Governor Fau-
quier, who dreaded the threatened necessity of finding other

able leaders, lest they prove less cooperative with him in

1. This episode 1s not thoroughly related hecause no evidence
has been found to show Wythe's position in the matter.
Subseguent developuments did actually prove & considerable
delinquency in Robinson's accounts. The writer believes

"that ir. David J. lMays of Richmond has some valuable
materials on Ednund Pendleton's defense of Robinson. Re-
percussiong of this affair, which, as will be noted later,
wag not finally settled for sowe years, were still to be
s@en in 1776+ Relating his experiences in the Continental
Congress, John Adams wrote, "Jealousles and divisions
appeared among the delegetes of no State [colony] more re-
markably than among those of Virginia. lr. Wythe told me
that Thomas [Ludwell] Lee, the elder brother of Richard
Henry [Lee], was the delight of the eyes of Virginisa, and
by fer the most popular man they had; but Richard Henry
was not. I asked the reason; for lir. Lee appeared [to be]
2 scholar, a gentleman, & man of unconmon eloguence, and
an agreeable man. Mr. Vythe said this was all true, but
lIr. Lee had, vhen he was very young, and whien he first ,
came into the House of Burgesses, roved and urged on an
inguiry into the state of the treasury, which was found
deficient in large sums, which had been lent by th
treasurer to meny of the most influential families of the
country, who found themselves exposed, and had never for-
given lir. Lee. This, he said, had wmade him so many ene-
mies, that he never had recovered his reputation, but was
still heartily heted by great numbers®": Auvtobiography of
John Adams, Charles Francis hdams, ed., The Works of John
Adawms, III, 31-32. o _ :
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his donciliatory policy, which was in essence & favorable
‘blending of sym@athy for orderly colonial opinion with
loyalty to Zngland. Soon after he nad dissolved the hssenbly :
in 1765 he informed British administrators of his impression |
that Robinson might not be reelected by the new Burgessés to
their speakership. Anticipating his problems in that eventu-
 ality, he affirmed his belief that the House would always
appoint its presiding officer as Treasurer and asked wheﬁher
he should approve that custom, favor & separation of those

two powers, or try to retain Robinson in the'treasury against
all come'rs,1 .He was advised 1o use his own discretion if hisf
fear was realized, though the home govermuient recormended
mildly the selection of different men for the two offices.?

- The decreased popularit& of Robingon among his colleagues
waé,ﬁbt to be measured by the test of their votes, for he died
in May, 1766, about six months before the House of Burgesses
was té\bonvene again. Because no gentleman of known capacity
seemed to desire the treasury office, the upright Robert Carter
Nicholas offered his services, in a magnificentlﬁ\patriotic
and unselfish manner. Avowedly he preferred to abandon his
more lucrative legal practise rather than to stand by idly
while inferior hands administered the colony's funds. Fau-

guier, with consent of the Council, appointed him to fill the

l. Prancis Fauquier to the Board of Trade, June 5, 1765, Vir-
ginia Papers (Bancroft Trenscripts), I, 287-289, New York
Public Library.

2. Id. to id., April 7, 1766, ibid., 421, states his acknow~
leigment of these instructions.
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vacancy until the Burgesses should meet again, and his plea-

sure in securing a man of Nicholas' stamp wes not léssencd

when it was rumored thav the latlter's friends in the House,

hoping to secure his continuance in thet office, would attenpt

in the coming session to break the precedent of selecting one
‘ 1 . ‘

men as Speaker and Treasurer. This they were able to do,

and the impeccable Wicholas received and dishbursed the

colony's funds flawlessly until Virginia was no longer a

colony.

Megntime, speculation as to Robinson's successor in the
chair of +the House was rife. Fauquier formulated his own
ideas on this vital problem within & few days of the former
Spegaker's death, as indeed he should properly have done in
~the “interests of harmony between Virginia under his adainis-
tration and the llother Country. He informed his English
superiors that he inltended: to exert his influence toward the
elevation of Peyton Randolph to the speakership and that he
would appoint Wythe Attorney General if Randolph thereby
resigned his former position:

I have heard of two candidates for his [Robinson's]
office, vizk hig lejesty's Attorney General ir [Peyton]
Rendolph and Mr [Richard Henry] Lee. The Tirst is of
all men in this Colony, in nmy judgment the best quali-

-fied to repair the loss, as he possesses the good qual-

ities of his lete most intimate friend and has always
been one of the foremost to promote his Liajesty's ser~
vice in all the requisitions of the Crown and has

elways used his endeavors to induce the Assembly to
concur with me in all the measures which were conducible
%conducive] to the honor and dignity of the Crown, and

to] .the peace and advantage of the Colony. On these
accounts my wishes for success atitend him.

1. Id. to id., Iy 22, 17606, ibid., 420~431.

——y
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In case of a vacancy in the place o0f Attorney
General I intend to noriinate Ilir Geo Wythe to succeed
lir Randolph till his Majesty shall be pleased to
appoint another. This, gentlemen has also exerted him-
self in support of gove particularly so in his opposi-
tion to the late hot and virulent resolutions [of Iky,
1765, which brought on the dissolution [of the House].
Such men my Lords, I am huwably of opinion merit the
favorable eye of govE and I hope your Lordships will
think it for the service of the Crown to let it be cast
on them.

I cannot my Lords deny this truth, that I have
conceived a love and esteem for these gentlemen, but if
I know my own heart, it was at first penerated and has
been since nourished by my observing their conduct both
in public and private 1life, which has been unifirmly
void of guile and steady in the support of Govi+

However gecret these intentions may have been from others,
Fauquier did not hide them from his friend Vythe, vwho was
made fully aware of the approbation which the Lieutenant-
governor felt toward him. Wythe thought the chances of Ran~
dolph's election as Speaker so good that he took steps fully
four montiis before the expected session to secure an endorse-
ment abroad of his candidacy for the vacancy which might then
occur in the Attorney General's office. To Benjamin Pranklin,
who had recently given influential testimony before Parliement
favoring a repeal of the Stamp Act, Wythe wrote a tactful
letter which concluded with an aptly turned classicel guota-
tion:

If our attorney ge(neral, lir. Randolph, should be
elected Speaker] of the house of burgesses, and thereby
[resign the attorney's office, as inﬁ all probability
will be the case, the gover{nor intends to appnoint me]
to succeed him; and that recommendation, [undoubtedly
w]ill be more effectual, were some of those great

per[ sons tlo whom it must be addressed, to know that
such & promotion would be in any degree pleasing to

1. Id. b0 id., May 11, 1766, ibid., 426-428.
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doc¢tor Iranklin. If you incline to hounour e with your
patronasge in this competvition, you will perhans he

partly instrunental in producing that rare phsenonenon
Lsic] @ contented wind, at least in the article of for- ¢
tune; and you shall find an exception to that observa-
tion of Tacitus: "Beneficia eo usqgue lacta sunt, dum
videntur exsolvi posse: uni nuwltun antevenere, pro

gretia odiun redditur® [Favors are pleasant only to the
extent to which they can he repaid; but when they have
exceeded thet, hatred is returned insteed of gratitude].

Deprived of & courrission in His Ikjesty's service by the
&

el

2.J
Board of Trade's reversal of its attitude towerd Peyton\Ran~
dolph in 1754 and its request that Dinwiddie restore %hat
waywafd but repentent agent.to office, Vythe thus definitely
hopned that his day was coming twelve years later.

Impetus bo his wishes st have been given by the Bur-
gesses' selection of Reandolph as their Speeker when they con-

@
vened in Noverber, 1766.2 Feuguier thereupon urged the Doard

O . s g At o A W @ i W W e o v Sw— [F———

1. George VWythe ©o Benjawin Franklin, June 23, 1756, Franklin
Papers, Awnerican Fhilosophical Society Librery. The
earlier insertions within brackets revrescent words lost
by a V-ghaned tear in the original ls. '

2. ominated by Archibald Cary, he ves victorious over Rich-
ard Bland, noninated by Richerd Ienry Lee: Lennedy, ed.,
Journals of the liouse of urzesses, 1766-176¢, 11. These
nominations and this choice furnish in thenselves a rather
conclusive rebuttel of the accurecy of the earlier portion
of Jefferson's analysis of leadershin in the House alter
1785, "3y these resolutions [of lay, 1765,] iir. Heury
took the lead out of the hands of those vho had heretofore
cuided the proceedings of the House, that is to say, of
Pendleton, Vythe, Bland, Rendolph, Hicholas. These were
honest end able men, [who] had Dhegun the onposition on the
same grounds, bHut with a woderation more adapted to their
age and experience. Bubesecuent events favored the bolder

. I went in o1l points. Sensgible, however, of the inmportance
of uneninity among our constituents, elthoush we often
wighed to have gone fester, we slackened our jpace, that our
less ardent colleagucs aight keenr up with us; and they, on

- their part, differing nothing frowm us in principle, quick-
“ened their galt somevhat beyond thet which their prudence
night of itself hLave advised, and thus consolidated the
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of Trade again to supnort his recormendation of Vythe, should,

the attorney generalship be vacated,l and of the British

Secretary of State he requested influence in securing a com-

mission for the wan whoi he deencd most worthy and nost

deserving:

If he [Randolph] should vaecate his place of Lttorney I
propose to nominate lir George Wythe to officiate ¢ill
His llajesty's pleasure be known. He is & gentleman of
a nost unexceptionable character for his knowledge of
the Law, his candor integrity and inflexibility. Ilky I
presume to ask your Lordships [sic] interest to procure
His liajesty's confirmation of my nomination. I should
not dare to ask this particular favor did I not think
it for his llajesty's service to vromote men who have
constantly and uniformly supported govermient and all
His linjesty's requisitions on the House of Burgesses
vhere he [Vythe] has as much weight as any member.

' The edvanteges arising to a Gov? from his appear-
ing to have some interest at home will naturally occur
to your Lordships [sic] penetration.<

s

The new Speaker did give up his former office, but it was

2

- s s v [Pap——

phalanx which breasted the power of Britein. By this har-
mony of the bold with the coutiocus, we advanced with our
constituents in undivided mass, and with fewer examples of
separetion than, perhans, existed in any other part of the
Union [continental colonies]": Thomas Jefferson to William
Virt, August 14, 1814, Bergh, ed., Writings of Jefferson,
X1V, 168-~16¢9.

Francis Tauguier to the Doardé of Trade, Hovember 106, 1766,
Virginia Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), I, 453~455, lew :
York Public Library. The Board consgidered this letter with
out teking definite action: entry of Iebruary 24, 1767,
Board of Trade Journals (Transcripts), L&V, 70-71, Penn-
sylvania Iistorical Society Library. An extract to the
samne effect fron Fauquier's letter of December 18, 1766,
was ordered on the saune day to be sent to Secretary Shel-
burpe: ikid., 73.

Francis Faucuier to the Darl of Shelburne, oveiber 10,
1766, Virginia Pepers (Bancroft Transcrints), I, 450-451,
Wew York Public Library. In its description of Vythe this
letter ig practically identical vwith that of the same day
to the Board of Trade, .cited in the preceding n.



John Randolplh, his brother, who secured the comission in his
stead. Tor once a major recoumendation by Fauquier Wa.s re-
jected, though no documents have been located to tell the
story of its shipwreck. DPerhaps Uythe held the office for a
short time under the lieuwtencnt-governor'!s appointiment until
a commission, gained by stronger influences in Inglend then
e and Fauquier could command, caile in John Rendolph's naae.
Wythe had lost a second time the fruits of royal petrone~
age. The assurance of the ALtlorney's annuval salary of £l140,
vhich was raiged in 1769 to %340,1 ¢ould not have been un-
welcome to hirm == nor for thet matiter, to any other lawyers
in the General Court, few of whom, if any, were as successful
as he. Noreover, he had feiled to main a position which would
hav; given him an official rank just beneath that of only one
Virginian. But had the coummission been awarded to him, em~
barféésmen%s which he could not foresee might have faced him
in the future. In John Randolpht's incumbency the office lost
éradually sorie of its préstige as the highest in the Colony
secured by appointment of the Crown and as that which was
secondary only to the speakership; the new Attorney General
became more and wore out of step with the"trend of the times.,
His dependence unon lis lajesty's pleasure became an insur-
_mountable barrier between him and the progress of his col-~

leagues' thought. When indewnendence of Great Britain became

. Governor Botetourt to the Secretary of State, September 23,
1769, ibid., II, states his and John Randolph's apprecia-
tion of the increase. :



their goal, he found himself so ghackled in his oninions that
he had o retreat to England and leave them vo work out their

destiny without his assistance.

It wes therefore & fatelful defeat for Wythe. In huwbler

+

offices he wans forced %o he content, dbut at least his wes a
free mind -~ & boon undoubtedly valuable to him. IHe was to
be spared the emberrasuent of resigning the position he had

wrotect his mentel independence, or the

coveted, in order to G L
anguish of sacrificing both it and his reputation for paﬁriob
ism, in order to retain epproval abroad. Iis disappo?nﬁmenﬁ
may hqfe consbituted an unwitting vietory, & fortunate escepe
from a difficult dilemw .

In the igpilg

ot oS ot

io

of 1766-1768

v s s by ot

@

Until George Wythe found his true place in the politicel
gset=-up of ﬂhé colony, he served in routine ways familiar to
‘hin through the first tvo sessionsg of the General Assembly
whfch met in 1766 and wvasg continued by prorogations until |
, 1759, It has Deen gtated in the preceding chavter ﬂhat he
had been reelected a burgess in the swmner of 1785 by his
constituents in Dlizebeth City Counﬁy.l

Unon ﬁhe‘organization of the stending commitiees he was
relieved of his dutieg on the Commitee of Trade} but he re-
tained his position as one of the oldest members on those of

Privileges and Elections, Propositions and Grievances, and

S A g e ek A WA i Y. il -

1. Cf. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Burgesses,
1766-1769, 3, 79, 135.
N1t XAk
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Courts of Justice.: And he wes one of the merbers apppinted
to count the votes in the balloting for & new dobrkeeper‘to
the Xouse. 2

He participated in the drafting of three bills relating
to the oOwnershipn of lands. One of these concerned the vexing
question of titles claimed by aliens in the col@ny.3 The
others were designed %o proﬁide typiéal concessions to indi=-
vidual owners; one was delegated solely to him,4 the other
to meversal msaociates.S

He shared with others the respousibility of prejaring
tvo ordinary bills, not so easily classifiable, to establish
& revision of the legel method of ascertaining book‘debts‘,6
and & new and nore expeditious systemn for c¢riminal trials and‘
for “suits in the CGeneral Court.’

:'Quite nroperly, since he revresented a nearby Chesapeake

Bay*bounty, hé s included in & comittee appointed to‘draw

up proposals for securing o lishthouse at Cape Henry.s

- e . -

1. Landon Carter, Lemuel Riddick, Benjamin Harrison, and Rich-
ard Henry Lee were also on three of the five: ibid., 14-16.

2. Ibid., 14.
3. ;g;g.,'gé.
4. Ibid., 28.
5. Ibid., 26, 37.
6. Ibid., 61.
7. Ibid., 91.

3. Ibid., 117.
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In their session of ifovember and,December; 17686, their
first meeting since the repeal of the Stamp hct, the'Burgesses
resolved to set up 2 statue to King Ceorge III and an obelisk
28 2 comme@or&tion of the efforts of the worthy British pat-
wriots who had fostered the revocation of the Lct in Parlies-
ment. Vythe was named one of a large committee to write in-
scriptions for the intended obeliskll Dut before the close
of the session the waruth of the House's gratitude cooled,
and the project was allowed to rest without further action in
the limbo of forgotten resolutions.

Perhavns the Burgesses'® chief interest in the sessions of
1766 and 1767 centered in the condition of Virginia's treasury.
General reports after Robinson's death had tended to confirmn
charfes that he had been unable to strike a proper balance
in his accounts, but until the Burgesses convened nothing
def?pite had been elicited from his acceﬁtdble guccessor,
Robert Carter Nicholas. Rumors were so unsatisfying; it
would be nuch betﬁervto know the worst. LAccordingly, eleven
members, among vhom was Wythe, were appointed a cormittee on
the second day of the session %o examine the state of the
treasury.z The expected deficit was found and reported, where~
upon the House resolved to ask Feuquier to order the initiation
of legel suits apgainst the assets of Robinsonts estate to re-

cover the colony's losses., Vythe wes one of the three Burgesses

1. Ibid., 53.
2. Ibid., L4.
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nained %Yo carry this request to the lieutenanﬁ~governor.l
Purther action to the sane end was deemed adviseble in the
sesgion of 1787. It took the form of 2 bill drafted by Wythe
and two of his colleagues, which would enable Robinson's ad-
ministrators to sell his real and personal estate.? eraré
passed, howe&er, before the delinquency reached anything like
a final settlement:

In 1767 the carger of George Wythe on the floor and in
the commititees of the Housme of Burgesses closed; in the future
he was‘donnecﬁed with it in another capacity: TFollowing five
years of‘apprenﬁiceship (1748~1754) as olerk of its two chief
standing comaittees, he had become the burgess for Williams-
burg (1754-1755), the representative fo the College (1758~ |
1761), and & burgess for Elizabeth City County (1761-1767).
In the latter role he would doubtless have continued for
several more years to exercise his talents end his influence,
hdd not & prohibitory appointnent placed hinm beyond the reech

of freeholders in his native county.

Wythe Receives John Randolph's liantle, 1768

When the Ilouse of Burgesses which had been elecved in
1766 convened on the lagt day of March, 1768, for its third

session, John Rendolph wes not in the place to which he hed

. s e b i - s <y e s et o o e - a—————

1. Patrick Henry and Thomson }ason were the other two: ihid.,
72.

2. Ibig., 108. Robinson's lands were, of course, enteiled
and therefore ineligible for sale; thus it was necesgsary
to make 2 legal excention in this case.
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long been accustomed. His coumission as Attorney General had
arrived since the prorogzetion of the second scession in the
preceding year. Therefore he resigned his old post as Clerk
of the House after an uninterrupted tenure of sixteen years
in that office. A new appointnent to the Clerk's desgk was
thereby required of the Speaker. In the first action of the
day Peyton Randolph named Vythe as his brother's successor,
and it became the selected one's very first duty to record in
the minutes of the house a report of his designation and
qualification as official penmen. Ixpressed in the formal
termlnology of & legislative journal, Uythe's orig 1na1 entry
ag secretary of the Burgesses reads:

George Mythe, Centleman, having heen appointed
Clerk of the House of Burgesses, in the Room of Johmn
‘Randolph, HEsqgr: who had resigned, and having teken the
Qaths apooxnued to be taken by Aot of Aarllament in-
stead of the Caths of Allegiance and Suvnremacy and the
Abjuration Oath, and also the Osth of Office in due

Poru, and heving repected and subscribed the Test, was
admitted tTo hisg Plece.:

=N

Behind such ceremonious phraseology there was a background of
genuine personal interest. DPeyton Randolph had been nrouoted

to the Sveakership. His brother and VUythe had been rivel

e e O i o R, e

Kennedy, ed., Journals of uhe House of Burgesses, 1766~
1769, 141. The seat of Tlizaveth City Counuy Vhich e
vucated wa s ev1denuly not filled during the third session:
ibid., 135; but in 1769 James ‘Jallace, Jr., becewne the
representative in Wythe's place: ibid., 18l. A docunent
upon which eleven Vlr“lﬂl@ﬁ% signed the four oaths is ex-

~tant; Wythe'ls signature appears thereon under date of Noven-
ber 30, 1768, but the reason for his taking the oaths then
is not named: Virginie iiiscellaneous llnuscri ipts Collectlon‘

Library of Congress., Irobably this was done merely in '
reaffirmation of hig previous declarations as Clerk.
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candidates for the office which he had vacated. ‘hen, despite
Fauquier's partiality for Vythe, the royal choice as Attorney
General féll upon his brother, it was bHut netursl in the
"closed corporation® type of preferment vhich characterized
coloniél Virginia wpolitics for Randolph to appoint the de-
feated Wythe to fill the resultant opening, which ranked one
sten lower in the ladder of official proninence. Yet the
Speaker's selection was by no means én injudicious one, for
obvious grounds of merit were present to justify it against

a gsomewhat fortuitous similarity to unworthy »etronage oxr
deserving nepotisn, With the possible exception of Richard
Bland, who wés dubbed even by his contenporaries as "The Vir-
ginia Antiquary" and whose vigor was already weakened by age,
ng other person was as thoroughly qualified by nature and
expérienoe fof the Clerk's duties as VUythe.

/@“At the close of sixteen days as scribe to the House
Wythe:was.allotted, in a tynical appropriation bill for the
salaries of servants of the General hssenbly, the surt of 125
in remuneration for his labors. In accordance with estab-
lished custom this figure was rnuch larger than the compensa-
tions granted to Nathaniel Walthoe, long-tine clerk of the
Council, or to the chaplain, sergeant at aris, and other
offiders.l Revelling in the rigid, alwmost rituelistic formu-
las and phrases of & legislative renorter, Wythe improved

‘upon some :minor laxities which had crept into John Randolph's

L. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the Mouse of Burgesses, 1766~
1769, 174. DebTs of this kind Were usually periiitted by the

_—Assembly to accunulate through several sessions, then pay-

© ments would be made. As will be seen later, Wythe received
three others.
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minutes and introduced a rather ilore nHrecise, conventional,
and ostentatious procedure in chronicling the business-of the
Burgesses.l |

A gpaclous room in the Burgesses' wing of:the capitol
bulldln” in Villians ourg, acroés the hall from the chanber of
the House and comfortebly equipped with handsome chairs, desks,
and bookcases, served asg VUythe's office.2 He haed an assist~
ant ©to relieve him partially of the more onerous phaée of his
duties, that‘of copying menuscript reproductions of the Bur-
gesses' journals and of the General Assembly's enrolledAbills.’
One Jacob Bruce worked for him in this capacity fron 17725*
untilythe outright rupture with the llother Country, if not
ylonger.B Though his chair at the#secretary's desk in the
JHouse deprived him of the »privilege of participating in the
Buggesses' debates and votes, Wythe's preference for it over
hié former seat upon the floor did not relezate hinm to a po-
sition of negligible influence. True it is that he was there-
by withdrawn for seven &ears from the center of the political
whirlmool, but his wes not the role of an idle, useless by-

stender. A ore correct simile would be that of the. st olldly

-— e . N g S A A s W o o e T

1. Ibid., ¢f., e.z., 187 with 8l.
2.»An authentic reproduction of it may be seen in the recon-
- gstruction of the Caoluol by Colonial Villiamsburg, Inc.

3. It is known that in 1772 Bruce nade an error in changing a
certain figure at a time when Wythe was not in office: The

Proceedinns of the Convention of pq}efates Held at the
Cavitol, in The Cluy of Williamshure, in the Colony OL Vir-
ginia, on ilonday, the " 5th of iay, 1776 S, 50-60. Bruce senv
to Wythe in phniladeivnhia, during the rieetings of the Second

Continental Congress, & copy of cerualn papers 1in the office
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duﬁiful comnissary officer who is content to let ambitious
fellows in front trenches claim credit for damages inflicted
by bullets and shells which could not have been fired buﬂ for
the plodding faithfulness of the supply department's unsung
‘heroes.‘ On Wythe &s custodian of thelr records the burgesses
depended in their conflictis with IEngland and amonz themselves
for the ammunition of pzrfeCedén‘csg and to him as & promoted
solleague they might coeme %o pooure the retlons of & rational
viewp@in% on the issues viich they faced ~¥ for there weas
nothing to prevent him from drawing upon his journals at any

I3

time, or upon his experience, vhen outside the legislative

chamber, to feed actual combatants with veluable informétion
49r respected advice. 1In shdrt, ne was not demoted frdm the
hect%b front of activity to”an indispensable but dull and
meniél routine service; he was elevated to the clerkship, an
agreeable position of influence. .

That Wythe took his néw duties SGriOUSly is ampiy indi-
- cated by a series of letters which he wrote during the late
‘spring and suriier of 1768. These constitute & portion of the
extaﬁt remnants of his correspondence with the firm of John
_ Norton and Sons, »hrominent exportefs from London to Virginia
for about three decades before and after the Revolution.
John Noxrton, the‘head of the house, was &an Englishman who

resided in the c¢olony for a number of years, worried Courtney
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Walker, one of Ceor~ Vythe's first cou31ns,l and returned
to London, leaving enoush American friends to insure his

‘ o ‘
success as & merchant. One of his sgons, John Hatley HWorton,

remaeined in Virginie, living in Yorktovm, visiting frequently

in Wythe's hiome, and assisting in the nenagement of the
3

fenily's mercantile business. It is certein that Wythe had

e

1. Courtney was a daughter of Jacob VWalker, one of the brothers
of~Wythe's mother: Lyler's Ou&riar%; ipgazine, LIL, 287-288,
Thus it was that she could send ner resvectrul compliments
to "my Cousin Vith [Wythe] & his LadyY: CGourtney Horton %o
J. H. Torton, llbreh, 1772, Norton Papers, Depariment of Re-
search and Zducation, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc. Cf. the
letter of her brother to her,which does not nention i/ \yohe'
George Walker to Courtney Noruon, February 14, 1779, ibid.

2. Political attacks were occesionally nade against him through
the medium of the newspapers: see, e.;, Governor Dotetourt
to John Norton, January 6, 1770, ibid.; Virginia Gazettle

~{pub, by Purdie and Dixon); Deceitber 8 Supgleﬂcnt 15, 22,
and 29, 1775. One of his custouers was Vythe's father ~in-

- law, who sent him six hogsheads of tobacco and ordered
cloths, teas, spices, a saddle, etc.: Richard Taliaferro to
John Morton, September 2, 1770, Norton Papers, Colonial
Williamsburyg, Inc. '

&. He was at least once a justice for York County: Iixecutive
Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Photostats),
December 13, 1773, Universlity of Virginia Library. IHe
married Sarah, deushter of Robert Carter Hicholas. Ie ad-
vertised his Yorktown aouse as velng for sale in 1774 Vir-
ginia Gazette (gub by Purdie and Dixon), December 15, T774,
His name occurs rather frequently in Vythe's letters to hisg
father, as later pages will show. His father acknowledged
receipt of one of his letters written at Wythe's house: John
Norton to J. . NWorton, July 31, 1767, Horton Papers, Colon=-
ial Villiamsburg, Inc.  "Your Son hath been a little indig-
posed lately at lir. Wythe's, but I desired Hugh to call on
him today and let me know how he was: & he writes me that
lir. Worton is so well, that he rode out to lajr. [Richard]
Taliaferros [sic] this lorning": Willian Telson to John
Norton, Woveﬂber 14, 1768, ibid. “Your Son has been some-~
time conflned Sick at ny Nelﬁhoor 1% Uyunes [s1cj but is
now pretty well recovered and [has] gone %o York| town]":
Thomas ZEverard to John Noxuon, Hsugust 1, 1770, ibid.
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been one of thelr customers bhefore 1768,l receiving inported

goods in exchange for the tobacco which he raised at "Chester-

ville", but all details of earlier iransactions were lost.

Ina letter written to John iTorton about three weeks

after the adjournment of the first session in which Vythe

served as Clerk of the House of Burgesses, he ordéred, to-

/

gether with a large stock of clothing for his wife and him-

self, eguipment by the use of vhich its wmembers could indi-

cate their votes better then by oral "ayes" or than a show of

handsrs

G

_ I have paid to my cousin J H Norton thirity seven
[sic] pounds and ten shillings for which he will desire
you to credit my account [&t the current rate of ex- B
~change] with thirty pounds sterling. I have also given
him orders for four hogsheads of tobacco to be shipped
to you. Be pleesed to send me a plece of caribrick and
~.another of lawn [fabric], one pair of satin and five
- “pair{s] of callimencho or lasting shoes with high full
~neels and a satin cloak for wmrs Wythe, and & piece of
irish tgig] linen 2/6 »er vard, two large damesk and
four smell huckaback table cloths, six pair[s] of
cotton stockings and two of black silk for myself, a
derk tie wig [for myself) and a sett [sic] of balloting
glesses such as are used in the house of commons. Ir
Waldron may send me two pair(s]} of black lienchester
velvet breeches and a suit of very fine light cloath
[sic] fit for our hot swmers with a silk weistcoat and
Lone] pair of silk breeches besides. With ny best
wishes for your and all your fenily's health and
prosperity....

",.. the Surplus of y© hyson [Hyson] tee is charged to me ,
«.o it must be sold for my hce® & if any of our Correspond‘®
shou'l want any for their femily use, M [Denjamin] “7aller,
[Thomas] Iverard, Wythe, [Robert Carter] Nicholas, [ Jacque-
1lin] Ambler, &c &c. &c. you may lett [sic] them have it at

T

“ye Cost": John Worton to J. II. Norton, April 10, 1767, ibid.

Izter in the year the elder Norton reported that things
ordered had been shipped to Vythe, Wicholas, and Fauquier:
id. to id., July 31, 1767, ibid.
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[P« 8.] Be pleased to add a black Russells coat for mrs,
Wythe, and & piece of fine pocket-handkerchief [cloth].

A week later he asked that his file of the journals of Par-
1iament's lower house should be brought and kept up~to-date
and that an inkwell and tray for pens should be gotten for
his new officeé

I beg the favour of you to séend me the printed
journals of the house of coraions from September 17066,
(until which I heve them compleat [sicl), and of every
future session so soon as thej are published, an hand-~
some large inkstand fit for a »nublic office, & treatise
concerning monermmabterg, (1 think the title ig “Of
civil oeconomy % lc]" w&mbocn by B8ir James Stewart,
and Pankes's Theocritus.

His ne o order contained no reference to his new position:

I shall be obliged to you if you will send me
eight or ten gallons of the best arrack in carboys
 properly secured, and soite gardenseeds. Your son left
us this morninb. He is in very good health and spirits.

s He was going to Henover [County? s] court.?

But vuthln a month his thoughts had turned again ﬁo the clerk-
Shlp, especmally to his function as librarian of the House.

He had on file for reference a copy of the Burgesses' manu-
script journals for all sessions since 1751. It occurred to
‘him that he might find frequent occesions to use those “of
earlier detes, if British authorities could be weaned away
from & spare copy in their archives:

The governours of Virginia, by & royel instruction,
have from time to time transmitted to the kinp, secre-
tary of state, Lords of trade, &c. two or more duplioates
of the journals of the house of burgesses, after every

session of the general assembly. The reason of ordering
several to be sent, is supposed to be for the beitter

1. George Viythe to John Norton, IRy ¢, 1768, ibid.
2. Id. to id., May 15, 1768, ibid.

a——

3. Id. to id., June 1, 1768, ibid.

——
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assurance of one coming to hand, so thet the other, it
is imagined, can be of 1little use or no use. If I could
procure one sett [sic] of those duplicates, from the
first settlement of this colony til [sic] the year 1752,
I expect it will be of considerable adventage to ne.
Your inquiring into this matter, conferring with nr
liontagule, agent for the House of Burgesses,] on the
subject, and taking vroper and effectual measures to
obtain the pepers desired, (or even copies of them if

. the other is not »nracticable,) so as it be not mede

‘ public, nor attended with great expense, will De
esteened a very friendly office.*t ,

As the swwer wore on Vythe thought it well, in a letter by

which he ordered an expensive carriage, to refer again to his

need for a complete set of the Burgesses' minutes:

If you will be so good as [to] procure for me a
well built handsome post-charriott [sic], I will remit
the price of it in due season. Some thing [sic] like
the inclosed device may be put upon it. Of the several
articles I have lately wrote [written] for, the glasses,
balls and other apparatus, such as are used by the -
house of coummons in balloting, and the duplicates of
our journals, I ar most anxious a2bout, and earnestly
desire your particular avtention to. The journals
especially would be of considerable advantage to ne.

‘The éﬁblem %hich he had -intended to enélose in thaﬁ letter
was not sent untilbten days later. Renewing at that tine in.
another form his reguest fhat Horton see what could be done
towerd getting & file of the journels, which most of his pre-
decessors as Clerk had failed vo build up, he added, to ner-

sonal recuests an order for a booknlate to identify the

volumes in the House's library:

I wrote many months agzo to messt® James Buchanan
and company for an elegant sett [sic] of table and tea

china, with bowls of the some of different sizes,

e n o e -

1. Id. %o id., June 13, 1768, ibid. ©Perhaps it was not a
mere coincidence thaet his file began in the same year as
John Randolph'*s tenure as clerk.

2. Id. to id., August 8, 1768, ibid.
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decanterg and drinking glasses, an handsomne service of
glass for a desserit, four niddiesized and six lesser
[sm2ll] dishes, and three dozen vlates of hard metel,
100 skins of writing varchment proper for enrolling our
acts of agsembly on, several bundles of [the] best
guills, two pieces of blanketing and as many rolls for
servants, 10 or 12 pair{s] of shoes and two of slippers
for myself, and one or two articles vwhich I do not ‘
recollect. At this time there was due to me [by thenm]
about thirty pounds, I believe, for I have mislaid
their last account current; and besides I had saipped
four hogsheads of tobacco to that house. The goods
have not come to hand, mneither have I yet an &ccount of
sales of the tobacco. I they have not sent, nor de-
sign to send the goods, I desire [that] you will be so
kind as to let me have them, with a bonnet for nrs
Wythe, and present the inclosed order and recelve the
balance. & Tew days since I desired you would procure
for me an handsome well built charriot [gigj, with the
device [which is] now sent painted on it, for which you
may depend on a seasonable remittance. I ageln beg the
favour of your attention to the affair of the journals.
If they are not to be procured, let me be informed what
, 120 printed copies of them to the year 1752 will cost..
o If they do not exceed the sum I suppose, the assenbly,
- I doubt not, will defray the expense. The prospect of
& benefit to me, I flatter myself, will not only excuse
the earnestness and freguency of my importunities, but
“[will also] stimulete your endeavours to serve me in
-this business. You will oblige me hy sending a copper
plate, with the [coat of] arms of Virginia neatly en=-
graved [on it], and some impressions [prints] of them
[it] to be pasted on the books belonging to the house
of burgesses. If any additions are mede on the plate
in consequence of what is proposed within, I will cheer~
fully pay the extraordinary cost. J{ohn] H[atley]
N[ orton] left us & dey or two ago in good health &c.
I forgot to mention that I had drawn Hills on mess.
Ja{mes] Buchanan and company for about sixteen pounds
payable to mr James Cocke.

Since the extant collection of such letters does not include
the firm's replies to its correspondents, it is unknown
whether Wythe received all the things of a legislative nature

which he asked his kinsman to secure for him. Probably the

l. Id. to id., August 18, 1768, ibid. The two enclosures to
which Wythe referred in this letter are not aveilable.
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ballotting glesses, inkstand, parchment, and bookplates wefe
duly and promptly shipped to him. ZIater pages of this chap-
ter will show tha® there must have been 2 considerable delay
in his receipt of printéd minutes of the liouse of Commonst
meetings since 1766. It is not likely that he ever obtained

manuscript or published copies of the Burgesses' journals.

Lord DBotetourt's Administration

‘Lﬁeutenant-Governor Francis Pauguler diéd on the third
day of llarch, 1768. ITaudatory ob@tuaries, nore fervent in
their »nraises of his public and »rivate virtues than cuslton
required, apwpeared imnediately in the tﬁo Williamsburg'news~
papers and gave eloquent testimony to the popular satisfacT
tion with the we.y in which he had piloted Virginia's govern-
‘ment for almost ten full years.l An anonywous poetaster nHut
puﬁlic sentiment on the colony's loss into the form of e
Quatrain:

1f ever virtue lost a friend sincere,
If ever sorrow claim'd Virginia'ls tear,

If ever death & noble conguest made, o -
'Twas when FAUQUIER the debt of nature paid.

In his will he appointed VWilliam lielson and Robert Car-

ter, two of his friends in the Council, and Peyton Rendolph

P

L. Yirginia Gazette (pﬁ?, by R@nd), Narch 3, 1768; Virginia
Gazette (pub. by Purdie & Dixon), IRrch 3, 1768.

. Anonyrious maunication®, Virginias. Gazetd wube by Rind),
2. Anonyrious "Commaunication®, Virg Gazetite (pub. Dy Rind)
liarch 10, 1768. ‘ o '
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agg George lythe to be his executors.l They mede an inventory‘
of those Qf his possessions which could be of no sentimental
value and were not sent to relatives in England.z They could
y
themselves purchese at fair prices any articles which they
might want; Wythe made a few modest acquisitions, a5 the
following entry in their accounts shows:
- Sold [to] George 'ythe ilsquire
1 large Turkey Carpel sviveveiierieriiiivieveennesde O

0
12 1/5 yas Printed Cotton ....ov.l/6evuveieon. 18. 9
12 yds Dowlass [linen] . ceeeedl /By 1800

6

1 Holr Broom and Bottle Brush seeeveecerrvsrras 2. C
GWGQP\W‘J
6‘15'/- O

Following a conference in Williawmsburg with Robert Carter in
1772 on the subject of their responsibilities as executors,
Wythe.informed Carter that he‘had‘in due course furnished
Fauguiert®s sons with & report of their progress in settling
the estate:

I hope you arrived sofe &t Nowony [Hell], and
; found mrs Carter and all the family there in good
- health. Our best wishes attend them. BSoom after you
’ lefl't us, I wrote a letter to mr Fauguler, and send
inclosed & copy of it, that you may see what I said
concerning his father's affairs. VWhat relates par-
ticularly to you, I think is the su[bstlancc of what
passed at our last conversation. Ty o “iety to be

i e it - ——-

l. Vill of Francis Feuquier, Vills and Inventories Book 21,
3C7-403, York County Records. It 1s & sinnificant cowmens
tery on his character that, despnite a fear of imputavions
of indecency, he desired an autopsy to be perforiied upon
his body if the cause of his death was not otherwise
ascertainable, in order that "by these means I may become
more ugeful to ny fellow Creatures by iy Death than I have
been in ny life. I insist {on] this...."

2. Inventory and Ixecutors' Accounts of Fouqgulier's Estate,
Wills and Inventories ilo. 22, 1l771-1783, 85-103, ibid.

et e

Ibid., ©5.

T re———

(&)
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rid of this troublesome business increases daily. 1
a1 convinced you are equally desirous of it. ILebt us
then endeavour to bring the matter to a speedy con-
clusion.- '

Al Lhe same tine he asgked John MNorton o convert into cesgh

and go pay to the lieutenant-governor's son sonie money which
“had been realized from sales of the elder Fauquiler's effects:

I bex the favour of you to deliver the packet,

which accompanies this, and to negotiate the bill on

L mr Bell, and [to] pay the conteénts of that, as well as
of the other upon yourself to mr Fe uou1er, and also to
pay him twentj five [sic] pounds sixteen shillings and
eight pence more, and Fo tak ig receipt for the
whqle, as [haV1n been] . paid by his father's exzecutors,
and [to] send it to me.

Later in the same year'Wythe availed himself again of Norton's
’services; an instruction in a letter written for other rea- |
4/sons reads, "You will oblige mne vy forwarding the inclosed ”

o~ letter to mr Fe uouxer.”3 As late as the sumuer of 1774 there
“were still a few details in the balancing of the executor's
,;accounts to be cleared up, for Wythe then wrote to Carter:

I send you & copy of the account of our adninis-
tretion of msovernour Fauguier's estate since the last

settlement, by which it apvears, if your bill for
334.11.0 sverlxn* be extended &t 25 per cent for

—-—— -

1. George Uyt'e to Robert Carter, IRy 29, 1772, Euet Collec-
" tion, Iew York Public Librory.

2. George Vythe to John Norton, IRy 29, 1772, Norton Papers,
Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.

3.°Id. to id., Deceriber 12, 1772, ibid. "There is o bala[nce]
of [%]16 or 17 due from 1ir. Athaies 0 me.... I must beg
the favour of you to receive it, and to pay Ilr Fauquier
27.% Sterg. Be pleased to 1nforn that gentlemen that I
have recd his letter, and will ansver it very soon; tho,
I hope he is satisfied by the accounts sent him by lir.
Viythe before this time": Peytou Randolph to id., August 5,
1772, ibid. !
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~difference of exchange, that there is a smell sum of
o money due to you, unless ve agree to pay for the
articles mentioned in the paper inclosed in mr Faue
~guicer's letter to me. A copy of that eper accompanies
this. e concluded, if I remember rightly, when we
conversed upon this subject, to pay for the things
mentioned in the inventory, and not accounted for;
although I am convinced that they were mede awey with
by some of the governour's servants in vhom we were
obliged in some measure to trust. I believe you nro=-
posed becoming responsible for them yourself alone,
which I cannot consent to, since, if we were blameable,
I wes not less so then you. The next time we meet, I
shall hope to finish this affair. Till then adieu.

ThehfragMentary records wvhich are available do not tell how
they conoludedAtheir adiinistration of Fauquier‘s will, but
Wythe was probably successful in his insistence that he be
permitted to sﬁare the losses inourréd through thefts by dis-
honest servants at the Governor's Palace. N
Duiing the interim which elapsed before the arrival of
Fauquier's successor the headship of Virginia's government
devolved for the fourth tiae upon”John Blair, President of
the Council.® With the menory of their whole-hearted
approvel of the affeble Fauguier fresh in their minds and
with threats of a renewal of Parligmenﬁary taxatién'dis~‘

turbing their calm, the colonists awaited uneasily the

1, George Wythe to Robhert Certer, July 2, 1774, Autograrph
Collection of the Signers of the Declaration of Indepen-
dence, J. Plerpont lorgen Library. ’

2. He presided over the Council's meeting on the day after
Feuquier's death: Ixecutive Journals of the Council of
Golonial Virginia {Thotostets), lktrch 4, 1768, University
of Virginia Library. Later in the month he informed Eng-
lish authorities of the loss and stated that he hed azain

- teken charge as he had done upon Dinviddie's departure and

: during Feuquier's visits on official business to Tew York
and Georgia: John Blair to the Zarl of Shelburne, liarch
21, 1768, Virginia Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), II, ieow
York Public Library. " : . .
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1

appointment of their new ruler. Their fears, so far as

auquier's tradition of harmony between governor and subjects

=

we.s concerned, were allayed very soon after the Crovn's

deputy reached Williamsburg late in October, 1768.2 Norborne
Berkeley (g. 1718), Baron de Botetourt, brought with him a com-—
mission as Lieutenant-Governor and Governor-General, for |
‘authorities in England had decided to inéist upon the gover-
nor'skpresence in the colony, &s a neans to’placate some of‘u
her growing discontent. Virginians took great pride in the
aboliﬁion of the former administrative system, under which
resident deputies acted for nonresident lords whe looked upoﬁ
their office as & sinecure. It was flattering, in the eyes

of sei%arespectihg colonists, to have a titled courtier.to
preside personally over their government. Thus ﬁhere was an
\immediaté predilection for Lord Botetourt. His polished con-

duct in gentlemenly society, his inveriable accessibility to

1. B.g., "We are not & little &Lnxious to know wvhat the Resolu~

- tions of the Parliament may be cbout American Affairs as
also vho we are to have for a Governor[ ;] should he cone
charged with Instructions such &g were lately sent to a
Governor in Hew England I fear the Peace and tranguility
[sic] of this Colony will be greatly disturbed": Thomes
Everard to John Iforton, August 20, 1768, llorton Papers,
Colonial Willismsburg, Inc.

2. e was velcomed by the Council: Executive Journals of the
Council of Colonial Virginia (Photostats), October 26 and
27, 1768, University of Virginia Library. He had travelled
fastey thoen his servants and found no food in the Palece.
Thus De was invited deily to the homes of Villiamsburg's
chief ¢itizens for meals and could report in a vivid des-
cription of his hearty welcome, "[I] ... an at present
unon the very best terms with &ll. I like their style ex-
ceedingly and augure [sic] well of every thing that is to
happen': Governor Botetourt to the Iarl of Hillsborough,
November 1, 1768, Virginia Papers (Bancroft Transcrints),
II, New York Public Library. "
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all on matters of business, and his willingness to reconcile
as far as possible the colony's interests with his instruc-
tions all helped to confirm him in the public favor.t

The Crowvn's strategy in a.pe'11n~ to their veanity was

insufficienﬁ; however, to make the Burgesses‘blind to mea
ures prejudicial to Virginia affairs; Prom the controversy
over the Stamp Act & substantial body of colonial epinion had
emérged to deny to Parliament 2 power to lay internal taxes
on its subjects across the Atlantic. Forced to increase from
some souroe the government's income, Charles Townshend,
Chancellor of the Ixchequer, had proposed exultantly a method,
as he described it, "by which & revenue may be drawn from ...
Anerica without offence". He said publicly, "I laugh at the
aﬁéurd distinction between internal and éxternal taxes";g
but to suit meticulous colonists he secured the passage in
176§ of several revenue acts levying customs dutles on lead,
glass, naper, and tea. By their own definition of Inglish
rights this ingenious device should have suited & majority -
of the colonists, but the pinch of & more effective system:
foi collecting these disguised taxes only forced many
heorists to revise their previous'admission of Parliamentary
control over ilmperial trede, amending it in such a wey as to
‘include power to levy duties for the sake of egul“*lon but”

not for revenue.

l.‘Randolph, Manuscript History of Vlrglnlm, 108 Vlrrlnla
HlStOLlcal Soclety lerary. .

2. Quoted in Van Tyne, op. cit., 246.
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Virginians wrote to England during 1768 plaintive let%ersk
of individual ‘pro‘test.1 Governor Boteltourt warned his su-
periors, though the duties were being collected early in 1769
Ywithout a shadow of resistance from any mortal", that he’
must not venture to flatter you with hopes, that they will
‘evér willingly subuit to ... being taked by the Mothep
Country...." On the contrary, he re?orted;’”ﬂhe reverse 1s
their creed; they universally avow & most ardent desire, to
assist upon every occasion, but pray to be allowed to do it
as formerly in consequence of Requisi“t‘ion“.2 Fevertheless,
he did not anticipate any difficulty with the General'ASSemblp
‘when it convened in tay. 2
On the sixteenth day of the month the House of BUrgesses,’

n secret session as Comaittee of the Whole, passed unani-

Feda

‘mously four resolutions, two of which asserted again the

.

-Assembly's exclusive power to tax Virginians and provided

et A o S g 8 s g i .

1. Bee, e.g., significant eappeals of Page and NWicholag: John
Page to John Norton, August 26, 1768, Norton Papers, _ :
Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.; Robert Carter Nicholas to id.,
Cctober 3, 1768, ibid.

2. Governor Botetourt to the Iarl of Hillsborough, February
17, 1769, Virginie Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), II, ilew
York Public Library.

3. Id. to id., Imrch 30, 1769, ibid.; id. to id., May 10,
1769, ibid.
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for the draftiing df an address to the King.l About seven
o*clock that evening, through some leak ih the dike of con-
‘cealmenﬁ,«hints of these proceedings reached Botetourt, wvho
decided thet he was thereby compelled to dissolve the uouse.2
Tradition says that he tried that evening to secure from
George'Wyﬁhe a copy of the offensive resolutions and that the
Clerk contrived loyally to put off or evede his messenger,

in order that the Burgesses might cémplete their protest by
adopting on the nexﬁkday the address to His I%ﬂ@sty‘5 Cori=
vening prompily the following morning, they passed the
address, and it was duly recorded in their journals, as
Wythe had hoped it could be ere they were commanded to
;adjourn.é At noon, as soon as Botetourt could collect the
Councillo?s, he addressed to the Bﬁrgesses & succinct speech
which shotred thet, though personally he disapproved of the

very legisletion to which they objected, he was forced

e -

“

* 1. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Bursesses, 1766~

: 1769, 214. A Copy of these f8801UuLOHQ, in an unidenti-
fied hand but signed by Wythe, is in the Virginia Iiiscel=~
laneous llanuscrints Collection, Library of Oongress.
Coples were transmitted to other colonies: Peyton Randolph
to the Speaker of the Lower House of Wew Hampshire's

ssembly, Moy 19, 1769, ibid. Wythe published then over
his signature in a/looal newspaper: Virginia Gezette (pub.
by Rind}, May 25, 1769. .

2. Governor Botetourt to the Barl of Hillsborough, lay 19,
1769, Virginia Papers (baacrof} Transcripts), II, NVew York
Public LloiarJ.

3. Wirt, Patrick ienry, 104. This story was adopted un-
gualifiedly by Dr. Tyler: Tyler, Williamsburs, 46-48;
Tyler, "George Wythe", loc. cit., 60.

4, Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of 3urgesses, 1766~
1769, 215-216. -
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against his wishes to punish their action. "“I have heard of

your Resolves®, he stated, “and augur ill of their Effect:

You have made it my Duty to dissolve you; and you are dig-

3

‘ ‘ i
solved accordingly'. One »f thelr nuwber, sneaking for his

Colleagues in the House, bore witness in @ letter written a
'few days later to John Norton that they held no grudge
against Botetourt for his action, asserting, "This“has not
léssen‘d him in their Esteem, for they suppose he ves
obliged to do S0 s, U2

A large number of them assembled later that day in the
Apollo Room of Anthony Hay's Raleigh Tavérn, a few blocks
west of the Capitol on Duke of Gloucester Street. George
Washington, who had rather recently Yecoime & hurgess, re-
ported that they did not adjourn before 10 ?.H,3v There they1
entered into and signed an agreement not to nurchase BEnglish
goods, particularly the articles upon which taxes in the
guise of customs duties had been levied. Thus began the
operation of a widespread non~importation agsociation, matched

by earlier or contemporary organizations of a like neture in

1. Ibié., 218.

2. This account continues, "he is universally esteened here,
for his great Assiduity in his Office, Condescencion [gic],
good llature & true Politeuness": John Tage to John iforton,
ey 27, 1769, Norton Papers, Colonial Willismsbury, Inc.
Zarlier he had said, "¢ Dotetourt seems very happy here

hilm till after the lleeting of the Assembly®: id. to id.,
April 10, 1769, ibhid. DNorton's correspondents kept hin
informed of Virginia's politics and tenper; see, £.4.,

Thomas Everard to id., August 2, 1706¢, ibid.

3. Entry of 1y 17, 1769, Fitzpatrick, ed., Diaries.of leorse
Washington, I, 320. '
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most of the other colonies. Ilen who felt, with perheps sone
Justice, that the administration of the government "at home® .
was being shamefully bandied between.arrogant or ignorant

- leaders of villainous political parﬁies}' put their trust in
a boycott®s baneful effect upon the figures of the Exchequer*é
ledgers and of the merchants' balance-sgheets to bring the
ministry to its senses. To an Inglishmen one of the “Asso-
ciators", as They called themselves, exclaimed, "How nust
your Menufacturers curge the linister vho hag driven the
Colonies to %hisi“g The ladies? cooperation was enlisted in
this enthusiastic campaign for giving up the use of every

- commodity which had previously brought profits to the
English.3 No evidence has been discevered to show what pért
George Wythe had in the moVement,‘but it is probable that he
heartily favored it. Soie fwg months after the memorable
organizationrmeeting in the Tavern, he publiShed over his
Signatuke ag Clerk of the House the naies of éleven:burgesses

who had been absent when the &Asscociation was formed but had

1. Even Botetourt complained & little in this vein: Governor
Botetourt to John Norton, January 6, 1770, Norton Papers,
Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.; Id. to the Se cretary of State,
June 30, 1770, Virginia Papers s (Bancroft Tranocrlots) 11,
New York Publac berafj - Cf. Ixecutive Journals of the
Council of Collonial Virginia (Photostats), January 8, 1771,
University ef\Virginie Library.

2. John Page to John Norton, May 27, 1769, Norton Papers,
Colonial Ullllamsburg, Inc.

3. Marth& Jacquelin to id., hAugust 14 1769, ibid.; lartha
Goosley to id., June 13, 770 “bld.,_Vl*pinia Gazette
{pub. by Rind), July 27, 1769.
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since acceded to its provi isions. -

"Reelected without exception, the Burgesses convened
zgein late in 1769. Botetourt announced %o them with pleas§
ure that he had been assured from abroad that no additional

2

taxes would be exacted,” and as the sumuer of 1770 approached

newé came To the effect thet all the duties had been repealed,
except that on %éas - news which had been‘long antioip&ted.S
P&rliamentés retraction ha@ been welcbme but was still too‘
partial.4 Hence a large body of the Aséociators met again

in Williawmsburg in June to renew their agreement.s

;p/ég/a%mosphere which was steadily growing guieter
Botetourt died on the fif%eenth day of October, 1770.‘ Private
letters to Ingland lamented ﬁhe colony'®s 1035,6 and the Gen-
eral fssenbly voted in the next year to have a marble statue
of him carved abroad and shipped to Virginis at the public

expense;7 Somewhat damaged and much weather~beaten, it has

1. Virginia Gazette {pub. by Rind), July 27, 1769.

2. Cf« Thomas Bverard to John Worton, llovember 8, 1769,
Torton Papers, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.

S John’Norton to John Hatley Norton, iy 27, 1769, ibid.
4. Thomas Evergrd te John Norton, August-l, 1770, ibid.

5. Wythe'!s name does not appear in a list of more than a ‘
hundred signers: Virginia Historical Register, III, 22-23.
But it has been said withoutl apparent authority'thwt he
signed that pledge: Grigsby, Vlrglnla Convention of 1770,
010 -

6. Bog., Cary Wilkinson to John Norton, Cctober 20, 1770,
Yorton Papers, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.

7. C£. Thomas Everard to id., July 20, 1771, ibid.; Richard
Blend to Thomes Adams, Lugust 1, 1771 Vlrplnlw Historical
liagazine, VI, 132-133.
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stood for years on the Villiem and llary College campus, facing
eastward toward the Capitol. 4s had;been the cése in the
///death of Lord Dotetourtts worthy predecessor, Vythe assisﬁgd
other prominent colonists in taking care“of the inevitable
post-morten deﬁails.l Sorme of the beloved governor's posses-
siqns, including an expensive stage—coach? vere given to the
colony for the use of his ﬁuooessors.z
A number of focts aboul George Vythe which are not re-
lated to the principal issue of Botelourt's administration

may bve gleaned from extant records. He caused an order of
the Burgesses desisgned to facllitate the long-delayed dig-
S O 5 'V
posal of John Robinson's estate, in order that the former
treasurer's debt to the colony might be repaid, to be pub-
O o ? :
lished in & Villiamsburpz newspaper above hils signature es
W EN K o

I

their Clerk.® Three tines auring the two sessions of the

P i s g e

1. Bee the letter from William Helson, John Randolph, Robert
Carter Nicholas, VWythe, and John Blair to the Duke of Beau~
fort, October 30, 1770, five letters between the two
parties during the next year, and an inventory of Bote-
tourtts effects, Tyler's Quarterly Ikrazine, III, 109-126.

,,,,,

2. This was done by hisg relatives, Tor Botetourt had died
intestate. The Council accented the gifts in accordance
with his known desire: Ixecutive Journals of the Council
of Colonial Virginia (Photostats), Anril 12, 1771,
University of Virginia Library. :

5. The House commanded that the execubors, IBdnund Pendleton

‘ and Pelter Lyons, sell all but the dower in resl estate of
Robinson's widow: Virginia Gezette (pub. by Rind), Decen-
ber 28, 1769. In the same issue Pendleton and Lyons there-
fore advertised the sales: ibid.
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House in 1769 George Vashinglton had lunch iﬁ the Yythe home.l
To the volumes filed in the Glerk's office Robert Carter
Nicholas referred for certain details in the history of
1egislaﬂion regarding slaverf-.2 It hes been noted in the
preceding chapter that ythe had been appointed in 1765 with
Peyton Randolph, John Randolpl, and Robert Carter Hicholas

to collate and publish the laws of the colony. The result

of their work, usuvally known &g fhe‘Code of 1769, appeared
 in prinﬁ four years later.5 It was the first collection of
the Assegbly's statutes since 1751 and the first of four
monumental attempts'by Vythe to deal with the whole body'of
Virginia's laws. In recampense for their services the four
editors were awarded official thanks and %100 apiece from the.
public treasury, upon & recommendationvof the Burgesses?

Committee of Propositions and Grievances.4 In 1770 Viythe

- P—— e o

1. Entries of liay 12, Novewmber 15, and December 11, 1769,
Pitzpatrick, ed., Diaries of George Vashington, I, 324,
352, and 355, respeciively.

2. The Treasurer, having satisfied hinself regerding earlier
provisions, urged that & Hill to limit importations of
Negroes by imposing @ duty on them should imeet concurrence
in the Council and in England, since it met objections
which had brought #fown a royal disallowvance upon a former
act for that purpose: Rovert Carter Nicholas to Governor
Dotetourt, Decerbver 30, 1769, Virginia P pers (Bancroft
Transcripts), II, New York Public Library. Official dis-
approval of these attempts, of course, enabled Jefferson
to name it in the Declaration of Independence as a
grievance against George III.

3. The Acts of Assembly, low in Force, in the Colony of Vir-

Zinis with en Lxact Teble to tae vhole. Dublishned by
Order of the Genersl Asgsembly (Uilliamsburg, 1769).

4. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Burgesses, 1766~
1789, 332.




250

zeceived a second payment as Clerk for his labors through

. . ‘ i
several sesgsions, amounting to &300.

Cn tr~ last day of HNovember, 1768, Vythe was elected
2

layor of Williamsburg for the ensuing year. He endorsed a

petition of a group of obscure colonists for permission to

survey and lay clainm to lands west of the Alleghanies.s He

tried in 1770 through the mediun of an advertisement in a

<

local weekly news-sheet to clear hig title (o 2 certain trac
of land:

ONE James Ransome, of Gloucester [County], the
234 of lovenber 1670 demised 50 acres of land, vhich
is now in my possession, to Abraham Savey and Sarah his
wife, for 99 years; and covenanted that he, or his
heirs, &c. at the expiretion of thaet time, would make
another lease, for the like term, to the lessees, or
their helrs, &, they paying 1060 pounds of tobacco. I
long agoe purchased the right of the lessees, and ever
since the expiration of the former term have bheen, and
now am, ready to wmeke another lease, and [to] pay the
tobacco, but T cannot discover who is the person en-
titled to the reversion. If he inclines to scell the
reversion, I am willing %o buy it for what it 1s worth.

G. Wythe4

Though the legality of Wythe’s clain had terminated in the

e - o e = -

1. Kennedy, cd., Jourmels of the Iousc of Iurmesse
1772, 101.

2. Virginia Gazette (pub. by Purdie and Dixon), Dececmber 1,
1768; Virginie Gezcttc (pub. by Rind), Deceuber 1, 1768.
Wythe vas named amons the five managers of a public lot-
tery, tozether with Robert Carter Ilicholas and Thomes
Hverard, for disnosing of 146 lots of land in Hanover, the
drewing for which took place at the Raleigh Tavern on
April 4, 1768: Virminia Gazettc (pub. by Rind), Deccmber
24, 1767.

3. Calendar of Virginia 8tate Papers, I, 260. This is the

[ —— 'y

only known instance in wnichi Vythe 1s known to have been
identified in any rcspect with the current menia for land
speculation.

o5

4. Vi:ﬁinia Gazette {(pub. by Purdie and Dixon), Ilarch 22, 1770.
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.

preceding year, it is possible thaet Rensone's heir did not

ear to assoért or sell his rights. In 1770, if not also Ln‘
octher years, Wythe was again made nresiding justice of Eliza~
beth Cityts county court.l Finelly, he wrote to John Nbrtoh
two letters, renewing his previously unsuccessful reguests
for a copy of the published minutes of the House of Cormions'
‘meetings since 1766. In the first he ordered also some bolts
of several types of cloth:

I beg the favour of you to send me the articles
undermentioned. Capb. Robertson will deliver [to] you
ning‘horshead of ‘tobace o, vhich are a1l that I made.
Dray glve nmrs Mjonc s and my best respects to mrs
ko rton, and [to] 211 your good family....
nieces of heotlng linen not exceeding 2s per yard
plieces of irish [gig] linen, for shirts, 28 per yard.
piece of ditto ditto 1/3 per yard.
plece of derk coloured Russia drab [e thick gray
woolen clothl.

Debates of the parl1wmonu of Irelend.
Journalsg of the House of comnons since 1768.
Some best razors and penknives

HoE

.

In the seccond he asked that & stock of lOSml volumes should
be shipped to him:

I beg the favour of you to get the undermentioned
books, and [to] send them by an eurly ooporuunlty....
Books to be sent to G V.o

Andrews® report

Atkyns?® reports

Bunbury's reports

Burrow's reports

Fortescue's reports

Foster's reports

IMelmoth's reports

Shorver's casgecs in parliament.

[Enclosure dated Iy 8]
Be pleased to add to the catalozue in the letter The
journals of the house of comrions since 17G66.

——— -~ - -

1. Calendar of Virginia State Fapers, I, 265.

« Georsze Wythe to John Norton, Aucust 3, 1769, Norton Paverc
Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.

[N
)

Id. o id., Iy 7, 8, 1770, b ivid.

- -
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After having seen these Dooks which VWythe had seccured through
Johin Worton and Sons; John Randolph decided to order some

From the sane firm.l

- b i o © e ? o . [V

ihid:

1. John Randolph to id., Decerber 16, 1770,



Shapter VII

CI' All ERA

The Calm Before the Stqrm, 17711774

Upon the death of Governor Botetourt, Johin Blair re-
signed his wresidency of the Council on account of his age,
and the 24 igﬁgggg leadership of the colony devo;ved upon
his colleague, William Nelson (d. 1772).1 John Murray (1732~
180¢), Barl of Dunmore, 2 Scottish.peer to whom the governor-
ship of Ilew York had been gr&nted in 1770, was transferred to
Virginia ih the following year. He reached Williamsburg on- -
September 25, and, in & letter to England reporting his
arrival, expressed his desire lo emulate the successful ad-
ministration of his worthy predecessor.2

It was & vain hope. Future years were to prove thai
the English governnent was unwilling to abandon its intention
of taxing the colonies amd thet ruling colonists were deter-
nined tolresist unflinchingly every new Parliamentary en-
croachment upon their control over their financial and polit-

ilcal affairs. ©Steadfast in his supnort of authorities

- ——— -

1. William Nelson to the Becretary of State, Ocltover 15,
1770, Virginie Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), IL, lew
York Public Librery. Cf. also id. to id., December 19,
1970, ibid.; id. to id., ¥arch 27, 1771, ibid.

2. Governor Dunmore to id., October 3, 1771, ibid.
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abroad, Dunmore was thus placed squarely by circumsitances
between upper and nether millstones. Under even the best of

conditions, his position as governor would have made his

1

3.

b

tuation one little Lo be envied. Dutiful obedience to
instructions from those who gave him his appointmenﬁLand C O~
pliance with the dictates of colonial opinion were two
practicelly irreconcilable ains. 1Indeed, it is alwost ai-
iomatic that & governor could rerely be both falthful ﬁb his
trust and populax ameng nhis people, and the unfortunate
Dunmorei@ predecessors, like meny o fellovi-governor in other
colonieéé‘h&d found cause to complain of the very nature of
their o:f.‘:f?ice,‘ZL Anid the tension of 1771-1775, Lord Dunnore
was & fit object for genuine pity.

But certain changes in his character might have made
his figure a bit leés pathetic, He ¥boasted that he wes the
compaenion of George III" during tha% monarcﬁ‘s tuition under
Lord Bute, an irreconcilable Tory - bubl such thoroughgoing
Tory training did not e&fford him a worthy recomiendation %p.

Virginians, who were most likely to think of themselves in

. el -

l. The conciliatory Faeuguier seemed to dislike his obligation
to tattle. Ii.g., he wrote upon one occasion, %... the
circumstances of the Colony and my duty to his Irjesty,
both require thet I should represent the state of the
country in its true light, however disagreeable the
plcture mey bhe¥: Francis Feuguier to the Earl of Halifax,
June 14, 1765, ibid., I, 329. A wmore unyielding adminis-
trator had, under less vexing circumstances, exclaimed
bitterly, “A Gov'ir cannot contrive a surer way of gaining
their [Virginians'] disfavor then by strictly pursuing his
Duty and faithfully discharging his Trusi®: Alexander
Spotswood to the Board of Trade, June 24, 1718, Brock, ed.
Letters of Spotswood, II, 283. -
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s intellectual abilities were

..

Feds

. -~ . . - 7 -
terms of the Whig party.+ 1

only mediocre &t best, and he vies inciineé to Dbe intemperate.z
In none of these respects wasvﬁeorge Wythe attracted to Dun-
more, and the last of the royal sovernors became thé only one
of the four whom he haed opportunities to know with whown Vythe
had 110 in%im&te relationshipuS Whenever, during the three
preceding edministrations, there had been a dispute bebtween
Virginia»and England, W&the nad zatriotically upheld the
~colonial cause, despite the patronage and friendship of Dine-

viddie, Fauguler, and Botetourt. During the last five years

e A . S e . ~ i e

1. Autobiography of John Page, Virginia Ilistorical Regist
I1I, 148.

)

I,

2. &n unfavorable teale of his marticipation in an intoxicated
escapade preceded Dunmore Lo Virginla. ¥We entertain a
very disadvantagious [gic] Opinion of him from the
accounts brought us from new York. I will tell you one
of his Exploits which Vood, nember [of the Houseg for
Frederick County, wvho Egigj you know, brought to the

- Assembly from New York from whence he had just returned.
His Lordship with & Set of his Drunken Companions Sallied
about midnight from his Palace and attacked Chief Justice
Horsmanden's Coach and Horses. The Coach was destroyed
and the Poor Horses lost their Tails. The next day the
Chief Justice applied to Govermment for Redress. And a
Prociametion [was] issued by advice of the Council offer-
ing a reward of X200 for a discovery of the Principal in
this violent act. Ve have not heard whether the Governor
demanded the Reward": Richard Bland to Thomas Adawms, Aug-
ust 1, 1771, Virginie Historicel liagazine, Vi, 134. Con-
trast, however, the wmore flattering report Ythat the

YPeople of YWew York parted with him very unwillingly®:

Thomas HEverard to John Worton, Sentember 30, 1771, Jorton

Papers, Colonial Villiamsburg, Inc. Richard Henry Les

described Dunmore to tihe Continentel Congress &s & man

“fond of his bottle™: John Adams® Notes of Debates, Octo-

ber &6, 1775, Vorthington Chauncey Ford, ed., Journals of

the Continental Congress, 1774-~178¢, I1I, 482.

~

e Sttty

3. Call, "Judge Vythe", loc. ¢it., xii.



of hig 1ife as a British subject it was probably eesier, fronm

the personal point of view, for hiim to opwose reasures sup=-

ported by the Crown's repregenuative.l
The years 1771-1773 were marked by lititle political

excitement, and VUythe went about his duties as secretary of
the lower house of the General Aseeutbly guietly, Wiﬁh_his
characteristic patience in attending to routine details. In
the first of these, and again in the last, he was pald 475
for his services a% the Clerk's desk.2 IHis pride in his
position prompted him in 1772 to order from the Norton firm
in Londopn a new robe ‘like that used by the corresponding
officer of the House of Commons. Reguesting also at the
same time @ number of legal and literary works, he voiced,»_
in one delightfully curt phrase, his utter disapproval of 2
gown which he had previously secured fron anoéher Inglish
merchant:

You will oblige me by sending the books and robe ien-~

tioned in the inclosed. I shall draw upon you soon

for the cogt of two pipes of lledeira wine.

{Enclosure]
To be bought for G. Wythe,

The works of Theophilus: in greek and latin, two
volures in quarto, published at the Hague, in 1751,

1. Cf. Randolph, ilnuscript History of Virginie, Virginie
Historical limgezine, XLIII, 131.

i

2. Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Burgzesses, 1770

1772, 139; Kennedy, ed., Journals of the House of Jur-
gesses, 1773-1776, 32.
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by Gul. Ctto Teitz,

Glanville,

Bracton,

Britton,

Flete, ,

Lewb. elrenarche,

Irasnusts adages, ‘

[Book of] Comon prayer in greck.

A robe, such as [thet which] is worn by %the clerk
of the house of commons, but better than the one I_had
“before from mi Child, wvhich indeed was scandalous.+

ce

[N

Cnly mé%iculous propriety in the official drese of his off
could satisfy Wythe, who was no more inclined %o tolerate an
unauthentic or cheap robe than he had been to perpetuate the
somewhat slovenly ritual which John Randélph had adopted for
the minutegs of the Iouse! In the sane year the Asseﬂbly
enacted a law to extond inland navigation on the Potomac
River. To secure necessary funds’for this purpose it was
provided that a2 vast public lottery, offering 20,000 ticlkets
and 8,308 prizes, should be established. Fourteen of the
best~known Burzesses and Councillors were entrusted with the
managenent of this venture by the‘colony into the gambling

«
it
]

fythe was anong then.= In 1773 counterfelting wes
3

business;
the outstanding problem of local affeirs, and there are
still extant the original coples of two resolutlons of the
House of Burgesses, signed by Uythe as Clerk, thanking Lord

Dunmore for his @id in the epprehension and arrest of certein

e -

e

1. George Wythe to John Worton, IRy 29, 1772, Worton Peper
Colonial Vililiamsburg, Inc. ‘

2. Hening, Sietubtes, VIII, 570-579.

»

3. The principal sources on this problem are cited or re-
printed in Xennedy, ed., Journalsg of the House of Bur-
gesses, 1773-1776, viii-xi. T




offenders who had printed and publ into circulation the

1

spurious paper money. Perhaps it was about this time, too,

that Vythe extracted from the minutesgs of the H
for an unknown purpose an excerpd recofding the Burgesses?
tre&ﬁment of a man who had used abusive language in address-
ing one of their meibers. -

George Wythe secems to have had, after the expiration of
his term as Mayor, an occasional hand in Uilliamsburg?s

municipal government, for a newspaper announced at the closs

of 1772 his resignation ag an Alderman.3

-

His availablebcorrespondence reveals sonething of Wythe
personal affairs during the first halfl of Dummore's adminis-
S tration. In the summer of i??l he planned to have & house
erected in Ilizabeth City County. Financially cauéious, he
an ltemization of the building meterials which would have %o
be imported for this job, together with a list of proposed
“additions to the sideboard of his Williamsburg home, asking

that an estimate of the cost of the intended purchases be

- - s ————

1. Mss. in the handwriting of George Vythe, one of which wse
dated March 6, 1773, Sparks Collection, Harvard University
Library.

2. lis. copy in the handwriting of George Wythe, with his
signaeture, of a portion of the minutes for November 29,
1753, Roberts Autograph Collection, Heverford College .
Livracy.

3. James Cocke becanme Ilayor for the ensuing year, Dr. Jamss
Blair replaced Wythe, and John Dixon, the printer, was
elected to the Common Council: Virginis CGezette (pub. by
Purdie and Dixon), December 3, 1772.
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sent to him:

I am about OULLQIﬂP & srll house, and nust be
cbliged to you for the engllsn [sic] materials, which
I shall send & BHill of “chadge to pay the cost of , so
soon as I can get the favour of you to inform me, by
inguiring of vroper [perisons, as near as may be, what
it will amount to. :

A ill of the things I shall want is inclosed,
none of which I would have you [sen]d til [sic] I write
azaile

It is with pleasure I can acguaint you that your
son, who i1s now at our home, seems to be in good healinh.

With my best respects to mrs Norton, and [to] the
rest of your famlly...:

[Bnclosure]
A chest of nice joiner's and other tools, to cost six
or seven guineas, or even eight, to be complete.
A set of tea china.
5 dozen wine glasses, one dozen beer-glagses, and four
wine decanters.
0il, colour {paint] & brushes %o cost ¢« « « o« 3I= Ow
400 panes of crown £lasSs o o s+ » s o o o « o 20~ O~
2 morTis Locks lar@Ee o o o o s e e s e s s e  d1=13-
ditto 8maller « o o v v 4 v e s s e o e 4 s 2m=l2=
AitLO o o o v e v e o e s e e e e e e . 1= 2
p 4 inch door dovetail hinges . « ¢ o o & 1~ 4~
pf smaller 42 ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ 6 v s v e e e e e e e
48 p¥ HL rising Joznt for snut&o;s - o
48 pY side hing A2 . v v e v e o 2= O-
40 2/2 Weinscot pullxes for sashes « + « « « O- 8-
65 yds. white line [rope] for a2 . . . . . . 0-10-10
48 breass Joxnﬁed rings for shutters e +-e o 4i=186- 0
10 pileces fly wire {screenlng] 3 feeb

1 inch sguare + 2 v o o o s s o a o o o 10-15- 0
a casgk of nalls ‘

The tea china & glass ware [51 1 to ve sent to [me at]
Williamsburg, the others to be left with mr Jacob Wray

u9

&t Hampton for

WO L
QOO OO0

G. Wythe.t
Some months later Norton instructed his son to tell Wythe
that he had taken steps to secure the appraisal, which might

be expected to reach Virginia in reasonable time.? Vhen it

1. George Vythe to John Forton, July 18, 1771, Norton Pepers,
Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.

- 2. John Norton to John Hatley Norton, Iebruary 24, 1772,
le.son, ed., John Norton & Sons, 222.
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cane, Vythe replied:

I am much obliged to you for the egtirmate you wes
[gig so good as to send me by capt. Robinson, vhich I
received cnlw morninz. The articles [uhloh I 1nuended
1o ondor} exceed what I can afford; end therefore 1
shall content myself without most of unem if not all.
Iy friend J. H. ﬂLortOn}p was &t our house two dovs
since, and seemed to be in good health,

Later in the same year, however, Wythe decided that rodest
acquisitions for intellectual improvement were within his
means. For himself he ordered an opﬁical instrunent té acsist
him in the study of ast4ouom

- I beg the favour of jou to send ne 2 telescone.
For a good one I wvould go as far as ght or ten
guineag. I would have a light stand [1 i.84, tripod]
to keep it steady uponqz

For & deScendant of one of his mother's brothers, & lad vho

<

was Norton's nephew and whose education he was supervising,
Wythe sought to obtain some wmathenatical instrumnents:

I lately desired wy friend J. H. Norton to send
for a few articles upon 1y account, and to remit & bill
of exchange to be placed to my creditv. Be pleased to
let me have a simue[rent] of my account, for I do not
know exactly how 1t stands. Jacoh Valker, a youth of
rreat hopesg who lives with me, is likely to make 2
zood progress in the mathematics, which he is pursuing
w1th some other branches of useful knowledge. To
assist him, I beg [‘ hat] you will send me & set of
1notrumenus, which hig tutor informs me may be had fo
two or three puineas.od

Despite the payment on his account vhich he thus transnitted

to London through Worton's son, the books of the firm

1. George Wythe to John Norton, June 17, 1772, Norton Papers,
Colonial U111¢¢msouro, Inc.

2 id., Septembel 8, L1772, ibid:
5. Id. to id., December lZL 1772, ipid.
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indicated a debit of £40.3.1 op>0%1ue his neme in the sumer

i

of 1773%3.~ VWhat business Wythe transacted after that date

with the Nortons in England cannot be learned. At the close
of that year he ordered some seeds from Philadelphia for a
friend in Elizabeth City County:

. If it will not be giving you too much trouble I

beg the favour of you to send %o Philadelphia for three
hundred pou“ds welght of red clover seed and two
bushels of timothy seed to be left for me with mr Jacob
Wray at Hamptonr. Iir Sazint George who recommended it to
me to procure the seeds from Philadelphia wishes to have
them as soon &s possible.? :

It was probably in the years just before the Revolution
that Wythe uogan to broaden his intellectual studies to in-
clude fieldsvnotably veyond the range of the classics and the
law. He became thoroughly acquainted with mathematics and

-

with natural philosophy (in more modern terminology, the
natural soienoes); and the proficiency which he attained in
them caused his friends to marvel that, at Ya period in life,
which in others would be deemed 2t least the verge of old
age', he could surpass in ardor and depth the efforts of

5 In 1773 an organizatlon to

nearly all youthful students.
encourage scientific and philosophical work was launched in
Williamsburg and christened the Society for the Advancement

of Useful Knowledge. It was a group Whiéh may take rank as

1. List of Foreign Debtors, July 30, 1773, ibid.

2, George Wythe to an uwnknown addressee, December 22, 1773,
Autograph Collection of the Signers of the Dehlaratlon of
Independence, Maine Historical Society Library.

‘

3. Anonymous ¥Communication®, The Enguirer, June .10, 1806.
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the second learned society to be established in the colonies.t
In its second annwal meeting, held in the Capitol in June,
1774, Jonn Page ¢ wes advanced from the vice-presidency to

the presidentfs chair. Wythe was elected to succeed Page as
Viqe~presidént for the coming year, a monetary reward was
bestowed upon the builder of & model of a machine for thresgh-
ing wheat, and prominent English and Admerican intellectuals
were selected as corresponding members.3 The Soéiety appeéﬁﬁ
to have been active at least eleven ye&rse4 Though records
have not survived to tell its later history, George Wy%hé
~doubtless continued to have a p:ominent vart in its studies

and to serve at times ag one of its officers.

The Political Isoclation of the Clerkship, 1774-1778
Lord Dunmorets disposition during 1772 and 1773 was

evidently aimed at the goal of amicable relations with the
] h

1. It certainly did not precede the dmerican FPhilosophical
Society in Philadelphia, of which Benjamin Franklin was
the leading spirit. Cf. John Page to James E. Heath, Jan=-
vary 3, 1834, Ms. pmasted to front wover of [George Vythe,
Etymological Praxisj, Virginia Historical Society Library.

2. On his scientvific interest ¢f. esp. his report and obser-
vations on rainfall at "Rosewell" during the year ending
June 13, 1773, as he had wminutely recorded it with a home~
wade contrivance: id. to Jehn Nortoen, July 21, 1773, Norton
Papers, Colonial Williamsburg, Inc.

3. Rev. James lladison and Rev. Robert &ndrews, with each of
vhom Wythe was to be associated on the William and lMary
facully,; were chosen &s secretaries at the same time:
Virginia Gezette (pub9 by Purdie and Dixon), June 16, 1774.

4. Tyler, Williamsburg, 57-88, 81.
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House oleurgesses.l When, in its session of the latier

year, that body elected a comnittee of intercolonial corres~
pondence and proposed thet sister colonies should set up
similar agencies for commwunication, he dissolved i%,g but

ne quarrel of those years had been really serious. However,

e

the Declaratory hct of @ former year remained upon the

[

tatute books, and its assertion for Pariiament of & right

[}

and power ﬁa control by legislation colonial rmatters of every
type was portentous, to say the least.

A series of devélopmeh@s began in 1774 which led in un-
broken contihuity to the War.of American Independence and
which in Virginia brought Dumnore and the colony into out-
right hostility. A customs duty on émporﬁed tea was re~
enacited in the preceding year. The Boston Tea Party resulted,
and Parliament accepted the challenge by adopting several
punitive or coercive acts directed against Uassachusetté,
including that which closed the port of Boston to itrade,
effective June 1, 1774. News of some of these troubles in
New England reached Virginia during the session of the House

o

of Burgesses in llay. & group of the least conservative

e s

1. Percy Scott Flippin, The Royal Government in Virginia,
1624~1775 {Columbia University Studies in History, kco-
nomics, and Public Lavw, IXXKIV, no.l), 144. XNevertheless,
Duniore got started on the wrong foot:; Robert Leroy
Hilldrup, "The Virginia Convention of 1776: a Study in
Revolutionary Politics® (ils. Doctor's Dissertation), 96,
.University of Virginia Library.

-

2. Autoblography, Bergh, ed., Vritings of Jefferson, I,
?”8@ ’ v
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ally Jefferson, Richard’ﬁenrj Lee, and Henry,

drew up & resolution designating the first of June as a day
of fasting and prayer, in the hove that a demonstiration of

that type would quicken‘the public pulse. VWith appropriate—
ness and %actical wisdom, they persuaded the caubtious and
gravely pious Robert Cafter Nicholas to propose their mneasure,
end the House agreed to it readily. Aluost two decades had
prassed since the colony had solemnly observed & fast. Dun~
more, shbcked to find that such an act of relisious and po-~
litical fervor could be inspired merely by symnaonj for
distant colonists or by fear thet quiet acquiescence would be
considered a :p:receden't9 retaliated with the only recourse in
his power, & dissolution of the Aﬁsembly.l

His sole resort was ineffectuwal. As had been done pre-
vidusly under similar circumnstances, & nunber of the Bur-
gesses thereupon convened in Releigh Tevern and agreed to a
non-importation association. But their actions in 1774 went

“much farther than ever before. Hspousing the cause of llassa-

YN

chusetts with & generoug and Ffar-seeing %all for one" policy,

they »proclaimed that an attack upon any colony should be

deemed hostility to every one of tlie thirteen and directed
their committee of inter-coloniel correspondence to propose

a continental congress of deputies as a clearing-house of

1, Ibid., 9-10; Governor Dummore to the ITarl of Dertmouth,
Hay 29, 1774, Virginia Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), II,

\ew York Public Library; George liason to Ikrtin Cockburn,
ay 26, 1774, Virpinia Historical Recister, III, 27-28;
Pendleton, "Autoblo greapay", Richmond Inguirer, April 11,
1828.
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mutual recistance. ‘HOreover, they recomuended that a conven=~
tion of delegates from Virginia counvies should meet the |
firgt day of August,l Thus, balked by Dunmore from acting in

a legal canacity, they promoted the alternative of i1llegal

colonial and intercolonial organizations which were to become
agencies of opwnosition to Parliament and, in time, engines of
independence from Ingland. It ves certainly the most overd
measureifor resistance agaianst British authority ﬁhioh hed
thus far heen counceived.

Compearative harmony Coﬁld no longer exist belween Lord

Dunmore and the Burgesses. The turn of events becane nore
incomprehensible to the governor a few weeks later, however,

when the Council cast agide its usual adherence to his point

of view by urging unaninouslky that he issue immediately writs
for the election of a new House of Durgesses, in order that
the General Assenbly might be ready to convene vhenever a
new session should seem advisable. D~serted‘bj his only |

o
alllies, Dunmmore ceguld not hut yield.a Yet he postponed until

po—

1. Autobiogrenhy, Bergh, ed., Uritings of Jefferson, I, 10~
11l; Governor Dunmore to the Zarl of Dapitmouth, June 6,
1774, Virginia Papers {Bancroft Transcripts), II, New
York Rublic Library. 4 cougress had often been wnroposed:
e«e, Communication sizgned "Observation®, Virginie Gazette
Tﬁﬁb. by Purdie and Dixon), Hovember 11, 1773.

2. Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia
{Photostats), June 16, 17, 1774, University of Virginis
TYibrary: Governor Dunmore to the Tarl of Dartiouth, June

2 .
20, 1774, Virginia Pavers {Bancroft Trenscripts I1, ifew

3 7 [ A i\ o 2

York Public Library; sutobiography of John Page, Virginiza
Higtorical Register, III, 148. PXage, formerly in the

,,,,, bl e ? ? S
House of Burgesses, wasg recoumended by Dunmore to becone
a Councillor: John Norton to John Hetley Noriton, Februaxry
16, 1773, Norton Pawners, Coloniel Villiamsburg, Inc. Dun-
more soon had occasion to regret that appolntment.
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the next year calling the Assembly together.

In *he popular Convention of hugust, 1774, which con-
sisted very largely of the burgesses who had net in IRy as a
House, Peyvton Randolph, Richard Bland, George VWashington,

Hdmund Pendleton, Richard Henry Lee, and Benjanin Herrison

"

were chosen &g delegates to the First Continentel Congress,
wnich met at Philadélphia in the following September. Jeorge
Wythe, Clerk of thevHouseg had been for sone vears in & posi-
Tion Too retired from politics to be & nerber of the conven~
tilon or a-depuﬁy to the congress. But Wythe could assist

those who were sent to Pennsylvania. Washington thought

’immediately of the possible need in Philadelphia for statis-
tical information on Virginia‘ts trade and population.
Accordingly, he secured from Wythe's records, as the best
index to_ﬁhévla%ter, a surmiery of the wmost recent list of
tiﬁhables.l In the spring of 1775 Jefferson wes studying in -
connection with his duties the sizgnificant and involved

&

guestion of the relation of the King to colonial land; evi-

dently he enlisted the aid of his mentor. Wythe replied:

I do not know that the terms on which the crown
enzaged to grant the lands in Virginia are contained
in any other charter than that by Cer. 11. [ Charles II

con] the 10.[th day] of Cct. [in the] 28[th year] of
his reign. The original, I believe although the seal
is not now to it, I found in ny office; and I under-
stand it is recorded in the Secretaryts office. A copy
of it I now enclose to e sent by the first oppor-
tunity. In the mean time [sic] I will look over soie
other charters transmitted sone years ago by agent
liontazule] to the comnittee of correspondence and send
you @ ligt of Then with copies of those if there be
any which relate to the subject you are investigeting

~ v s v .-

7 T

1. George Vashington to Richard Henry Lee, August 7, 1774,
Fitzpetirick, ed., Writings of Washinzgton, III, 236,
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and will procure you copies of such others as you shall

e

signify a desire to have.lt

Zwo days later Vyithe coupleted the report which his haste o
post sorme word to Jefferson hed left unfinished:

Since my letter of [the day before] yesterday, I
have looked cursorily over all the charters in my
office. Of those sent by mr Hontagule] the three which
gseen to concern the matter you are considering are the
same that are in the apvendix to mr Stitht's history [of
Virginie] and the other which is all thet I have of
thew besides is an ordinance relating to the appoint-
ment of a council in England for the affairs of the
colony. Anmong these I find several commissions by
Jarnes the first and his son appointing comnissioners to
congider the state of the colony and of the proper means
to advance it &c. Shall I send you coples of them? Is
there any thing else in which I can assist you?z_

Thus did Wythe nave occasion again to regret the inadequacy_”
‘of the documentary and legislative records of the colony.

As early es liay and .June, 1774, began the orgenization
of Local committeés of safety %o enforce the boycott and to

S When the Counltinental Congress

serve as execulive units.
endorsed that movement, 1t wes determined that even Uilliams-
burg, the seat of the royal government, sh&uld set up a groun
of that type. At the close of the year 1774 the residents of

3

the capi

¢t

2l chose a comaittee of fifteen of its citvizens,

among whom they named Peyton Randolph, cheirman, Robert Carter

l. George Viythe to Thomes Jefferson, April 5, 1775, Jefferson
Papers, Library of Congress.

5. Ig. to id., April 7, 1775, ibid.

———— ———————.

© 3. H. J. Eckenrode, The Revolution in Virpginis, 34, 42-45.
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Nlcho¢@ 5, Benjeanmin Veller, and Wythe. Little is known of -
the activities of this body, but a note wr en

<

in the following sumaer to the **e“'dln“ officer of the

iy

Virginia Convention of July, 1775, has been preserved:
Y9 ? -

ol e

The comittee of Williamghurg thought it proper
to sen d the inclosed lettevs, which cane to ‘helr hands
this morning, by express, to you, to be laid before the
convention.
The enclosures to which reference was made are not available.
and the nature of the alarm vhich prompted the use of the
fastest mails cannot be ascertained.

A gecond convention convened in Rlchmond in HdLC“, 1775,
and 1t hos been supposed that Wythe attended its sessions.3
But the relative political isolation into which his posi%ioh‘
as Clerk of the House had.betrayed him was not to be broken
80 soon.é In that session Patrick Henry supported his suc-

cessful reuolu ion for erming the local militia forces with

his most iammlxar oratorical effort, which closed with the

1. Virginia Gazette {pub. by Purdie and Dixon), December 22,
i774. It 1s of interest that Pendleton, ubsent in Phila-
delnhia, was elected chairmen of the Caroline County
committee: ibid., December 8, 1774. ‘

2. Joames Hubard, George Wythe, and John Dizxon to the Speaker
of the Convention, August 12, 1775, Gratz Collection,
Pennsgylvenia Historical Socielty Library. All of this
letter except the signatures of Hubard and Dixon was
undeniably penned by Vythe.

5. Grigshy, Virsg :’13 Conventl n of 1776, 122; Tyler, %George

Wythe®, loc. cit., 60-61.

4o Wythe wes not an official delegate to this assen 31y, of
which John Tazewell wes clerk: The Proceedings of the
. Convention of DeWeuwuo fOL the Couanties and Corporations
in the Colony O0f vivginid, Held &%t Richmond ... lerch,
1775, 3-4.




immortal declaration: ... give me liberty or u-ve mne ae“*h”
But for the conservative influence of Peyton Randolph, Bland,
Pendleton, Harrison, and Ificholas, more rebellious steps

1

might then have been taken. Yet in the presenﬁ connection

the chief interest of that Richmond wmeeting lies in an
estimate of Uythe*s abilities supposed to have fallen at thavw
time from the lips of the man vhose leadership was for the
present most on the ascendant. Without known provocation,
Henry is reported td have posged & rhetorical question in
reference to Wythe:"Shall I light up ny feeble taper, before
the brightness of his noon tide [sic] sun?” In terms of a
different and less forceful simile, he replied to his own
guery: "It were to compare, the dull dewdrop of the morning,
%o the intrinsic beauties of the diemond.%2

In the month of the convention's meeving Dunmore
aadresoed to British officials & tirade in which ne recom=
mended.that John Page, whose opposition to the government?®s
policies had been outspoken, should be deposed from the
Council. It is‘an indicative commentary on the crystalliza-
tion of gentiment against England thet the harassed governor

could think at that time of only three men in the colony

1. Ickenrode, Revolution in Virginia, 45-48.

2. Call, ¥"Judge Wythe", loc. cit., reported the quotation
wzthouc a hlnt as tne T Circunstances of its alleged
utterance, and Tyler, ¥George Vythe®, loc¢c. cit., 61,
adopted it. One commentator has asgsuned that the allunxoq
wag of this date: B. C. Massie, Rewort of the Comnittes ou
a Menorisl to Wythe, Virginia State Bar Association Re-
norts, AAXIV {1922), 44 :
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iloyal eanough to be deemed eligible for the two vecant geats

"K

in the upper body of

A

the legislature.
BDuring the evening of April 20, 1775, Dunmore precipated
his rapid and complete loss of authority over Virginia. Under
his orders a supply of gunpowder was removed from the mﬁga~
zine of”the powder~house in Williamsburg and'waé taken
aboard a British ship in the Jemes. To armed citizens of the
town an exPlanation was offered the next morning that these
military stores were being protected from capture by slaves
for use in a threatened, always~dreaded insurrection and
that they would be returned if needed by the colony. Defense
of this shallow, utterly fic%ional excuse by Peyton Randolph
and Rober% Carter Nicholas‘forestalled the near-riot. Yet.g'
deily influx of demends from county militias for a return of
the powder kepﬁ the issue open for several weeks. DPatrick
Henry in particular threatened to effect a reprisal, but
Dunmore sent him @ paymént for the stolen powder, and con-
servative colonists persuaded,him to postpone his intended
hogtilities. Sobdangerous we.s Dunmore's position in<Williamsf
burg that he moved his family to the protection of thé Fowey,
an English man-of-war in the river at Yorktown, and implored
hig superiors to send him men and munitions, promisiﬁg to-
repel force with force, if necessary, in the meantime dy

arming his personal servants and any other slaves whom he

- -

1. Governor Dunmore Lo the Secretary of Sﬁaﬁe, larch 14,
1795, Virginia Papers {Bancrofv Transcripts), III, New
York Public Library. ‘ : :
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could attract to his standard by a promise of freedom. He,

too, soon fled to the rsfuge of the Fowey's nuns.l
The illogic of the situation was made complete when the

House of Burgesses convencd finally on the first day of June,
after a2 full vear since its last dissolution 2 a yvear in
which its mexbers had met twice as & convention. For more
than three weeks it struggled with leglslative procedures,
but no guarantee of hig personal s&fety’cou;d persuade Dun-
‘more to retura to the capiteal to put his signature upon its
bills, nor could the General Assembly, still observing cer-
tain legal forms in & day when 1aw had been in truth super-
seded, accept his offer of safe‘conduc% to attend him at

Yorktown. Thus there was nothing to be done but to adjourn.

It was the last session of the House.” The absence of the
governor, of course, made it impossible, too, to pass an

appropriation for the salaries of its officers, and Wythe's

1, His side of the story is related in detail in his letters
to the SBecretary of State on lMay 1, 1775, and i“*er dates:
ibid.

D) Perhaps in anticipation of an earlier meeling, or perhaps
merely as a reminder to negligent county court clerks,
Wythe published at the end of 1774 a copy of an earlier
order of the House reguiring them to submit at the opening
of each session & 1ist of tithables, to which he added
over his signature as Clerk of the Burgesses @& list of the
counties whose reports he had received to date: Virginia
Gazette {pub. Dby Purdie and Dixon), December 22, 85, L177%.

"3. A guorum could not be obtained in its three zbortive later
attempts to convene, October, 17/33 Ilerch and liay, 1796:
Kennedy, ed., Journals of the lHouse of Burgesses, 1773~
L1796, 283. Wythe was in PhilwdciDﬂla upon each of these
occasions. Possibly he took in Aucusu, 1775, the step of
a formal resignation, but that is unlikely.

i
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services In recording minutes of the meelings on the 47 days

of the two sessions since his payment in 1773 went unrewarded

’,)
[¢]
e
"‘u

‘by'aﬁy”fl‘a al compensation.

In his hasty retreat from the Govggnor*s Palace to the
safetyvof %he vessel in the York River, Dunumore had left in
his Williamshurg mansion a considerable guantity of musketls
and ammunition. Three railds upon the Palace by pa otic
Virginians effected the seizure of these arms. T George VWythe

is repcrt@d to have been nunbered among one of the parties

in June, 1775, rifled the governor's residence,
placed the powder in the public magaéine, and divided the

¥

rifles among tbemselves.z But an unldert ied alarm of about

N3

the same period afforded hlm.an ooportdz ity to show more
pointedly his willingness to belie for the moment the Quaker
anti-war tradition of‘his materneld graﬁdfather and to oppose
ﬁhysically the power of those whom he considered enemies of
the colony. Some wild rumer that an attack would be mede on
Williamsburg by Dunmore or by his small naval forces spurred
the volunteer militia corps there to assemble. Ciad in &
hunting shirt and bearing & nmusket upon als shoulder, Wythe
m,arched,2 despite the entreaties of his wife, to the place at
which the coumpany was drewn up in formation. Confronted by

‘& leading citlizen attired in the garb and equipped with the

1. See several of Dummore' letters in TJune to the Secretary
of SBtate: Virginia Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), IIIL,
flew York Public Library. :

2. lleade, ops Cit., I, 204~295.

——— s ——
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weapon of the chasge, 1ts as Oﬂldhed comuanding OLflOLl in-
quire& of him the reason for his presence. 1 come to offer
wy services to wmy cougtry,“ the reply is said to have been,
to do what you commmand.’ 1%ﬂenvlv in his intent
eagerness to nake himself ugseful, Wythe had overlooked the
formelity of procuring for himself a commission and an

of ficial military rank: the techniz lity of enlistment had
not entered his head. Nor does it seem to have occurred to
him that his appearance before the voluniteers on such a
mission would create a wmild sensation or that his patriotism
would not hawve been doubted had he sat calmly in his parlor.
The ranks of the soldiers were perVaded by the silence of
awe, their 6fficer5'were overcome by & surprise amounting
almost to consternation, and spectators nearly gasped in
a&mifa%ion at the sight of so forthright, huible, and naive
an application for military duty on the part of & dignitary
aged forty-nine. Those in charge persuvaded him tactfully to
forget his purpose and to stow his gun away, but this could
be accomplished only with difficulty and on the ground that
e could be of greater service in the forum than upon the

att le11eld 1
Georg@ Wythe had not long to wait for an assignment to
esponsible civil &ct1V1uyo Lbandoned by the absentee Dun-

more, the old burgesses convened a third time as & convention

1. JAnonymous ¥Communication®, The Encuirer, June 10, 18086;

' »h, lMenuscript History of Virginia, Virginis Histori-
azine, XLITI, 132; Call, "Judge Wythe", loc. cit.,
srigsby, Virginia Convention of 1776, 122.
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in July a% Richmond and essumed complete legislative and

executive control of the colony. Vacancies occurred in the

)

deputation to the Continental Congress. George Washington

pted the leadership of the continental army; Patrick

<

o
Cr

&)

B-cd
)
&
o

ac
Henry was chosen by the convention to be commender of Vir-
ginia'ts troopsg: Pendleton resighed on & plea of ill-health,
which was; fortunately, not prolonged. On the eleventh of’
Augusﬁ‘ballots were cast for the selection of seven delegetes
for a term of one year. DPeyton Randolph received 89 votes;
Richard Henry Lee, 88; Jefferson, 85; Richard Bland, 61; and
Wythe, 58. Because of the infirmities of old age, Bland
declined his'reeleCtion on the next day, and Col. Prancis
Lightfoot Lee, one of Richard Henry's brothers, was named
soon in his stead, taking renk just behind Wythe as the
Junior member of th rf.coupwl
By this election Wyt she was rescued from the compara%ivé
oblivion into which‘his clerkship to the House of Burgesses
lﬂad unawoidably and somewhat noticeably plunged hlm during
the past year or %wo, He hed not in the least lost step w th

the progress of political opinions 1n the colony; the de-

clining importance of the body of which he was secre%axy had

1. The Proceedings of the Convention of Delegates for the
Counties and Corporationsg ... of Virginia, Held 2t Rich-
MONG ..o JULV, L1795, 44, 15, 17, Cf. George ilzgon to
lzrtin Cockburn; Ju;j 24, 1775 Ca]enda; of Virginis Suate
Papers, I, 267; id. to ids, Au“USu 22, 1775, ibid., 268
Peyton RandOAwﬂ To George Vashzagton (OHOuOSUWﬁi Sewtem-
ber 6, 1775, Wa shington Pupers, L*orary of Congress;
'Virplﬂzz Cezette {pubs by Pinkney), August 17, 1775; Vir-
ginia Gazette (pubs by Di:z con and MUutef;, Auguao 19, I775.
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slmply reacted to promote the ascendant leadership of the men
upon 1ts flvor, who, unlike himself, had not by the nature
stituencies and closed tne door o their election as dele-
tes to the series of conventions. There is & bit of
pathetic irony in the fact thet Peyton Randolph's weil-
intentioned appointment of Wythe to the Clerkts desk, an
cffice of honor and influence to which the new incuwbent was

extremely well suited by nature and experience, might early

e}

ia 1775 have geemed in retrospect perilously equivalent to

g poiitical career., That of John

the burial of an oulstandi;

}«l
tis

Randolph had indeed been consigned to an early graveyard bj

his commission as Attorney General, and that stolid supporuer

td

o~
4

G

ritish control in Virgimia found it more comfortable in
i775 to exile himself then to remain for the full eclipse of
his'beliefsoi On the other hand, Wythe's carecer as & states-
- man was given a tremendous new lease“on 1ife by his former

colieagues who composed the convention in the swmmer of 1775,

;:z

‘helr inclusion of him among thelir delegates to Congress
becomes all the more significant when one reflects that the
successive ¢onventiong very rarely reached oubtside their own

ranks to commandeer the services of a deputy.g

1. John Randoliph to Thomes Jefferson, &ugus% 51, 1775,
Jefferson Pwoerw, Library of Congress. Contrast the very
differcnt tone of a letter ertten to Jefferson on the
game day by Randolph's son, who upheld the colonial cause:
mdmuad Randoiph to id., Sugust 31, 1775, ibigd.

2a ﬁrancis nghh”oot IL.ee seems Lo have been the only other
such appointee by any of the conventions.
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A WL er announced to its readers in the

rd

ol

rture for Philadelphia on August

W

«JxlOWLQE notice Wythe's

3

28:

LAST Sunday morning the honourable PEYTON RAITDOLPH,
es@uire, left this city to attend the continental ‘
congress; and on the succeeding morning GEORGE WYTHE,
esquire, set off for the sams 1audable DUrpose.. THE
LADIES of the above gentlemen accompanied them. The
volunteers, as ugual, paid every mark of distinction
cn the occasion.™

This date upon which Wythe began his trip to Pennsylvania may
te singled out betiter than any other as that which best
signallizes for him the end of his life as a loyal British
colonist. & proclawatlion issued by the King five days before
his departure gave tardy recognition to the state of rebel-
iion which was already in existence and produced in certain
colonial guarters @ feeling that the Crown itself had there-
by forfeited unalteratly the homage of its American subjects
w- g beliefl which Wythe shared. Ionths of hesitation were

to elapse ere the general spirit of resistance could be
transformed by actual warfe ~~ g militant Dunmore, rein-

2 was the

~forced by minor detachments of British forces,
aggressor Iin Virginia -~ and by the failure of every effort

at reconciliation into the movement for -independence. The

1. Virginia Gazetie {pub. by Pinkney), &Luvgust 3L, 1775.
Adnother such announcement appeared in Vireginia Gazette
(pub. by Dixon and Hunter), September 2, 1775.

ré Dartmouth ﬁo Governor Dunmore, August 2, 1775, Vire

- J . o g g - ) . -
nza Papers (Bancroft Transcripts), III, Wew York Public

2L
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“4 @‘s b

ary. Dunmore was sodn geunerally referred te as "Our
a Governc. ' : John Page to Thomes Jefferson, November
4 7/5, Jeffersocn Pa pers, ulorary uz Conwresso
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formal abolivion of Wythe'ls allegiance to Ingland d4id not
come unvil & Declaration of Independence was proclaimed in
July, 1776, but by thet time he had teken independence for
granted end plunged into the problems of rebuilding Adwerican
instivutions to meke them conform to a new order of things.
To trace his leadership as a revolutlonary only to the‘summer
of 1776 would be to leave in mid-air the story of his leader-~
ship ag @& republican; his iabors as an dmerican reformer
began before his work as an English rebel had ceased. The
two were inseparably linked together. This survey of th
vlife of George Wythe the Briton mey therefore be concluded
most appropriately with the episode which seems to have best
defined his ﬁransition from & disaffected subject of George

III to & Virginia nationalist.

A Premature Theory of Empire
The real proof of the development of George Wythe into
an ardent advocate of bdmerican independence llies 1in his
career as é member of Qae Continental Conwress, for the re-
tirement of his Clerkship offered him few opporitunlities to

procleim his th uﬁhtu on political guestions. But, perhaps,
sufficient evidence of his firm opposition to Parliament's
intention %o subordinate the colonies has been noted in th
reviGW‘of hig life untiIVSepﬁember, L775. ihe theoretical
ground upon which that opposiﬁion we.s based has'been rele-

gated thus far to the background. Yet the ideas wanich exe

.

olain Wythe's actions in the series of imperial crises cannot

be neglected in any swmary of that portion of hils life in

'



"

“which he was subject %0 %he‘authority of Great Britain.

The chief issue al stake between Englénd and Virginia
from the time of the Stamp hct controversy was whelt powers
ever the colony mizht be coﬁsﬁiiuﬁion@ll& exercised by Par-
liament. Ls has been previously stated, no definition of
those powers was available. Hence the question was open to
the wentures of any would~be exbounder of the British systen
of government who might choose to evolve his own particular
interpretation. Tor & decade alter 1764 a wealth of specu=~
lation on the subject thrived in the continental colonies.
From the accumulated literature of state papers and pam-
phleteers it has‘beéﬁ observed that the whole mass of di=-
vergent theories can, in the main, be classified in three
mutually exclusive interpreltations.

bocording to the first, Parliament; which was admittedly
a constit aent assembly 1n its relation to England, had an
unlimited power also over the colonisis; 1ts enaCu&ents were
enforceable law in America as well as in the Mother Countryﬁ
This was in essence the doctrine which it proclaimed for the
Firet time in its Declaratory Act of 1766, asserting for
itself the right to bind the colonies in all cases whaltsoever.
That auvthoritative announce Aen% stood as the official state-
ment of @ British position from which it would brocok no re-
treat, and its unwillingness to modify this claim of unre-
stricted power was the foundation of colonial alienation. .
Few voluble provonents of this idea weére to be found west of

the ovlantic.
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he second type of colonial theories admitted only a

Limited varliamentery contrel and professed the exclusive

Tt R S T . . =y -3 ) - . . -1
authicrity of the npublic assembly of each colony over all
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ncity
as a sort of arbiter, was granted supervision over affairs
of intra-imperial and international commerce, with even the
right of levying customs duties as a regulatory measure; out
the colonial legisiatures were presumed to be supreme in
internal:affairs, including taxation. This view arose from
the undeniable facts that Parlisment had essumed direction of
commnercial concerns long before 1763 and that the colonies
'had.accep%ed.rather unquestioningly & series of nevigation
acts. Its chief exponent was John Dickinson, author of the

widely read Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvenia to the In-

habitants of the British Colonies, & series of essays in
protest against the Townshend duties. Its weakness lay in
the difficulty of drawing a line between internal and ex-
ternal affairs and of making a clear-cut distinction between
tariffs imposed for revenue and those levied merely for regu-
iation. .EickiRSOQ would trust in the discovery of the primary
intent behind ambiguous duties for the solution of the latter
Gilemma. This division of legislative authority had tre-
mendous vogue about 1770; its influence may be discerned as
late as 1776.

The third colonial point of view was the exact antithesis

"of %the first and denied to Parliament any control at all -over

c*

the colonies. This thecry was bascd upon appeals o th



patural right of expatriation and Lo an elleged coastitu-
ticmal right of self=-government. It held that the originel

o
ok
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colonists had by thelr emi tion severed thelr subjection to

,
6ie]

-

England's legislature, having moved outside the geographical

]

limits of parliamentery rule, but that their allegiance to

British kinzs had in no wise been destroved and remained a8
British kings had i o W 1 lest . and aine

the only tig between England proper and British fmerica.

‘Thus each of the colomnies was delineated as a sovereign

o~ 2

na@ionﬁ§nder g common executive in the person of the English
monarch. The many wafortunate precedents of an actual exer-
cise of vparliamentary jurisdiction over American peoples were
early explained away by an argunent that acquiescénce by»@he
weak in the usurpations of the strong might be retracted |
whenever the weak gained adequate strength. Benjemin Franklin
gravitated to this interpretation by 1970; James Wilson, also
:

of Pennsylvanie, gave 1t convincing expression about the same

time in his Considerations on the Neture and Iixtent of the

t

S

$odo

Legislative Authority of the Brit

=

Pariiament {published

in 1774)3 John Adams elucidated it ably in his journalistic
contributions over the pseudonym Novanglus; and Jefferson
asserted it somewhat as & postulate in his resolutions in-
spected by Virginia‘®s Convention of August, 1774, published

in Williamsburg and London under the title of A Sumnary View

——

of the Rights of British America. Professed adherents of

this theory were very few in number before 1774; this list

of its propounders is practically exhaustive for the years



AN
(V]

The idea of the King as the one bound of unicn between

dn

cloenies and Great Britain was supported by the conbempo-

I's £
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@
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ky

afy'anaZOgy of the position of Hanover. From that German
princivality the grandfather of George III had moved to
England to assume the British throne. The ruling member of
the family s%till reteined his authority as Elector of Hanover,
which wasg nevertheless beyond the pale of parliémen%ary con~
trol. Thus in the person of the very sovereign to whom the
colonists acknowledged allegiance there existed an illustra-
tion of the principle that kingship can trenscend nationality.
in Seven%eénﬁh century British history another example wes
available. Just before the settlement at Jamestown was in-
augurated King James of Scotland became King James of England

as well, and for ebout & hundred years he and his successors

1. For scholarly treatments of the relation of the colonies
o England see Carl Becker, The Declayation of Independence:

Study in the History of Political Ideas, 80~-134; Randolph

‘reenfield Adams, political ideas of the hunericen Revolu-
tion: Britannic-American Contributions 0 tNE Drobliem oF
Imperial Organization, 1765 to 1770, €sp. 20-28, 40-61;
Charles Howard IlcIlwain, The fmerican Revolution, a Con-
stitutional Interpretation; loses Coit Tyler, The Literary
History of the Americen Revelution; Ven Tyne, 0p. CitTs,
esp. 198-223. TFor a lew adverse comments on the third of
vhese theories see liellen Chanmberlain, “The Constitutional
Reiations of the American Colonies to the Inglish Govern-
ment at the Commencement of the American Revolution',
Papers of the American Historical Associatiocn, IIL (1888),
70; Hannis taylior, the Origin and Growsa of +the hmerican
Constitution, 105-10G6; Christopher Hollis, Tne Amnericen
Heresy, 11. For a most unusual attempt to justify the
third of these theories, by @ muster of the precedents
related to Virginia, see the chapter titled "The American
Kingdoms® in Walter NWeale, The Sovereignty of the States,
L-72. :
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imultaneoasly over two kingdoms which were mutually
independent of one another.

Hany of the implioaﬁions of the theo#y were obvious.
In their legislative aspect they meant that the General
Agsembly was to Virginie wvhat Parliament wes to England; the

fhe Housz of hovds, and the House of Buvqeeled wss o= equamﬁm

Council corresponded to,the House of Cormions. & contributor
to a Williamsburg newspaper advocated urgently in 1773 that
the hssenbly should adopt “"Perliament of Virginia“.as its

naiie. 1

The letter to Montague which Ceorge Wythe penned for the
Commitﬁée of COTreépondence in 1964, 1t will De remembered,
in its protest against the proposed Stamp Lot smacked of the
spebious distincﬁion‘be@ween internal and extérnal taxation.
There is reason to helileve thét he may have been expressing
upon that occasion sentiments which were not his personal
convietions but which represented the‘m&jority opinion of
the Comnittee. Jefferson testified that, from the very be-

14
[

o

tutional conflict which ended in the

R

ginning of the cons
expulsion ofvthe Bri@ish,flags‘Wythe'subgcribed uhreservedly
to the theory which refuted‘Parliamén@?s claim of colonial
authority. In upholding this interpretation mentor and pupil
stood almost alone among Virginia patriots; as late as 1774
Peyton ‘Randoljph9 Richd&d’Henry Lee, Robert Carter Nicholas,

Edmund Pendleton, and others, Jefferson vas forced to admit,

1. Communiceticn signed “Hampden” to Wthe Parliament of
Virginia®, Virginia Gazette (pub. by Purdie and Dixon),
November 11, 1775. E ‘ v 0




.
I . he 2 Ret
straddled the fence

after the wmenner of Jonn Dickinson.™

Some of these gentlemen and thousands more were never
wor over to the doctrine of complete colonial independence

s

from English legisiation. Their opposition to the parliamen-

tary progrem on the eve of the Revolution was based‘upon~less
sweeping‘dbjeotions than that of VUythe and Jefferson, whose
1noz ctment of Pariiament wasg alle-inclusive. But vhen all
Joined'in July, 1776, to issue to the ﬁorld 2 Justification .
their acﬁions, thiey pronounced themselves independent of

the King, ageinst whom an imposing list of grievances was

e

enumerated, and made only two veiled references to Tarlia-

mentag
The subsequent.} tory of Greut Britain has confirmed
the aaéaciﬁy of the interpretation of the English constitu-
tién which Jefferson and Wythe adopted. The British Dmpire
of the eighteenth century has largely dissolved into a
Britannic Commonwealtlh of Nations in which Canada, Australia
and other units, including even Ireland, rank as co-ardinate
and self-governing states under the seal of but one king.
Losskof thirteen colonies was the price which England paid
for its inability in 1775 to see the wisdom of an advenced

® B

theory which looked at the imperial structure as it ought

to bes

1. Autoblography, Dergh, ed., Uritinzs of Jefferson, I, il=
12y Jefferson, ¥iNotes for the ﬁ105rabnj of George Wythe®,
filed under August 31, 1820, Jefferson Papers, Library of
Congress.

2. Decker, on. cit., 18~22.
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